
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Thursday, 21 September 2017 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Ms. R. Palmer (Tel: 0116 305 6098) 

Email: rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. E. F. White CC (Chairman) 

 
John Adler 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Karen English 

Dr Andy Ker 
Dr Satheesh Kumar 

Dr Mayur Lakhani 
Chief Supt Andy Lee 

Roz Lindridge 
Cllr. Kirk Master 

Paul Meredith 
 

Rick Moore 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC 
Cllr. P. Posnett 
Cllr. P. Ranson 
Toby Sanders 
Mike Sandys 
John Sinnott 
Jane Toman 
Jon Wilson 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2017 
and Action Log  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 12) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Position Statement from the Chairman  
 

 
 

 

 Strategy 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works


 
 
 
 

 

 
5.  

  
Delayed Transfers of Care  
 

Director of Health 
and Care 
Integration and 
Director of Adults 
and Communities 
 

(Pages 13 - 28) 

 A copy of the report to be considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 15 
September is attached for consideration of the Board 
 

 

6.  
  

Better Care Fund Plan Submission  
 

Director of Health 
and Care 
Integration 
 

(Pages 29 - 
158) 

7.  
  

Implementation of the Lightbulb Programme  
 

Blaby District 
Council 
 

(Pages 159 - 
172) 

8.  
  

Progress with the Children and Families Plan  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 173 - 
180) 

9.  
  

Protocol between the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and Healthwatch Leicestershire  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 181 - 
200) 

10.  
  

Personal Health Budgets Local Offer Briefing  
 

Leicester, 
Leicestershire and 
Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning 
Groups 
 

(Pages 201 - 
210) 

 Performance 
 

11.  
  

Annual Report of the Safeguarding Boards  
 

Independent Chair 
of the 
Safeguarding 
Boards 
 

(Pages 211 - 
340) 

12.  
  

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 341 - 
346) 

13.  
  

Decommissioning of Non-Evidenced Based 
Treatments for Lower Back Pain, with or 
without Sciatica  
 

Leicester, 
Leicestershire and 
Rutland Clinical 
Commissioning 
Groups 
 

(Pages 347 - 
372) 

14.  
  

Update on Recommendations from 'Check in 
at the New Emergency Department' 
Healthwatch Report  
 

University 
Hospitals of 
Leicester NHS 
Trust 
 

 

15.  
  

Dates of Future Meetings  
 

 
 

 

 Future meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held at 
2.00pm on the following dates:- 
 
16 November 2017 

 



 
 
 
 

 

25 January 2018 
22 March 2018 
24 May 2018 
12 July 2018 
27 September 2018 
29 November 2018 
 

16.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on 
Thursday, 20 July 2017.  
 

PRESENT 
 
Leicestershire County Council 
 
Mr. E. F. White CC (in the Chair)   Paul Meredith 
Mr. R. Blunt CC     Mike Sandys 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC     John Sinnott 
       Jon Wilson 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
 
Dr Andy Ker 
Karen English 
Toby Sanders 
Dr Mayur Lakhani 
 
Leicestershire District and Borough Councils 
 
Councillor P. M. Posnett    Jane Toman 
 
Healthwatch Leicestershire 
 
Rick Moore 
 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust 
 
Dr Satheesh Kumar 
 
In attendance 
 
 Wendy Hoult, NHS England 
 

15. Minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2017 and Action Log.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2017 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed. 
 
The Board also noted the Action Log, which provided an update on actions agreed by the 
Board at its previous meetings. 
 

16. Urgent Items  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

17. Declarations of interest  
 

5 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

18. Position Statement from the Chairman.  
 
The Chairman presented a position statement on the following matters:- 
 

 Better Care Fund Guidance  

 Health and Wellbeing Board Development Session – 31 July 

 Health Profiles 2017 

 Smoking Prevalence 

 ‘Healthier in Mind’ Conversation 

 Mental Wellbeing Yellow Book launched by Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

 A selection of regional, national and international publications 
 
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes. 
 
A presentation setting out the key points from BCF planning guidance was circulated at 
the meeting, a copy of which is filed with these minutes.  This highlighted the greater 
emphasis on improving Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC), and that the BCF plans had 
to show how the national eight high impact changes for improving transfers of care were 
being delivered locally.  A LLR Discharge Working Group was overseeing the action plan 
and a new integrated LLR dashboard for monitoring DTOC performance was due to be 
tested from July. 
 
The target for reducing DTOC had to be submitted to NHS England on 21 July; a pre-
populated template had been issued to be completed.  However, there had been a 
number of issues with the data in the template.  Work was taking place with all partners 
to finalise the submission.  The Board was assured that a submission would be made on 
21 July but further work would be required after this date.   
 
The Board confirmed that it was content for the Chief Executive to use the delegation 
agreed at the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in March and approve the BCF Plan 
for submission. 
 

19. Radio Wellbeing.  
 
The Board received a presentation from Dr Terri Eynon CC and Jon Sketchley on the 
development of a community radio station, created by the voluntary sector, to promote 
health and social care issues in Leicestershire.  A copy of the presentation, marked 
‘Agenda Item 5’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
It was noted that an OFCOM wide-area licence had recently been approved which would 
allow the radio station to broadcast across West Leicestershire and beyond.  It was 
hoped that the station would be completely operational by September 2018, but there 
was a possibility that it would be before this date.  The target audience was health and 
care settings and older people listening to the radio in their own homes.  Work would also 
take place with other community radio stations to develop a broadcast system. 
 
It was proposed that the content of broadcasts would align with health and wellbeing 
priorities for the local area, for example with links to seasonal campaigns organised by 

6



 
 

 

partners.  It would be possible to be reactive to issues and disseminate information, for 
example about road closures, rapidly.  The radio station would also provide a good 
opportunity to remind people of self-care solutions in order to relieve the number of 
unnecessary calls to GP surgeries. 
 
Support was requested from senior managers of partner organisations to promote the 
radio and to provide contacts in their IT and Communications departments who could 
provide support regarding content for the broadcasts and integrate the radio station with 
existing IT programmes.  The County Council also indicated that it was willing to provide 
practical support to help the radio station become operational, and would provide details 
for a main point of contact for infrastructure requirements.  It would be necessary to pay a 
fee for the PRS and PPL licences, but it was stated that there was the opportunity for this 
cost to be reduced if a single organisation wished to take responsibility for this.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 

(1) That the development of Radio Wellbeing be supported; 
 

(2) That contact details for communications leads in partner agencies and the main 
point of contact for infrastructure requirements from Leicestershire County Council 
be shared with Radio Wellbeing. 

 
20. Change to the Order of Business  

 
The Chairman sought and obtained the consent of the Board to vary the order of 
business from that set out on the agenda. 
 

21. Healthwatch Annual Report.  
 
The Board considered a report from Healthwatch Leicestershire which presented its 
Annual Review for 2016-17.  This reported on the statutory activities undertaken over the 
last year, and demonstrated the impact that these were having on the commissioning, 
provision and management of local health and social care services.  A copy of the report, 
marked ‘Agenda Item 12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
It was reported that Healthwatch Leicestershire had exceeded its performance targets in 
the past year, and the reports and publications produced had been well received by 
stakeholders and Healthwatch England.  Attention was given to the priorities and work 
plan for 2017-18, which would build on the work that had been undertaken over the past 
four years. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Healthwatch Leicestershire’s Annual Review 2016/17 be noted. 
 

22. Check-in @ the New Emergency Department  
 
The Board considered a report from Healthwatch Leicestershire presenting the findings 
from a survey of patients undertaken at the new Adult’s Emergency Department at the 
Leicester Royal Infirmary.  The visit had taken place over a twelve hour period on 19 May 
2017, and the decision to visit had also been informed by the Care Quality Commission 
inspection in January 2017 that had rated Urgent and Emergency Care as ‘requiring 
improvement’.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 13’, is filed with these minutes. 

7



 
 

 

 
The emerging findings had previously been reported to UHL, and particular attention was 
drawn to the fact that almost two thirds of patients had tried to seek help elsewhere 
before arriving at the Emergency Department, and a third of patients had been advised to 
attend by their GP.   
 
A number of recommendations had arisen out of the report, and a further visit would be 
undertaken over the next few months.  John Adler, Chief Executive of UHL, had indicated 
that the recommendations in the report had been welcomed and already been put in 
hand, and an update on progress would be provided to Healthwatch and to the next 
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the findings of the visit be noted, and health and social care partners be urged to 
consider actions to improve services, systems and processes outlined in the findings 
report. 
 

23. Single Outcomes Framework  
 
The Board considered a report detailing the County Council’s revised Strategic Plan and 
seeking views on the strategic outcomes that the Council had identified as its priorities for 
Leicestershire.  The Plan outlined the Council’s long term vision and set out the Council’s 
high level priorities and approach over the next four years.  This included the Council’s 
contribution to partnership commitments, such as the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  A copy of the report, marked ‘Agenda Item 6’, is filed with these minutes.   
 
Five priority outcomes had been developed, and a Strategic Plan discussion paper had 
been prepared.  The discussion paper provided an outline of what would be included in 
the final version of the Strategic Plan for comment, and a number of questions had been 
included to provide a structure for feedback.  Partners were asked to take these back to 
their organisations and provide responses in due course.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the content of the report and discussion paper be noted; 
 
(b) That Board Members be requested to provide feedback on Leicestershire County 
Council’s strategic plan proposals. 
 

24. STP Update.  
 
The Board received a verbal update from the Senior Responsible Officer for the 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) on progress with the Plan. 
 
Confirmation had been received of funding that had been secured for two of the capital 
bids submitted from LLR linked to the STP.  One of these was £8m to improve CAMHS 
in-patient facilities at Glenfield Hospital.  This would allow for the provision of 15 beds 
which would be fit for purpose, including five beds specifically for young people with 
eating disorders.  The second bid was for £30.8m for Intensive Care Facilities, provided 
by UHL, which would consolidate these facilities on two sites, and support the expansion 
of in-patient wards for Transplants (Glenfield) and General Surgery (LRI).  Work on these 
projects would have to commence before the end of March 2018.  The STP had set out 

8



 
 

 

an overall capital programme of £300m, and Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) 
had submitted further funding bids to NHS England.  Any updates would be reported to 
the Board and would be in the context of the available resources nationally for STP 
capital developments, subject to national prioritisation. 
 
It was reported that there had been progress on a range of activities associated with STP 
work streams, and these were now starting to deliver.  This had been acknowledged at a 
recent development session, although it was felt that improvements were needed from a 
communication perspective so that early progress was more visible both across the 
health and care economy and to the public. 
 
Engagement on the content of the draft LLR Five Year STP had been undertaken in the 
early part of 2017.  Significant feedback had been received and a further draft of the Plan 
had been produced.  It was hoped that the final Plan would be published during the 
Autumn.  Constructive discussions had also taken place with NHS England regarding 
public consultation on some of the proposals in the STP.  A consultation plan would be 
submitted to NHS England during the following week; it was hoped that consultation 
would take place during the early part of 2018. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update provided be noted. 
 

25. Unified Prevention Board Update.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Unified Prevention Board (UPB) reinforcing the 
strategic direction to be taken by the Board in delivering the prevention approach for 
Leicestershire, and detailing how the work of the UPB flows into the work of each partner 
organisation and supported the LLR STP prevention workstream.  A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The UPB had recently considered its role and responsibility, and had discussed a number 
of options for the approach to be taken.  It was felt that there was a strategic need for the 
UPB, and that the role and remit should be strengthened to enable the delivery of a 
universal approach to prevention across all agencies.  It was proposed to clarify and 
ensure that the UPB was the point through which the strategic direction of tiers 0 and 1 
prevention activities linked to health and wellbeing were approved.  The UPB would 
require partners to provide assurance on the delivery of prevention tiers 0-1, including 
measuring progress against the agreed joint outcomes.   
 
A query was raised around workforce and prevention opportunities.  All organisations 
should have a workforce wellbeing strategy in place, and it was felt that there would be a 
significant impact if these strategies could all be delivered.  A piece of work was currently 
being undertaken as part of the STP around workforce health, focusing of the skills that 
frontline staff could develop and use during contact with patients and the public. 
 
The prevention offer was also important in relation to the development of Integrated 
Locality Teams.  Consideration would be given to interventions that were proactively 
made available to people being managed by Integrated Locality Teams. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

9



 
 

 

(a) That the proposal to clarify and ensure that the Unified Prevention Board is the point 
through which the strategic direction of tiers 0 and 1 prevention activities linked to health 
and wellbeing are managed be approved; 
 
(b) That the strategic direction of the UPB and the outcomes set out in Appendix B to the 
report be approved. 
 

26. Health and Wellbeing Board Communications.  
 
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which 
provided an update on progress with the self-care communications campaign.  A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The campaign would focus on the three key areas of healthy living, self-care options and 
long term conditions.  Communications activity would be based around seasonal themes 
linked to NHS messages and planned national campaigns, and work was already taking 
place on the messages relating to summer activities and issues.  The design and delivery 
of the campaigns would be managed through the Unified Prevention Board which would 
ensure that partners such as the Fire and Police Services were engaged.  The Board was 
advised that some of the proposals in the campaign were informed by seasonal analysis 
of visits to A&E. 
 
It was requested that a more ambitious communications campaign should be developed, 
focussing on issues that had not been included in previous campaigns, such as how to 
be a ‘smart’ patient through knowing your medical condition, understanding your 
medication and what to do and which services to use in a crisis.  This suggestion would 
be made to the Unified Prevention Board which would be challenged with developing the 
campaign in more depth in response to the feedback. 
 
The proposal to co-ordinate messages across partners was welcomed and it was felt that 
members of the public would benefit from receiving a single, consistent message from all 
partners. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the progress that has been made with the Leicestershire self-care 
communications campaign be noted; 
 
(b) That the Leicestershire self-care campaign becomes a work stream of the Unified 
Prevention Board; 
 
(c) That the Unified Prevention Board be asked to give further consideration to the 
proposed approach and strategy of the campaign, in light of the comments raised at the 
meeting, and a further report be made to the Health and Wellbeing Board on the revised 
campaign approach. 
 

27. Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan.  
 
The Board considered a report detailing the final draft of the Health and Social Care 
Sector Growth Plan, and the next steps to take this forward.  This Plan addressed actions 
to be prioritised to ensure the health and care sector in LLR could flourish and meet the 
needs of the local population in the future, in particular with respect to attracting and 
retaining staff in LLR, improving the career opportunities within care sectors, and 

10



 
 

 

encouraging health and care organisations to base themselves within LLR.  The health 
and social care sector growth plan was commissioned in support of the economic 
development work led by the Leicestershire LPE, and the product was designed to 
operate alongside, and add value to, other significant programmes of reform in the 
sector, including the Sustainability and Transformation Plan.  In particular, the document 
would support the priorities within the Organisational Development and Workforce 
workstream of the STP.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
There were a number of actions recommended in the Plan, structured under four key 
themes.  The high level actions would be further developed by a Task and Finish Group 
over the next few months, and the delivery of the Plan would be managed by a multi-
agency Implementation Group.  An update on progress would be presented to a future 
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the content of the Health and Social Care Sector Growth Plan and the next steps 
on how the plan will be implemented be noted; 
 
(b) That the Board receives a further update on progress to a future meeting. 
 

28. Summary Care Record Update  
 
The Board considered a report from Leicester City CCG, West Leicestershire CCG and 
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG which gave further details of the LLR Electronic 
Record Sharing Project.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed with these 
minutes. 
 
Phase 1 of the project, rolling out the Integrated Care Planning Template across primary 
care, had been completed.  It was confirmed that GP Practices could put in requests for 
changes to be made to the Summary Care Record.  The Governance leads from the 
three CCGs were involved in approving any changes.  Where changes could not be 
made, feedback was provided to practices about the reasons for this. 
 
Phase 2 was now live; this was centred around secondary and community care 
providers, using the information shared as a result of the Phase 1 work.  Staff and 
stakeholders were being asked to support the Summary Care Record by giving their 
explicit consent to the creation of their own record and to give confidence in this to the 
public.  This included requesting that members of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
consented to the SCR, and to become champions for the SCR.  A public awareness 
campaign was being developed to promote the purpose and benefits of the SCR for the 
local population. 
 
Phase 3 was also now live; this phase was about extending the system to share health 
records with Adult Social Care staff through the SCR.  Work was being undertaken with 
NHS Digital and the Commissioning Support Unit to ensure that this was in line with 
national policy and guidelines.  A bid for further funding had been submitted to NHS 
England to help integrate the Summary Care Record with Adult Social Care. 
 
The ambition of the project was limited by Liquid Logic, the software programme used by 
Adult Social Care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, which was not able to 

11



 
 

 

integrate with NHS systems.  The Integrated Points of Access programme was 
supporting work with the suppliers to develop a cost effective solution to this. 
 
It was intended that the cohort of patients being supported by Integrated Locality Teams 
(those who were frail, elderly and with long term conditions) would all be signed up to the 
Summary Care Record.  However, it would also be important for the message to be 
disseminated more widely to patients across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland as the 
SCR would be beneficial in any health/care contact including in the case of urgent care 
being provided, as the SCR would give important summary information about the 
individual, and any care they were already receiving. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the update on the LLR Electronic Record Sharing project be noted.  
 

29. Date of next meeting.  
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Board would take place on 21 September 2017 
at 2.00pm. 
 

2.00 - 3.45 pm CHAIRMAN 
20 July 2017 

 

12



Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No. Date Action Responsible 

Officer

Comments Status

254(e) 07/01/16 Receive progress reports on the CAMHS 

Transformation Plan, including performance 

information with regard to the outcomes 

framework on a regular basis.

Paul Meredith A report is scheduled for the November meeting of the 

Health and Welbeing Board

GREEN

326c) 17/11/16 Develop a delivery plan and performance 

framework for the Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy  to monitor progress against the 

Strategy and reported to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board in due course.

Mike Sandys The delivery plan and performance framework for the 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy was discussed at 

the Board Development Session on 2 August

GREEN

349(d) 05/01/17 Submit a report on the Local Digital Roadmap to 

a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.

Vikesh Tailor A report is scheduled for the November meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

360 16/03/17 (a)  That the Better Care Fund Plan for 2017/18 – 

2018/19 be approved for submission to NHS 

England in line with the national timetable, and 

subject to the publication of the national BCF 

guidance and any further amendments required;

(b)  That the Chief Executive of Leicestershire 

County Council, following consultation with the 

Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board be 

authorised to make any amendments to the 

Better Care Fund Plan 2017/18 – 2019/20 in the 

light of the national guidance, prior to its 

submission to NHS England;

(c)  That the final Better Care Fund Plan for 

2017/18 – 2019/20 be submitted to the next 

meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board for 

assurance, along with a progress update on the 

process and timescale for national assurance via 

NHS England.

Cheryl Davenport An update was provided to the July 2017 meeting of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board.  The BCF guidance 

had now been published, and the submission date for 

BCF plans was 11 September.  The Board had 

previously delegated the approval of the local BCF 

Plan to the Chief Executive, following consultation with 

the Chairman, with day to day work overseen by the 

Integration Executive.  A summary highlighting any 

changes that had been made in light of the final 

guidance would be circulated to the Board, and the 

BCF Plan would be finalised at the meeting of the 

Integration Executive on 7 September.  

GREEN

1

13



Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No. Date Action Responsible 

Officer

Comments Status

367(c) 16/03/17 Request the Unified Prevention Board  to take 

forward Leicestershire specific work actions from 

the LLR Suicide Prevention Strategy and Action 

Plan and report back to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board when appropriate.

Mike Sandys Six monthly updates from the Unified Prevention 

Board are scheduled for the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.

GREEN

368(d) 16/03/17 Submit further reports on progress  to the Health 

and Wellbeing Board and submit the final 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment for approval 

in March 2018.

Caroline Boucher A report is scheduled for the September meeting of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

375(c) 16/03/17 Discuss the actions identified during the 

December Board Development Session at the 

Board Development Session on 18 April.

Rosemary Palmer The Board Development Session was subsequently 

rescheduled for 31 July.

GREEN

10 22/06/17 Request to provide feedback on Integrated 

Locality Teams test beds to a future meeting of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board

Cheryl Davenport A report is scheduled for a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board.

GREEN

19 20/07/17 That contact details for communicarions leads 

from partner agencies and the main point of 

contact for infrastructure requirements from 

Leicestershire County Council be shared with 

Radio Wellbeing

All Contact details for communications leads have been 

sent to Radio Wellbeing

GREEN

22 20/07/17 That an update on progress of the Healthwatch 

recommendations be provided to the next 

meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board

John Adler An update is scheduled for the September meeting of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

23 20/07/17 That Board Members be requested to provide 

feedback on Leicestershire County Council's 

Strategic Plan Proposals

All An update will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

2

14



Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No. Date Action Responsible 

Officer

Comments Status

26 20/07/17 (a) That the Communications campaign strategy 

be presented to the next meeting of the Unified 

Prevention Board. (b) That the Unified Prevention 

Board give further consideration to the proposed 

appraoch and strategy of the communication 

campaign and a further report be made to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board on the revised 

approach

Sally Kilbourne A discussion will take place at the next meeting of the 

Unified Prevention Board on the proposed approach 

and strategy of the communication campaign.  An 

update will be provided to a future meeting of the 

Health and Wellbeing Board on the revised campaign 

approach.

GREEN

27 20/07/17 That an update on the progress of the Health and 

Social Care Sector Growth Plan be presented to 

a future meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board

Jon Wilson An update is scheduled for the July 2018 meeting of 

the Health and Wellbeing Board

GREEN

3

15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET – 15 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

DELAYED TRANSFERS OF CARE 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE 
INTEGRATION AND DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES 

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to update the Cabinet on the revised targets 

associated with improving delayed transfers of care (DTOC) which form part of 
Leicestershire’s Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19 set by 
NHS England. There are three separate but aligned BCF Plans for Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR).  The target for improving DTOC has been 
calculated across the three areas. The proposed actions in place to help meet 
the target and the associated implications for the Local Authorities and NHS 
partners across LLR are also detailed in the report. 

Recommendations 
 

2. It is recommended that the Cabinet: 
 

a) Notes the target for improving performance on delayed transfers of 
care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland by March 2018; 
 

b) Notes the inclusion of specific investments to improve hospital 
discharge within the Better Care Fund (BCF) expenditure plan as 
detailed in Appendix A and paragraphs 21 – 23 of the report; 

 
c) Notes the risk that poor performing areas which fail to implement such 

improvements could be subject to CQC review and potentially face a 
withdrawal of that national funding; 

 
d) Notes the preparation and governance arrangements for the 

submission of Leicestershire’s BCF Plan for 2017/18-2018/19 to NHS 
England by 11 September 2017. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. In July 2017, after a lengthy national delay, technical guidance was published 

by NHS England  for the preparation and submission of BCF Plans for the 
period 2017/18 – 2018/19. This technical guidance included new requirements 
for improving delayed transfers of care with challenging expectations placed on 

17 Agenda Item 5



each health and wellbeing board area in terms of the rate of improvement to be 
achieved during 2017/18. 
 

4. The guidance also highlighted that areas with poor performance on DTOC 
could be subject to external review and financial penalties; however there are 
no further details on the process for this at the time of writing this report. 

 
5. The national conditions for the BCF Plan include a requirement that it is jointly 

agreed by the County Council and CCGs, including through the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
6. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee was informed of progress with 

the refresh of Leicestershire’s BCF Plan on 1 March 2017.   
  
7. The initial draft BCF submission was considered by the respective Boards of 

the two County Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) on 14 March 2017 prior 
to being approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 16 March 2017.   

 
8. The Health and Wellbeing Board also authorised the Chief Executive to make 

amendments to the Plan in the light of the national guidance, which had not 
been published at the time of that meeting, prior to it being submitted to NHS 
England. The Health and Wellbeing Board subsequently received further 
reports on the BCF submission on 22 June 2017 and 20 July 2017 which took 
into account the new technical guidance. 

 
9. CCG Boards received further reports at their respective meetings on 8 August 

2017 
 
10. Noting that the Health and Wellbeing Board had authorised the Chief Executive 

to finalise the BCF Plan and submit it to NHS England, members of the 
Leicestershire Integration Executive, a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board responsible for delivery of the BCF plan, were asked to indicate their 
agreement with the final submission to NHS England, at a meeting on 7 
September 2017. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
11. The BCF Policy Framework was introduced by the Government in 2014, with 

the first year of BCF Plan delivery being 2015/16.   
 

12. In February 2014 the Cabinet authorised the Health and Wellbeing Board to 
approve the BCF Plan and plans arising from its use. 

 
13. On 10 March 2017 and 23 June 2017 the Cabinet received progress reports on 

the refresh of the Leicestershire BCF Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19.  At its 
meeting on 23 June the Cabinet also agreed that the County Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2017/18-2020/21 be updated to reflect the additional 
adult social care grant allocation of £19.7 million over two years. 

18



 
Resource Implications 
 

14. The BCF Plan has a pooled budget totalling £52m for 2017/18 and £56m for 
2018/19. This includes the additional non-recurrent adult social care grant 
funding allocated by the Government in the March budget. This funding has 
specific grant conditions, one of which concerns improving DTOC from hospital. 

15. The final BCF expenditure plan, attached as Appendix A to this report, has 
been prepared by the County Council jointly with NHS partners and this is due 
for submission to NHS England on 11 September 2017. The draft expenditure 
plan was submitted to the Cabinet on 23 June 2017. 

 
16. The expenditure plan and supporting BCF narrative sets out the different 

allocations which comprise the BCF pooled budget, and demonstrates how the 
local fund has been prioritised. Investments must be made according to the 
national BCF Policy Framework and supporting technical guidance, and 
directed to joint local priorities for transforming health and care. 

 
17. The plan includes £16.4m worth of investment which has been allocated to 

improving delayed transfers of care. The figure has been agreed with and is 
fully supported by NHS partners.  Details of how this funding has been 
allocated are set out in paragraph 21 - 23 of this report. 

 
18. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted on the content of this 

report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Cheryl Davenport,  Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment) 
Tel: 0116 305 4212  Email: cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk 

 
Jon Wilson, Director of Adults and Communities, Leicestershire County Council 

Tel: 0116 305 7454  Email: jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk 

19

mailto:cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
mailto:jon.wilson@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 
Background 
 
19. The requirement to deliver improvements in managing transfers of care is one 

of the national conditions for the BCF, as set out in the Integration and Better 
Care Fund Policy Framework 2017/18 – 2018/19, which applies to BCF Plans 
with effect from April 2017.  
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integration-and-better-care-fund-
policy-framework-2017-to-2019). 

 
20. In terms of the national condition targeted to managing transfers of care, each 

local BCF Plan must provide evidence of how the Department of Health’s ‘high 
impact changes for improving hospital discharge’ are being implemented 
locally.  The High Impact Changes Framework 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Impact%20change%20m
odel%20managing%20transfers%20of%20care%20(1).pdf provides a basis for 
each health and care system to assess their local position and identify where 
further changes are needed so that all the evidence-based and recommended 
interventions are made.  

 
21. There is also a requirement that a proportion of the new adult social care 

allocation will be spent on reducing DTOC.  In Leicestershire, the total amount 
of funding being spent on this priority across the entire BCF plan during 
2017/18 is £16.4 million.  This includes both a proportion of funding from the 
adult social care allocation and a proportion of funding from the core BCF 
pooled budget. 

22. £11.4million of the funding to improve DTOC is recurrent from the core BCF 
budget and funds existing services such as 7 day hospital discharge support 
from the adult social care department, including link workers for supporting 
discharge at community hospital and mental health sites, core reablement 
services across health and social care. 

23. The remaining £5m of the investment in delayed transfers of care in 2017/18 is 
non recurrent (funded from the new adult social care allocation, available over a 
3 year period). This is funding the Hospital Housing Discharge Enabler scheme, 
which ensures that housing needs are addressed before a patient is medically 
ready for discharge, and will also be used to develop a fully integrated 
discharge pathway/team at the Bradgate Unit later in 2017/18 and develop new 
interim beds.  

24. The impact of these investments is measured through the monitoring of LLR’s 
performance on DTOCs, including performance in each of the 3 health and 
wellbeing board areas within LLR. 

 
25. Paragraphs 26 - 36 of this report sets out the target for improvement and how 

this is measured. 

20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integration-and-better-care-fund-policy-framework-2017-to-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/integration-and-better-care-fund-policy-framework-2017-to-2019
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Impact%20change%20model%20managing%20transfers%20of%20care%20(1).pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Impact%20change%20model%20managing%20transfers%20of%20care%20(1).pdf


 
 
Leicestershire’s Target to Improve Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) 
 
26. The most challenging aspect of finalising Leicestershire’s BCF plan involved 

setting the trajectory for improving DTOC.  

27. This was due to late adjustments to the BCF policy, and national delays in 
clarifying the exact definition of the target and calculating and agreeing the level 
of improvement expected in each health and being board area. Guidance was 
published on these matters in July 2017. 

28. During July and August 2017 local authority and NHS partners across 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) jointly assessed the new 
requirements, and examined LLR’s existing action plans and resource plans. 

29. In order to calculate and agree the LLR target, partners considered that: 

a) NHS England set a requirement for all areas to achieve a DTOC rate of 
no more than 3.5% of bed days (for NHS-attributable delays) by 
September 2017.   

b) The BCF Planning Framework set a requirement for a DTOC rate of 
3.5% of all occupied bed days, across all causes of DTOC, to be 
expressed as a rate per 100,000 population. 

c) The BCF technical guidance set out that achieving the required level of 
improvement must be shared equally across both NHS related and 
Local Authority related delays.  

d) As a health and care system essentially this means that the NHS and 
Local Authorities across LLR are being asked jointly to achieve an 
overall rate of no more than 3.5% of occupied bed days being 
categorised as delayed. 

e) Every area of the country which has not yet achieved this level of 
performance is being required to do so, as soon as possible within 
2017/18.  

30. The LLR A&E Delivery Board had already proposed a percentage reduction for 
DTOC which is set out in the table below. This is based on the actions in 
progress, resources already jointly committed in 2017/18, and the time it would 
realistically take for this impact to be implemented and sustained. All partners 
agreed that the 3.5% rate cannot be realistically achieved before March 2018. 

 May-
17 

Jun-
17 

Jul-17 Aug-
17 

Sep-
17 

Oct-17 Nov-
17 

Dec-
17 

Jan-
18 

Feb-
18 

Mar-
18 

LLR % bed 
days delayed - 

target 

5.06% 4.81% 4.56% 4.31% 4.06% 3.81% 3.81% 3.95% 4.00% 3.75% 3.50% 

 

21



        This percentage reduction has been translated into the BCF target for LLR and 
agreed, both by individual partners, and jointly by the LLR A&E Delivery Board.  
There is a requirement that the BCF target is defined as the total number of 
days delayed per 100,000 population aged 18+ per month by health and 
wellbeing board area. The target for Leicestershire has been profiled on a 
monthly basis and is set out in the table and graph below.  The graph also 
shows actual performance in Leicestershire between April and June 2017.   

2016/17 DTOC 
Performance 

BCF DTOC Trajectory 
2017/18  

Q1 287.04 
 
Q2 357.19 
 
Q3 382.17 
 
Q4 377.10  
 
 

 Apr-17 – 289.91 

 May-17 – 289.91 

 Jun-17 – 289.91 

 Jul-17 – 295.31 

 Aug-17 – 278.57 

 Sep-17 – 253.38 

 Oct-17 – 245.07 

 Nov-17 – 235.95 

 Dec-17 – 252.47 

 Jan-18 – 253.73 

 Feb-18 – 215.31 

 Mar-18 – 223.03 

 

 

 

 

22



 

Analysis of Current Performance 

31. Analysis undertaken of delays across LLR as at June 2017, (by examining the 
spilt of delays across health and social care, and across the different hospital 
sites), shows that: 

a) Social care attributed delays across LLR were well below the required 
level of performance, ranging between 0.2% and 0.7%. 
 

b) The improvement required is largely within the NHS attributable delays, as 
these range between 3.58% and 4.27% across LLR. 

 
c) In terms of the hospital sites that are most challenged overall in terms of 

delayed discharges, these are the non-acute hospital sites, e.g. mental 
health, learning disability, and community hospitals. 

 
d) There are also some issues with delays in the out of county hospitals, e.g. 

those in bordering areas of Leicestershire where LLR residents often 
choose to access their care, such as Kettering, Burton, Derby and George 
Eliot (Nuneaton).  
 

32. Although adult social care attributable delays remain low, there are further 
actions that can be taken at non-acute sites in particular, to support mental 
health and learning disability clients. These are often those with complex needs 
and/or housing issues.  

 
33. The adult social care action plan has been updated to ensure these issues 

have high priority and the department is working closely with Leicestershire 
Partnership Trust, the clinical commissioning groups, and the hospital housing 
enabler team to ensure individual cases are assessed and addressed swiftly.  

 
34. The hospital discharge housing support team, developed as part of the 

Lightbulb Housing Service, is already in place at the Bradgate Mental Health 
Unit.  

 
35. Further consideration will be given to expanding this service across mental 

health, learning disability and community hospital sites in 2017/18 based on the 
learning from recent cases, and the positive impact dedicated housing support 
and expertise has had on resolving delays.  

 
Performance Management 
 
36. The BCF technical guidance states that: 

  
a. Targeted Care Quality Commission (CQC) reviews will examine 

performance in areas with the worst DTOC position, with a view to 
supporting them to improve.  

23



 
b. In November 2017, there may be a review of the additional adult social 

care allocations from the Spring Budget, for the 2018/19 period. This 
implies funding could be adjusted for poorly performing areas. There 
are no further details as yet about the process or implications of this 
statement. 

 
37. The assessment framework the CQC will use has recently been published and 

Leicestershire partners have already agreed to use this to undertake a self-
assessment between October and December 2017, irrespective of whether the 
LLR area is selected in the future for a formal CQC review related to DTOC 
performance. 

 
38. It should be noted that in early July the Local Government Association stated 

their opposition to the imposition of new DTOC targets and the associated 
changes to the BCF policy framework at this late stage, and the County 
Councils’ Network has also written to the Secretary of State in August 2017 to 
set out the implications the levels of improvement have upon county areas in 
particular, given their demography and funding levels. 

 
BCF Plan Submission 

 
39. The BCF Plan submission to NHS England will take place by 11 September 

2017 and will comprise the following components: 
 

 A narrative document setting out how the local plan will deliver health and 
care integration, specifically with respect to each of the following BCF 
national metrics, demonstrating how they will be achieved and measured:- 

o Reducing the number of total emergency admissions; 
o Effectiveness of reablement at 91 days; 
o Improving delayed transfers of care; and 
o Reducing permanent admissions to care and nursing homes. 

The narrative document will also need to set out how the following BCF 
national conditions are being met:- 
o Be jointly agreed including approvals via the local Health and 

Wellbeing Board; 
o Maintain protection of adult social care services; 
o Demonstrate commitment to investment in out-of-hospital services; 
o Deliver improvements in managing transfers of care (e.g. delayed 

hospital discharges). 
 

 A technical submission, using a template provided by NHS England.  This 
will include a breakdown of the BCF expenditure plan and supporting 
financial analysis, baseline and trajectories for each of the metrics, 
assurance against each national condition. 

24



 

 Providing evidence and assurance that the local plan has been developed 
through engagement with a wide range of partners and approved by these 
partners, and ultimately by the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 Supporting materials relating to the delivery of the BCF Plan including a 
programme plan, risk register, and governance structure. 

40. A regional and national assurance process for BCF plans is outlined in the BCF 
Policy Framework and Technical Guidance and this is intended to be 
completed by the end of November. This has involvement from both local 
government and NHS England. 

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to Health Overview and Scrutiny, 1 March 2017 ‘Better Care Fund Refresh’ 
(agenda item 12) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1045&MId=5013  
 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and Transformation Plan -
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665  
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on March 16, 2017 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=4938  
 
Report to the Cabinet, 23 June 2017 ‘Better Care Fund 2017/18 - 2018/19’                
(agenda item 10) http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5120&x=1  
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board,  22 June 2017 ‘Better Care Fund 2017/18 
- 2018/19’ (agenda item 9) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5124&x=1  
 
Position Statement to the Health and Wellbeing Board, 20 July 2017 (agenda item 4) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5075&x=1  
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – BCF Expenditure Plan 

Appendix B – Extract from BCF Risk Register 

 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
41. Developments within the BCF Plan are subject to an equality impact 

assessment and the evidence base supporting the BCF Plan has been tested 
with respect to Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. An equalities 
and human rights impact assessment has been undertaken which is provided 
at - 

25

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1045&MId=5013
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=4938
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5120&x=1
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5124&x=1
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5075&x=1


https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-
care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf . The assessment concluded that the impact of 
the BCF is neutral and therefore a full assessment was not required. 

 
42. The document underwent an annual review by Leicestershire County Council’s 

(Adults and Communities Department) Equalities Group on 14 March 2017. 
 
Partnership Working  
 
43. The delivery of the BCF Plan and the governance of the associated pooled 

budget are managed in partnership through the collaboration of local authority 
and NHS commissioners and providers in Leicestershire. 

 
44. Oversight of delivery is undertaken by the Integration Executive, an officer 

subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board. This group includes 
representation from District Councils and Leicestershire Healthwatch. 

 
45. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated 

services are in place which contributes to the system wide transformation being 
implemented through the LLR Sustainability and Transformation Partnership, 
“Better Care Together”. The partnership has published a five-year plan to 
transform health and care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 
Risk Assessment 
 
46. The risk register for the BCF plan has been fully updated in light of the new two 

year planning requirement, and the impact of the updated national conditions, 
metrics, and the context of the financial framework/financial pressures affecting 
the Leicestershire BCF plan. 

 
47. The updated risk register has been reviewed in detail by partners including at 

the Integration Finance and Performance Group on 12th May 2017 and 18th 
August 2017, and the Integration Executive on 23rd May, 1st August and 7th 
September 2017 

 
48. The BCF risk register was updated again in August 2017 to reflect the analysis 

undertaken on the delayed transfers of care target and the challenge of making 
improvements across the LLR area before March 2018.  

 
49. A copy of this extract of the risk register is given at Appendix B. 
 
50. Key risks affecting the BCF Plan at this stage are characterised as a 

combination of: 
 

 Overall LLR system level risks (service, financial and transformational), 
per the LLR 5 year plan, and 
 

 Specific risks affecting the Leicestershire BCF plan/pooled budget arising 
from both the LLR system level risks and the national policy position for 
the BCF. 

26

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2017/1/11/better-care-fund-overview-ehria.pdf


 
51. The following is a summary of key strategic risks associated with the BCF 

refresh as at August 2017:  
 

a) Impact of the 2017/18 financial position across the health and care 
economy. 

b) Lack of financial flexibility within the Leicestershire BCF Plan, 
including lack of reserves and contingencies from 2017/18 onwards. 

c) Increased significant risks in CCG financial plans from 2017/18 
onwards. 

d) Reliance on the delivery of further in-year savings from service 
review and redesign across a number of BCF service lines in order 
to deliver a more sustainable medium term financial plan. 

e) Ongoing urgent care pressures, including the ongoing upward trend 
of emergency attendances/admissions. 

f) Improving DTOC performance following the deterioration in 
performance experienced in 2016/17 and in light of the new 
improvement target by March 2018. 

g) Implementation of large and complex areas of transformation 
across LLR such as: new models for Integrated Locality Teams, 
Home First and adoption of the electronic summary care record. 

  

27



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A - BETTER CARE FUND REFRESH 2017/18 & 2018/19

Scheme Name ASC 

Allocation 

Code

West Leics 

CCG

£'000

East Leics 

& Rutland 

CCG

£'000

Leics 

County 

Council

£'000

Total

Budget

£'000

West Leics 

CCG

£'000

East Leics 

& Rutland 

CCG

£'000

Leics 

County 

Council

£'000

Total

Budget

£'000

BCF1 - Unified Prevention Offer

First Contact Plus 93.6 71.2 .0 164.8 94.6 71.9 .0 166.5

Total Unified Prevention Offer 93.6 71.2 .0 164.8 94.6 71.9 .0 166.5

BCF2 - Home First

Care Act Support Pathway 257.9 196.1 .0 454.0 257.9 196.1 .0 454.0

Carers Health and Wellbeing Service (funding for April 2017 only) 7.8 5.9 .0 13.7 .0 .0 .0 .0

Intermediate Care 313.0 267.0 .0 580.0 313.0 267.0 .0 580.0

Reablement (NHS protected) 2,419.0 1,713.0 .0 4,132.0 2,419.0 1,713.0 .0 4,132.0

Intensive Community Support phase 1 (NHS protected) 951.0 870.0 .0 1,821.0 951.0 870.0 .0 1,821.0

Intensive Community Support phase 2 (CCG additional allocation) 1,367.3 1,195.5 .0 2,562.7 1,367.3 1,195.5 .0 2,562.7

Step Down (NHS protected) 300.0 229.0 .0 529.0 300.0 229.0 .0 529.0

Residential Respite Service 421.8 320.8 .0 742.6 421.8 320.8 .0 742.6

Health & Social Care Protocol Training 58.1 44.2 .0 102.3 58.1 44.2 .0 102.3

Increased demand for Nursing Care Packages 2,044.4 1,554.9 .0 3,599.3 2,044.4 1,554.9 .0 3,599.3

Increased demand for Home Care Service 6,273.0 4,771.0 .0 11,044.0 6,273.0 4,771.0 .0 11,044.0

Discharge Pathway 3 - Non-weight bearing pathway 48.5 36.9 .0 85.4 48.5 36.9 .0 85.4

Community Hospital Link Workers 118.7 90.3 .0 209.0 118.7 90.3 .0 209.0

Primary Care Coordinators (NHS protected) 208.0 184.0 .0 392.0 208.0 184.0 .0 392.0

Assessment and Review 931.5 708.4 .0 1,639.9 931.5 708.4 .0 1,639.9

Improving Mental Health Discharge 154.3 117.3 .0 271.6 155.8 118.5 .0 274.3

Bradgate Unit - develop an integrated discharge pathway/team 2.3 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 40.0 40.0

Home First Programme Team 3.1 .0 .0 200.0 200.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Project Manager - Step Up/Step Down 3.3 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 25.0 25.0

Home First Commissioning Officer 3.4 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 25.0 25.0

HART Capacity 3.5 .0 .0 250.0 250.0 .0 .0 250.0 250.0

Integration of health & social care rehab/reablement services inc. 24 hour crisis response 3.6 .0 .0 150.0 150.0 .0 .0 250.0 250.0

Investment in telecare/telehealth to support ILT & Home First programmes 3.7 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 200.0 200.0

Provision of enhanced carer support services in line with new carers strategy 3.8 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 200.0 200.0

Development of interim bed capacity (D2A) 3.9 .0 .0 400.0 400.0 .0 .0 750.0 750.0

Stabilising the social care provider market .0 .0 3,044.0 3,044.0 .0 .0 7,201.5 7,201.5

Discharge Pathway 3 .0 .0 .0 .0 273.3 169.0 .0 442.3

Total Home First 15,874.3 12,304.3 4,444.0 32,622.5 16,141.3 12,468.6 9,041.5 37,651.4

BCF3 - Integrated Housing Support

Assistive Technology 7.4 .0 .0 760.0 760.0 .0 .0 680.0 680.0

Lightbulb - Housing Discharge Enabler 7.4 .0 .0 114.0 114.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Disabled Facilities Grants

* Blaby DC .0 .0 499.5 499.5 .0 .0 542.2 542.2

* Charnwood BC .0 .0 846.3 846.3 .0 .0 920.2 920.2

* Harborough BC .0 .0 385.7 385.7 .0 .0 418.5 418.5

* Hinckley and Bosworth BC .0 .0 439.7 439.7 .0 .0 472.8 472.8

* Melton BC .0 .0 259.4 259.4 .0 .0 281.5 281.5

* North West Leicestershire BC .0 .0 573.0 573.0 .0 .0 621.2 621.2

* Oadby and Wigston BC .0 .0 346.3 346.3 .0 .0 375.9 375.9

Sub Total Disabled Facilities Grants .0 .0 3,349.9 3,349.9 .0 .0 3,632.3 3,632.3

Total Integrated Housing Support .0 .0 4,223.9 4,223.9 .0 .0 4,312.3 4,312.3

BCF4 - Integrated Domiciliary Care - Help to Live at Home (HTLAH)

Community Based Review Team 234.3 178.2 .0 412.5 234.3 178.2 .0 412.5

Reablement - HART (Step Down) 420.3 329.7 .0 750.0 426.2 323.8 .0 750.0

Reablement - Independent Providers (Step Up) 241.9 189.7 .0 431.6 245.2 186.4 .0 431.6

Back Office Support 56.8 43.2 .0 100.0 56.8 43.2 .0 100.0

3 OT Posts & Specialised Equipment for double handed care to single handed care 1.2 .0 .0 220.0 220.0 .0 .0 50.0 50.0

Extend HTLAH Project 4.1 .0 .0 200.0 200.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Additional review capacity for HTLAH transitions 4.2 .0 .0 60.0 60.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Commissioning, QIT and brokerage 4.3 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Investment in dom care market to increase capacity 6.8 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 1,000.0 1,000.0

Integrated Domiciliary Care 953.3 740.8 680.0 2,374.1 962.5 731.6 1,050.0 2,744.1

BCF5 - Integrated Locality Teams

Proactive Care Model 540.0 .0 .0 540.0 540.0 .0 .0 540.0

Integrated Care Teams .0 430.0 .0 430.0 .0 430.0 .0 430.0

Cardiorespiratory (LTC QIPP) 273.3 169.0 .0 442.3 .0 .0 .0 .0

LLR Community Stroke & Neurology Rehabilitation Service 174.4 103.9 .0 278.3 174.4 103.9 .0 278.3

Implementation of Care Coordinators for Integrated Locality Teams 2.1 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Integrated Locality Teams 987.7 702.9 100.0 1,790.6 714.4 533.9 100.0 1,348.3

BCF6 - Integrated Urgent Care

End of Life Night Nursing Service 142.0 109.7 .0 251.8 142.0 109.7 .0 251.8

Released funding for Crisis Response Service - Night Nursing Service 86.0 62.3 .0 148.2 86.0 62.3 .0 148.2

Crisis Response Service (CRS) - Social Care 321.3 244.3 .0 565.6 324.5 246.8 .0 571.3

Loughborough Super Hub 890.0 .0 .0 890.0 890.0 .0 .0 890.0

Reallocation of Rapid Assessment for OPU (ELRCCG) .0 776.0 .0 776.0 .0 776.0 .0 776.0

Home Visiting Service 1,278.5 622.5 .0 1,901.0 1,278.5 622.5 .0 1,901.0

Total Integrated Urgent Care 2,717.8 1,814.8 .0 4,532.6 2,721.0 1,817.3 .0 4,538.3

BCF7 - Integrated Points of Access

50% contribution to the phase 2 implementation costs 2.4 .0 .0 600.0 600.0 .0 .0 230.0 230.0

Total Integrated Points of Access .0 .0 600.0 600.0 .0 .0 230.0 230.0

BCF8 - Integrated Data

PI Care and Healthtrak 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5

Total Integrated Data 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5

BCF9 - Integrated Commissioning

Improving Quality in Care Homes 288.7 219.5 .0 508.2 291.6 221.8 .0 513.4

Integrated approach to the commissioning of residential & nursing home provision 51.7 39.3 .0 91.0 6.8 5.2 .0 12.0

Care Homes - SME for Commissioning Group, support to EHCH bid. Proj Mgr Integrated Commissioning of Care Homes 3.2 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 50.0 50.0

Post Diagnostic Community & In-Reach Service for people affected by Dementia 203.7 162.5 .0 366.2 193.0 153.9 .0 346.9

LD Short Breaks (NHS protected) 588.0 256.0 .0 844.0 588.0 256.0 .0 844.0

Personal budget, Community Life Choices & Supported Living Review Team 1.1 .0 .0 850.0 850.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Multi-disciplinary review team for top 100 high cost placements 1.3 .0 .0 170.0 170.0 .0 .0 80.0 80.0

Reviewing working age mental health in residential care (s117) 1.4 .0 .0 70.0 70.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Support for new extra care facility 1.5 .0 .0 70.0 70.0 .0 .0 30.0 30.0

GP input into the Waterside extra care facility 16.7 .0 .0 16.7 50.0 .0 .0 50.0

CHC Commissioning capacity to support new CHC end to end process & ensure transfer to  assess D2A pathways 2.2 .0 .0 90.0 90.0 .0 .0 60.0 60.0

Resources to support commissioning for better outcomes 7.3 .0 .0 20.0 20.0 .0 .0 20.0 20.0

Total Integrated Commissioning 1,148.8 677.3 1,370.0 3,196.1 1,129.4 636.9 240.0 2,006.3

BCF10 - Transforming Care

Investment in Residential Care/Supported Living/Reablement Unit 5.1 .0 .0 250.0 250.0 .0 .0 750.0 750.0

Contribution to capital costs of Transforming Care accommodation costs 5.2 .0 .0 500.0 500.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Case Managers for Transforming Care to support inpatient reductions 5.3 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 25.0 25.0

Total Transforming Care .0 .0 800.0 800.0 .0 .0 775.0 775.0

BCF11 - BCF Enablers

Care Act Enablers 42.7 32.4 .0 75.1 42.7 32.4 .0 75.1

Integration Programme Management 197.1 149.7 52.6 399.4 199.0 151.2 53.1 403.3

Specialist OD support to develop TOM 6.1 .0 .0 30.0 30.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Implement Customer Portal 6.2 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

IT infrastructure to support integrated discharge team, self service and mobile working 6.3 .0 .0 150.0 150.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Apprenticeship scheme for gaps in market, e.g. home care 6.4 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Development of external workforce 6.5 .0 .0 65.0 65.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Additional HR/OD Support 6.6 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Support to develop PA market 6.7 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Additional TU Business Consultancy Capacity 7.1 .0 .0 60.0 60.0 .0 .0 50.0 50.0

Additional Department Support for Transformation 7.2 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Total BCF Enablers 239.8 182.1 657.6 1,079.5 241.7 183.6 303.1 728.4

Total BCF Schemes Spend (Recurrent) 22,051.3 16,520.8 3,349.9 41,922.0 22,041.0 16,471.2 3,632.3 42,144.5

Total ASC Allocation Spend (Non-Recurrent) & LCC recurrent .0 .0 9,525.6 9,525.6 .0 .0 12,419.6 12,419.6

TOTAL BCF SPEND 22,051.3 16,520.8 12,875.4 51,447.6 22,041.0 16,471.2 16,051.9 54,564.0

CONTINGENCY

CCG Contingency 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0

Risk Pool 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0

Cost Improvement Target -840.6 -487.2 .0 -1,327.8 -434.3 -136.7 .0 -570.9

TOTAL CONTINGENCY 159.4 512.8 .0 672.2 565.7 863.4 .0 1,429.1

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 22,210.7 17,033.6 12,875.4 52,119.8 22,606.8 17,334.5 16,051.9 55,993.1

CCG BCF Minimum Funding Allocation 20,843.5 15,838.1 36,681.6 21,239.5 16,139.0 37,378.5

CCG BCF Additional Funding Allocation 1,367.3 1,195.5 2,562.7 1,367.3 1,195.5 2,562.7

iBCF Supplementary Funding (Social Care Allocation - Spring 2017) 9,525.6 9,525.6 6,837.6 6,837.6

iBCF (Autumn 2015 Spending Review Announcement) .0 .0 5,582.0 5,582.0

DFG Allocation 3,349.9 3,349.9 3,632.3 3,632.3

Total Allocation 22,210.7 17,033.6 12,875.4 52,119.8 22,606.8 17,334.5 16,051.9 55,993.1

Over/Underspend Commitment .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Key

Improved Better Care Fund Spend

National Condition - Maintaining Social Care Spend

2017/18 SPENDING PLAN 2018/19 SPENDING PLAN

29



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B - Extract from Leicestershire Better Care Fund Risk Register

 

R
is

k
 N

u
m

b
e

r

Risk Description: describe the cause 

(hazard),  and effect (risk)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t 
S

c
o

re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 L

e
v

e
l

D
a
te

 A
d

d
e

d
 t

o
 R

is
k

 R
e

g
is

te
r

Mitigating Actions/Controls Required Responsible Person

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 M

o
v

e
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 l
a

s
t 

a
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

◄
►

/ 
▼

 /
 ▲

R
is

k
 S

ta
tu

s

BCF10

If the rate of improvement for the BCF 

DTOC target is not achieved within the 

timescales agreed with NHS England, then 

a proportion of the Improved BCF funding 

for 2018/19 may be withheld from the Local 

Authority.

3 4 12 High Jul-17

LLR DTOC trajectory of improvement has been aligned across the different national 

targets.

Improvement to the required level set out by March 2018, in line with agreed target with 

LLR A&E Delivery Board.

LLR self-assessment completed against the Department of Health's 8 high impact 

changes for managing transfers of care.

LLR action plan to improve DTOC focuses on remaining gaps and is already 

underway.

New LLR DTOC dashboard includes metrics and provides weekly performance data.

IBCF and BCF funds have been directed to priority improvements across acute, non-

acute and out of county care settings.

Adult Social Care priority actions to improve DTOC have been refreshed for 2017/18, 

and these are well underway, with a particular focus on non-acute and out of county 

settings.

Leicestershire to use the CQC DTOC assessment framework by December 2017 - for 

further assistance.

Integration Executive to review the implications of any further guidance on how IBCF 

monies might be withheld in the case of poor DTOC performance (when known).

Monthly review of DTOC progress/performance and updates to risk register 

accordingly.

Cheryl Davenport 3 4 12 ◄► Open

0 0

D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\7\6\AI00052675\$0jjqeuge\Leics BCF Risk Register 1 of 2 13/09/17

31



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\5\7\6\AI00052675\$0jjqeuge\Leics BCF Risk Register 2 of 2 13/09/17

32



 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION 

 
BETTER CARE FUND PLAN 2017/18 – 2018/19 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the refresh and final submission 

of the Leicestershire Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan, including the expenditure plan 
and outcome metrics for 2017/18 and 2018/19, all of which was submitted to NHS 
England on 8th September 2017. 
 

Recommendation 
 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 

 
a. Note that, in line with approved delegation, the Health and Wellbeing Board had 

authorised the Chief Executive to finalise the BCF Plan and submit it to NHS 
England, and that members of the Leicestershire Integration Executive (a 
subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board responsible for the delivery of the 
BCF plan), were asked to indicate their agreement with the final submission to 
NHS England, at a meeting on 7 September 2017. 
 

b. Receive assurance that the final BCF Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19 was submitted 
to NHS England on 8th September 2017. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
3. The BCF policy framework was introduced by the Government in 2014, with the first 

year of BCF plan delivery being 2015/16. The Cabinet in February 2014 authorised 
the Health and Wellbeing Board to approve the BCF Plan and plans arising from its 
use. 
 

4. The Board received a presentation and report on the work in progress to refresh the 
BCF Plan for 2017/18 – 2018/19 at its meeting on 5 January 2017. 

 
5. The Board received papers to provide an update on progress to prepare the BCF 

Plan at its meetings on 16 March and 22 June 2017. 
 

Background 
 
6. The purpose of the BCF is to transform and improve the integration of local health 

and care services, in particular to reduce the dependency on acute hospital services, 
by providing more integrated community based support. 
 

33 Agenda Item 6



 

7. The strategic framework is set by BCF national policy requirements, BCF national 
conditions, BCF metrics, Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commissioning 
intentions, and key local authority duties with respect to integration and the Care Act 
2014. 

 
8. High priorities within the integration agenda nationally and locally include: 

a. Improving hospital discharge. 
b. Keeping people out of statutory and acute provision wherever possible. 
c. Sustaining adult social care within new models of care locally. 
d. Ensuring there is a cohesive plan for data integration at population and care 

planning levels. 
e. Implementing seven-day services. 
f. Developing the approach and infrastructure for joint commissioning.  

 
Current Position 
 
9. East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Governing 

Body and West Leicestershire CCG Board received the draft BCF Plan at their 
meetings on 8th August 2017 and both Boards approved the BCF Plan. However, 
further information was requested from East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG on the 
delayed transfer of care (DTOC) target. This was received and approved at the 
Integrated Governance Committee on 5th September 2017. 
 

10. The Integration Executive reviewed and approved the final BCF Plan its meeting on 
7th September 2017.  

 
11. The Leicestershire BCF Plan for 2017/18-2018/19 was submitted to NHS England on 

8th September 2017. 
 
 

BCF National Conditions 
 
12. The Integration and Better Care Fund Policy Framework 2017/18 – 2018/19, which 

was published on 31st March 2017 confirms the national conditions and metrics which 
will apply to BCF Plans with effect from April 2017. http://ow.ly/C58J30f0h0h 

 

13. The national conditions require that BCF Plans must: 

a. Be jointly agreed including approvals via the local Health and Wellbeing Board. 

b. Maintain NHS contribution to social care in line with inflation. 

c. Demonstrate commitment to investment in NHS-commissioned out-of-hospital 
services. 

d. Deliver improvements in managing (delayed) transfers of care. 
 

14. There is also an expectation that the BCF Plan will continue to show progress on the 
previous national conditions set out in the 2016/17 BCF Plan. These include data 
sharing, case management for people with multiple conditions, and developing 
seven-day services. They are still fundamental to transforming integrated care and 
are expected to be addressed at system level as part of the 44 Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnerships in place across the country.  

34

http://ow.ly/C58J30f0h0h


 

15. In terms of the national condition targeted to managing transfers of care, each local 
BCF Plan must evidence in particular how the Department of Health’s ‘high impact 
changes for improving hospital discharge’ are being implemented locally.   
 

16. The High Impact Changes Framework http://ow.ly/2q8S30f0hQt provides a basis for 
each health and care system to assess their local position and identify where further 
changes are needed so that all the evidence-based and recommended interventions 
are made.  

 
17. The grant conditions associated with the new adult social care allocation reference 

the importance of improved hospital discharge and the Government expects a 
proportion of the allocation be spent on this priority, according to local gaps and 
needs. 

 
18. The BCF narrative document sets out the detail of how each of the national 

conditions will be met (see pages 40-44 of Appendix A). An overview is given below: 
 

a. National Condition to maintain investment in Adult Social Care from the 
CCG minimum contribution.  

 

 This investment is separate from the additional allocation for adult social care 
for Local Authorities announced in the spring budget, which comes with 
distinct grant conditions – see c) below. 

 

 The BCF investment plan requires an inflationary uplift in the CCG contribution 
in support of adult social care of 1.79% in 2017/18 and 1.9% in 2018/19. The 
Leicestershire BCF plan has ensured that the required investment level per 
the CCG contribution is in place and the priorities for this investment have 
been agreed with NHS partners. 

 
b. National Condition: Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) Allocations  

 

 Funding allocations for major adaptations in the home will continue to be 
routed via the BCF to each district council in line with national policy. Growth 
funding has been issued by the Government in line with the expectations set 
out in the 2015 comprehensive spending review. The allocations for each 
District Council are –  

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Leicestershire £3,349,869 £3,632,291 

Blaby £499,481 £542,165 

Charnwood £846,293 £920,160 

Harborough £385,744 £418,476 

Hinckley and Bosworth £439,674 £472,848 

Melton £259,427 £281,543 

North West Leicestershire £572,989 £621,202 

Oadby and Wigston £346,261 £375,897 

 

 The BCF Policy Framework confirms upper tier authorities are required to 
passport the DFG allocation in full to each District Council, unless local 

35

http://ow.ly/2q8S30f0hQt


 

agreement has been reached to direct resources to other strategic housing 
priorities.  

 

 During 2016/17 significant work has been undertaken with District Councils to 
forecast DFG demand across Leicestershire to inform the local position, and 
quarterly reporting is in place to compare actual demand against the 
allocations made.   

 

 Where individual Districts wish to consider the use of DFG funds for other 
strategic housing solutions, this will be welcomed and supported by the 
County Council and other partners, given the transformation already being 
undertaken via the Lightbulb Housing Service. 

 
c. The additional adult social care allocation announced in the Spring 2017 

Budget (£19.7m non-recurrent grant over three years) 
 

 In response to this announcement additional working sessions with Adult 
Social Care, CCG partners, NHS providers and the Leicester, Leicestershire 
and Rutland (LLR) A&E Delivery Board took place in April and May to prioritise 
this additional funding which, whilst allocated to the County Council, in 
accordance with the grant conditions set by the Government and the BCF 
Policy Framework, must be included within the local BCF pooled budget.  

 

 The funding is being allocated in the form of a Section 31 (Local Authority) 
Grant on a non-recurrent basis. Therefore, any expenditure against the grant 
must be targeted to relieving short-term service pressures, provide 
transformational capacity, or manage demand in the longer term.  

 

 There are clear areas of spend identified in support of adult social care service 
capacity, as well as investment in priorities within the high impact assessment 
for hospital discharge and the STP Home First workstream.  

 

 A proportion of the investment is specifically targeted to the BCF national 
condition “Managing Transfers of Care” which is measured in terms of our 
performance on delayed discharges from hospital (DTOCs). 

 
19. Within the BCF expenditure plan (Appendix A – annex 6), £16.4m is invested in 

delivering improved DTOC performance per the agreed action plan priorities:  
 

 £11.4m of this is recurrent investment from our refreshed BCF plan, for 
example our existing seven day social care services which supports hospital 
discharge, the Intensive Community Support Service and the Improving 
Mental Health Discharge scheme. 

 £5m is new investment with effect from April 2017, funded from the IBCF, for 
example Hospital Housing Discharge Enabler scheme and the development of 
an integrated discharge pathway/team at the Bradgate Unit. 

20. The Government has made clear that part of this funding is intended to enable local 
authorities to quickly provide stability and extra capacity in local care systems.  

 
 
 

36



 

BCF PLAN 
 
21. The BCF narrative plan at Appendix A sets out the local vision and aims, along with 

the ten priority areas for heath and care integration (pages 24-35) where partners 
have jointly agreed to pool their BCF allocations and deliver transformational change, 
how the Leicestershire BCF has been aligned with and supports the LLR five year 
plan, how we will meet the BCF national metrics and conditions, and how delivery of 
the BCF plan is measured and governed.  
 

BCF EXPENDITURE PLAN 
 
22. The BCF expenditure plan totals £52m in 2017/18 and £56m in 2018/19. The table 

below provides a summary of the Leicestershire BCF allocations, setting out the 
source of funds for the two year period: 

 

Better Care Fund Funding 2017/18 and 2018/19 

  

Funding Source 2017/18 
£000 

2018/19 
£000 

CCG Minimum Contributions 

  East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG* 15,838 16,139 

West Leicestershire CCG* 20,843 21,239 

  36,682 37,378 

DCLG Funding 
 

 

Disabled Facilities Grants 3,350 3,632 

IBCF (Comprehensive Spending Review -Autumn 2015) Nil 5,582 

IBCF (Adult Social Care Grant Spring Budget 2017) 9,526 6,837 

  12,876 16,051 

   

Additional Contributions   

Additional CCG allocations (ICS Scheme) 2,563 2,563 

  
 

 

Total BCF Funding £52,120 £55,993 

  
 

 

* Inclusive of Care Act Funding 1,388 1,388 

 
23. Notwithstanding the additional allocation, significant financial pressure remains on all 

public sector partners, which in turn has affected the BCF expenditure plan.  These 
pressures are caused primarily by two issues:- 

a) The requirement from the two County CCGs that up to £2m of savings 
should be sought in the BCF Plan in 2017/18, to support the significant 
financial risks affecting NHS commissioners in 2017/18; 
 

b) The social care capital grant being removed from the BCF in 2016/17 and 
replaced with an unfunded uplift in DFG allocations. 
 

24. The BCF Expenditure Plan at Appendix A (annex 6) sets out the line items/service 
areas for each element of the BCF pooled budget. There is colour coding for those 
areas that support sustaining adult social care and improving hospital discharge, 
where additional investment is being made via the new Local Authority non-recurrent 

37



 

grant. The BCF narrative document also contains a section at page 45 which 
explains all the sources of funds into the BCF and the requirements placed upon 
these. 
 

SECTION 75 AGREEMENT 
 
25. The BCF is operated as a pooled budget under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. The 

Leicestershire BCF Section 75 Agreement is a rolling agreement originally approved 
in July 2014.  
 

26. Assurance is required locally and nationally that the BCF Section 75 Agreement has 
been extended for a further 12 months and plans are in place, via the Integration 
Executive, to complete this work by the end of October.  

 
27. The deadline for final sign-off of Section 75 Agreements, in line with the BCF 

Planning Requirements, is 30th November 2017. 
 
BCF METRICS 
 
28. BCF Plans for the period 2017-19 will be assessed against four national BCF 

metrics. As before, these will be reported nationally, on a quarterly basis, to NHS 
England. 
 

29. The tables at pages 50-51 of the BCF narrative (Appendix A) set out each BCF 
metric, performance in 2016/17, the proposed trajectory for the two year period of the 
BCF Plan and a summary of the rational for the level of performance being aimed for. 

 
30. The table below provides an update on performance to date for 2017/18 against the 

four BCF national metrics: 
 

Metric 
 

Target Forecast 
 

RAG Commentary 

Metric 1: Permanent 
admissions of older people 
(aged 65 and over) to 
residential and nursing care 
homes, per 100,000 population 
per year. 

630.6 582.7 G 

The BCF target for 2017/18 is a 
maximum of 879 admissions. The 
current full year forecast is 812 
admissions (or 582.7 per 100,000 
population).  
 

Metric 2: Proportion of older 
people (65 and over) who were 
still at home 91 days after 
discharge from hospital into 
reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

87.0% 84.4% A 

The target relates to people discharged 
from between November 2016 and 
January 2017 and their accommodation 
location between February and April 
2017. Performance is 84.4%,  
 

Metric 3: Delayed transfers of 
care (DTOC) from hospital per 
100,000 population 

318.39 318.39 R 

In June there were 1,739 days delayed 
for Leicestershire residents, a rate of 
318.39 per 100,000 population aged 
18+.  
Due to the delays in releasing the 
national BCF guidance, it was confirmed 
that targets for April, May and June 
would be set at the actual performance, 
although the current position is above 
expected performance and therefore 
has been RAG-rated red.  
From July, NHS England targets apply 
for the overall rate, and the different 

38



 

attributable organisations (NHS, social 
care and jointly attributable). 

Metric 4: Total non-elective 
admissions into hospital 
(general and acute), per 
100,000 population, per month 

737.92 773.62 R 

For the period April 2017 to July 2017 
there have been 21,104 non-elective 
admissions, against a target of 20,157. 
Furthermore, the forecast for the year 
end of 2017/18 is that there could be 
63,730 admissions, against a target of 
60.582 (RAG-rated red). 
The target is set by the clinical 
commissioning groups based on the 
amount of emergency activity planned 
for and commissioned on an annual 
basis. 

 
31. At their meeting on the 7th September, the Integration Executive focused on the 

delayed transfers of care (DTOC) target, which was felt to be the main risk to 
assurance and delivery of the BCF Plan. 
 

32. The local target, agreed by the A&E Delivery Board, set a trajectory for achievement 
of 3.5% DTOC by March 2018. However, the national requirement was for the 3.5% 
target to be met by November 2017. Therefore, there is a risk that the BCF Plan will 
be not approved. The technical guidance also states that if performance is not 
satisfactory by November 2017, some of the IBCF monies could be removed for 
2018/19.  
 

33. Members of the Integration Executive considered the level of risk involved in 
agreeing the DTOC target in terms of achieving the 3.5% target by March 2018. It 
was agreed to approve the 3.5% target by March, with the caveat that demonstrable 
progress must be made by November 2017. 
 

34. The BCF Planning Requirements document states that the Government will review 
progress in November 2017, and will consider changes to the IBCF (Spring 2017) 
allocations for poorly performing areas. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) will be 
involved in reviewing 12 local areas (already identified) as poorly performing in the 
first tranche of this process. No areas within LLR were identified. Further inspections 
of local areas are planned between February and April 2017, which may include 
some high performing areas. 

 
Regional and National Assurance 
 
35. The BCF planning guidance outlined the timetable for regional and national 

assurance. This indicates that approval letters will be issued from 6th October 2017 
giving formal permission to spend the BCF allocation (CCG minimum spend).  
 

36. For areas where the BCF Plan is rated ‘not approved’, escalation panels will start 
the week commencing the 10th October 2017.  
 

37. BCF Plans that are rated ‘approved with conditions’ will be asked to submit an 
updated BCF Plan by 31st October 2017. 

 
 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 

39



 

38. Findings from service user engagement activities across the health and care 
economy have also been used to inform the BCF refresh, a selection of which are 
listed below: 
 

 Service user metrics have been analysed to assess improvements in the 
experience of local people using integrated care and support across settings of 
care in Leicestershire, including the quality of life score in the Adult Social Care 
Outcome Framework, support for people with Long Term Conditions via the GP 
survey, and experience of coordination of care and support on discharge from 
CQC surveys; 
 

 A Better Care Together customer insight survey undertaken in 2015/16 focused 
on the views and experiences of carers; 

 

 Engagement with service users undertaken for the introduction of the “Help To 
Live At Home” domiciliary care services, used to shape the outcomes and service 
model; 
 

 Engagement with service users across eight BCF services as part of the 
evaluation conducted with Loughborough University and Healthwatch, focused 
particularly on community based services targeted to admissions avoidance; 
 

 Engagement and customer insight analysis undertaken for the Lightbulb Housing 
Project which informed the service model; 
 

 Engagement with service users on integrating customer services points of access 
across health and care, used to inform the future options and solutions for an 
LLR-wide operating model; 
 

 Engagement undertaken by Leicestershire Healthwatch, reported bi-monthly to 
the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, with thematic analysis on areas 
such as mental health, primary care access, urgent care and hospital discharge; 
 

 Findings and recommendations from local authority scrutiny committees and 
scrutiny panels; and 
 

 Feedback from LLR engagement events for Better Care Together and the STP. 
 
Background papers 
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 5 January 2017 ‘Better Care Fund Refresh 
2017/18’ - http://ow.ly/30DZ309bfTt  
 
Report to Health Overview and Scrutiny, 1 March 2017 ‘Better Care Fund Refresh’ 
(agenda item 12) http://ow.ly/MV9m30f5lCz 
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 16 March 2017 ‘Better Care Fund Plan 
2017/18 – 2018/19’ - http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4938 
 
Report to the Cabinet, 23 June 2017 ‘Better Care Fund 2017/18 – 2018/19’ (agenda item 
10) http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5120&x=1 
 

40

http://ow.ly/30DZ309bfTt
http://ow.ly/MV9m30f5lCz
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4938


 

Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board, 22 June 2017 ‘Better Care Fund 2017/18 – 
2018/19’ (agenda item 9) http://ow.ly/3RBL30f5lJb  
 
Position Statement to the Health and Wellbeing Board, 20 July 2017 (agenda item 4) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5075&x=1 
 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Sustainability and Transformation Plan -
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665  
 
Better Care Fund Policy Framework 2017-19 - http://ow.ly/C58J30f0h0h  
 
Better Care Fund Planning requirements 2017-19 - http://ow.ly/mD7F30f0haT   
 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Cheryl Davenport, Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment) 
Telephone: 0116 305 4212 
Email: Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
List of Appendices 
 

 Appendix A - Better Care Fund Narrative Plan 2017-19 

o Annex 1 – Case for Change 

o Annex 2 – DTOC benchmarking 

o Annex 3 – LLR – 8 High Impact Changes Model Gap Analysis 

o Annex 4 – LLR DTOC Action Plan (the action plan is currently being  
                      updated and will be submitted to NHS England by end of  
                      September) 

o Annex 5 – Leicestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care Department  
                      DTOC Improvement Plan  

o Annex 6 – BCF Expenditure Plan 

o Annex 7 – Unified Prevention Model 

o Annex 8 – BCF Engagement Plan 

o Annex 9 – BCF Programme Plan 

o Annex 10 – BCF Risk Register 

o Annex 11 – BCF Mapping Tables 

 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

41

http://ow.ly/3RBL30f5lJb
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665
http://ow.ly/C58J30f0h0h
http://ow.ly/mD7F30f0haT
mailto:Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk


 

 
39. Developments within the BCF Plan are subject to an equality impact assessment and 

the evidence base supporting the BCF Plan has been tested with respect to 
Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. An equalities and human rights 
impact assessment has been undertaken which is provided at  
http://ow.ly/vHKS30f5m9R. The assessment concluded that the impact of the BCF is 
neutral and therefore a full assessment was not required. 
 

40. The document underwent an annual review by Leicestershire County Council’s 
(Adults and Communities Department) Equalities Group on 14 March 2017. 
 

Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
41. The delivery of the BCF Plan and the governance of the associated pooled budget 

are managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and 
providers in Leicestershire. 
 

42. Wide ranging engagement across all partners has been undertaken to refresh the 
BCF Plan as shown in Appendix A (Annex 8). 

 
43. Day to day oversight of delivery is undertaken by the Integration Executive, an officer 

subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board comprising all partners represented on 
the Health and Wellbeing Board, with the exceptions of the Police and NHS England. 

 
44. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated 

services are in place and contribute to the system wide changes being implemented 
through the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), the five-year plan to 
transform health and care across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 
http://ow.ly/lPsP309cK2D.  
 

RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
45. The risk register for the BCF plan has been fully updated in light of the new two year 

planning requirement, the impact of the updated national conditions, metrics, and 
planning guidance, and in the context of the financial framework/financial pressures 
affecting the Leicestershire BCF plan. (See Appendix A – Annex 10 to this report). 
 

46. The updated risk register has been reviewed in detailed by partners including at the 
Integration Finance and Performance Group on 12th May 2017 and 18th August 
2017, and the Integration Executive on 23rd May, 1st August and 7th September 
2017. 
 

47. The BCF risk register was updated again in August 2017 to reflect the analysis 
undertaken on the delayed transfers of care target and the challenge of making 
improvements across the LLR area before March 2018. 
 

48. The key risks relating to the delivery of the BCF plan are summarised below. These 
are can characterised as a combination of: 

 Overall LLR system level risks (service, financial and transformational), per 
the LLR STP, and 

42

http://ow.ly/vHKS30f5m9R
http://ow.ly/lPsP309cK2D


 

 Specific risks affecting the Leicestershire BCF plan/pooled budget (arising 
from both the LLR system level risks and the national policy position for the 
BCF). 

 
49. The following is a summary of key strategic risks associated with the BCF refresh 

as at September 2017:  

a) Impact of the 2017/18 financial position across the health and care economy – 
risk that partners are forced to address immediate/short term system 
pressures versus investing in medium term solutions/ transformation, e.g. per 
the STP priorities. 

b) Lack of financial headroom within the Leicestershire BCF Plan, including lack 
of reserves and contingencies from 2017/18 onwards. 

c) Increased significant risks in CCG financial plans from 2017/18 onwards. 

d) Ongoing urgent care pressures, including the ongoing upward trend of 
emergency attendances/admissions. 

e) Improving Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) performance following the 
deterioration in performance experienced in 2016/17. 

f) Reliance on the delivery of further in-year savings from service review and 
redesign across a number of BCF service lines in order to deliver a more 
sustainable medium term financial plan. A number of these BCF service lines 
are subject to work being led by LLR STP workstreams during 2017/18, with 
key milestones and quantifiable impact in some areas still to be confirmed. 

g) Implementation of large and complex areas of transformation across LLR such 
as solutions for Integrated Points of Access, new models for Integrated 
Locality Teams, adoption of the electronic summary care record. 

 

43



This page is intentionally left blank



INTEGRATION AND BETTER CARE FUND  

 

Narrative Plan 2017/18 – 2018/19 

 

 

Area 
 

 

Leicestershire 

 

Constituent Health and 

Wellbeing Boards 

 

Leicestershire 

 

Constituent CCGs 
 

 

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 

West Leicestershire CCG 

 
 

 

APPENDIX A 
45



Contents 
1.0  INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................... 1 

2.0 INTEGRATION POLICY CONTEXT ................................................................................................. 2 

3.0 MAKING THE HOME FIRST PRINCIPLE A REALITY ........................................................................ 3 

4.0 VISION AND AIMS OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE BCF PLAN ............................................................... 4 

5.0 WHAT OUR INTEGRATED HEALTH AND CARE SYSTEM WILL LOOK LIKE BY 2020 ....................... 5 

5.1 Critical next steps in realising this vision ................................................................................ 5 

6.0 EVIDENCE BASE, CASE FOR CHANGE AND CHALLENGES ............................................................ 6 

6.1 Case for Change ...................................................................................................................... 6 

6.2 Local Service Challenges – Summary Diagram ........................................................................ 6 

6.3 Local Service Challenges – Supporting Narrative .................................................................... 7 

6.4 Supporting Narrative on Financial Challenges ........................................................................ 9 

6.5 Data Integration Challenges – Summary Diagram ................................................................ 10 

6.6 Data Integration Challenges – Supporting Narrative ............................................................ 11 

6.7 Sustainability of Social Care – Summary Diagram ................................................................ 11 

6.8 Sustainability of Social Care – Supporting Narrative ............................................................ 12 

7.0 HOW THE LEICESTERSHIRE BCF PLAN RESPONDS TO THE CASE FOR CHANGE AND 

CHALLENGES ......................................................................................................................................... 14 

7.1   The 10 BCF Plan Priorities ......................................................................................................... 15 

8.0        OUR PROGRESS TO DATE .......................................................................................................... 16 

8.1       Progress by Theme 2016/17 .................................................................................................. 16 

8.2       Progress with Integration Enablers in 2016/17 ..................................................................... 17 

8.3       BCF Metrics - Our Overall Performance 2016/17 .................................................................. 18 

9.0 HOW WE DEVELOPED THE BCF PLAN FOR 2017/18 – 2018/19 ................................................ 19 

10.0 WHAT WE WILL DELIVER AGAINST EACH OF THE BCF PLAN PRIORITIES .................................. 21 

10.1   BCF 1 Unified Prevention Offer ........................................................................................... 21 

10.2   BCF 2 - Home First ............................................................................................................... 22 

10.3   BCF 3 – Integrated Housing Support ................................................................................... 26 

46



10.4   BCF 4 – Integrated Domiciliary Care – Help to Live at Home (HTLAH) ................................ 27 

10.5   BCF 5 – Integrated Locality Teams ...................................................................................... 28 

10.6   BCF 6 – Integrated Urgent Care .......................................................................................... 29 

10.7   BCF 7 – Integrated Points of Access .................................................................................... 31 

10.8   BCF 8 – Integrated Data ...................................................................................................... 32 

10.9  BCF 9 – Integrated Commissioning ...................................................................................... 33 

10.10 BCF 10 – Transforming Care ................................................................................................ 35 

11.0    BCF NATIONAL CONDITIONS ...................................................................................................... 36 

11.1        A Jointly Agreed Plan .............................................................................................................. 36 

11.2    NHS contribution to social care in maintained in line with inflation ..................................... 36 

11.3    Impact of LLR-wide system changes on Adult Social Care ..................................................... 37 

11.4    Investment in NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services.................................................. 38 

11.5     Our Target for improving Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC)................................................ 38 

11.6 Assuring DTOC Improvement and Managing Risk ................................................................ 43 

12.0 OVERVIEW OF THE SOURCE OF FUNDS AND DIFFERENT BCF ALLOCATIONS ............................... 45 

12.1 Financial Context ................................................................................................................... 45 

12.2 Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) ........................................................................................ 46 

12.3 Disabled Facilities Grant Allocations ..................................................................................... 47 

12.4     Confirmation of Key Financial Matters.................................................................................. 47 

12.5     Confirmation of Risk Pools .................................................................................................... 48 

12.6 Leicestershire BCF Section 75 ............................................................................................... 49 

13.0 BETTER CARE FUND METRICS ....................................................................................................... 50 

14.0 PROGRAMME PLAN .................................................................................................................. 52 

15.0  INTEGRATION PROGRAMME RESOURCES ............................................................................ 54 

15.1 Matrix Management for Programme Delivery across the Partnership ................................ 55 

16.0 PROGRAMME EVALUATION & MEASURING IMPACT ............................................................... 56 

16.1 SIMTEGR8 .............................................................................................................................. 56 

47



17.0 RISK REGISTER AND RISK MANAGEMENT ................................................................................. 57 

18.0 PROGRAMME GOVERNANCE .................................................................................................... 58 

18.1 Leicestershire Integration Executive ..................................................................................... 58 

18.2 Integration Operational Group ............................................................................................. 58 

18.3 Integration Finance and Performance Group ....................................................................... 59 

18.4 Unified Prevention Board ..................................................................................................... 59 

18.5 STP Governance .................................................................................................................... 60 

19.0 EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACT ASSESSMENT ........................................................... 63 

 

APPENDICES  

 
1. Case for Change 

2. DTOC Benchmarking against CIPFA neighbours 

3. LLR - 8 High Impact Changes Model Gap Analysis 

4. LLR DTOC Action Plan 

5. Leicestershire County Council’s Adult Social Care Department DTOC Improvement Plan 

6. BCF Expenditure Plan 

7. Unified Prevention Model 

8. BCF Engagement Plan 

9. BCF Programme Plan 

10. BCF Risk Register 

11. BCF Mapping Tables: 

a. Leicestershire BCF mapped to the LLR STP, BCF Metrics and BCF Conditions, 

b. Analysis against the Nuffield Trust’s Shifting the Balance of Care Report 

48



1 

 

1.0  INTRODUCTION 

 
The 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review set out the government’s intention that by 
2020/21 health and social care will be integrated to provide better coordination of care 
around the individual, reduce inequalities, and support health and care systems to become 
more sustainable, in the context of rising demands and ongoing financial constraints.   
 
Since 2015 the National Better Care Fund Policy has provided a framework for a joint 
planning approach, along with a pooled budget mechanism, between Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCG) and Local Authorities (LA) to support this ambition.  
 
Nationally, the central role of integration in transforming health and care has continued to be 
reinforced. Most recently this has been illustrated in:  
 

 The NHS Planning guidance for 2017/18, published in September 2016. 

 The expectations placed on the 44 area Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnerships (STP), developed in 2016/17. 

 The Better Care Fund Policy Framework (March 2017) and the supporting planning 
guidance (July 2017). 

 The introduction of additional funding for Adult Social Care (March 2017), with grant 
conditions involving joint working with the NHS on improving the management of 
transfers of care from hospital. 
 

Locally, during 2016, partners across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) developed 
a five year plan, the LLR Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 
(http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665),with 
the vision to create a high quality, integrated, health and care system, which is affordable 
and meets the needs of local people in the medium term.  
 
Each of the three Better Care Fund plans/pooled budgets in the LLR area underpin the 
delivery of the LLR five year plan. 
 
This narrative document is the Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan for Leicestershire 2017/18 – 
2018/19 and sets out:  
 

 How the Leicestershire BCF Plan was developed and agreed.  

 How the priorities and investments set out within the plan:  

o meet national BCF conditions and outcome metrics; 

o deliver against local commissioning priorities; 

o contribute to the overall delivery of the LLR five year plan. 

 How delivery of the plan is resourced, measured and governed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665


2 

 

2.0 INTEGRATION POLICY CONTEXT 

 
Integration Policy has several components. Progress nationally and locally has varied and is 
still an evolving picture. The diagram below shows the main “pillars” of national policy that 
are driving integration across health and care systems. The Leicestershire BCF Plan has 
been developed in this context, underpinned by important principles for person centred 
integrated care, (as set out by The King’s Fund and National Voices in the early stages of 
BCF policy implementation in 2014/15). The Leicestershire BCF Plan and the LLR STP 
involve activities across all the pillars.  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Evidence of how integration policy has been implemented can be seen in the following 
developments 

 New Models of Care  
o Per NHS England Five Year Forward View and Vanguard Sites – new models 

are being tested and implemented across the country (e.g. integrated 
community teams, urgent care, and primary care); 

o Transformation of adult social care, focusing on sustainability of the care 
market, personalisation, more effective support to hospital discharge, and 
new methods of demand management; 

o New ways of delivering integrated care across organisational boundaries are 
developing, with new types of organisational forms emerging, such as 
accountable care organisations/systems. 

 New digital technologies and data sharing capabilities across health and care 
systems are being implemented so that records can be integrated and the utilisation 
of health and care services can be understood across populations and organisations. 

 New integrated approaches to back office, estate sharing and workforce 
development, are increasingly coming into place across public sector organisations. 

 New approaches to integrated commissioning, such as personal budgets, pooled 
budgets, new methods of contracting and tariffs in support of new models of care. 

 New opportunities and flexibilities arising from devolution in local government. 

50



3 

 

3.0 MAKING THE HOME FIRST PRINCIPLE A REALITY 

All parts of the health and care system are transforming the way they work so that people 
can be cared for at home, in their own community, whenever possible, and for as long as 
possible. In practical terms this means everyone should ask: “Why is this person not at 
home?” or “How best can we keep them at home? This involves: 
 

 Helping people to help themselves. 

 Easy navigation to the appropriate level of care and support on a 24/7 basis. 

 Tackling the over-reliance on acute hospital care. 

 Implementing community based services that are responsive, integrated, consistent, 
and reliable. 

 Care coordinated effectively across organisational boundaries, care pathways and 
professions. 

 Electronic shared records with integrated data. 
 

If an emergency admission to hospital does occur, after the necessary medical interventions 
and treatment, the health and care system’s primary aim will be to coordinate a timely and 
effective discharge from hospital and return people to their usual home address. 
 
Over the past two years we have already made some good progress: 
 

 Local Area Coordinators and First Contact Plus were implemented in 2016/17 as part 
of Leicestershire’s new prevention offer, helping people make the most of what is 
available locally to improve or maintain their health and wellbeing. 

 Hospital discharge was redesigned and streamlined into five core pathways, with 
new integrated discharge teams being implemented in 2017. 

 New urgent care services were tested in 2016, and commissioned with effect from 
April 2017, including new approaches to clinical navigation via 111, home visiting for 
urgent care, new ways of working for urgent care centres, and a new Emergency 
Department. 

 New integrated locality teams have been implemented in 2017, with primary care, 
social care and community nursing working hand in hand to coordinate care plans 
and support people to remain at home. 

 A new integrated housing support service (Lightbulb) was designed and tested in 
Leicestershire in 2016 and is being rolled out across Leicestershire with effect from 
May 2017. 

 A new integrated single point of access, for coordinating all community services 24/7, 
is in the process of being designed and implemented. 

 Phase one of the electronic summary care record has been completed and phase 
two is now well underway. 
 

Our Journey to become an Accountable Care System 
 
While these important components of an integrated local health and care system have 
started to take shape in LLR, nationally the expectation is that each area will now move to a 
more fundamental level of integration, creating fully-fledged integrated health and care 
systems by 2020/21 where accountability is joint across organisational boundaries. A much 
clearer vision of what integration will look like across LLR by 2021 is emerging. At the time of 
this submission, leaders from across the health and care system are currently considering 
whether moving to a more formal accountable care system over the next two years will form 
part of the local vision for integration and setting out milestones to achieve this. 

51



4 

 

 
Irrespective of the ultimate structure of local organisations within the health and care 
system, the following key issues need addressing as part of the next phase of 
integration in LLR: 
 

 Implementing the remaining building blocks for integrated health and care. 

 Tackling the remaining cultural, organisational, and technological barriers to 
integration.  

 Supporting the workforce to deliver new models of care effectively. 

 Making care more consistent, and reducing variations in care.  

 Greater alignment of budgets and outcomes across the public sector, to get the best 
value for money from the Leicestershire pound. 

 

4.0 VISION AND AIMS OF THE LEICESTERSHIRE BCF PLAN  

2017/18 – 2018/19 
 
Our vision remains as follows: 
 

 
We will create a strong, sustainable, person-centred, and integrated health and care 

system which improves outcomes for our citizens. 
 

 
 
Our aims have been refreshed in light of national policy developments and the development 
of the LLR five year plan. 
 
The revised aims are as follows: 
 
 

1. Develop and implement 
new models of care and 
new approaches to 
commissioning, which 
maximise the 
opportunities and 
outcomes for 
integration. 

2. Deliver measurable, 
evidence based 
improvements to the 
way our citizens and 
communities 
experience integrated 
care and support.  

 

3. Increase the capacity, 
capability and 
sustainability of 
integrated services, so 
that professionals and 
the public have 
confidence that more 
can be delivered in the 
community in the future.  

 

4. Support the 
reconfiguration of  
services from acute to 
community settings in 
line with: 

 The LLR STP 

 New integrated 
models of health and 
care. 

 

5. Manage an effective and 
efficient pooled budget 
across the partnership 
to deliver the integration 
programme. 

 

6. Develop an integrated 
health and care system 
by 2020/21, including 
the local approach to 
devolution where 
applicable. 

 

52



5 

 

5.0 WHAT OUR INTEGRATED HEALTH AND CARE SYSTEM WILL 

LOOK LIKE BY 2020  

 
The transformation of health and care across LLR has a number of components as shown in 
the diagram below.  
 
The six green hexagons represent the key areas of service transformation which together 
will make up the new health and care system. This is supported by improved clinical triage, 
call handling and navigation across the system and a new wrap around prevention offer 
targeted to helping people to help themselves to reduce the overall demands on the health 
and care system in the future. 
 

 

5.1 Critical next steps in realising this vision 

 
1. Ongoing delivery of the transformational work already underway within the green 

hexagons, including the priorities set out and funded within the three Better Care 
Fund plans in LLR 

2. Final approval of the STP plan for LLR, including confirmation of those elements 
within the green hexagons that are subject to consultation, and the timescale for this. 

3. Determining if an accountable care system (ACS) should be developed within LLR, 
and if so which components of service/which organisations will be part of this 
development. 

 
It is anticipated a way forward on bullets two and three above will be in place by December 
2017. 
 

53



6 

 

6.0 EVIDENCE BASE, CASE FOR CHANGE AND CHALLENGES 

 

The following section outlines the challenges arising from the evidence and analysis to date, 
summarising our current performance as a health and care system, the local case for 
change as set out in the STP, and our progress so far on our integration journey 

6.1 Case for Change 

Considerable work has already been undertaken on the evidence base and local case for 
change.  

Appendix 1 sets out a summary of this analysis with reference to source documents which 
include: 

 Public health analysis, including health profiles and the JSNA. 

 Analysis undertaken for the LLR five year plan (Better Care Together/STP). 

 Population profiling and risk stratification. 

 Analysis undertaken for the Leicestershire Adult Social Care Strategy and Market 
Position Statement.  

 Evidence from evaluation of the BCF Plan 2015/16 – 2016/17. 

 A range of customer insight analysis that has informed the Leicestershire BCF. 

 Other reference sources including regulatory and benchmarking data.  

 

6.2 Local Service Challenges – Summary Diagram 

 

 

54



7 

 

6.3 Local Service Challenges – Supporting Narrative 

The ongoing demands on the acute care system are the local health and care economy’s 
greatest risk to sustainability.  

 Total emergency admissions for Leicestershire’s residents have again exceeded 
CCG commissioned levels over the past 12 months. 

o In 2014/15 there were 58,479 emergency admissions for Leicestershire 
residents. 

o In 2015/16 the outturn for emergency admissions was 60,090 (increase of 
1.5%). 

o In 2016/17 the outturn for emergency admissions was 61,966 against a plan 
for 59,030 (increase of 3.1% on 2015/16 levels). 

Analysis by the LLR A&E Delivery Board shows that a proportion of the growth has occurred 
in the under 10s and working age adults, so the solutions are not purely about avoiding 
admissions for older people. 

In 2016/17 UHL’s A&E saw a c.5% growth in attendances, and performance on the four hour 
target for A&E remained challenging throughout the year, an outturn of 79.6% vs a target of 
95%.  

Ambulance response times and handover delays at the A&E have also been a key feature of 
urgent care system pressures, 27.35 mins vs a target of 15 mins. 

Four emergency admissions avoidance schemes were implemented as part of the original 
Leicestershire BCF plan in 2015/16. These were independently evaluated in conjunction with 
Loughborough University, Simul8 Corporation and Healthwatch, via the SIMTEGR8 study. 
One of these schemes, the Loughborough Older People’s Assessment Unit, has been 
decommissioned as result of the BCF evaluation process. 

The others, including the falls non-conveyance pathway with EMAS, and the acute home 
visiting service (part of new primary care seven day services) have proved very effective and 
have been commissioned recurrently within LLR’s new urgent care model from April 2017. 
The new model of urgent care and its capacity planning assumptions have been reflected in 
the LLR STP and CCG operating plans. 

In terms of a continued focus on avoiding hospital admissions, the 2017/18 BCF plan 
includes implementing a further emergency admissions avoidance scheme that was tested 
in 2016/17, which focuses on short stay cardio-respiratory patients. 

The overall trajectory for non-elective admissions for the BCF for 2017/18 – 2018/19 has 
been aligned with CCG operating plans and further information about this metric can be 
found in section 13 of this report on page 51. 

55



8 

 

 
Our performance on delayed transfers of care (DTOC) in 2016/17 was a marked 

deterioration from our overall good performance on this metric in 2015/16. The performance 

in 2016/17 is shown in this graph which confirms the target was not met. 

  

 

 Social care attributable delays have remained low. When benchmarked against 
CIPFA statistical neighbours and NHS England comparators, Leicestershire has 
been in the top quartile for each quarter of 2016/17 and Q1 2017/18 (see Appendix 
2).  

 However the combined total for NHS, LA and joint delays across all settings of care 
for Leicestershire has remained consistently above the target in 2016/17.  

 54% of the totals days delayed in 2016/17 were in the acute sector and 46% in the 
non-acute sector.  

 The split between acute and non-acute delays has however been volatile, with more 
days delayed in the non-acute sector than the acute sector for five months of the 
year. 

A combination of factors have affected the position including:  

 The overall volume of emergency admissions. 

 Problems with patient/family choice especially on non-acute sites. 

 Internal flow, within acute sites, and between acute and community hospitals. 

 Delays to CHC assessments and funding. 

 Mobilisation issues with the new domiciliary care services during the winter of 2016.  

56



9 

 

With the significant DTOC improvements mandated nationally by November 2017, this 
remains a significant challenge for the health and care system, and the successful delivery 
of the Leicestershire BCF plan. 

A comprehensive self-assessment has been completed across the whole of LLR against the 
eight high impact changes for managing transfers of care (see Appendix 3). A joint LLR-wide 
action plan is already in place to tackle remaining gaps in this model (Appendix 4). 

Leicestershire’s adult social care department completed an analysis and review of their 
overall service strategy in 2016 and are already delivering a number of transformation 
projects, redesigning how social care is delivered, managing demand, developing the 
market, and ensuring the needs of vulnerable people continue to be met in line with statutory 
requirements such as the Care Act. 

In July 2017 the adult social care department developed a DTOC improvement plan, linked 
to the LLR self-assessment (see Appendix 5). This reflects all the operational and strategic 
actions which are already underway, with a much more systematic and intensive focus on 
patients in non-acute sites. 

A new Home First workstream for LLR commenced in 2017. Along with the more operational 
LLR discharge working group, these two groups lead the implementation of the short and 
medium term improvements for integrated discharge, interim beds, reablement and 
rehabilitation, commissioning of care and nursing homes, and support for carers.  
 
Services funded from existing BCF plans across LLR will be redesigned to meet the new 
model(s) of care proposed by the Home First Workstream with effect from 2018. 
 
Further information about the trajectory for improving DTOC and actions being taken, 
including those via the Home First workstream, can be found pages at section 11.5 on pages 
39-44 of this document. 
 

6.4 Supporting Narrative on Financial Challenges 

Financial allocations, the scale of financial pressure and the collective level of savings 
required across the partnership impact on the ability of all partners to commit to new 
initiatives, unless funds are reallocated between existing commitments, existing services are 
decommissioned, or transformation funds can be accessed. 

 Leicestershire County Council is required to make savings of £16.4m in 2017/18 

 West Leicestershire CCG requires savings of £18.7m 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG requires savings of £14.8m  

 The financial position of Leicestershire County Council, linked to the council’s MTFS, 
relies on securing the contribution for maintaining social care from the CCG minimum 
allocation within the BCF plan in line with inflation. In 2017/18 – 2018/19 this 
represents £22m.  

Despite the financial pressures and complexities of BCF funding, partners must commit to 
the BCF plan, maintain delivery across the BCF plan metrics and national conditions, as well 
as deliver a medium term view of transformation linked to the LLR five year plan (STP). 

To do this, there needs to be even more rigour in aligning financial plans and benefits, with 
more sophisticated predictive modelling and methods of measuring impact, plus greater 
alignment between the three LLR BCF plans, and the LLR-wide five year plan/STP. 

57



10 

 

The BCF plan for 2017/18 also includes the requirement to apply the new non-recurrent 
Adult Social Care allocation announced in the March 2017 budget. Further information about 
this can be found in section 12.2 of this document on page 46. 

The financial refresh of the Leicestershire BCF for 2017-19 placed additional emphasis on 
driving out further savings and creating further headroom for transformation within the plan 
wherever possible. 

A workplan of priority service reviews was agreed for 2017, with a view to releasing some 
early savings in year, and taking further commissioning decisions for 2018.  

In 2016/17 we developed a framework for integrated commissioning across LA and NHS 
partners. Further information about this can be found at section 10.9 on page 33. 

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) allocations proved challenging in the 2016/17 BCF plan 
due to the late publication of the BCF guidance, and a late and unexpected change to 
financial allocations associated with DFGs and the (previous) social care grant. Dialogue 
with Districts has taken place throughout 2016/17, with improved joint planning and 
forecasting. 
 
The 2016/17 DFG monies previously held back within the BCF plan have been released in 
full to Districts with effect from 2017/18, placing a £1m recurrent pressure on the 2017/18 
BCF financial plan. The additional DFG growth funds announced for 2017/18 have also been 
passported direct to each District Council in full, and the BCF financial plan has been 
refreshed to take account of this. 
 

6.5 Data Integration Challenges – Summary Diagram 

 

 
 

58



11 

 

6.6 Data Integration Challenges – Supporting Narrative 

 
Although really good progress has been made on data integration by using the NHS number 
on social care records, implementing PI Care and Healthtrak, and deploying the risk 
stratification (ACG) tool in primary care, further work is needed on the integration of data and 
IT systems throughout LLR so that we have:  

o A more systematic approach to business intelligence overall.  
o The architecture is in place to implement the electronic summary care record 

(SCR2). 
 
SCR2 is a large programme of change within the LLR Digital Roadmap. It impacts on direct 
care for patients, in particular on services where multiple professionals need access to 
shared records, such as in urgent care, home first, integrated locality teams, and all the 
associated case management in primary care and community settings. The Leicestershire 
BCF plan has an overall dependency on the development of an LLR-wide solution for the 
electronic summary care record with an expectation of solutions being implemented from 
2017/18. 
 
The directive from NHS Digital in early 2017 about restrictions imposed on LA’s accessing 
SUS (hospital) data, and the ability to link this data with other data sources, have presented 
further challenges to our locally ambitious plans for data integration. In particular system 
wide analysis using PI Care and Healthtrak has been inhibited by this, and we are currently 
working with other LAs and national bodies to resolve this. A DARS application is in progress 
with NHS Digital in order to seek approval for data integration to be restored across LLR, 
however the outcome of this will not be known until after the BCF submission in September 
2017. 
 

6.7 Sustainability of Social Care – Summary Diagram 

 

 
 

59



12 

 

6.8 Sustainability of Social Care – Supporting Narrative 

 
The market for social care is increasingly fragile and complex. Growing demands of an 
ageing population, problems with recruitment and retention, the implementation of the 
national living wage, increasing pressure from regulatory bodies and commissioners to 
improve quality and outcomes, and the overall squeeze on public sector finances, mean the 
margins for care providers are increasingly small.  
 
The number of contracts being handed back to LAs is increasing, with provider failure on 
quality and/or financial sustainability grounds a significant risk for LA commissioners and 
self-funders. In Leicestershire we had one contract handed back last year and two care 
providers ceased trading which is comparable, however the number of new registrations for 
care services is lower in the county than in other areas. 
 
Spending on social care fell by 9% in real terms in the five years to 2016, and the Local 
Government Association, representing leaders of 370 English and Welsh authorities, has 
predicted a funding shortfall of between £1.3bn and £2.6bn by 2020, with fears that some 
councils could be challenged in the high court for not providing a statutory minimum 
standard of care.  
 
Despite Leicestershire being the lowest funded authority in the country per capita, the 
Council has protected social care services which now account for 38% of net expenditure.  
The main pressures locally are increasing prices causing cost pressures, together with future 
financial risk due to the implementation of Transforming Care, potential reductions in income 
and increasing care costs.  
 
In Leicestershire people aged 65 and over represent the majority of the workload of the adult 
social care department. Future demand has  been modelled on the demographic change 
anticipated within the over 65s, coupled with increasing rates of frailty and long term 
conditions, based on JSNA projections and the STP analysis. This indicates an increasing 
complexity in the caseload and an increased cost of care per person in the future with key 
features as follows: 

 During 2016/17 although the number of service users has remained relatively static 
for residential care there has been an increase in Additional Needs Allowances 
(ANAs).  

 For home care, the average number of hours provided per service user has 
increased, with this increased pressure partially off-set by a reduction in the number 
of overall service users. It is not yet clear if the reduction in the number of home care 
users is due to an increasing number of self-funders in Leicestershire’s older 
population, or is being caused by other factors.  

 The level of Learning Disability support required is growing, mainly due to costs of 
care packages for service users transferring from Children’s to Adult Social Care 
(around 120 per annum), increasing levels of additional needs, and high cost 
placements. Increased demand will also impact on the number of packages 
commissioned through the Learning Disabilities Pooled Budget where Continuing 
Healthcare will be awarded 

 During 2016/17 the number of service users funded by the LA who have mental 
health needs has slightly increased and there has also been an increase in ANAs. It 
is anticipated that this trend will continue in 2017/18 and growth estimates will 
continue to be reviewed. 

60



13 

 

 Upward demand on adult social care has also been factored in for those with 
physical disabilities and in relation to the ongoing increase number of deprivation of 
liberty referrals (in line with national trends). 

In terms of staffing for the sector, staff turnover in social care, compared with the vast 
majority of other sectors, is very high. While the average annual turnover rate in England is 
15%, many social care roles far exceed this, and 27% of care workers leaving their job each 
year. In Leicestershire the turnover rate is higher than the national average at over 30%.  

The Care Quality Commission found in 2015 that 20% of nursing homes did not have 
enough staff on duty to ensure safe care for residents and this can lead to poor staff morale. 
Locally we have experienced difficulty in recruiting to qualified nursing roles, but also to 
domiciliary care roles in more rural and affluent areas of the county 

The sector is not seen as an attractive option, especially when many other employers can 
offer similar rates for work that does not involve dealing with personal care, and UK 
unemployment rates are currently low overall. The impact of Brexit on this sector in the next 
12 months also needs to be considered. 

To meet the changing profile of demand, services will need to be delivered differently and 
the skill-sets of some roles in social care will need to change. The shape, composition and 
skills base of the social care workforce is also affected by the government’s focus on 
promoting greater choice. This includes increased take-up of direct payments and personal 
budgets and greater community based, integrated delivery.  

In The Future of Work: Jobs and Skills in 2038 (UKCES) a number of key points are made 
about how social care service will change: 
 

 Increased demand for home care and tele-care services, particularly for the elderly, 
as the high costs of nursing and residential care stimulate more home-based 
provision.  

 Growth in community models and social entrepreneurship (e.g. home-based care 
networks), based on principles of decentralisation.  

 An increasing requirement for social care workers to handle advanced care 
technology. 

 Increased demand for digital skills in the workforce.  

 Increased demand for inter-disciplinary skill-sets.  
 

Given the above factors, the adult social care strategy has a number of demand 
management components, along with a market development and commissioning strategy 
focused on attracting and retaining quality providers into the local area, with a workforce 
skilled for the future.  

The adult social care service continues to deliver a complex and challenging four year 
transformation plan which is changing the model of adult social care, including, in part, by a 
greater integration of care with health services.  

The council’s medium term financial plan demonstrates the growth applied to supporting 
adult social care in light of the demands and risks outlined above, however there continues 
to be a clear dependency on the funding contribution from the BCF and the new IBCF 
allocation in maintaining and sustaining adult social care to 2020/21, outlined further in 
sections 11.2 and 12.2 of this document. 

61



14 

 

7.0 HOW THE LEICESTERSHIRE BCF PLAN RESPONDS TO THE 

CASE FOR CHANGE AND CHALLENGES  

 
The Leicestershire BCF plan has responded to the case for change and key challenges by 
partners prioritising services and transformational work that are essential to: 
 

 Build an integrated health and care system in LLR by 2020/21. 

 Reduce the overall level of activity and costs associated with acute care, in favour of 
a shift into proactive and preventative care in community settings.  

 
Specifically this involves:  
 

 Implementing consistently reliable, 24/7 integrated community services, focusing on 
those with Long Term Conditions (LTCs), frailty and the growing population of over 
70s, in particular through crisis response, integrated locality teams, integrated points 
of access, and the wrap around prevention offer which includes Leicestershire’s new 
housing service (Lightbulb). 
 

 Delivering the critical short and medium term changes for Hospital Discharge and 
Reablement, being led by the LLR Discharge Working Group and the LLR Home 
First workstream, (including integrated discharge teams, trusted assessors, etc.) 

 

 Leading innovative work on data integration both at population level and for individual 
electronic care records. 

 

 Maximising the use of the additional adult social care allocation (IBCF) in support of: 
o Sustaining adult social care. 
o Improving hospital discharge/DTOC performance.  
o Market development for the independent sector. 
o Achieving other health and care transformation priorities with NHS partners, 

such as integrated locality teams. 
 

 Ensuring housing solutions are an integrated part of the health and care system. 
 
The Leicestershire BCF plan has been fully refreshed and now includes ten priorities which 
are targeted to the key challenges in delivering our overall vision of health and care 
integration (see table on next page). 
 
The priorities have been updated to align more effectively with the LLR STP, ensure that our 
focus remains on delivering the top priorities in relation to health and care integration, and 
we can continue a rigorous approach to delivery and evaluation. 
 
The supporting expenditure plan at Appendix 6 is also structured using these ten priorities 
headings. This has been constructed in the context of the complex mandatory requirements 
of the BCF policy framework, which specifies how the different financial allocations should 
be used, as well as within the constraints of the significant financial pressures faced by all 
partners. 

62



15 

 

7.1   The 10 BCF Plan Priorities 

 
BCF 1 – Unified Prevention Offer BCF 2 – Home First  

A core prevention offer that is co-designed 
across the full range of partners, wraps around 
people, communities, and locality teams, and is 
targeted to maintaining wellbeing and 
independence. 
 

24/7 integrated community care which supports 
effective hospital discharge, prevents 
readmission to hospital, and provides maximum 
reablement. Includes joint approaches to nursing 
and residential placements, interim beds, and 
carer support.  
 

BCF 3 – Integrated Housing Support BCF 4 – Integrated Domiciliary Care 

Provides a range of (previously fragmented) 
housing support services in one integrated offer 
for Leicestershire, supporting hospital discharge 
and maintaining health, wellbeing and 
independence at home. 
 

“Help to Live at Home” was commissioned jointly 
by the LA and CCGs in 2016. It operates across 
18 geographical lots, with services organised 
around the same footprints as the new 
integrated locality teams and places emphases 
on reablement outcomes. 
 

BCF 5 – Integrated Locality Teams BCF 6 – Integrated Urgent Care 

Integrated community based teams for those 
with frailty, multiple conditions or at risk of acute 
care episodes. Proactive care plans, improved 
coordination of care. Multi-disciplinary teams 
delivering a joint approach to assessments and 
care planning, consistent interventions and 
measuring joint outcomes. 
 

The new model of urgent care for LLR was 
commissioned in April 2017. It offers clear 
alternatives to attendance at the A&E 
department 24/7, with improved clinical triage 
and navigation, to ensure consistent use of 
alternatives, and divert people away from acute 
care where applicable. 
 

BCF 7 – Integrated Points of Access BCF 8 – Data Integration 

24/7 integrated call handling and response for 
health and care in the community. Will provide 
one point of contact across LLR, helping 
professionals and service users with home first 
and coordinating care plans in the community. 
 

Both at population level, so we can track the 
performance and utilisation of the health and 
care system, and at the individual care level, so 
that the delivery of care is supported by an 
integrated summary care record, accessible by 
multiple professionals. 
 

BCF 9 – Integrated Commissioning BCF 10 – Transforming Care 

Building the approach and joint infrastructure 
between LA and CCG partners in priority areas 
such as stabilising and further market 
development for domiciliary care, or new 
approaches to joint commissioning for care and 
nursing homes. 
 

Ensuring the right support is in place for people 
with learning disabilities, autism or those who 
have behaviours that challenge, so they can be 
discharged from hospital care at the right time. 
To support people who are at risk of being 
admitted, and to provide appropriate 
accommodation in the community to maximise 
their independence. 
 

63



16 

 

8.0 OUR PROGRESS TO DATE 

The 2016/17 Leicestershire BCF Plan was delivered under four themes. The themes were 
designed to group together related activity/projects so that: 

 These are managed and governed effectively within the local integration programme.  

 Their contribution and outputs are connected effectively to LLR-wide governance. 
 

BCF THEME 1:   
Unified Prevention Offer 

BCF THEME 2:  
Long Term Conditions 

 Integration of prevention services in 
Leicestershire’s communities into one 
consistent wrap-around offer for 
professionals and services users.  

 Improved, systematic, targeting, access 
and coordination of the offer. 

 

 Integrated, proactive case management 
from multidisciplinary teams for those 
with complex conditions and/or the over 
75s.  

 
 

BCF THEME 3:  
Integrated Urgent Response 

BCF THEME 4:  
Hospital Discharge and Reablement 

 Integrated, rapid response community 
and primary care services 24/7 

 Working together to avoid unnecessary 
hospital admissions, supporting people at 
home wherever possible. 

 

 Safe, timely and effective discharge from 
hospital, via consistent pathways, 
reducing length of stay 

 “Home First” philosophy, focused on 
reablement and maintaining 
independence. 
 

8.1 Progress by Theme 2016/17 

Implementation of the integration programme in Leicestershire has continued at pace. 
The following table is a summary of our achievements during 2016/17: 
 

Unified Prevention Offer 
 

 
 First Contact Plus – launched a new web-based 

referral system, which facilitates efficient clinical 
referral and also a self-referral/ public facing 
option. 
 

 Piloted and developed the business case for 
Leicestershire’s new Lightbulb Housing offer - to 
provide joined up support across housing, 
health and care to keep people safe, well, warm 
and independent in their own homes. 
 

 Redesigned falls pathway. Each stage within 
the pathway has been developed into an agreed 
level of service that will form part of the LLR 
Falls Prevention and Treatment Strategy. 
 

 Developed the model for social prescribing 
across Leicestershire. 

Integrated, Proactive Care  
for those with Long Term Conditions 

 
 Integrated locality working between 

community and social workers in place 
so they can jointly respond and manage 
their caseloads using shared operational 
practices and procedures – organised to 
support both planned care and urgent 
care cases in each locality. 
 

 Integrated locality teams developed 
during Q4 2016/17, to support patients 
with multiple long term conditions, frailty 
and others who are at risk of high levels 
of acute care costs if their care is not 
well managed in the community. 

 
 
 
 

64



17 

 

Integrated Urgent Response 
 

 Achieved 2,010 avoided admissions during 
2016/17. 
 

 Launched a new electronic falls risk assessment 
tool (eFRAT) for paramedics, which has resulted 
in reduced conveyances to hospital. Integrated 
working with community health services has 
enabled fallers to stay in their home while 
receiving any nursing and therapy services 
required. 
 

 Piloted ambulatory care scheme within the 
Clinical Decisions Unit at Glenfield Hospital for 
cardiorespiratory patients.  
 

 Urgent Care System in LLR has undergone a 
service redesign and reprocurement process in 
2016/17. New services commenced in April 
2017, which incorporate a number of the 
emergency admissions avoidance schemes 
funded and tested within the Leicestershire BCF. 

Hospital Discharge and Reablement 
 
 Launched a new jointly commissioned 

domiciliary service, called Help to Live at 
Home, on 7th November. It promotes 
reablement in the home and integrating 
domiciliary care providers more 
effectively with other health and care 
services, including primary care and 
prevention services in each locality. 
 

 New Integrated Discharge In-Reach 
team to identify, transfer and then 
assess suitable patients into bed based 
reablement. 

 
 As part of Lightbulb, the Hospital 

Housing Discharge support service 
involves housing specialists working 
directly with patients and hospital staff to 
identify and resolve housing issues that 
are a potential barrier to discharge and 
to help prevent readmissions. Service 
demonstrating impressive results. 

 

 

8.2 Progress with Integration Enablers in 2016/17 

 The Leicestershire Integration Programme led work to scope opportunities to integrate the 
various points of customer access across the health and care economy in LLR. 

 PI Care and Healthtrak was adopted as a business as usual tool with customised 
dashboards providing new insights into patient journeys and how the health and care system 
is being utilised in LLR. 

 Individual trajectories developed for each emergency admissions scheme. 

 SIMTEGR8 - Independent evaluation of a further four components of the BCF via a research 
partnership with Loughborough University, Healthwatch Leicestershire and SIMUL8. 

 98% of adult social care users have a validated NHS number as a key enabler to data 
sharing.  

 Launched new Health and Care Integration Website for Leicestershire 
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/, and a social isolation campaign Autumn 2016 
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/reducing-
loneliness/.  

 Integration Stakeholder Bulletins published monthly featuring our progress and case studies 
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/health-and-care-
integration-newsletters/ along with the @leicshwb twitter feed. 

 

65

http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/reducing-loneliness/
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/reducing-loneliness/
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/health-and-care-integration-newsletters/
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/health-and-care-integration-newsletters/


18 

 

8.3 BCF Metrics - Our Overall Performance 2016/17 

The table below sets out the overall performance against the BCF national metrics, and our 
locally selected metric (admissions due to falls) during 2016/17.  

The most significant area of challenge was the delayed transfers of care target (DTOC) 
where performance in 2016/17 was a marked deterioration from 2015/16.  

Further detail on our performance in relation to delayed transfers of care in 2016/17 can be 
found on pages 39-40 below.  

Our plans to improve DTOC performance across the health and care system and the target 
for improvement that has been set for 2017/18 can be found in section 11.5 on page 39. 

Metric 
 

Target Position 
at March 

2017 

RAG Commentary 

Metric 1: Permanent 
admissions of older people 
(aged 65 and over) to 
residential and nursing care 
homes, per 100,000 population 
per year. 

606.4 633.5 R 

The BCF target for 2016/17 was a maximum of 
827 admissions. The forecast during Q4 was the 
potential for up to 873 admissions (640.7 per 
100,000 population) however the final position 
for the year was 864, a rate of 633.5 per 
100,000.  
 

Metric 2: Proportion of older 
people (65 and over) who were 
still at home 91 days after 
discharge from hospital into 
reablement/ rehabilitation 
services 

84.2% 86.5% G 

The target relates to people discharged from 
between October and December 2016 and their 
accommodation location between January and 
March 2017. Performance was 86.5%, in line 
with the previous year, and has met the BCF 
target. 
 

Metric 3: Delayed transfers of 
care (DTOC) from hospital per 
100,000 population 

312.19 377.10 R 

BCF DTOC targets are measured quarterly - the 
312.19 target covers the period Jan-Mar 2017 
(Q4). Performance is measured by the average 
days delayed during Jan-Mar 2017 as a rate per 
100,000 (for those aged 18+). The Q4 
performance was 377.1 per 100,000, therefore 
significantly in excess of the target. 
 

Metric 4: Total non-elective 
admissions into hospital 
(general and acute), per 
100,000 population, per month 724.37 759.84 A 

For the period Apr-16 to Mar-17 there were 
61,920 non-elective admissions, against a target 
of 59,030. The target is set by the clinical 
commissioning groups based on the amount of 
emergency activity planned for and 
commissioned on an annual basis. 
 

Metric 5: Patient/service user 
experience. Patients satisfied 
with support to manage long 
term health conditions  62.2% 63.6% G 

Results are published annually linked to the GP 
patient survey. The performance results are 
based on the national survey undertaken in 
March 2016, published in July 2016, and show 
this target was achieved, and with a slight 
improvement above the target. 
 

Metric 6: Emergency 
admissions for injuries due to 
falls in people aged 65 and 
over per 100,000 population, 
per year 

1,677.1 1602.9 G 

There were 137 falls, where the injuries resulted 
in admissions, for Leicestershire residents aged 
65 and over in March 2017. This gives a final 
year outturn of 1,602.9 against the target of 
1,677.1, showing the target was achieved, and 
with a notable increase in performance. 

66



19 

 

9.0 HOW WE DEVELOPED THE BCF PLAN FOR 2017/18 – 2018/19 

A systematic approach has been undertaken. 

Leicestershire’s (multiagency, director level) Integration Executive has overseen this work on 

behalf of the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Detailed work to evaluate the performance of the BCF plan has been led by the Integration 

Operational Group. This is a multiagency group of commissioners and providers reporting 

into the Integration Executive. 

In order to refresh the Leicestershire BCF plan for 2017/18 in summary we have undertaken 

the following activities: 

 Considered the strategic context of the integration policy pillars on our local vision 
and plans. 

 Examined our progress and performance to date and the milestones we still need to 
achieve to become an integrated health and care system by 2020/21. 

 Clarified the contribution the Leicestershire BCF plan and pooled budget will continue 
to make to deliver specific components of the system level transformation set out 
within LLR’s five year plan. 

 Completed a full financial refresh, in line with the significant financial pressures and 
risks affecting all partner organisations. 

 Completed a review across all BCF plan components, led by the Integration 
Operational Group. This included taking account of evaluations and service reviews 
completed in 2016/17, assessing current risks and issues affecting plan delivery, and 
identifying priority service lines where further work needs to be undertaken, and/or 
savings achieved in 2017/18. 

 Undertaken a significant programme of engagement across all partners. 

 The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board was briefed and engaged throughout 

the refresh process, with additional briefings for county councillors following the local 

and national elections in Q1 2017. 

 Assessed the implications of the BCF policy framework, technical guidance and the 
grant conditions applying to the additional adult social care allocation. 
 

The following section sets out in more detail the approach we have taken: 

The BCF plan was divided into categories for the refresh: 

1. Elements of the plan considered embedded and business as usual, some of which date 

back to the original health transfer monies allocations in 2011/12 which preceded the 

BCF. The refresh process ensured partners could discuss and agree which schemes 

should remain in this category and if additional review work should be undertaken either 

now or in the future. 

2. Elements of the plan which were new in 2016/17 and subject to evaluation/ 

commissioning decisions either by December 2016 or post December 2016. 

67



20 

 

3. Elements of the plan which were emerging for 2017/18. 

4. Elements of the plan which were already planned to be decommissioned by 31st March 

2017. 

5. Elements of the plan where funding was assumed to be recurrent but services would be 

redesigned during 2017/18 - in particular for Home First and Integrated Urgent Care. 

The Integration Operational Group worked through a series of workshops and meetings 

between October and December 2016 to review the plan in detail, creating an action plan by 

commissioner, compiling evidence from a range of sources including the findings of formal 

evaluations being undertaken, emerging business cases/proposals, and routine performance 

and service information/decisions gathered via existing governance processes. 

The group directed actions and clarifications over this three month period, ensuring these 

elements could be reflected in CCG operating plans, and NHS and LA contractual 

requirements for 2017/18. 

Initial recommendations from these outputs were made to the Integration Executive at their 

meetings in November and December 2016 to inform the first cut of the BCF refresh by 20th 

December 2016. This deadline was set locally in the absence of national guidance for the 

2017/18 BCF, but was deemed necessary by partners, to align with the submission of CCG 

operating plan on 23rd December 2016. 

In parallel with the above: 

 A full financial refresh was undertaken, profiling the plan for 2017/18. 

 A review of how Adult Social Care would be maintained was undertaken in conjunction 

with CCGs. 

 A review of additional pressures affecting CCGs and adult social care in the context of 

local allocations and savings targets was undertaken. 

 A review of the threshold for the reserve/risk pool within the plan was undertaken in 

conjunction with CCG Finance Directors. 

 Following the announcement of additional monies for adult social care in March 2017, 

and the publication of the LA grant conditions, additional working sessions took place in 

March and April 2017 to prioritise this allocation, involving all partners and the LLR A&E 

Delivery Board. 

 A review of delayed transfer of care performance and the development of an 

improvement trajectory across LLR (for LA, NHS, and jointly attributable delays). 

 A refresh of integration programme delivery resources, in terms of the management 

support available to deliver the plan, both within the core BCF delivery team and via 

matrix working across our partnership. This included participation in the LLR STP 

Programme Management Office resource planning review led by Midlands and 

Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit. 

68



21 

 

10.0 WHAT WE WILL DELIVER AGAINST EACH OF THE BCF PLAN 

PRIORITIES 

10.1   BCF 1 Unified Prevention Offer 

The Leicestershire BCF has, since its inception, placed priority on developing a Unified 
Prevention Offer for Leicestershire’s communities, making the best use of community assets 
and building community capacity. It is recognised that many of these interventions should be 
non-medical and can be provided from a range of partners and sources, including the 
voluntary sector and other community based support. 
 
With leadership from Public Health and District Councils, together with other council 
services, NHS partners, Fire, Police, and the Voluntary Sector, the Unified Prevention Board 
(UPB) have agreed that: 
 

1. Partners will together prevent, reduce or delay the need for statutory services by 
investing in low level support and supporting people to make positive choices to 
maintain their health, wellbeing and independence for as long as possible.  

2. The scope of the UPB’s work will be tiers 0-1 of prevention,  

3. The focus of the UPB’s work will therefore be developing a new consistent and local 
wrap around prevention offer, which will support in particular the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, Integrated Locality Teams and Leicestershire’s Communities 
Strategy. 

4. There will be four key outcomes against which the effectiveness of the UPB’s work 
will be measured.  

5. The LLR STP prevention workstream will focus on the other tiers of prevention (2-3). 
 
Please refer to Appendix 7 for more detail on the above approach. 
 
The Leicestershire BCF plan has prioritised ongoing investment for First Contact as our 
single point of access to refer into and navigate across the local menu of preventative 
interventions, which span multiple partners. During 2017 First Contact has developed into 
First Contact Plus so that along with professional referrals there is a new web based self-
referral portal/facility which means local people can access the service direct. 
 
The menu of prevention interventions already includes public health lifestyle services such 
as smoking cessation and weight management, local area coordinators who provide 
vulnerable people with low level support in their community, and a range of wellbeing 
services such as support for carers, home safety and falls prevention 
 
First Contact Plus also now provides the point of access into Leicestershire’s new integrated 
housing service, called Lightbulb. Lightbulb provides a “one stop shop” for assessing and 
coordinating all housing support, including hospital discharge housing support, affordable 
warmth, aids and adaptations, home maintenance, home safety, benefits advice and advice 
on future housing options. 
 
 

69



22 

 

10.2   BCF 2 - Home First  

 

LLR hospital discharge pathways were redesigned in 2016 per the diagram below:  

 

 

Further reviews of the local position have been undertaken in 2017, overseen by the LLR 

A&E Delivery Board as follows: 

 An ECIP review in Q4 of 2016/17 – this considered the current services operating 
between hospital and community settings and the partnership working arrangements 
and referrals processes between health and social care partners to facilitate hospital 
discharge, and made recommendations about where further improvements can be 
made. 
 

 Completion of the LLR self-assessment against the high impact changes framework 
in Q2 2017, which has led to a refreshed action plan and informed the local trajectory 
of improvement for DTOC in 2017/18. 

 

 Learning from the East Midlands High Impact Changes workshop on 5th July 2017 
and associated national best practice tools/publications. 
 

The LLR self-assessment and action plan against the eight high impact changes for 
managing transfers of care are at Appendices 3 and 4, along with a supporting action plan 
from Leicestershire’s adult social care department at Appendix 5. 

70



23 

 

10.2.1 Short Term Actions To Improve Delayed Transfers of Care 

The main immediate actions to improve hospital discharge arising from the self-assessment 

and other system issues, (already being implemented), are as follows: 

1. Focus on performance improvement, supported by:  

a) All the existing daily operational management activities across NHS and LA 

partners to address individual cases and maintain system flow. 

b) A new integrated dashboard for monitoring delayed transfers of care which 

provides weekly performance management data by setting of care (implemented 

July 2017). 

c) A fully refreshed LLR DTOC action plan incorporating all actions across all 

settings of care, latest update August 2017 (Appendix 3). 

d) A new Discharge Working Group which coordinates performance and delivery of 

DTOC improvements, with dual reporting to the A&E Delivery Board and Home 

First STP workstream. 

 

2. Implementation of a new integrated discharge team and trusted assessor model 

across eight wards at the acute trust (implemented July 2017). 

3. Integrated discharge team and trusted assessor model being extended to other acute 

wards, community hospitals and MH wards during 2017/18.  

4. Trusted assessment electronic solution – business case being proposed to LLR STP 

IM&T workstream (September 2017). Implementation plan and milestones to be 

confirmed following approval of business case and resource allocation. 

5. Option appraisal for further interim/discharge to assess beds - being led by the Home 

First workstream during 2017/18. 

6. New end to end Continuing Health Care processes for CCGs, being supplied by 

Midlands and Lancashire Commissioning Support Unit (implemented July 2017). 

7. Further stabilisation of the domiciliary care market (Leicestershire), via the Help to 

Live at Home Programme. Final three lots of the Leicestershire procurement 

completed August 2017, ongoing improvement plan with one provider who had poor 

CQC inspection in February 2017, ongoing performance management of all 

contracts. 

8. Future domiciliary care and residential care market development actions/investments 

using Leicestershire’s IBCF allocation 2017 onwards. 

9. Improvements to internal acute hospital processes in support of hospital discharge 

using the “red to green” system  - implemented Q1 2017/18 (e.g. once the patient is 

medically fit for discharge, rapid and coordinated activities across the hospital to 

ensure discharge happens at pace – including senior clinical decisions early in the 

day, prompt access to medications for discharge, effective transport etc.) 

10. Improvements to patient/family choice policies and information across hospital sites. 

71



24 

 

11. Hospital Discharge and Care Homes – implementing the red bag scheme and 

improved telemedicine solutions by the end of November 2017. 

12. The LLR Winter Plan for 2017/18 includes commitment to two multi agency 

Discharge Events, during December and January to reduce DTOC and improve flow 

over the Christmas and New Year period. 

13. A clear set of communications/briefings, led by the Discharge Working Group to 

ensure consistent and coordinated messages about:  

a) Current performance and the target we will achieve by the end of 2017/18. 

b) All the actions being undertaken across all settings of care, with emphasis on the 

importance of achieving improvement across both acute and non-acute settings.  

c) Progress and achievements in year against the short term actions. 

(Communications about the medium term actions will be led by the Home First Workstream). 

10.2.2 Short Term Actions - Mental Health  

In addition to the above, there are specific actions targeted to improving mental health 

delayed discharges.  

In early 2017 a strategic senior level group was established to identify and agree actions 

required to ensure sustained reduction in DTOC levels for mental health patients.  

This group is chaired by the Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) Medical Director with 

representatives from CCG’s, Local Authority Social Care, housing services and NHS 

England.   

The group has focused on improving the weekly clinical discharge meeting and the quality 

and timeliness of DTOC data reporting, analysing the root causes and barriers to discharges 

which. This has led to the mental health action plan shown in the table below, already being 

implemented:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

72



25 

 

Area Action Completion 
by 

Patients with no 
recourse to public 
funds (NRPF) 

Develop a guidance sheet for inpatient unit staff 
understand future options available to support 
early discharge. 
 

September 
2017 

DTOC Exercising 
Choice 

To develop a local shared agreement in relation 
to Mental Health, based on UHL Exercising 
Choice policy. 

September 
2017 

Information 
sharing agreement 

Ensure ISA for sharing PII regarding DTOC from 
localised meetings across stakeholders. 
 

September 
2017 

Discharge support  Review function of Housing Enablement and 
Assertive In Reach teams to maximise staffing 
resource to deal with patient’s housing issues. 
 

October 2017 

Development of 
Housing  step 
down/ move on 
facility 

Pilot a five unit supported accommodation 
‘move-on’ scheme with local housing provider 
for patients fit for discharge but awaiting long 
term accommodation to be finalised. 
 

October 2017 

Access to longer 
term housing for 
people with mental 
health support 
needs. 

To explore alternative housing solutions through 
the Hospital Housing Steering Group (hosted by 
Blaby District Council). 
 
 

Ongoing 

Development of 
local a Psychiatric 
Intensive care Unit 
(PICU Beds) 

Explore local opportunity to provide six PICU 
beds to reduce the need to consider out of area 
placements. 

December 
2017 

Review of 
rehabilitation 
pathway 

To ensure pathways in line with national best 
practice and scope need for development of 
community and supporting housing  
rehabilitation schemes to support flow 

October 17- 
March 2018 

 

Adult Social Care and LPT are also working closely on a small number of learning disability 

cases where there has been a prolonged period to determine final accommodation solutions. 

These are complex cases but individual action plans are in place to resolve these, with one 

of these three cases already resolved as at August 2017.  

The above immediate actions to improve hospital discharge are now in place, however there 
are a number of medium and longer term improvements also required and these are being 
led by the LLR Home First workstream.  

73



26 

 

10.2.3 Medium & Longer Term Actions to Improve Delayed Transfers of Care 

 
The Home First Workstream will consider both step down and step up services within its 
remit and will work closely with the LLR A&E Delivery Board and the LLR Discharge Working 
Group in delivering its objectives. The remit of the Home First workstream includes: 
 

 Overseeing the implementation of the Home First strategy across LLR 

 Continuing the service redesign needed to fully embed the new discharge pathways 
(e.g. integrated discharge teams/trusted assessor). 

 Further reviews of referral processes (such as for CHC and discharge to assess). 

 Review all current reablement and rehabilitation services/capacity and make 
recommendations in terms of further service redesign and commissioning intentions. 

 Consider options for medium term, joint commissioning solutions and market 
development priorities for interim beds, nursing and care home placements, and 
domiciliary care across LLR.  

 
Further information about our target for improving hospital discharge can be found in section 
11.5 on pages 39-44. 

 

10.3   BCF 3 – Integrated Housing Support 

 
During 2016/17 we developed a business case for our new integrated housing service 
across Leicestershire, called Lightbulb.  
 
The service brings together a range of previously fragmented housing support services 
provided by district councils, the county council and other providers into one integrated and 
consistent offer across the local population.  
 
The service will operate on a hub and spoke model with locality based spokes in each 
District Council and will form part of the wrap around prevention offer detailed in BCF1 on 
page 21. 
 
We have designed and tested all the elements of the integrated housing service over the 
past 18 months using a transformation grant from the Department of Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG).  
 
The business case evaluated the outcome of the testing, demonstrated the effectiveness of 
the proposed model and proved how the model can be funded from existing resources 
across partners. The model includes introducing a new housing coordinator role who will 
provide one point of contact for supporting customers to access major and minor 
adaptations, affordable warmth, hospital discharge support, home safety, home maintenance 
etc. 
 
A new housing MOT is also central to the model which offers a holistic assessment of need 
with early intervention targeted to health and wellbeing (e.g. falls prevention within the home 
environment).  

74



27 

 

Within the Lightbulb service model are specific staffing resources for supporting hospital 
discharge. These staff are currently based at Leicester Royal Infirmary and the Bradgate 
Mental Health Unit, working closely with the integrated discharge team to support patients 
with a range of housing solutions such as homelessness, rent/tenancy or benefit issues, 
furniture packs, cleaning and clearing patients homes that have become cluttered or 
unsuitable (e.g. due to hoarding), moving furniture to accommodate a change in the person’s 
mobility/reduce risks of falls, expediting adaptations, and tackling heating problems. 
 
Key benefits from the Lightbulb housing service include streamlining adaptation processes 
with fewer handoffs and delays, the opportunity to provide on average three housing 
interventions to vulnerable people (based on the findings from our housing MOT pilot), 
integrating housing support into locality based health and care teams, significant reductions 
in delayed transfers of care due to housing related issues, as demonstrated by the work of 
the discharge housing support staff over the past year. 
 
The business case was approved by all partners during Q4 2016/17 and Q1 2017/18 and 
the new service is in the process of being rolled out by October 2017. 
 
The Lightbulb business case can be found at this weblink 
 http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4607&Ver=4  (item 499) 
 

10.4   BCF 4 – Integrated Domiciliary Care – Help to Live at Home (HTLAH) 

 
During 2016/17 a new domiciliary care service, called Help to Live at Home was 
commissioned jointly by the County CCGs and Leicestershire County Council. 
 
The procurement secured nine new providers for the Leicestershire area covering 18 
geographical lots aligned to the CCG boundaries. The service has been commissioned to 
deliver improved reablement and provide the opportunity for local home care providers to be 
integrated with other parts of the health and care system in their locality.  
 
The new service went live on 7th November 2016. However, just prior to the launch, one of 
the providers exited the process, which led to the council enacting a contingency plan across 
West Leicestershire, where three geographical lots were affected by this situation. 
 
These lots are being covered by other local providers on an interim basis, and a re-
procurement recently concluded for these lots which have been successfully awarded. 
 
A back office joint commissioning function is in place to support the delivery of HTLAH and 
resources supporting the back office form part of the Leicestershire BCF financial plan. 
 
Further work is being undertaken in 2017/18 to stabilise provision across all the new 
providers, maximise capacity and monitor ongoing quality assurance requirements with the 
new providers. This includes remedial work with one provider who received a poor CQC 
report in February 2017. 
 
The learning from the implementation of this service will be used to inform further market 
development work in 2017/18 across domiciliary and nursing/residential care as part of 
sustaining adult social care using the IBCF allocation. 
 
 

75

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4607&Ver=4


28 

 

10.5   BCF 5 – Integrated Locality Teams 

 
Per the diagram below, our model of integrated health and care includes integrated teams 

which have been arranged around GP practice locality footprints, with a view to moving more 

care into community settings. 

 
 
Critical to this model, in terms of the contribution from across the Leicestershire BCF plan 

are: 

 Implementing new multidisciplinary teams and integrated services that are 

configured on a locality basis around clusters of GP practices. 

 Community based alternatives for urgent care. 

 Ensuring those being discharged from hospital are received safely back into local 

community services/teams. 

 Shifting demand into non-medical support where appropriate by providing a 

broad and consistent range of preventative services. 

 
Since November 2016 the following activities have been undertaken within the Integrated 
Locality Teams workstream: 

 Setting up a multi-agency Programme Board as one of the key workstreams of the 
STP - with joint SROs across health and care, and joint clinical leads across primary 
and secondary care, and developing a PID. 

 Identification of 11 locality leadership teams across LLR comprised of designated 
senior professionals from primary care, CCGs, social care and community nursing 
teams and undertaking a readiness self-assessment with them. 

 Assessing and adapting the learning from MSCP Vanguard sites, including in 
particular Hampshire and Sunderland, to inform the local model. 

 Via risk stratification, defining the cohorts in scope for integrated locality teams to 
focus on and providing data analysis packets by locality and a self-serve guide to 
promote the ongoing use of this analysis. 

 Defining the model of case management, care coordination, and how 
multidisciplinary working should develop. 

76



29 

 

 Defining the key evidence based interventions that should be applied to the patient 
cohorts to ensure a joint approach to assessments and care planning, improve case 
management and care coordination, reduce acute/urgent care spend and develop a 
framework for evaluating the impact of integrated locality teams. 

 Developing a governance and accountability framework for integrated locality teams, 
and in support of the early discussion on accountable care systems. 

 Delivering a leadership development programme for integrated locality teams  

 Using a range of the above outputs to create a “manual” for integrated locality teams 
for LLR to help structure their operational work, and capture learning and impact in 
the early stages of implementation.  

 Setting up test beds across LLR with initial evaluation from September 2017. 

 The programme has also adopted existing transformation work related to end of life, 
falls and cardio-respiratory services into its remit given the alignment with the work of 
integrated locality teams and their patient cohorts. 

 
Following evaluation in the Autumn/Winter of 2017/18, and decisions about the future model, 
the funding currently in place via the Leicestershire BCF (for existing case management 
approaches) will be reconfigured into the new proposed model for integrated teams with 
effect from April 2018. 
 

10.6   BCF 6 – Integrated Urgent Care 

 
During 2016/17 LLR partners have been working towards a new model of integrated urgent 
care in line with the NHS England Five Year Forward View, through our participation across 
LLR in the national Urgent Care Vanguard programme. This work culminated in a 
procurement for a new model of service commencing for April 2017, which has the following 
key design principles: 
  

 Responsive, accessible person-centred services as close to home as possible. 

 Services will wrap care around the individual, promoting self-care and independence, 
enhancing recovery and reablement, through integrated health and social care 
services that are innovative and promote care in the right setting at the right time. 

 Urgent care services in LLR will be consistently available 24 hours per day, seven 
days a week in community and hospital settings.  

 Clinical triage and navigation is a central part of the new integrated urgent care offer, 
reducing demand on ambulances and acute emergency services.  

The following diagram identifies the components of the new integrated urgent care system. 

77



30 

 

 

The main changes to urgent care which will be delivered by the new service model are: 

 The creation of a clinical navigation service, providing telephone advice, assessment 
and onward referral for people calling NHS 111 and 999. 

 The clinicians working in the service will have access to patients’ primary care 
records and care plans, where relevant, and will be able to directly book patients into 
primary and community urgent care services. 

 The service will include warm transfer callers to specialist advice for mental health, 
medication and dental issues.  

 Future plans for the navigation hub include bringing it together with a professional 
advice line and integration with a single point of access for social care. 

 Extended access to primary care across LLR – so that patients can access primary 

care services 8am to a minimum of 8pm every day of the week. 

 Urgent Care Centres will offer a range of diagnostic tests and medical expertise for 
people with more complex or urgent needs, and we will strengthen community based 
ambulatory care pathways which can avoid admission without the need to referral to 
acute hospital. 

 An integrated streaming and urgent care service at the front door of Leicester Royal 
Infirmary Emergency Department, staffed by senior GPs working within the rebuilt 
Emergency Department. 

 A 24/7 urgent care home visiting service across LLR, including out of hours home 

visiting and an acute visiting service for people with complex needs or living in care 

homes. 

78



31 

 

The Leicestershire BCF supports delivery of this new model of service by providing 
investment associated with the following components of the new urgent care model. 
 
The table below details the BCF urgent care schemes for 2017/18 which support the new 
model of urgent care from April 2017 (reflected in Appendix 6). 
 

BCF6 - Integrated Urgent Care Total 
Budget 

 
£'000 

End of Life Night Nursing Service 251 

Released funding for Crisis Response Service - Night Nursing Service 148 

Crisis Response Service (CRS) - Social Care 566 

Loughborough Super Hub 890 

Integrated Community Health 563 

Care Home Support (Pressure Sores) 54 

ANPs Physical Health Assessment (MHSOP Patients) 77 

Care Home and Community Inreach Support (Mental Health) 82 

Home Visiting Service 1,901 

Total Integrated Urgent Care 4,532 

 
The CCG operating plans for 2017/18 indicate that the total number of emergency 
admissions commissioned for 2017/18 as 63,123 admissions, (comprising 34,779 for 
WLCCG and 28,344 for East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG.  
 
The total number of emergency admissions commissioned reflects the impact assumed from 
the new urgent care system in totality, including the contribution from each BCF funded 
component. 
 
While the performance of these schemes will be reported monthly via the Integration 
Executive (and quarterly via NHSE governance routes), local performance management and 
assurance for the delivery of the urgent care system as a whole is via the LLR A&E Delivery 
Board. 
 

10.7   BCF 7 – Integrated Points of Access 

 
The Integrated Points of Access programme is an important enabler to the delivery of our 
urgent care system, Integrated Locality Teams and Home First. The service will provide 
integrated call handling across community based health and care services on a 24/7 basis. 
 
Following production of a business case approved in the early part of 2016, LLR partners are 
currently in phase one of this development which culminates in a gateway review in Q3 of 
2017/18.  
 
The Integrated Points of Access programme is working with seven existing call centres 
across health and care which currently coordinate different community based services. 
These vary in size, scope and purpose, operate with differing models and performance 
requirements and are providing services from different locations within a range of NHS and 
LA organisations. 
 

79



32 

 

The business case demonstrated the benefits of enhancing the model of care by moving to a 
more consistent call handling approach across these services, and integrating them into a 
consolidated management structure, using the same technology and operating from a 
consolidated estate. 
 
Phase one of the work involves each existing call centre adopting the new model of service, 
and delivering initial operational benefits from this change. A gateway review then follows 
including estates and technology appraisals, before partners determine if they should 
proceed to phase two, with decisions on this expected by November 2017. 
 

10.8   BCF 8 – Integrated Data 

 
Leicestershire is seen as a national exemplar in data sharing due to the early adoption of the 
NHS number onto social care records (at 98%), the adoption of the ACG tool in primary care 
for risk stratification and the adoption of the PI Care and Healthtrak tool since 2015/16, and 
the application of this tool during 2016/17 to support a range of transformation priorities 
including the emerging workstreams of the STP, the Lightbulb Business Case and the 
evaluation of the Leicestershire BCF. 
 
The implementation of PI Care and Healthtrak has provided valuable insights into the 
utilisation of health and care services across LLR and the impact of changes in care 
pathways. It has also been the catalyst for the creation of a business intelligence network 
across LLR, and provided the data source/sets for the STP workforce analysis and the 
evaluation of BCF services through simulation modelling with Loughborough University. 
 
During 2017 preparatory work will be undertaken to recommission the data sharing 
functionality currently provided by the PI Care and Healthtrak tool and determine the 
optimum solution for this from April 2018 onwards. Leicestershire County Council is currently 
the lead commissioner for this work across LLR. 
 
The development of the summary care record solution for LLR is a further critical enabler to 
the STP and Leicestershire Integration Programme. Phase 2 of this development is currently 
in progress and the milestones for this are included in the Programme Plan at Appendix 9. 
 
A key objective for the period July – December 2017 is increasing the number of individual 
patients who consent to the SCR, with an active campaign in progress with all health and 
care communication teams involved. 
 
The adoption of the SCR within integrated locality teams will be a particular focus of the 
Leicestershire BCF in 2018. 
 
The use and application of risk stratification data via the ACG tool is a key component of the 
approach to Integrated Locality Teams. Each integrated locality team has been supplied with 
a risk stratified data packet for the three cohorts of patients in scope for the model in 
2017/18 (those with frailty, those with multiple long term conditions, those with project high 
acute care cots). This data can be interrogated to individual practice level and into sub 
cohorts which are being used to test the new model of care. This approach will be 
supplemented with the new frailty marker being implemented in GP practice records in Q2 
2017. 

80



33 

 

10.9  BCF 9 – Integrated Commissioning 

 
Following the implementation of the new integrated commissioning approach to domiciliary 

care (Help to Live at Home) in 2016/17, further integrated commissioning is anticipated 

during the two year period of this BCF plan.  

In particular this will relate to commissioning priorities arising from Home First, Integrated 

Locality Teams, Integrated Points of Access and Transforming Care. This will include for 

example: 

 Joint market development for accommodation solutions and placements including 

extra care, transforming care (learning disabilities), step down facilities from hospital 

(including mental health step down), further integrated approaches to commissioning 

and quality assuring nursing and residential homes and domiciliary care providers 

 Integrated commissioning intentions arising from the new carers strategy (being 

developed in Q3 and Q4 of 2017/18). 

 Specification and procurement of the new model of Integrated Locality Teams, 

pending confirmation of the model and commissioning intentions during Q3-Q4 

2017/18. 

 Specification and procurement of a new Integrated Points of Access, pending the 

outcome of the gateway review taking place in Q3 2017 and further work on the 

model and co-location solutions. 

 A new combined dementia service for LLR was commissioned in 2017 and details of 

the implementation can be found in the Programme Plan at Appendix 9. 

 

The development of an accountable care system within LLR will fundamentally impact on the 

approach to integrated commissioning during 2017/18 and 2018/19, with the aim that more 

health and care commissioning intentions and commissioning activities are conducted jointly 

at system level, in the future, spanning multiple CCGs and LAs across LLR. 

 

10.9.1 Personal Health Budgets (PHBs) & Integrated Personal Budgets 

The NHS England Mandate sets a clear expectation that 50,000-100,000 people will have a 

personal health budget or integrated personal budget by 2020 – this translates to around 

one to two people per thousand of the population.  

 

Local plans for Transforming Care need to show how people with a learning disability and/or 

Autism, who have a mental health condition or display behaviour that challenges, are 

provided with the same rights to choice and control over their health care as everyone else., 

so they are supported to live to their full potential within their local community and avoid 

admission to out of area specialist placements or mental health inpatient settings. 

 

The expectation for LLR CCGs to achieve one to two per 1,000 people in the population 
being in receipt of a PHB over the next three to five years translates to between 1,011 and 
2,022 PHBs for Leicester City, West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire and Rutland 
Clinical Commissioning Groups.   
 

81



34 

 

Currently PHB’s are directed at individuals who are eligible for Continuing Healthcare and 
Continuing Care as well as those where health is making a contribution to their care.  
 
The request and provision of PHBs for adults and children is via a single referral pathway to 
the Personal Health Budgets Team, currently based at ELRCCG.  
 
Personal health budgets are part of a much wider programme of personalisation in health 
and social care.  It is LLR CCGs’ intention to extend the offer and availability of personal 
health budgets to more people over time, and that the end to end process for offering 
personal budgets will change from a CHC focus to wider elements of commissioned spend.   
 
During 2017/18 the CCGs have an agreed timeline for the implementation of PHBs to more 
people, to include those with mental health needs, wheelchair users, and children and young 
people with an education, health and care plan. During 2018/19 further extension of the offer 
to those with Long Term Conditions is also being planned. 
 
There is an established LLR-wide implementation group focused on the development of the 
offer and achieving the target level of personal budgets across LLR.  
 
To ensure ongoing co-production of the PHB offer, the Implementation Group membership 
includes several patient and carer representatives as well as Healthwatch representatives 
from the three Local Authority areas. 
 
 

10.9.2 Section 75 Agreements  

The Integration Finance and Performance Group (see details on page 59) has overseen the 

development and management of the BCF Section 75 agreement since the inception of the 

BCF plan in 2015/16.  

During 2016/17 an additional Section 75 agreement was developed in support of the new 

domiciliary care service (Help to Live at Home). In addition, there are pre-existing Section 

75s covering the Learning Disabilities budget and one for the whole LLR area for community 

equipment services. The Lead Commissioner for the latter is the City Council. 

As part of the accountable care system developments, further consideration will be given to 

the governance arrangements and Section 75 agreements required across the health and 

care system.  

In the meantime the Integration Finance and Performance Group will continue to discharge 

its duties in relating to existing agreements, and ensure these are updated in line with the 

new BCF plan as set out in this document.  

The Section 75 for the BCF will be updated by November 2017, in line with the national 

timetable. 

 

82



35 

 

10.10   BCF 10 – Transforming Care 

 
The LLR Transforming Care Programme (TCP) ensures the right support for people to be 
discharged from inpatient hospital care at the right time and also helps people who are at 
risk of being admitted to hospital. The programme is focused on offering good support for 
carers, the use of personal health budgets, and works hand in hand with local NHS 
providers, care providers, housing providers and the local workforce to develop services to 
meet current and future need.   
 
The LLR TCP plan seeks to minimise the use of out of area placements/packages or 
specialised commissioning (NHS England funded) placements out of area.  
 
The closure of two beds in the Agnes Unit took place in October 2016 and a further two beds 
closed on the 31 March 2017. The current contract with Leicestershire Partnership Trust 
(LPT) is for 12 beds in the Agnes Unit. However, by March 2019 we will be aiming for less 
than 12 people being placed there. 
 
The Learning Disability Outreach Reach Service has been expanded to provide intensive 
support in the community and the impact of this is that between January 2017 and July 
2017, a significant number of potential admissions have been avoided through timely and 
appropriate interventions in the community. Further scoping work is underway to enhance 
community support for people potentially at risk of admission, including community forensic 
support and step up crisis accommodation.   

All people being discharged from an assessment and treatment unit or long stay inpatient 
bed will require a package of care and support to enable them to live in the community.  
They will also need access to mainstream services and those provided to the whole learning 
disability and autism population.   
 
There is currently a chronic shortage of appropriate accommodation available for this cohort 
of people waiting to be discharged from inpatient settings in LLR. We have prioritised 
investment from the new adult social care allocation (IBCF) to improving the availability of 
suitable accommodation. This will be used to develop local, bespoke accommodation, both 
step down/step up provision, by funding the purchase of specific properties, adaptations to 
current properties, along with the development of different accommodation in order to 
address delayed transfer of care situations and to prevent admissions.   
 
There is now a requirement to complete discharge planning at the point of admission to an 
inpatient setting. The TCP Discharge Planning Case worker is working closely with inpatient, 
outreach and social work teams to support inpatient reductions and to identify those people 
who require bespoke accommodation. The Discharge Planning Case Worker has a clear 
understanding of the housing needs related to current inpatients and the actions being 
undertaken are discussed at the multi-disciplinary Discharge Planning meetings.   

 

 

 

83



36 

 

11.0    BCF NATIONAL CONDITIONS 

11.1  A Jointly Agreed Plan 

There has been extensive engagement across all partners in the preparation of the 

Leicestershire BCF as shown in the engagement planner in Appendix 8. 

 

The detailed work to refresh the BCF has been led by the Leicestershire Integration 

Executive per the scheme of delegation in place via the Health and Wellbeing Board Terms 

of Reference. 

 

The Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board have been fully engaged with progress and: 

 Received a report and presentation on the initial progress with the BCF refresh in 

January 2017. 

 Received a draft BCF submission in March 2017.  

 Further to the conclusion of the election period the Board received a further briefing 

on the financial plans and preparations for the BCF submission in June 2017. 

 Received a briefing on the new BCF planning guidance, and DTOC target 

requirements at their meeting in July 2017.  

 

As the next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board now falls after the 11th September 

2017 BCF national submission deadline, delegated approvals are in place so that the BCF 

submission can be finalised, and the NHS England submission timescales can be achieved 

between formal Board meetings. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will receive the submitted BCF Plan for assurance at their 

meeting on 21st September 2017. 

11.2  NHS contribution to social care in maintained in line with inflation 

 
Within the 2016/17 BCF plan we agreed a number of investments where specific types of 

packages of care and other social care services were to be protected and maintained. In the 

2016/17 BCF plan this totalled £22m of the £42m pooled budget. 

 

The prioritisation and type of resource to be protected has been reviewed for 2017/18 and 

determined by analysing: 

 The population demand profiles/projections for adult social care. 

 The impact of the savings target in adult social care for Leicestershire County 

Council. 

 The priorities in the Adult Social Care Strategy. 

 The protection that can be seen through the allocation of growth funding applied in 

the Council’s, Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

 The delivery requirements of the local care system, including changes to models of 

care being driven by the BCF and the five year plan.  

 Specific requirements linked to BCF Metrics and National Conditions, for example for 

the Care Act and Delayed Transfers of Care.  

84



37 

 

 The service and financial pressures that are still to be addressed in the medium term. 

11.3  Impact of LLR-wide system changes on Adult Social Care 

In the LLR health and care economy, a funding gap of £400m has been identified by 

2020/21 if no action was taken on how current services are being delivered. This includes 

the current funding pressures faced by social care services, and the NHS, together with 

anticipated increased demand and costs over the next five years due to the ageing 

population inflation and medical advances. 

The five year plan has identified a number of clinical and enabling workstreams which will 

help eliminate the combined financial gap by 2020/21 and contribute to closing key health 

and wellbeing and care quality gaps.  

Interventions are focussed on prevention, avoiding hospital admissions, a ‘home first’ model 

of care and greater integration across social care, community health care and primary care, 

it will all impact on levels of demand for social care support, public health interventions and 

community services. 

It is recognised by all partners that sustaining adult social care services within the BCF, and 

the incremental changes already being made to integrated care delivery through the BCF, 

are a crucial part of maintaining system delivery while the longer term system changes are 

implemented, and the implications of the five year plan on adult social care can be 

calculated in more depth. 

Leicestershire County Council is required to make a total of £66m budget savings between 

2017-21, of which £10m is earmarked to be saved from Adult Social Care. The Council 

recognises the need to protect adult social care and accordingly has allocated the 

department only 12% of required savings despite, spending 38% of the Council budget in 

this area. 

 

The Council’s MTFS 2017-21 shows an increased financial allocation for growth totalling 

£13m in Adult Social Care for the next four years, representing a 4% growth in adult social 

care budgets, whilst overall council spending will fall.  

 

The funding proposed from the BCF will in part meet increasing demand and cost and 

continue to protect social care services alongside the council’s own measures.  

 

The levels of funding identified within the BCF plan for adult social care does not resolve all 

aspects of the increased demographic pressure on a recurrent basis, nor does it address the 

impact of wider LLR system changes that are still to come, however priority has been given 

to areas where insufficient social care support will be detrimental to the delivery of the BCF 

plan’s aims and metrics, in particular: 

 

 To reduce emergency admissions. 

 To ensure a more streamlined and responsive health and care system supporting 

hospital discharge seven days a week. 

85



38 

 

 To provide sufficient social care support for frail older people and those with LTCs to 

remain in their community for as long as possible. 

 So that the existing social care resource can be redesigned to integrate more 

effectively with community services and primary care services in integrated locality 

teams.  

 

The expenditure plan at Appendix 6 shows the service lines where the CCG minimum 

contribution has been applied to sustaining adult social care. These lines are colour coded in 

green, and the total of this investment is £22m. 

 

11.4    Investment in NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services 

 

The detailed BCF spending plan at Appendix 6 demonstrates the breadth of the 

Leicestershire BCF plan in investing in NHS commissioned services out of hospital.  

The proportion of the plan invested in these services is illustrated in the following table: 

 

 2017/18 

£000 

2018/19 

£000 

NHS Commissioned Out of 

Hospital Ring fence* 

£10,424 £10,622 

BCF Plan Total Out of 

Hospital Spend (from CCG 

minimum contribution 

£14,064 £13,577 

Variance  £3,640 £2,955 

 

* This is the proportion of the CCG minimum allocation from the core BCF which must be 

allocated to out of hospital services per the definition in the BCF policy framework. 

The Leicestershire BCF plan demonstrates more than £14m of the fund will be allocated 

to this category of spend and therefore meets the national condition. 

In addition to the above allocation, the CCGs have allocated £2.5m for the Intensive 

Community Support Service which is also NHS commissioned out of hospital services. 

 

11.5     Our Target for improving Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) 

The most challenging aspect of finalising this BCF plan has involved setting the 

trajectory for improving delayed transfers of care. This is due to recent new requirements 

for this target, and national delays in clarifying the new definitions and expectations.   

During July and August 2017 partners in LLR have assessed the new requirements, re-

examined our action plan including the high impact changes self-assessment findings, 

86



39 

 

and have agreed the local target through individual partners and the LLR A&E Delivery 

Board. In order to calculate and agree this target we considered that:  

 NHS England set a requirement for all areas to achieve a DTOC rate of 3.5% for 

NHS-attributable delays by September 2017.   

 The BCF Planning Framework set a requirement for a DTOC rate of 3.5% of all 

occupied bed days, across all causes of DTOC, to be expressed as a rate per 

100,000 population  

 The BCF technical guidance set out that achieving the required level of 

improvement must be shared equally across both NHS related and LA related 

delays.  

 As a health and care system essentially this means we are being asked jointly to 

achieve an overall rate of no more than 3.5% of occupied bed days being 

categorised as delayed. 

 Every area of the country which has not yet achieved this level of performance is 

being required to do so as soon as possible within 2017/18.  

 The A&E Delivery Board had already proposed a rate of improvement based on 

the actions in progress in 2017/18, and the time it would realistically take for this 

impact to be implemented and sustained. 

In the case of the LLR area, the 3.5% rate was to be realistically achieved no later than 

March 2018 and this has been profiled as set out below: 

 May-
17 

Jun-
17 

Jul-17 Aug-
17 

Sep-
17 

Oct-17 Nov-
17 

Dec-
17 

Jan-
18 

Feb-
18 

Mar-
18 

LLR % bed 
days delayed - 

target 

 
5.06% 

 
4.81% 

 
4.56% 

 
4.31% 

 
4.06% 

 
3.81% 

 
3.81% 

 
3.95% 

 
4.00% 

 
3.75% 

 
3.50% 

 

Current analysis of delays across LLR shows a DTOC position of 4.12% for all delays as at 

June 2017. Analysing the spilt of delays across health and social care shows: 

 That social care attributed delays across LLR are well below the required level of 
performance, ranging between 0.2% and 0.7%. 
 

 That the improvement required is largely within the NHS attributable delays as these 
range between 3.58% and 4.27% across LLR. 

 
 In terms of the hospital sites that are most challenged these are the non-acute 

hospital sites in LLR (mental health units, learning disability unit, and community 
hospitals), and, to some degree, acute “out of county hospitals”. This refers to those 
acute hospitals in bordering areas of Leicestershire where our residents often choose 
to access their care, such as Kettering, Burton, Derby or George Eliot (Nuneaton).  

 

87



40 

 

Analysis at provider level undertaken through the LLR Discharge Working Group, shows that 

the NHS–attributable delays are principally within our mental health and learning disability 

beds: 

 

Source: LLR CCG’s - Total number of bed days delayed for LPT.  DTOC weekly dashboard 

08.09.17 MLCSU  

In terms of reasons for these delays, we know that these are a mixture of patients who are 

awaiting assessment, including for housing, awaiting care home placements or exercising 

patient choice.   

88



41 

 

The Leicestershire BCF DTOC metric has been set as follows based on the analysis of the 

current position, the overall LLR rate of improvement required and actions in progress to 

deliver improvement over the course of 2017/18. 

 

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population (average per 
month) 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome of effective joint 
working of hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) and community-based 
care in facilitating timely and appropriate transfer from all hospitals for all adults.  
The aim is therefore to reduce the rate of delayed bed days per 100,000 population.   

2016/17 
Performance 

Trajectory for 2017/18  Target setting methodology and 
rationale 

287.04, 357.19 and 
382.17, 377.10 days 
delayed per 100,000 
population aged 18+ 
per month for 
quarters 1-4 
respectively 
 

 Apr-17 – 289.91 

 May-17 – 289.91 

 Jun-17 – 289.91 

 Jul-17 – 295.31 

 Aug-17 – 278.57 

 Sep-17 – 253.38 

 Oct-17 – 245.07 

 Nov-17 – 235.95 

 Dec-17 – 252.47 

 Jan-18 – 253.73 

 Feb-18 – 215.31 

 Mar-18 – 223.03 

 

Following the 21st July submission of this 
target to NHS England, a  trajectory has 
been developed for NHS attributable 
delays which tracks that developed by the 
Director of Urgent and Emergency Care, 
expressed in terms of percentage of bed 
days lost to delays in our local provider 
hospitals. This has been combined with 
small contributions to the overall target 
from the CCGs beyond LLR with patients 
resident in Leicestershire – these 
contributions have been agreed with those 
CCGs. 
 
This has been combined with a steady 
decrease of jointly attributable delays and 
those attributable to social care to the 
required level by September 2017 to reach 
the monthly targets from Jul-17 until Mar-
18.  
 
Targets for Apr-17 to Jun-17 are those 
previously agreed by the Leicestershire 
Integration Executive, prior to the release 
of guidance in early July 2017. 

 

The graphs below shows the improvement required trajectory for Leicestershire firstly by all 

cause delays and then broken down by attributable delays to either NHS, LA or joint delays. 

 

 

 

 

 

89



42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

90



43 

 

Successful delivery of the DTOC improvements, so that we reach the Leicestershire level of 

performance, and overall we achieve the 3.5% target for LLR by March 2018, depends on 

the following:  

 Delivering in full the immediate actions already agreed across all partners in LLR, 

jointly tackling the known barriers and root causes of delays that are either within 

hospitals or external to hospitals. The short term action plan outlined on pages 

23-25 has been based on existing health and care system issues and LLR’s self 

assessment (Appendix 3) against the high impact changes for managing 

transfers of care and has been commissioned and funded accordingly from April 

2017.  

 Achieving a stepped improvement in NHS related delays (the largest element of 

the improvement gap). 

 Maintaining our generally good performance on adult social care related delays, 

throughout the remainder of this financial year. 

 Delivering further social care improvements where possible, with particular 

emphasis on non-acute patients and out of county patients. 

 Preparing for the medium term actions within the Home First workstream of the 

LLR STP (see section 10.2.3 on page 26) so that these will have a further 

positive impact beyond March 2018. 

Within the BCF expenditure plan at Appendix 6, £16.4m is invested in delivering 

improved DTOC performance per the agreed action plan priorities.  

 £11.4m of this is recurrent investment from our refreshed BCF plan, for example 

our existing seven day social care services which supports hospital discharge, 

the Intensive Community Support Service and the Improving Mental Health 

Discharge scheme. 

 £5m is new investment with effect from April 2017, funded from the IBCF, for 

example Hospital Housing Discharge Enabler scheme and the development of an 

integrated discharge pathway/team at the Bradgate Unit. 

11.6 Assuring DTOC Improvement and Managing Risk  

DTOC performance will be routinely measured nationally, quarterly by NHSE and DCLG 

using national returns. Regular benchmarking information is also available on a national 

and regional basis. 

Within the supporting guidance to the BCF planning framework it states that the 

Government will review progress against the DTOC target across the country in 

November 2017, and will consider changes to the new non recurrent IBCF allocations for 

poorly performing areas. Ultimately this could mean financial penalties being imposed for 

areas of poor performance, however further details about this are awaited. 

91



44 

 

The CQC will be involved in reviewing 12 poorly performing local areas (already 

identified) in the first tranche of this process. No areas within LLR were identified in this 

first group. Further reviews of local areas are planned between February and April 2017, 

which may also include assessing some high performing areas. 

The assessment framework the CQC will use has recently been published and 

Leicestershire partners have already agreed to use the CQC assessment framework and 

undertake a self-assessment between October and December 2017, (irrespective of 

whether the LLR area is selected in the future for a formal CQC inspection related to 

DTOC performance). 

Local assurance on DTOC improvement is governed by the A&E Delivery Board on an 

LLR-wide basis (bi-weekly), with operational support from the LLR Discharge Working 

Group.  

LLR wide governance is supplemented by local BCF governance arrangements in each 

LA area, where the overall delivery BCF plans is scrutinised monthly.  

In the case of Leicestershire this is via the Leicestershire Integration Executive with 

reporting into the Health and Wellbeing Board, no less than quarterly (see governance 

section on page 58). 

The risks in relation to the delivery of the 3.5% DTOC target have been assessed in light 

of the LLR action plan, the level of ambition to achieve the target, and available funding 

envelope. 

The overall risk rating (with mitigation applied) is reflected in the BCF plan risk register at 
Appendix 10, risk 10.  

 

 

 

92



45 

 

12.0 OVERVIEW OF THE SOURCE OF FUNDS AND DIFFERENT BCF 

ALLOCATIONS 

12.1 Financial Context 

The BCF refresh for 2017/18 and 2018/19 has involved a comprehensive review of the 

proposed expenditure plan for that period, and the sources of funds and their purposes 

within the guidance. 

The BCF Operational Group and the Integration Finance and Performance Group have led 

the detailed work to evaluate the performance of the BCF plan in 2016/17 including 

assessing financial performance and risks. The outputs of this work have been reported via 

the Integration Executive, approved by the Integration Finance and Performance Group and 

assured via the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Partners have considered the overall pressures within the BCF spending plan, the level of 

investment needed to meet the BCF metrics and national conditions, ensured local 

agreement on any risk pools, and the impact of national BCF allocations including 

inflationary factors and DFG allocation requirements. These discussions have taken place in 

the context of substantial financial pressures affecting all partners in the health and care 

system, balancing priorities within the complex planning environment, and in a health and 

care economy which continues to face significant sustainability risks linked to the over use of 

acute care.  

The table below confirms the source of funds to be applied to the BCF over the two year 

planning period.  

Better Care Fund Funding 2017/18 and 2018/19 

  
Funding Source 2017/18 

£000 
2018/19 

£000 

Minimum Contributions 

  East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG* 15,838 16,139 

West Leicestershire CCG* 20,843 21,239 

  36,682 37,378 

DCLG Funding 
 

 

Disabled Facilities Grants 3,350 3,632 

IBCF (Comprehensive Spending Review -Autumn 2015) Nil 5,582 

IBCF (Adult Social Care Grant Spring Budget 2017) 9,526 6,837 

  12,876 16,051 

Additional Contributions   

Additional CCG allocations (ICS Scheme) 2,563 2,563 

 
Total BCF Funding 52,120 55,993 

  
 

 

* Inclusive of Care Act Funding 1,388  

93



46 

 

12.2 Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF)  

 

There are two parts to the IBCF allocations, which form the LA component of the Better Care 

Fund. 

 

The first of these is the IBCF allocation linked to announcements made in the 2015 

Comprehensive Spending Review. Local Authorities were expected to benefit from this 

allocation from 2017/18 onwards, however the amount received per area depends on the 

ability of the council to raise funding from the social care precept. Leicestershire County 

Council included a 2% social care precept in 2017/18 with budget plans including proposals 

to introduce a further 2% for 2018/19. As a result, Leicestershire does not receive any 

additional 2015 CSR IBCF funding in 2017/18, and reduced levels in later years. It is 

anticipated that £5.6m of IBCF additional funding will be available via Local Authority 

allocations in 2018/19.  

 

The second IBCF allocation was announced in the March 2017 Budget in the form of a non-

recurrent grant to each LA with specific grant conditions. Leicestershire has since received 

an allocation on this basis which has been factored into the BCF plan with effect from April 

2017. This additional Adult Social Care allocation amounts to £9.5m in 17/18, £6.8m in 18/19 

and £3.4m in 19/20.  

 

During April and May 2016 Leicestershire County Council worked closely with NHS partners 

to discuss and agree the prioritisation of the IBCF allocation in line with the grant conditions 

with a significant proportion of this allocation swiftly agreed in support of joint health and care 

integration priorities, in particular within the new Home First workstream of the STP where 

work to improve hospital discharge and reablement pathways is already underway.  

 

The graph below shows how the BCF financial plan is comprised of the multiple funding 
allocations and how these are expected to change over the three year period, with the non-
recurrent allocation (the new IBCF Spring 2017) shown in purple, at the top of each bar. 
 

 
 

94



47 

 

12.3 Disabled Facilities Grant Allocations 

Funding allocations for major adaptations in the home will continue to be routed via the BCF 
to each district council in line with national policy.  
 
Growth funding has been issued by government in line with the expectations set out in the 
2015 comprehensive spending review.  
 
The allocations for each District Council for 2017/18 (confirmed) and 2018/19 (projected) are 
noted in the table below: 
 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Leicestershire £3,349,869 £3,632,291 

Blaby £499,481 £542,165 

Charnwood £846,293 £920,160 

Harborough £385,744 £418,476 

Hinckley and Bosworth £439,674 £472,848 

Melton £259,427 £281,543 

North West Leicestershire £572,989 £621,202 

Oadby and Wigston £346,261 £375,897 

 
The BCF policy framework confirms upper tier authorities are required to passport the DFG 
allocation in full to each District Council, unless local agreement has been reached to direct 
resources to other strategic housing priorities  

 
During 2016/17 significant work has been undertaken with District Council Chief Executives 
and Finance Leads to forecast DFG demand across Leicestershire, to inform the local 
position, and quarterly reporting is in place to compare actual demand against the 
allocations made.  
 
Although current forecasting information assumes the majority of the DFG allocation will be 
required to meet local demand, should any allocation remain uncommitted/or be forecast to 
be uncommitted, each District will agree how this is to be used in the context of the BCF 
policy, e.g. in support of strategic priorities which integrate of health, wellbeing and housing, 
for the benefit of their local residents.  

Where individual Districts do wish to consider the use of DFG allocations for other strategic 
housing, health and wellbeing solutions, this will be welcomed and supported by 
Leicestershire County Council and other partners, especially given the transformation 
already being undertaken via the Lightbulb Housing Service. 

12.4 Confirmation of Key Financial Matters 

In summary, the process to refresh the BCF financial plan has confirmed the following: 

 Leicestershire’s plans for the non-recurrent IBCF grant were agreed locally in April 2017.  
This has been prioritised per the grant conditions, and by agreement with NHS partners, 
targeted to the following areas 

 Overall sustainability of adult social care  

 Joint working with the NHS (home first and the integration of health and care) 

 increasing capacity for domiciliary care and residential care 

95



48 

 

 Capital investments for transforming care/whole life disability 

 Plans have been considered over the medium term, with partner contributions to the 

pool exceeding the minimum required BCF funding levels of £43m in 2017/18 and 

2018/19 (£39.1m in 2016/17) 

 Additional contributions above the required minimum BCF level of funding total include: 

o An additional CCG contribution of £2.6m due to the addition into the BCF plan 

from 2017/18 of the second phase of the Intensive Community Support 

service in Leicestershire. This over and above the BCF minimum contribution 

and the s75 agreement will be revised to reflect this 

 The investment in maintaining adult social care within the fund will be £22m which 

reflects the inflationary uplift associated with the CCG minimum contribution. 

 That £3.3m in 2017/18 (the full DFG allocation) will be passported directly to Districts for 

DFG delivery, in line with grant conditions. 

 A further financial refresh will take place during Q3-Q4 2017/18 to take account of 

budget planning for 2018/19, including ongoing commissioning developments linked to 

the LLR five year plan, national policy requirements and any further savings/re-

prioritisation needed to ensure a sustainable pooled budget in the medium term. 

 

12.5  Confirmation of Risk Pools  

 The creation of a £1m risk pool from within the BCF during 2017/18 is in recognition of 

the need to achieve further savings and headroom so that the plan can become more 

sustainable in the medium term. This is due to the significant financial pressures 

affecting partners in 2017/18, and the fact that, unlike the previous two financial years, 

the BCF plan does not have the benefit of any other contingencies or reserves to draw 

on from 2017/18 onwards. 

 Should the £1m risk pool not be able to be achieved from the service review/VFM 

activities outlined in the programme plan, the risk will be shared between CCG core 

budgets and the BCF plan on a 50%/50% basis. This will be reflected in the s75 

agreement. 

 There is no risk pool linked to emergency admissions performance as the BCF plan for 

2017/18 – 2018/19 does not include any activity or investments above or beyond CCG 

operating plans assumptions. 

 Section 18 below outlines the governance arrangements for the BCF s75 pooled budget 

and risk pools, which is via the quarterly Integration Finance and Performance Group. 

96



49 

 

12.6 Leicestershire BCF Section 75 

 

The (rolling) section 75 for the Leicestershire BCF was initially approved in 2015 and 

refreshed in line with the 2016/17 BCF plan schedules in June 2016.  

 

This work was undertaken in partnership across the two CCGs and LA, and with the support 

of respective finance officers, corporate governance officers and legal advisers.  

 

The BCF s75 was also updated in 2016/17 to reflect the inclusion of back office functions 

and reablement services associated with the new Help to Live at Home Service, which itself 

has a related s75 document. 

 

Work to refresh the BCF s75 for 2017/18 will be undertaken in Q2 & Q3 of 2017/18 and the 

s75 will be approved via the existing governance routes of the CCG Boards, and by 

delegated authority from Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

97



50 

 

13.0 BETTER CARE FUND METRICS 

 
The following tables set out each BCF metric, our performance in 2016/17, our proposed 
trajectory for the two year period of this BCF plan and a summary of the rationale for the 
level of performance we are aiming for. 
 

 

Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and nursing 
care homes, per 100,000 population 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome to reduce inappropriate 
admissions of older people to residential care.   

2016/17 Performance Trajectory for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 

Target setting methodology and rationale 

633.5, based on 
SEQELs and 
submitted to NHS 
Digital. Full dataset for 
all local authorities will 
be released in 
October 2017. 

630.60 and 630.60 These targets have been set in agreement with 
the Adults and Communities Directorate at 
Leicestershire County Council based on the 
forecast end of year position for 2016/17 based 
on the Apr-Dec data. More challenging targets 
were not set because the new Help to Live at 
Home domiciliary care scheme has yet to 
achieve stability, and the evidence from the 
JSNA shows that the number of people aged 
85+ is set to grow at a greater rate than the rest 
of the population from 2016 onwards. IBCF 
money will not be spent on funding extra 
permanent residential placements. 

 
 
 
 

 

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after 
discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome to increase the effectiveness of 
reablement and rehabilitation services whilst ensuring that the number of service users offered the 
service does not decrease.   
The aim is therefore to increase the percentage of service users still at home 91 days after discharge. 

2016/17 Performance Trajectory for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 

Target setting methodology and rationale 

87.0% 
 

87.0%, 87.0% These targets have been set in agreement with 
the Adults and Communities Directorate at 
Leicestershire County Council. The target has 
been set to maintain the current good levels of 
performance. 

 
 

98



51 

 

 

 

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population (average per month) 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring delivery of the outcome of effective joint working of 
hospital services (acute, mental health and non-acute) and community-based care in facilitating timely 
and appropriate transfer from all hospitals for all adults.  
The aim is therefore to reduce the rate of delayed bed days per 100,000 population.   

2016/17 Performance Trajectory for 2017/18  Target setting methodology and rationale 

287.04, 357.19 and 
382.17, 377.10 days 
delayed per 100,000 
population aged 18+ 
per month for quarters 
1-4 respectively 
 

 Apr-17 – 289.91 

 May-17 – 289.91 

 Jun-17 – 289.91 

 Jul-17 – 295.31 

 Aug-17 – 278.57 

 Sep-17 – 253.38 

 Oct-17 – 245.07 

 Nov-17 – 235.95 

 Dec-17 – 252.47 

 Jan-18 – 253.73 

 Feb-18 – 215.31 

 Mar-18 – 223.03 

 

Following the 21
st
 July submission of this target 

to NHS England, a  trajectory has been 
developed for NHS attributable delays which 
tracks that developed by the Director of Urgent 
and Emergency Care, expressed in terms of 
percentage of bed days lost to delays in our 
local provider hospitals. This has been 
combined with small contributions to the overall 
target from the CCGs beyond LLR with patients 
resident in Leicestershire – these contributions 
have been agreed with those CCGs. 
 
This has been combined with a steady 
decrease of jointly attributable delays and those 
attributable to social care to the required level 
by September 2017 to reach the monthly 
targets from Jul-17 until Mar-18.  
 
Targets for Apr-17 to Jun-17 are those 
previously agreed by the Leicestershire 
Integration Executive, prior to the release of 
guidance in early July 2017. 

 
 

 

Non-Elective Admissions (General & Acute) 

This is a nationally defined metric measuring the reduction in non-elective admissions which can be 
influenced by effective collaboration across the health and care system. 
Total non-elective admissions (general and acute) underpin the payment for performance element of 
the Better Care Fund. 

2016/17 Performance Trajectory for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 

Target setting methodology and rationale 

760.40 admissions per 
100,000 population 
per month 

737.92 and 737.71 
admissions per 100,000 
population per month – 
based on CCG operating 
plans 
 

In 2016/17 the target of avoiding 1,517 
admissions was set, based on alignment with 
CCG operating plans. This number of avoided 
admissions was achieved by the end of 
September and by the end of March 2017, 
2,010 admissions had been avoided by BCF 
funded schemes. 
 
CCG Operating Plan 2017/18 – 2018/19 
indicates the county CCG’s will commission 
60,582 emergency admissions in 2017/18 and 
61,009 in 2018/19 for Leicestershire residents.  

99



52 

 

14.0 PROGRAMME PLAN 

 
Our Programme Plan has been refreshed in light of the work undertaken to review the BCF 
plan for 2017/18- 2018/19. A high level summary is given below (the more detailed Gantt 
chart is available at Appendix 9).  
 
The BCF refresh identified a number of specific commissioning actions and activities 
including service reviews and ongoing VFM assessment will take place in 2017/18.  These 
are highlighted in red for ease of reference. 
 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Programme Management     

 Sign-off section 75 agreement     

Monitor and report BCF performance and finance process     

Agree communications and engagement plan for 2017/18     

Annual review of BCF Equalities Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA)     

Develop and agree evaluation plan for integration programme     

BCF Schemes     

Unified Prevention Offer     

 Develop/agree unified prevention model for Leicestershire     

 Map all areas of STP for prevention     

 Undertake review of First Contact Plus service     

 Scope development of outcomes framework for prevention & social 
prescribing interventions 

    

Integrated Locality Teams (STP workstream)     

 Confirmation of case management model across LLR     

Review Integrated Care/Proactive Care models and redesign LLR approach     

Mobilisation of new falls pathway across LLR     

Develop and implement phase 3 eFRAT (Falls Risk Assessment Tool)      

Further development of falls prevention programme     

Pilot new pathway for end of life (including 24/7 service)     

Scope and mobilise cardiorespiratory service     

LLR Dementia Workstream     

 Launch new jointly procured post diagnostic support & community in-reach 
service for people affected by dementia 

    

Housing     

 Develop a proposed business model for medium term approach for Assistive 
Technology across Leicestershire 

    

Implement phase 1 (early roll-out in 1 District) of Lightbulb Programme     

Full roll-out of Lightbulb Programme across Leicestershire     

Refresh Disabled Facilities Grants quarterly forecasting for 2018/19     

Home First (STP Workstream)     

 Baseline review of all current reablement spend, activity & outcomes     

Further milestones to be confirmed post baseline review     

Develop a new joint health & care LLR Carers strategy for 2017-20     

Explore recommendations to revise training approach  for Health and Social 
Care Protocol 

    

Confirm commissioning intentions for Health & Social Care Protocol for April 
2018 onwards 

    

100



53 

 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Develop medium & longer term approach for integrated discharge services     

 Undertake the CQC self-assessment for DTOC     

Urgent Care Model (STP workstream)     

 Implement new urgent care services     

Review the social care Crisis Response Service     

Integrated Commissioning     

 Scope joint commissioning of placements / fee reviews     

Review of integration and quality review teams     

Help to Live at Home – mobilisation of new contracts     

Integrated Points of Access     

 Standardisation phase for existing customer centres     

Conduct gateway review     

Agree progress to phase 2 (implementation stage)     

Integrated Data     

 Agree commissioning plan for the PI Care and Health tool (or equivalent) from 
April 2018 onwards (developed in overall context of STP BI Strategy)  

    

 
 
 
 

101



54 

 

15.0  INTEGRATION PROGRAMME RESOURCES  

 
The diagram below shows the core integration team staff structure chart and the associated 
level of resource in place to deliver the Leicestershire Integration Programme and BCF. 
These have been included in the BCF programme management costs in the BCF spending 
plan at Appendix 6.  
 
 

 

102



55 

 

 

15.1 Matrix Management for Programme Delivery across the Partnership 

The majority of the BCF is delivered through matrix working with partners, with individual 

project/delivery leads from a wide range of partner organisations, including on an LLR wide 

basis. 

The detailed programme plan at Appendix 9 shows the distribution of the work across, the 

partnership including the managerial lead and governance route for each element of the 

workplan. 

The Integration Operational Group, which meets monthly, coordinates delivery and inputs 

across all agencies in order to achieve the integration programme milestones.  

Further information about the role of this group and the governance of the programme 

overall can be found in section 18 of this document. 

There are a number of key roles and relationships in the matrix management system which 

ensures we deliver the totality of our programme. For example: 

 Leicestershire County Council Transformation Unit and Corporate PMO 

 LLR STP PMO 

 County CCG’s Integration Leads (x 2) 

 Adult Social Care Department’s Transformation Leads 

 Lightbulb Housing Service PMO 

 STP Workstream PMOs for: 

o Urgent Care  

o Home First  

o Integrated Teams 

o Integrated Points of Access  

 Respective District Council Leads for Health and Housing  

 

103



56 

 

16.0 PROGRAMME EVALUATION & MEASURING IMPACT 

The impact of the plan is measured in the following ways: 

a) Quarterly, nationally using a national template into NHS England. This measures the 

delivery of each local plan in relation to the BCF national conditions and BCF national 

metrics as detailed by definitions provided the BCF policy framework and technical 

guidance for 2017/18.  

b) Quarterly, nationally via a DCLG template linked to the IBCF Adult Social Care grant 

(with effect from 2017/18). 

c) Quarterly, locally via our Integration Finance and Performance Group – (oversight of 

the BCF section 75/pooled budget). 

d) Quarterly, locally to Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board. 

e) Monthly, locally via the Leicestershire Integration Executive, via the integration 

performance dashboard and programme highlight report.  

f) Monthly, locally via individual project/theme level governance boards, with monthly 

operational oversight by the BCF operational group. This tier providing much more in-

depth discussion on specific milestones, trajectories and KPIs at project level. 

g) Via specific evaluation activity– for example clinical audits, independent evaluations, 

academic studies, e.g. the evaluation of Local Area Coordination and the SIMTEGR8 

programme (see below). 

h) During the BCF refresh for 2017/18 we conducted a number of in depth reviews of 

existing BCF funded services to examine their overall efficacy and VFM. The findings 

were scrutinised by the Integration Operational Group and Integration Executive and 

informed specific commissioning and decommissioning decisions for the 2017/18 – 

2018/19 BCF plan. 

i) The interventions assessed by the Nuffield Trust in their Shifting the Balance of Care 

report in March 2017 have also been analysed against the LLR STP and 

Leicestershire BCF, with a summary of this analysis provided in the mapping tables 

at Appendix 11. 

16.1 SIMTEGR8  

During 2016/17, we conducted a second phase of our integration evaluation and research 

study (SIMTEGR8) in conjunction with Loughborough University, SIMUL8 Corporation and 

Leicestershire Healthwatch. Building on the methodology developed in 2016/17 where we 

evaluated four emergency admissions avoidance services, a further four BCF services in 

2016/17 (Help to Live at Home, Cardio/Respiratory, Lightbulb Housing Service and Intensive 

Community Support)  

Findings are being disseminated regionally and nationally during 2017/18. Further 

information can be found here http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-

integration/monitoring-and-evaluation/ 

104

http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/monitoring-and-evaluation/
http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-care-integration/monitoring-and-evaluation/


57 

 

17.0 RISK REGISTER AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
The risk register for the Leicestershire Integration Programme which reflects the risks 
associated with the delivery of the BCF plan can be found at Appendix 10. 
 
The risk register for the BCF plan has been fully updated in light of the new two year 

planning requirement, the impact of the updated national conditions, metrics, and planning 

guidance, and in the context of the BCF allocations and the financial framework/financial 

pressures affecting the Leicestershire BCF plan. 

The programme level risk register is reviewed operationally and strategically at regular 
intervals as part of the routine work of the Integration Executive, Integration Operational 
Group and Integration Finance and Performance Group. The high level risks are reflected in 
the corporate risk registers of Leicestershire County Council and the two County CCGs, 
updated on a quarterly basis. 
 
The Programme Director’s highlight report at the Integration Executive summarises key 
issues and risks on a monthly basis. The key risks relating to the delivery of the BCF plan 
are summarised below. These are can characterised as a combination of: 
 

 Overall LLR system level risks (service, financial and transformational), per the LLR 
STP, and 

 Specific risks affecting the Leicestershire BCF plan/pooled budget (arising from both 
the LLR system level risks and the national policy position for the BCF). 

 

The following is a summary of key strategic risks associated with the BCF refresh as at 
August 2017:  
 

a) Impact of the 2017/18 financial position across the health and care economy – 
risk that partners are forced to address immediate/short term system pressures 
versus investing in medium term solutions/ transformation, e.g. per the STP 
priorities. 

b) Lack of financial headroom within the Leicestershire BCF Plan, including lack of 
reserves and contingencies from 2017/18 onwards. 

c) Increased significant risks in CCG financial plans from 2017/18 onwards. 

d) Ongoing urgent care pressures, including the ongoing upward trend of 
emergency attendances/admissions. 

e) Improving Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) performance following the 
deterioration in performance experienced in 2016/17. (see Appendix 10, Risk 
10) 

f) Reliance on the delivery of further in-year savings from service review and 
redesign across a number of BCF service lines in order to deliver a more 
sustainable medium term financial plan. A number of these BCF service lines 
are subject to work being led by LLR STP workstreams during 2017/18, with 
key milestones and quantifiable impact in some areas still to be confirmed. 

g) Implementation of large and complex areas of transformation across LLR such 
as solutions for Integrated Points of Access, new models for Integrated Locality 
Teams, adoption of the electronic summary care record. 

    

105



58 

 

18.0 PROGRAMME GOVERNANCE 

Since February 2014 the Leicestershire Integration Programme has been governed by the 

Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, with day today oversight of the integration 

programme, including associated pooled budgets, provided by the Leicestershire Integration 

Executive which meets on a monthly basis. 

18.1 Leicestershire Integration Executive 

 Chaired by a clinical lead from the CCG (rotating approx. every 18 months) the 

Leicestershire Integration Executive is a very productive, delivery focused group 

which has consistently benefited from excellent engagement at Director level across 

health and care organisations. The Integration Executive includes representation 

from the County Council, District Councils and Healthwatch, plus all local NHS 

organisations, both commissioners and providers. 

 This group is the overarching governance group responsible for the delivery of the 

whole integration programme in Leicestershire on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board. The group sets the vision for integration, oversees the delivery and evaluation 

of the BCF in totality, sets strategic priorities across workstreams and ensures 

alignment with LLR-wide programmes of work. Members of this group are also SROs 

for key deliverables within the LLR five year plan/Leicestershire Integration 

Programme. 

 

There are currently three other key groups in place which support delivery of the Integration 

Programme: 

 

18.2 Integration Operational Group  

 Chaired by the Director of Health and Care Integration, this group comprises senior 

managers responsible for delivery of the various components of integration across 

the programme, with representatives from all partners on the Integration Executive. 

 The group meets monthly and is responsible for overall detailed coordination of the 

Integration/BCF programme plan, including business case development, investment 

and disinvestment proposals, project management, programme/project level budget 

management, scheme level trajectories, metrics, KPIs and evaluation, digesting 

national policy and best practice, staffing resources into key elements of the 

programme, troubleshooting across the programme partnership, communications 

and engagement plans/materials, governance planners and reporting into respective 

partner organisations, refreshing the annual BCF plan/submission and ensuring the 

quarterly reporting to NHSE is prepared, approved and submitted. 

 

 

 

 

106



59 

 

18.3 Integration Finance and Performance Group  

 Chaired by a CCG Director of Finance, this group comprises director/senior manager 
level commissioning and finance leads from the LA and two County CCGs.  
 

 The group is primarily responsible for oversight of the pooled budgets supporting the 
integration programme, including setting strategy for contingencies and risk pools, 
and the overall financial management and performance of the section 75 for the BCF.  
 

 During 2016/17 the terms of reference have been updated to include oversight of 

other section 75 agreements and pooled budgets which support the Integration 

Programme including Help to Live at Home, Learning Disabilities and Integrated 

Community Equipment Service. The group is tasked with overall prioritisation of 

investments and making final recommendations on the BCF financial plan/pooled 

annually, as well as refreshing the BCF s75, and ensuring the appropriate 

governance approvals for the s75 via LCC Cabinet, CCG Boards and the Health and 

Wellbeing Board. 

18.4 Unified Prevention Board  

 Chaired by the Director of Public Health and a District Council Chief Executive, this 

group meets monthly and comprises senior managers from all health and care 

partners as well as the voluntary sector, fire, ambulance service and police.  

 The group has been tasked with a baseline review of existing services, designing the 

model for a unified prevention offer for Leicestershire’s communities/localities for the 

future, and recommending the forward commissioning strategy. During 2016/17 the 

group has been assessing the most appropriate model/mechanisms for social 

prescribing in support of the unified prevention offer. This group reports directly to 

Leicestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board given the importance of this work in 

relation to both Leicestershire’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and LLR STP 

prevention workstream. (See section 10.1 on page 21 and Appendix 7). 

The Leicestershire Integration Programme has maintained good visibility, communication 

and engagement across partner organisations with regular all member briefings, reports to 

executive teams of NHS Trusts, CCG Board meetings, scrutiny committees, Cabinet and the 

District Councils, (for example via District Council Health and Wellbeing forums, the Housing 

and Health Members Advisory group, the Lightbulb Programme Board and District Council 

Chief Executives meetings). 

Governance approvals for the Integration Programme can be complex but the governance 

planner and programme plan ensure activities are well coordinated and that individual 

organisations are engaged in the development, assurance and approval of plans with clear 

records of decisions and delegated authority where applicable.  

The diagram below shows the current governance arrangements for the Integration 

programme and how the Integration Executive reports into the Leicestershire Health and 

Wellbeing Board. 

107



60 

 

 

 

The Integration Programme has participated in two internal audits to test the delivery and 

governance mechanisms associated with the programme including the BCF specifically, 

both of which have returned high levels of assurance. CCG and LA internal and external 

auditors are also closely involved in testing the financial arrangements and financial 

governance operating between the three commissioners who lead the s75 BCF. 

While the above arrangements have served us well to date, with the introduction of the LLR 

STP, it is timely to review our local arrangements, especially as the new STP workstreams 

will bring together integration deliverables across the three LA footprints and we would wish 

to avoid duplication of effort and governance arrangements where possible. 

18.5 STP Governance 

The following LLR –wide workstreams will now involve oversight of some of the deliverables 

within the three BCF plans in LLR 

 Integrated Locality Teams 

 Home First 

 Urgent Care 

 Integrated Points of Access 

 Prevention 

 IM&T (e.g. for implementation of the electronic shared record, SCR2) 

 

The progress of integration across health and care will therefore increasingly be delivered 

and measured on an LLR wide basis, with the BCF plans and pooled budgets as a key 

enabler to delivering improved models of care in LLR. 

108



61 

 

However the development, approval, submission, and quarterly monitoring of local BCF 

plans, including their national conditions, metrics and budgets is still required (via NHSE and 

DCLG) on the basis of each LA footprint for the next two financial years. 

With the introduction of the IBCF (social care grant) in 2017/18, and the additional local and 

national assurance requirements this involved, a further aspect of governance is the role of 

the Adult Social Care Department’s Transformation Board.  

This pre-existing group will take day to day oversight of IBCF delivery from May 2017 

onwards, with their outputs feeding into the Integration Executive and Integration Finance 

and Performance Group in the same way as other aspects of the BCF plan. The Director of 

Adult Social Care and the Council’s Section 151 Officer will provide oversight of the quarterly 

reporting to DCLG in line with the LA grants conditions. 

Given the above context, we will review our governance structures again in Q3 2017/18 so 

our programme arrangements keep pace with the evolving matrix working which is required 

to deliver specific BCF components, as well as keeping in place a lean local structure to 

govern assurance and reporting for the Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board area.  

This review will be undertaken in October 2017 in conjunction with the Integration Executive 

and recommendations made to the Health and Wellbeing Board about any changes 

proposed. 

In addition to the issues noted above, it has already been agreed that each Health and 

Wellbeing Board in LLR should take a lead oversight role in one or more of the STP 

workstreams.  

For Leicestershire this will be Integrated Locality Teams and Community Hospitals 

reconfiguration.  

Local governance arrangements and terms of reference for the Health and Wellbeing Board 

have been being updated to reflect this and a paper setting out the Board’s role and actions 

in this regard was presented at the January 2017 Health and Wellbeing Board meeting – see 

this weblink: 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s125463/Outputs%20from%20Development%20Sessio

n.pdf 

109

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s125463/Outputs%20from%20Development%20Session.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s125463/Outputs%20from%20Development%20Session.pdf


62 

 

 

A diagram showing the governance arrangements for the LLR STP is given below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Governing 
Bodies 

SLT will be dually accountable to the boards, governing bodies and /or executives of 

its members as well as to the HWBs for LLR. It will make recommendations to 

individual boards, governing bodies and executives to ensure local decision (e.g. 

capital investment are informed by system view/system priorities 

 

               

Programme 

Management Office 

System Strategy  

Operational planning 

Finance and activity 

Monitoring and 

reporting 

Workstreams  
Urgent Care  

Integrated Locality 

Teams 
Home First  

Planned Care  
Learning Disabilities 

Mental Health 

Primary Care 

Stakeholders and 

Influencers 
System Stakeholder 

Forums 
 

PPIG 

Clinical Leadership 

Group 

Enabling Groups 

LLR Workforce Delivery 

Group 

IM&T Group 

Estates Group 

Health and 

Wellbeing Boards 

LLR Senior          

Leadership Team 

110



63 

 

19.0 EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
Developments within the BCF Plan are subject to an equality impact assessment and the 
evidence base supporting the BCF Plan has been tested with respect to Leicestershire Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment. An equalities and human rights impact assessment has been 
undertaken which is provided at - http://ow.ly/1sgC309cJUu . 

 

111

http://ow.ly/1sgC309cJUu


This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 1 – Case for Change Analysis which has informed the BCF Refresh  
 
This section references existing analysis and source documents in support of the vision and 
aims of the BCF plan and its delivery priorities. 
 
Better Care Together 
In 2015 the Better Care Together (BCT) Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) wide 
five year plan considered the overall sustainability of our health and care system and the 
reconfiguration opportunities, in particular the shift of care from acute to community settings. 
The case for change and the BCT blue print can be found at this link:  
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=31818&servic
etype=Attachment?AssetID=31818 
 
The LLR Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) – refreshed five year 
plan of BCT 
In autumn 2016, LLR partners produced the local STP, which was built upon the case for 
change and strategic foundations of the BCT Programme. A public summary of the STP can 
be found at this link 
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665  
The priorities contained within the LLR STP respond to the local case for change and tackle 
three key challenges which are:  

 Improving health and wellbeing; 

 Improving the quality of care and services; 

 Achieving a more efficient and sustainable health and care economy which can 
meets future demands. 

 
Leicestershire’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 
Our JSNA provides in depth population health needs analysis  http://www.lsr-
online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html and our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
illustrates how the Health and Wellbeing Board is responding to the priorities highlighted by 
this analysis http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124188/JHWS%20App%20A.pdf, with 
other sources of supporting information at this link: http://www.lsr-online.org/health-and-
wellbeing-leicestershire3.html. Our JSNA includes a helpful infographics interactive 
webpage, which illustrates the profile of Leicestershire’s population per the priorities in our 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
https://public.tableau.com/views/CoredatasetMASTER_All_Infographics/BestStartinLife-
County?:embed=y&:display_count=yes&:showTabs=y&:showVizHome=no#3. 

Public Health Summary Needs Analysis 2016/Health Profiles 2017 

In support of the BCF refresh we have provided a summary population health needs analysis 
which can be found at Appendix A. The analysis is based on the current JSNA and 
population health profiles for 2017.  
 
Adult Social Care Strategy  
The Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-20 outlines the vision and strategic direction of social 
care support in Leicestershire for four years.  The strategy focuses on a progressive model 
of support in line with the principles of preventing need, reducing need, delaying need and 
meet need. 
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/3/23/ASC_Strategy_2016_
2020_0.pdf.  This is supported by the market position statement. 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s116260/Appendix%20D%20-
%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20Strategy%202016-20.pdf 
 

113

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=31818&servicetype=Attachment?AssetID=31818
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/EasysiteWeb/getresource.axd?AssetID=31818&servicetype=Attachment?AssetID=31818
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665
http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html
http://www.lsr-online.org/leicestershire-2015-jsna.html
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124188/JHWS%20App%20A.pdf
http://www.lsr-online.org/health-and-wellbeing-leicestershire3.html
http://www.lsr-online.org/health-and-wellbeing-leicestershire3.html
https://public.tableau.com/views/CoredatasetMASTER_All_Infographics/BestStartinLife-County?:embed=y&:display_count=yes&:showTabs=y&:showVizHome=no#3
https://public.tableau.com/views/CoredatasetMASTER_All_Infographics/BestStartinLife-County?:embed=y&:display_count=yes&:showTabs=y&:showVizHome=no#3
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/3/23/ASC_Strategy_2016_2020_0.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/3/23/ASC_Strategy_2016_2020_0.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s116260/Appendix%20D%20-%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20Strategy%202016-20.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s116260/Appendix%20D%20-%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20Strategy%202016-20.pdf


Population and Practice Level Risk Stratification 
As part of the BCF refresh we have refreshed our population level risk stratification using 
2016/17 data via PI Care and Health Trak - the outputs of this analysis are at Appendix B.  
In summary this shows that, from April 2016 to November 2016, 37% of all emergency 
admissions at University Hospital Leicester (UHL) for Leicestershire residents have been for 
patients aged 70 and over. For those aged 70 and over, length of stay tends to be longer, 
and admissions for this age group account for 55% of the bed days, and 51% of the health 
service costs.  
 
The analysis also shows the profile healthcare costs of Leicestershire’s population with long 
term conditions in the over 70 age group. This shows that most of the costs (65%) for 
emergency admissions to UHL for those aged 70 and over are for patients with between two 
and five long-term conditions. This amounts to over £24.5 million of costs for April - 
November 2016.  
 
In Leicestershire in 2015, almost 62,000 (46%) adults aged 65 or over were predicted to 
have at least one limiting long-term illness (JSNA 2015).  Of these, hypertension is the most 
costly long term condition and 74% of the costs for this condition can be attributed to 
patients aged 70 and over. 
 
The STP workstream for Integrated Locality Teams has used risk stratification at local GP 
practice population level, via the ACG tool, to identify three cohorts of the population in each 
locality who should be the focus of improved case management and care coordination in 
community settings. The three cohorts are those with frailty markers, those with five or more 
LTCs and those whose acute care costs are estimated to be three times the expected levels 
over the coming 12 months. They will benefit from a new model of integrated multi-
disciplinary working between primary care community nursing/therapists and social care.  

Case for Change: LLR’s Urgent Care System 

This area of work focuses on the gap between the current model of urgent care operating in 
LLR and what a redesigned urgent care system based on best practice could deliver. This 
work has been based on the new models of care for England as set out by Simon Stevens in 
in the NHS England Five Year Forward View publication.  
 
LLR’s urgent care system has been under unsustainable pressure over a number of years 
with the health and care economy placing too much reliance on urgent/acute care, when 
other alternative settings of care should be or are available for local citizens to use.  
 
In 2014 an independent review of the health and care system was undertaken by Dr Ian 
Sturgess which focused on the root causes of the reliance on emergency and urgent care 
and how the system as a whole needed to respond and change to provide more anticipatory 
care in the community. 
 
In 2015, the LLR area was selected as one of the Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard 
sites in order to accelerate the necessary changes. As a result of this, during 2016/17 a new 
system of urgent care has been designed and commissioned, which came into effect from 
April 2017. An ECIP review was also undertaken in 2017 in support of urgent care redesign 
and the recommendations from this review have been adopted by the A&E Delivery Board. 
 

114



Customer Insight Analysis that has informed the BCF Refresh 
 
Findings from service user engagement activities across the health and care economy have 
also been used to inform the BCF refresh, a selection of which is listed below: 
 

 Service user metrics have been analysed to assess improvements in the 
experience of local people using integrated care and support across settings of care 
in Leicestershire, including the quality of life score in the Adult Social Care Outcome 
Framework, support for people with Long Term Conditions via the GP survey, and 
experience of coordination of care and support on discharge from CQC surveys; 

 A BCT customer insight survey undertaken in 2015/16 focused on the views and 
experiences of carers; 

 Engagement with service users undertaken for the introduction of the “Help To Live 
At Home” domiciliary care services, used to shape the outcomes and service 
model; 

 Engagement with service users across eight BCF services as part of the evaluation 
conducted with Loughborough University and Healthwatch, focused particularly on 
community based services targeted to admissions avoidance; 

 Engagement and customer insight analysis undertaken for the Lightbulb Housing 
Project which informed the service model; 

 Engagement with service users on integrating customer services points of access 
across health and care, used to inform the future options and solutions for an LLR-
wide operating model; 

 Engagement undertaken by Leicestershire Healthwatch, reported bi-monthly to the 
Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board, with thematic analysis on areas such as 
mental health, primary care access, urgent care and hospital discharge; 

 Findings and recommendations from local authority scrutiny committees and 
scrutiny panels; and 

 Feedback from LLR engagement events for Better Care Together and the STP. 
 

Other Data and Analysis that has support the BCF Refresh 

 NHSE Benchmarking data (e.g. readmissions within 30 days) 

 UHL readmissions report and supporting analysis 2016 

 Urgent Care/A&E Board Analysis, including DTOC reporting 

 LA Benchmarking data: e.g. on permanent admissions to residential care  and DTOC 

 Adult Social Care Performance Reports and Dashboards 

 Regional and National BCF analysis /benchmarking 

 The detailed analysis completed for the recommissioning of Leicestershire’s 
domiciliary care services across health and social care 

 A self-assessment against the high impact changes for DTOC 

 Independent evaluations and clinical audits, including SIMTEGR8 

 Findings from CQC, or reviews/reports by other regulatory bodies 

 ECIP Reviews 

 LA Peer Reviews  

115



APPENDIX A – Public Health Summary Needs Analysis 
 
Everyone Counts: Planning for Patients 2014/15 to 2018/191 sets the overall medium term 
planning framework for the NHS and describes what the NHS must deliver to patients 
nationally.  
 
The NHS ‘Call to Action2’ asks all NHS providers and commissioners to respond to the 
significant challenges facing the NHS in delivering health and care policy into the future, 
including: 
 

 An ageing society 

 The rise of long term conditions 

 Rising expectations 

 Increasing costs of providing care 

 Limited productivity 

 Pressure of constrained public resources that the NHS face 

 Variation in quality of care across the health system. 
 
Our vision for integration and the interventions we have prioritised in BCF have been 
designed in response to the call to action. 
We have considered the implications for Leicestershire in order to respond to these 
challenges, e.g. in view of the specific needs of our population and the performance of our 
current health and care system, by analysing the following: 

 

 Leicestershire’s Population Trends and Health Needs, using the 2015 Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment and 2017 Health Profile 

 Population segmentation analysis (completed for the BCF plan resubmission) 

 The current utilisation of our health and care economy, and the desired future state – 
using analysis recently completed for the development of the Five Year Plan for LLR 
(Better Care Together). 

                                                           
1
 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid.pdf 

 
2
 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/nhs_belongs.pdf 

 

116

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/nhs_belongs.pdf


 
Overview of Leicestershire’s Population and Health Needs 
 
Population 
 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland has a population of 1,069,906, with the Leicestershire 
population comprising 682,957 - of which 118,864 people were aged 65-84 years (17.4%) 
and 17,683 people were aged 85 years and over (2.5%) in 2016. 
 
Leicestershire 2016 population estimate by sex and quinary age 
 

 
 
Source: 2016 mid-year population estimates, ONS. 
 
The population of Leicestershire is currently growing and by 2039 the total population is 
predicted to reach 784,400 people, representing growth of 17.4%. However, the population 
is not growing uniformly across the different age bands. In the next 25 years, the population 
is predicted to grow as follows: 

o A 11% increase in children and young people age 0-24 years (196,900 
people to 217,600) 

o A 4% increase in the working age population age 25-64 (from 341,100 people 
to 354,400) 

o A 49% increase in people aged 65-84 year olds (from 113,400 people to 
168,500) 

o A 162% increase in the oldest population group of people aged 85 years and 
over (from 16,700 people to 43,700) 

 
Source: 2014-based population projections, ONS. 

117



Deprivation 
 
The map below shows the national decile for each LSOA in Leicestershire for Multiple 
Deprivation. The darkest purple areas fall in the top 10 percent (1st decile) most deprived 
neighbourhoods in England. 
 
 
2015 Multiple Deprivation national deciles by LSOA, Leicestershire 

 
Source: DCLG, 2015 
 
There is a very small proportion of LSOAs in the county that fall within the top 10 percent 
most deprived in the country. These areas are located in Loughborough, Coalville and 
Hinckley. Elsewhere, there are small pockets of neighbourhoods which fall within the more 
deprived nationally in and around the main towns and smaller urban centres. 
 
The table below shows the distribution of LSOAs in Leicestershire by national decile for 
Multiple Deprivation.  
 

118



2015 Multiple Deprivation national deciles by LSOA, Leicestershire 

 
Source: DCLG, 2015 
 
The chart underlines the fact that only a small proportion of the county’s LSOAs fall within 
the top 10 percent most deprived in England. Only four out of the county’s 396 LSOAs fall in 
the top decile, with a further four in the second decile. In comparison, 74 neighbourhoods 
are placed in the least deprived decile. 
 
 
 
Ethnicity 
 
The chart below shows the proportion of Leicestershire’s population by broad ethnic group. 
The vast majority of the county population (91 percent) belong to White ethnicities, including 
White British and White Irish. This equates to almost 600,000 people. The next largest ethnic 
group in Leicestershire is Asian, which constitute 6.3 percent of the population, followed by 
the Mixed or Multiple Ethnic Group with 1.7 percent and Black, with 0.6 percent. 
 
Leicestershire population by broad ethnic group, 2011 

 
Source: 2011 Census, ONS 
 
 

119



Leicestershire Health Profile 2017 
 
Health profiles are published annually by Public Health England and provide a useful 
snapshot of the health needs of the local population. The 2017 Health Profile for 
Leicestershire shows that: 
 

 The health of people in Leicestershire is generally better than the England average.  

 In 2014, about 12.4% (14,100) children lived in poverty.  

 Between 2013 and 2015, life expectancy at birth for males in Leicestershire was 80.5 
years and for females was 83.9 years. This is significantly better than the England 
average for both males and females.  

 Life expectancy at birth is 6.1 years lower for men and 4.8 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Leicestershire than in the least deprived areas. 

 
Table 1 Health Profile Summary on p.24 shows how people’s health in each local authority 
across Leicestershire compares to the rest of England.  
 
It is clear that Leicestershire performs well in many indicators, with 20 indicators that perform 
significantly better than the England average, however there is not an even spread across all 
districts in Leicestershire and there is still room to improve the overall health of 
Leicestershire’s population. 
 
The table identifies a number of areas where Leicestershire can focus to improve health, e.g. 
where the county results are worse than the national average, and where Leicestershire 
performance is no different to the national average.  
 
There is one indicator where Leicestershire has poor performance: recorded diabetes. 
Across Leicestershire there are other indicators where performance could be improved. 
North West Leicestershire has four indicators where performance is worse than the national 
average; Hinckley & Bosworth has three indicators where performance is worse than the 
national average; Melton has two indicators where performance is worse than the national 
average; Blaby and Oadby and Wigston have one indicator where performance is worse 
than the national average.  
 
Charnwood and Harborough have no indicators worse than the national average. 
  

120



 
 
2017 Health Profile Summary 

 
 

121



APPENDIX B – Population Level Risk Stratification Analysis 
 

 
 

122



 

 
 
 
 
 

123



 
 

124



Annex 2 – Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) Benchmark Results for Q4 2016/17 and Q1 2017/18 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

125



 
 

 

126



 

 
 

127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Updated: May 17

Impact change Where are you now Status Spread Gaps What needs to be done When by

Primary Care Coordinators and 

Therapists work together in ED to plan 

discharge for patients who are able to 

return home and 'push' into community 

services, or provide a summary of 

services received for those patients who 

are admitted

Established UHL Social Care staff are available but are 

not part of an MDT approach in ED. 

Regular/frequent attenders are not 

monitored or followed up

Creation of an Integrated 

Discharge Team for UHL that 

operates at the 'front door' and 

'back door'. Primary care 

coordinator working with ED 

staff to review frequent 

attenders and support 

development of plan with 

primary care.

1st July 2017 

In-reach team identifies patients who are 

likely to require support on discharge and 

visits daily to 'pull' into community 

services. Available throughout all 

hospitals (UHL, PCH, LPT, RMH, ICS, 

Kettering, Melton etc)

Established Rutland (UHL, PCH, 

LPT, RMH, ICS, 

Kettering, Melton)

Integrated and remote access to 

hospital patient electronic records to 

allow integrated team to access 

information outside of hospital 

building. 

Link Rutland in-reach model to 

UHL IDT model for daily 

identification of Rutland 

patients at UHL

1st July 2017 

Acute Admission avoidance Nurses and 

Primary Care Coordinators work with 

therapists to plan discharge for patients 

on acute assessment units and 'push' 

into community services

Established UHL Social Care staff are available but are 

not part of an MDT approach on the 

assessment units

Creation of an Integrated 

Discharge Team for UHL that 

operates at the 'front door' and 

'back door' 

1st July 2017 

Daily boardrounds with MDT, estimated 

discharge date set and reviewed

Established UHL and LPT 

community hospitals 

(Rutland team 

attends RMH 

boardrounds)

Discharge specialist not present on all 

boardrounds. Patients not always 

identified for right pathway first time. 

Duplicated referrals sent to multiple 

services

Creation of an Integrated 

Discharge Team for UHL that 

attends boardrounds daily on 

medical/high referring wards

1st July 2017 

Establishing boardrounds within ICS 

service

Plans in place LPT Progressing in some localities, direct 

contact and links have been made 

through locality meetings. Rutland 

receives daily patient list including 

patients within ICS

All ICS wards have daily 

boardround in place to review 

patients

SAFER care bundle rolled out across 

wards which sets an EDD and clinical 

criteria for discharge, includes a senior 

review daily through boardrounds

Established/Plans in 

place

UHL and LPT 

community hospitals

SAFER care bundle embedded across 

UHL medical wards Monday to Friday, 

and 2 LPT Community Hospital wards

Continued roll out across UHL 

specialty wards. Continued roll 

out across LPT community 

hospital wards. Clear and 

consistent data on 

performance of meeting SAFER 

criteria to be shared across 

LLR. All wards implemented 

afternoon boardrounds at LPT

Roll out to remaining 10 LPT 

wards to be completed by 

October 2017. Formal Launch 

to specialty wards at Glenfield 

to commence 5th June

Red to Green process during 

boardrounds identifying delays in the 

patient's journey towards discharge. 

Daily MDT meeting/teleconference to 

review 'red' patients and seek resolution

Established UHL and LPT 

community hospitals

UHL Medical wards and 2 LPT 

Community Hospital wards only

Continue to embed and sustain 

new ways of working for red to 

green wards at UHL. Roll out to 

LPT wards

Formal Launch planned for 13 

wards at Glenfield Hospital 

week commencing 5th June

Senior system wide escalation review of 

delayed/Red patients to resolve trends of 

delays, problem solve specific cases 

(includes UHL, LPT, Social Care, CHC, Out 

of area hospitals)

Established UHL, LPT community 

hospitals, Rutland

Information is difficult to maintain as 

'current'. Work progressing with 

Nervecentre to pull reports. LPT data 

pulled from daily patient census.

Progress with creating 

Nervecentre reports. LPT 

census data shared at weekly 

LLR meeting for trend review

Jun-17

Creating 'Home First' philosophy for all 

discharge discussions between 

professionals and patients/family 

(including 'family first' transport 

requests). Some areas of good practice 

including reablement services for 

domiciliary care and bed based 

reablement trials but these are not yet a 

comprehensive offer.

Plans in 

place/Established

UHL, LPT Not an established culture change yet 

across all health and social care 

professionals nor amongst patients 

and families. Reablement offer is not 

yet comprehensive to provide 

alternatives and support to return 

home.

IDT's role on boardrounds will 

be to spread this philosophy 

through discharge to assess 

schemes. Early conversation 

with patients and families to 

set expectations of discharge. 

Business cases for reablement 

services to follow the 

philosophy

1st July 2017 for IDT. June 

2017 for business cases

Home First philosophy for discharge in 

place in Rutland. Patients are discharged 

to home first unless this is not possible 

and either an interim discharge to 

assess/ NWB interim bed is used

Established Rutland  

Clear, consistent definition of 'medically 

fit for discharge' and 'ready for discharge' 

in use between partner agencies

Established LLR

Discharge co-ordinators within Mental 

Health Services facilitate the discharge 

process to a new residence

Established LLR A 2017/18 ‘ Service 

Development and 

Improvement Plan (SDIP) is 

being finalised with LPT to 

complete actions from the  

2016/17 Remedial Action Plan. 

LPT have also introduced a 

‘DTOC Strategic System Group’ 

chaired by the LPT Medical 

Director with a multi-agency 

and senior officer focus on 

addressing system barriers that 

delay discharge, including the 

development of  housing 

solutions.

Length of Stay CQUIN within Mental 

Health services to encourage early 

discharge planning and avoidance of 

delayed transfers of care In order to 

reduce length of stay)

Established

Early discharge planning

8 High impact changes to support local health and care systems reduce transfers of care

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland response

129

rpalmer
Typewritten Text
ANNEX 3



Liaison Psychiatry Team (Vanguard) 

assess patients at UHL's front door to 

ensure mental health issues do not delay 

discharges. Supports early discharge 

planning

Established UHL

ICRS in-reach teams (City CC) have built 

positive working relationships with PCCs, 

wards and City ASC. Referrals into ICRS 

24/7.

Established UHL Ensure PCCs remain fully aware of 

service and when to refer to ICRS

Ensure ICRS on new PCC 

induction to ensure sound 

understanding of remit

NA

LLR Discharge steering group meets 

monthly with multi-agency attendance 

and workplan to review DTOC, flow and 

other relevant issues

Established LLR To re-start in Summer 2017 

after IDT/Tiger Team has 

finished and Home First 

Board/workstreams have 

established

Summer 2017

Urgent and Emergency care performance 

data shared with AEDB (including flow)

Established LLR Requires narrative to support 

intelligent discussion (eg reasons for 

increased DTOC, trends for 

comparison). UHL DTOC dashboard 

available monthly, but similar 

information not available from LPT

DTOC and flow dashboard in 

creation/draft

Jun-17

Daily senior system wide escalation call 

chaired by Director on Call reports 

today's operational pressures across LLR, 

including flow

Mature LLR Specific flow and discharge data is 

often subjective or disputed

IDT new process will support 

this call using actual data

1st July 2017

Gold command meetings 8am, 1pm, 

4,30pm, 6pm to review capacity and 

demand

Mature UHL

Daily bed state and patient census is 

circulated to relevant partners across LLR 

to support flow discussions (including 

anonymised information to CCG support 

teams)

Established LPT Document is difficult to maintain 

current and accurate information

Bed state and daily census is 

monitored by LPT bed 

managers and issues escalated 

appropriately. Bed bureau has 

access to real time bedstate via 

systm1

Matron on call for the in-patient beds 

and named ICS lead available daily to 

support flow. Bed manager completes 

operational tasks to support flow

Established LPT Ward manager on community 

hospital site at weekends to support 

flow

Monthly review of performance data at 

Transfer of Care Meeting with partner 

organisations, recently refocused to 

include SAFER bundle information 

including discharge before 12pm

Mature LPT and community 

partner organisations

Electronic whiteboards and twice daily 

bed state meeting using real time 

information (Mental health)

Established Acute wards only

2 week review of initial care package 

built into new domicillary care package 

procurement, to support flow/capacity 

through the service

Established County LA Not all newly procured 'lots' are 

operational. 

New procurement to cover 

vacant lots

Senior system wide escalation review of 

delayed/Red patients to resolve trends of 

delays, problem solve specific cases 

(includes UHL, LPT, Social Care, CHC, Out 

of area hospitals)

Established UHL, LPT community 

hospitals, Rutland

Information is difficult to maintain as 

'current'. Work progressing with 

Nervecentre to pull reports. LPT data 

pulled from daily patient census.

Progress with creating 

Nervecentre reports. LPT 

census data shared weekly 

with LLR meeting for trend 

review.

SAFER stranded patient review of 

patients with LOS over 6 days to resolve 

delays

Established UHL Dragons den weekly meeting 

established in ESM

Review process to undertake 

stranded patient review across 

CMGs

Jul-17

Primary Care Co-ordinators, acute 

admission avoidance nurses, therapists 

and social care teams all based at UHL

Established UHL Teams do not operate as a 'single 

discharge team' and often have same 

patients on case list

Creation of an Integrated 

Discharge Team for UHL that 

operates at the 'front door' and 

'back door' 

1st July 2017

Hospital Housing Team based at UHL and 

Bradgate Unit

Established UHL, LPT community 

hospitals, Mental 

health

Not situated with other hospital 

discharge teams

Create strong working links 

with new IDT

1st July 2017

Named social workers on in-patient 

wards with MDT and at boardrounds 

Established LPT Not working as an integrated team Phase 2 of IDT work to review 

approach at LPT

Once phase 1 is embedded

In-reach team identifies patients who are 

likely to require support on discharge and 

visits daily to 'pull' into community 

services. Available throughout all 

hospitals (UHL, PCH, LPT, RMH, ICS, 

Kettering, Melton etc). Fully integrated 

discharge team includes social workers, 

therapists and community nurses.

Established Rutland (UHL, PCH, 

LPT, RMH, ICS, 

Kettering, Melton)

Link Rutland in-reach model to 

UHL IDT model for daily 

identification of Rutland 

patients at UHL

1st July 2017 

System leadership Course attended by 

health and social care teams

Established Rutland completed in rutland of 

present cohort - second round 

of system leadership to 

support new staff planned - 

then join with existing staff to 

further embed integration and 

CPD

Case Managers to support patient 

journey in private and out of area 

rehab/specialist providers

Plans in place Rutland

Health and Social Care case managers 

working together with MDT in 

domicilliary and bed based reablement 

services

Established LLR Reablement offer is limited Business case for expanded 

bed based reablement services 

which includes case managers 

working as part of an MDT. 

Creation of an IDT at UHL.

1st July 2017

Electronic Trusted Assessment tool in 

development to support MDT discharge 

teams

Plans in place UHL and LPT 

community hospitals

Future funding needs to be secured 

to make this an integrated health and 

social care electronic solution

Business Case in draft. To be 

completed.

Jun-17

Use of systmone within the in-reach 

team creates a trusted assessment tool 

and patient progress information for the 

team to act on behalf of each other

Established Rutland Doesn't currently link to Liquid Logic Ongoing reviews and 

development

Ongoing piece of work

Early discharge planning

Multidisciplinary/multiagency 

discharge teams

Systems to monitor patient flow

130



Discharge to assess using interim beds if 

appropriate ensure that pathways 1/2/3 

support the patient back to their 

home/community as soon as possible. 

Established Rutland

Discharge to assess model available in 

spot purchased care homes for patients 

needing further assessment

Established UHL Health case management resource is 

not adequate. Difficulty in sourcing 

timely community therapy input to 

progress patient's pathway

Complete business cases for 

comprehensive pathway 3 

offer in order to switch off 

suboptimal D2A pathway

Summer 2017  

Help to Live At Home/Hart domicilliary 

care packages provides reablement for 

up to 6 weeks post discharge, including 

opportunity to assess for longer term 

needs at home

Established County LA Vacant lots and not all lots are 

operational leading to delays in start 

dates of packages

New procurement to cover 

vacant lots

Summer 2017

Bed based reablement service with 

therapy input for up to 6 weeks in place 

as a trial (6 months of 14 block purchased 

beds) including opportunity to assess for 

longer term needs (eg CHC, permanent 

entry to care home)

Established County patients Small number of beds and unable to 

accept more complex patients during 

the trial. Doesn't include NWB patient 

group

Business case for Kingfisher 

Unit to provide 37 reablement 

and assessment beds for city 

and county patients, business 

case to continue Peaker Park 

14 beds (plus procure more), 

review of NWB service

Summer 2017

MDT hub for end of life care to provide 

discharge to assess opportunities

Plans in place LLR Business Case in draft. To be 

completed.

Integrated working across health and 

social care - community teams and in-

reach services to support Rutland 

residents at EOL in the community

Established Rutland

Discharge to assess pathway for patients 

with severe/complex dementia in 

discussion

Plans in place LLR Proposal created to gain support Proposal to be shared across 

LLR

Summer 2017

Pathways supported by principles of 'no 

eligibility assessments completed in the 

acute trust'

Plans in place Not yet in place across health and 

social care

Plans in place

Inreach nurses complete CHC checklist to 

establish funding of discharge to assess 

interim solution so that all DST are 

completed outside acute settings

Established Rutland

Electronic Trusted Assessment tool in 

development to support MDT discharge 

teams

Plans in place UHL and LPT 

community hospitals

Future funding needs to be secured 

to make this an integrated health and 

social care electronic solution

Business Case in draft. To be 

completed.

Jun-17

Use of systmone within the in-reach 

team creates a trusted assessment tool 

and patient progress information for the 

team to act on behalf of each other

Established Rutland Doesn't currently link to Liquid Logic Ongoing reviews and 

development

Ongoing piece of work

ICS service provides virtual bed service 

across LLR for step up and step down 

patients

Established LPT

Continuing Health Care end to end 

process rolling out across LLR to support 

discharge to assess models

Plans in 

place/established

LLR Rolling out across LPT, now planning 

for roll out to UHL

Mobilisation planning group 

monitors this

Procurement of domicillary care 

packages requires services to be 

provided 7 days a week

Plans in place/establishedCity LA (Plans in 

place) County LA and 

Rutland (established)

County lots not all operational. City 

procurement due to start in 2017

Complete procurements Summer 2017

Non emergency patient transport 

contract provides transport for hospital 

discharge (7 days for UHL, 6 days for LPT, 

5 days for Mental health)

Established LLR New procurement of contract will 

include 7 days a week across all 

hospital discharge services and 

increase start/finish times. 

Complete mobilisation of new 

contract

Summer 2017  

Adult social care reablement services is 

available to UHL 7 days per week

Established County LA

Daily MDT ward review 7 days a week Established Mental Health Adult acute wards only

Increased Consultant presence at 

weekends

Established UHL

ICS available 7 days a week Established LPT Therapy team and ANP within ICS 

work Mon-Fri

Community Hospitals available for 

admissions and discharges 7 days a week

Mature LPT Therapy team and ANP work Mon-Fri

Director on call and Heads of Nursing on 

site at the weekend

Established UHL

Mental Health Crisis Team available 7 

days a week

Established Mental Health

REACH crisis response available 7 days 

per week.

Established Rutland Night nursing service being replaced 

with home visiting service and out of 

hours service

Jun-17

In reach nurse available at PCH 7 days a 

week 

Established Rutland

Adult social care reablement services is 

available 7 days per week to discharge 

patients from hospital and also for 

admission avoidance.

Established City LA

ICRS working 7 days a week to pull out 

patients over the weekend in UHL via 

established referral routes direct from 

wards or other trusted Assessor 

professionals.  

Established City LA

Trusted assessors in place across UHL 

and LPT for specific community services 

(including a care home for reablement)

Established LLR

Home first/discharge to assess

Seven Day Services

Trusted assessors

131



Electronic Trusted Assessment tool in 

development to support MDT discharge 

teams

Plans in place UHL and LPT 

community hospitals

Future funding needs to be secured 

to make this an integrated health and 

social care electronic solution

Business Case in draft. To be 

completed.

Jun-17

Use of systmone within the in-reach 

team creates a trusted assessment tool 

and patient progress information for the 

team to act on behalf of each other

Established Rutland Doesn't currently link to Liquid Logic Ongoing reviews and 

development

Ongoing piece of work

IDT to work on behalf of each other and 

act as trusted assessors for each service

Plans in place UHL and LPT 

community hospitals

IDT to commence at UHL 1st July 2017

IDT to support ward MDTs in discussing 

and managing patient choice

Plans in Place UHL and LPT 

community hospitals

IDT to commence at UHL 1st July 2017

National patient choice protocol to be 

aligned to local protocols in Rutland

Established Rutland

Increase awareness of personal health 

budgets and direct payments in Rutland

Not yet established Rutland PHB strategic lead for health no 

longer in post. Await replacement

Develop links with voluntary sector to 

support discharge in Rutland

Established Rutland

In reach and advocacy services support 

care home choice

Established Mental Health Mixed success in reducing delays

Improve links between discharge and 

carers assessments in Rutland through 

carers assessment from in-reach team

Established Rutland

Social Care Quality Improvement Team 

supports care homes to reduce the 

number of safeguarding incidents 

(County)

Established County LA

Social Care Quality Improvement Team 

supports care homes to prevent 

avoidable admissions and reduce the 

number of emergency calls (County).

Established County LA Relies on care homes self referral to 

the team to ask for support

Social Care Quality Improvement Team 

supports care homes with Falls pilot work 

through use of assistive technology 

(County).

Established County LA Across 3 homes only

Braunstone Blues project supporting care 

home who had highest use of 

ambulances. Provided policy change and 

education (EMAS)

Established

Engagement with care homes to support 

improved experience of acute transfer of 

care 

Established UHL Limited resource to continue. City 

care homes only

Review following 

implementation of IDT with 

possible creation of a regular 

forum

Aug-17

Community Nursing Teams are aligned to 

Care Homes 

Mature LPT

Enhancing health in care homes

Trusted assessors

Focus on choice

132



v0.4

Strategic Improvements

 1
. E

ar
ly

 D
is

ch
ar

ge
 P

la
n

n
in

g 

2
. S

ys
te

m
s 

to
 M

o
n

it
o

r 
Fl

o
w

3
. M

D
Ts

4
. H

o
m

e
 F

ir
st

 D
is

ch
ar

ge
 t

o
 

A
ss

e
ss

5
. T

ru
st

e
d

 A
ss

e
ss

o
rs

6
. E

n
h

an
ci

n
g 

H
e

al
th

 in
 C

ar
e

 

H
o

m
e

s

7
. S

e
ve

n
 D

ay
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s

8
. F

o
cu

s 
o

n
 C

h
o

ic
e

Acute Community Mental 

Health

Out of 

County

Activity (includes iBCF Ref, where appropriate)

Indicative £ Firm £

Governance Current Status Plan Deliverability 

Assessment

Update Lead Delivery Officer

8 √ √ √ √

1.5 Support for new extra care facility. Assessment and 

commissioning  support for Loughborough locality in identifying 

appropriate referrals for new scheme, and supporting potential 

developments in Melton and Hinckley. 

70,000
A&C DMT (via 

service planning)
In Progress

Scheme opens Sept 

17
N/A

Plan to get temp resource in to help with marketing.  LCC Cabinet in June approved 

extension of care contracts for extra care.  Awaiting further information on timelines 

for Melton and Hinckley.

Sue Wilson/Jackie 

Wright

2.2 CHC  Commissioning capacity to support new CHC end to end  

process and ensure transfer to assess and discharge to assess 

pathways

90,000 In Progress N/A Posts advertised as part of Care Pathway recruitment campaign July 17.  
Heather Pick  / Bev 

Taylor

1 2 3 5 7 √ √

2.3 Bradgate unit - based on evidence from Northumberland model - 

develop an integrated discharge pathway/team
100,000 Home First In Progress Yes - completed

ASC and LPT are commissioning an independent business consultant from LCC's 

Transformation Unit to assist develop robust approach/plan to develop options.  Work 

to commence end July.

Peter Davis Ian Redfern

3.1 - 3.4 Establish Home First Programme team 400,000 Home First 
In Progress In development FBC to be completed Home First programme board established.  Detailed planning of workstreams 

underway.  Pilot IDT at UHL established.

Jon Wilson and Carmel 

O'Brien

1 2 3 4 7 √ √

3.5 HART Capacity - defer planned MTFS saving requirement ahead 

of Home First recommendations re system design
250,000 A&C DMT  Completed N/A N/A Retain capacity in business to off-set MTFS saving (AC13) N/A

3 4 5 7 8

3.6 Integration of health and social care rehab / reablement services 

including 24 hour crisis response
150,000 Home First Planned Placeholder Yes - completed

Phase 1 - Additional staff being recruited to expand existing CRS service to 24/7 from 

October 2017.  Phase 2 -development of integrated service to follow. 
Claire Jones

4 5 6 7

3.7 Investment in telecare/telehealth to support ILT and Home first 

programmes in developing self care, case management and crisis 

response together with care home support

100,000 Home First Planned In progress DA Completed
OT consultants in place to look at AT in Res Care / Supported Living.  Reviews of high 

cost placements to start in Sept. 17

Heather Pick Claire 

Jones

1 8 √ √ √

3.8 Provision of enhanced carer support services in line with new 

carers strategy
100,000 Home First Planned

Planning Q1 17/18

Implementation 

Q2/3 17/18

Yes - approach to be 

reviewed

Amanda Price is leading LLR Carers Strategy. Report to September Cabinet.  Further 

review of approach to identify 'quick wins'.
Amanda Price

4 5 8 √ √ √

3.9 Development of interim bed capacity (D2A) - alongside strategic 

intervention in market to increase market capacity in residential / 

nursing care

400,000 Home First 

Commissioning 

Group (sub group to 

Home First Board)

To Be Completed

(Mark Wightman UHL lead) - UHL have produced revised paper re Step Down 

reablement beds. Group. Will be separating people into 2 cohorts  - 1) D2A & 2) 

Medical Step Down.  LCC to consider market investment re interim care and dementia 

care beds

1 2 7 8 √ √ √ √

4.1 - 4.3 HTLAH Stabilisation 360,000

HTLAH Stabilisation 

Board
In Progress In progress N/A

HTLAH Stabilisation project in place.  Additional review capacity appointed for 

transitions.  Evaluation of tenders completed and interviews/negotiations scheduled 

for w/c 10th July.  Award of contract scheduled for 17th July with subsequent standstill 

period.

(See Katy's email for breakdown)

Sandy McMillan

1 8 √ √ √

5.1 - 5.2 Investment in Residential Care/Supported 

Living/reablement unit/Transforming Care, to increase market 

capacity and choice of accommodation for younger adults

750,000

A&C DMT and 

Corporate Property 

Services

In Progress Yes - completed

ASC have identified a number of early investment opportunities which are being 

explored with Property Services.  Business consultancy support sourced from TU to 

assist with assessing future demand and options as this contributes to emerging MTFS 

line for Lower Cost ASC Provision 

Sandy McMillan

1 2 3 5 8

5.3 Case managers for Transforming Care to support inpatient 

reductions
50,000 A&C DMT In Progress N/A

Posts advertised as part of Care Pathway recruitment campaign July 17.  See also note 

re additional management capacity at 2.2
Tracey Burton

8 √

6.4 Apprenticeship scheme for gaps in market, e.g. home care 100,000 A&C DMT Planned OBC by Q2 17/18 Yes - completed
OBC to be submitted to July DTDB.  May require PM/BA support.  HTLAH providers 

being engaged in approach.
Kate Revell

3 4 8
2 Week reviews for hospital discharge A&C DMT Live BCF Funded Completed 2 Week discharge reviews for independent sector non HART packages Tracey Burton

3 4 5 8
Single handed care

A&C DMT Live Completed Reviews of 2:1 care packages to release more capacity for Dom Care.
Heather Pick / Claire 

Jones

DTOC - Audit of Leicestershire County Council Adult Social Care As at 26.07.17

High Impact Change

DRAFT FOR COMPLETION

2017/18

133

rpalmer_1
Typewritten Text
ANNEX 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



v0.4

Embedded Operational Activity

 1
. E

ar
ly

 D
is

ch
ar

ge
 P

la
n

n
in

g 

2
. S

ys
te

m
s 

to
 M

o
n

it
o

r 
Fl

o
w

3
. M

D
Ts

4
. H

o
m

e
 F

ir
st

 D
is

ch
ar

ge
 t

o
 

A
ss

e
ss

5
. T

ru
st

e
d

 A
ss

e
ss

o
rs

6
. E

n
h

an
ci

n
g 

H
e

al
th

 in
 C

ar
e

 

H
o

m
e

s

7
. S

e
ve

n
 D

ay
 S

e
rv

ic
e

s

8
. F

o
cu

s 
o

n
 C

h
o

ic
e

Acute Community Mental 

Health

Out of 

County

Activity Frequency Status (if 

live add 

since 

when 

date) 

Opportunities for decision making How/Where reported Issues Planned improvements Accountable Officer

2 √ e.g. Daily call with UHL Daily Live Jackie Wright

2 √ √ √ √

DTOC  Metrics task and finish group Monthly Live Multi-agency contributions to changing 

the format of LLR wide DTOC reporting

PD and JW

2 √ √

LLR MH DTOC  Flow meeting Monthly Live Multi agency senior management Reports to MH STP 

Transformation Board

PD and IR

1 2 √

MH Clinical discharge  Meeting Weekly Live Multi-agency contributions Report to DTOC group Tight reporting arrnagements 

exist and appear to be working

PD and IR

2 √

Daily discussion following identified Red/Green 

patients

Daily live Clarification of actions being taken and 

required for individual patients

Discharge Sisters > ASC 

Service Managers at UHL

Michelle Ward & 

Angela Parker Cole

2 √

Daily E Mail from UHL Complex Discharge Team to 

SM's/Hos of  patients identified as formal DTOC's

Daily live Ensures validation and challenge as 

appropriate of any DToC's attributable to 

ASC

Daily between UHL and 

SM's at UHL then monthly 

report to HoS

Michelle Ward, Angela 

Parker Cole, Jackie 

Wright

2 √

Daily Census e mailed to all SM's/HoS providing 

information for all mffd patients in Community 

Hospitals

Daily Live Provides narrative of individual patient 

circumstances giving oversight into 

reasons for delays and enabling actions 

to be checked and prompted as required

All Community 

Hospital Link Workers 

and OA SM's, Jackie 

Wright

√

E Mail confirming DToC coding for all delays Weekly Live Provides Thursday midnight snapshot 

delay data identifying reasons and 

enabling validation by ASC

Reported to Unify/NHSE Can sometimes include 

incorrect codes e.g. a/w 

CHC assessment identified 

as attributable to both 

Health and Social Care

Accuracy continues to improve 

due to joint working 

arrangements

All Community 

Hospital Link Workers 

and OA SM's, Jackie 

Wright but Aiden 

Neaves and Sue Davies 

lead on validating

√ √

Senior Escalation Meeting to monitor themes and 

reasons for delays

Weekly Live Meeting to scrutinise patients delays 

across acute and community hospitals.  

Enables identification of reasons/themes 

and appropriate actions to improve any 

issues

Outcomes shared with all 

agencies

Michelle Ward, Angela 

Parker Cole, Jackie 

Wright

2 √

Meeting with Discharge Team Lead Monthly Live To discuss and validate ASC attributable 

delays

Reported to Unify/NHSE Works well Michelle Ward, Angela 

Parker Cole, Jackie 

Wright

2 √

DToC Meeting Monthly Live Discussion regarding Community Hospital 

DToC's, themes and opportunities to 

address/improve

Andrea Woodier and 

Sheila Bobe

2 √ √

Validation of Out of County Acute Hospital Delays Weekly Live See attached have been some issues 

with accuracy of data and 

engagement of discharge 

leads in the out of county 

acutes

This is improving OA SM's Jackie Wright

2 √ √ √ √

Monitoring of individual cases, action plans to 

progress 

Weekly Planned ASC DMT DMT considering additional 

dedicated post to support 

collation and monitoring role

Peter Davis

High Impact Change

DTOC - Audit of Leicestershire County Council Adult Social Care As at 26.07.17

DRAFT FOR COMPLETION

N/A

N/A

135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



LEICESTERSHIRE BETTER CARE FUND REFRESH 2017/18 & 2018/19

Scheme Name ASC 

Allocation 

Code

West Leics 

CCG

£'000

East Leics & 

Rutland CCG

£'000

Leics County 

Council

£'000

Total

Budget

£'000

West Leics 

CCG

£'000

East Leics & 

Rutland CCG

£'000

Leics County 

Council

£'000

Total

Budget

£'000

BCF1 - Unified Prevention Offer

First Contact Plus 93.6 71.2 .0 164.8 94.6 71.9 .0 166.5

Total Unified Prevention Offer 93.6 71.2 .0 164.8 94.6 71.9 .0 166.5

BCF2 - Home First

Care Act Support Pathway 257.9 196.1 .0 454.0 257.9 196.1 .0 454.0

Carers Health and Wellbeing Service (funding for April 2017 only) 7.8 5.9 .0 13.7 .0 .0 .0 .0

Intermediate Care 313.0 267.0 .0 580.0 313.0 267.0 .0 580.0

Reablement (NHS protected) 2,419.0 1,713.0 .0 4,132.0 2,419.0 1,713.0 .0 4,132.0

Intensive Community Support phase 1 (NHS protected) 951.0 870.0 .0 1,821.0 951.0 870.0 .0 1,821.0

Intensive Community Support phase 2 (CCG additional allocation) 1,367.3 1,195.5 .0 2,562.7 1,367.3 1,195.5 .0 2,562.7

Step Down (NHS protected) 300.0 229.0 .0 529.0 300.0 229.0 .0 529.0

Residential Respite Service 421.8 320.8 .0 742.6 421.8 320.8 .0 742.6

Health & Social Care Protocol Training 58.1 44.2 .0 102.3 58.1 44.2 .0 102.3

Increased demand for Nursing Care Packages 2,044.4 1,554.9 .0 3,599.3 2,044.4 1,554.9 .0 3,599.3

Increased demand for Home Care Service 6,273.0 4,771.0 .0 11,044.0 6,273.0 4,771.0 .0 11,044.0

Discharge Pathway 3 - Non-weight bearing pathway 48.5 36.9 .0 85.4 48.5 36.9 .0 85.4

Community Hospital Link Workers 118.7 90.3 .0 209.0 118.7 90.3 .0 209.0

Primary Care Coordinators (NHS protected) 208.0 184.0 .0 392.0 208.0 184.0 .0 392.0

Assessment and Review 931.5 708.4 .0 1,639.9 931.5 708.4 .0 1,639.9

Improving Mental Health Discharge 154.3 117.3 .0 271.6 155.8 118.5 .0 274.3

Bradgate Unit - develop an integrated discharge pathway/team 2.3 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 40.0 40.0

Home First Programme Team 3.1 .0 .0 200.0 200.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Project Manager - Step Up/Step Down 3.3 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 25.0 25.0

Home First Commissioning Officer 3.4 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 25.0 25.0

HART Capacity 3.5 .0 .0 250.0 250.0 .0 .0 250.0 250.0

Integration of health & social care rehab/reablement services inc. 24 hour crisis response 3.6 .0 .0 150.0 150.0 .0 .0 250.0 250.0

Investment in telecare/telehealth to support ILT & Home First programmes 3.7 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 200.0 200.0

Provision of enhanced carer support services in line with new carers strategy 3.8 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 200.0 200.0

Development of interim bed capacity (D2A) 3.9 .0 .0 400.0 400.0 .0 .0 750.0 750.0

Stabilising the social care provider market .0 .0 3,044.0 3,044.0 .0 .0 7,201.5 7,201.5

Discharge Pathway 3 .0 .0 .0 .0 273.3 169.0 .0 442.3

Total Home First 15,874.3 12,304.3 4,444.0 32,622.5 16,141.3 12,468.6 9,041.5 37,651.4

BCF3 - Integrated Housing Support

Assistive Technology 7.4 .0 .0 760.0 760.0 .0 .0 680.0 680.0

Lightbulb - Housing Discharge Enabler 7.4 .0 .0 114.0 114.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Disabled Facilities Grants

* Blaby DC .0 .0 499.5 499.5 .0 .0 542.2 542.2

* Charnwood BC .0 .0 846.3 846.3 .0 .0 920.2 920.2

* Harborough BC .0 .0 385.7 385.7 .0 .0 418.5 418.5

* Hinckley and Bosworth BC .0 .0 439.7 439.7 .0 .0 472.8 472.8

* Melton BC .0 .0 259.4 259.4 .0 .0 281.5 281.5

* North West Leicestershire BC .0 .0 573.0 573.0 .0 .0 621.2 621.2

* Oadby and Wigston BC .0 .0 346.3 346.3 .0 .0 375.9 375.9

Sub Total Disabled Facilities Grants .0 .0 3,349.9 3,349.9 .0 .0 3,632.3 3,632.3

Total Integrated Housing Support .0 .0 4,223.9 4,223.9 .0 .0 4,312.3 4,312.3

BCF4 - Integrated Domiciliary Care - Help to Live at Home (HTLAH)

Community Based Review Team 234.3 178.2 .0 412.5 234.3 178.2 .0 412.5

Reablement - HART (Step Down) 420.3 329.7 .0 750.0 426.2 323.8 .0 750.0

Reablement - Independent Providers (Step Up) 241.9 189.7 .0 431.6 245.2 186.4 .0 431.6

Back Office Support 56.8 43.2 .0 100.0 56.8 43.2 .0 100.0

3 OT Posts & Specialised Equipment for double handed care to single handed care 1.2 .0 .0 220.0 220.0 .0 .0 50.0 50.0

Extend HTLAH Project 4.1 .0 .0 200.0 200.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Additional review capacity for HTLAH transitions 4.2 .0 .0 60.0 60.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Commissioning, QIT and brokerage 4.3 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Investment in domiciliary care market to increase capacity 6.8 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 1,000.0 1,000.0

Integrated Domiciliary Care 953.3 740.8 680.0 2,374.1 962.5 731.6 1,050.0 2,744.1

BCF5 - Integrated Locality Teams

Proactive Care Model 540.0 .0 .0 540.0 540.0 .0 .0 540.0

Integrated Care Teams .0 430.0 .0 430.0 .0 430.0 .0 430.0

Cardiorespiratory (LTC QIPP) 273.3 169.0 .0 442.3 .0 .0 .0 .0

LLR Community Stroke & Neurology Rehabilitation Service 174.4 103.9 .0 278.3 174.4 103.9 .0 278.3

Implementation of Care Coordinators for Integrated Locality Teams 2.1 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Integrated Locality Teams 987.7 702.9 100.0 1,790.6 714.4 533.9 100.0 1,348.3

BCF6 - Integrated Urgent Care

End of Life Night Nursing Service 142.0 109.7 .0 251.8 142.0 109.7 .0 251.8

Released funding for Crisis Response Service - Night Nursing Service 86.0 62.3 .0 148.2 86.0 62.3 .0 148.2

Crisis Response Service (CRS) - Social Care 321.3 244.3 .0 565.6 324.5 246.8 .0 571.3

Loughborough Super Hub 890.0 .0 .0 890.0 890.0 .0 .0 890.0

Reallocation of Rapid Assessment for OPU (ELRCCG) .0 776.0 .0 776.0 .0 776.0 .0 776.0

Home Visiting Service 1,278.5 622.5 .0 1,901.0 1,278.5 622.5 .0 1,901.0

Total Integrated Urgent Care 2,717.8 1,814.8 .0 4,532.6 2,721.0 1,817.3 .0 4,538.3

BCF7 - Integrated Points of Access

50% contribution to the phase 2 implementation costs 2.4 .0 .0 600.0 600.0 .0 .0 230.0 230.0

Total Integrated Points of Access .0 .0 600.0 600.0 .0 .0 230.0 230.0

BCF8 - Integrated Data

PI Care and Healthtrak 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5

Total Integrated Data 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5 36.1 27.4 .0 63.5

BCF9 - Integrated Commissioning

Improving Quality in Care Homes 288.7 219.5 .0 508.2 291.6 221.8 .0 513.4

Integrated approach to the commissioning of residential & nursing home provision 51.7 39.3 .0 91.0 6.8 5.2 .0 12.0

Care Homes - SME for Commissioning Group, support to EHCH bid. Proj Mgr Integrated Commissioning of Care Homes 3.2 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 50.0 50.0

Post Diagnostic Community & In-Reach Service for people affected by Dementia 203.7 162.5 .0 366.2 193.0 153.9 .0 346.9

LD Short Breaks (NHS protected) 588.0 256.0 .0 844.0 588.0 256.0 .0 844.0

Personal budget, Community Life Choices & Supported Living Review Team 1.1 .0 .0 850.0 850.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Multi-disciplinary review team for top 100 high cost placements 1.3 .0 .0 170.0 170.0 .0 .0 80.0 80.0

Reviewing working age mental health in residential care (s117) 1.4 .0 .0 70.0 70.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Support for new extra care facility 1.5 .0 .0 70.0 70.0 .0 .0 30.0 30.0

GP input into the Waterside extra care facility 16.7 .0 .0 16.7 50.0 .0 .0 50.0

CHC Commissioning capacity to support new CHC end to end process & ensure transfer to  assess D2A pathways 2.2 .0 .0 90.0 90.0 .0 .0 60.0 60.0

Resources to support commissioning for better outcomes 7.3 .0 .0 20.0 20.0 .0 .0 20.0 20.0

Total Integrated Commissioning 1,148.8 677.3 1,370.0 3,196.1 1,129.4 636.9 240.0 2,006.3

BCF10 - Transforming Care

Investment in Residential Care/Supported Living/Reablement Unit 5.1 .0 .0 250.0 250.0 .0 .0 750.0 750.0

Contribution to capital costs of Transforming Care accommodation costs 5.2 .0 .0 500.0 500.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Case Managers for Transforming Care to support inpatient reductions 5.3 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 25.0 25.0

Total Transforming Care .0 .0 800.0 800.0 .0 .0 775.0 775.0

BCF11 - BCF Enablers

Care Act Enablers 42.7 32.4 .0 75.1 42.7 32.4 .0 75.1

Integration Programme Management 197.1 149.7 52.6 399.4 199.0 151.2 53.1 403.3

Specialist OD support to develop TOM 6.1 .0 .0 30.0 30.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Implement Customer Portal 6.2 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

IT infrastructure to support integrated discharge team, self service and mobile working 6.3 .0 .0 150.0 150.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Apprenticeship scheme for gaps in market, e.g. home care 6.4 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Development of external workforce 6.5 .0 .0 65.0 65.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Additional HR/OD Support 6.6 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Support to develop PA market 6.7 .0 .0 50.0 50.0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Additional TU Business Consultancy Capacity 7.1 .0 .0 60.0 60.0 .0 .0 50.0 50.0

Additional Department Support for Transformation 7.2 .0 .0 100.0 100.0 .0 .0 100.0 100.0

Total BCF Enablers 239.8 182.1 657.6 1,079.5 241.7 183.6 303.1 728.4

Total BCF Schemes Spend (Recurrent) 22,051.3 16,520.8 3,349.9 41,922.0 22,041.0 16,471.2 3,632.3 42,144.5

Total ASC Allocation Spend (Non-Recurrent) & LCC recurrent .0 .0 9,525.6 9,525.6 .0 .0 12,419.6 12,419.6

TOTAL BCF SPEND 22,051.3 16,520.8 12,875.4 51,447.6 22,041.0 16,471.2 16,051.9 54,564.0

CONTINGENCY

CCG Contingency 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0

Risk Pool 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0 500.0 500.0 .0 1,000.0

Cost Improvement Target -840.6 -487.2 .0 -1,327.8 -434.3 -136.7 .0 -570.9

TOTAL CONTINGENCY 159.4 512.8 .0 672.2 565.7 863.4 .0 1,429.1

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 22,210.7 17,033.6 12,875.4 52,119.8 22,606.8 17,334.5 16,051.9 55,993.1

CCG BCF Minimum Funding Allocation 20,843.5 15,838.1 36,681.6 21,239.5 16,139.0 37,378.5

CCG BCF Additional Funding Allocation 1,367.3 1,195.5 2,562.7 1,367.3 1,195.5 2,562.7

iBCF Supplementary Funding (Social Care Allocation - Spring 2017) 9,525.6 9,525.6 6,837.6 6,837.6

iBCF (Autumn 2015 Spending Review Announcement) .0 .0 5,582.0 5,582.0

DFG Allocation 3,349.9 3,349.9 3,632.3 3,632.3

Total Allocation 22,210.7 17,033.6 12,875.4 52,119.8 22,606.8 17,334.5 16,051.9 55,993.1

Over/Underspend Commitment .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0 .0

Key

Improved Better Care Fund Spend

National Condition - Maintaining Social Care Spend

2017/18 SPENDING PLAN 2018/19 SPENDING PLAN

137

rpalmer_2
Typewritten Text
ANNEX 6



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 7 
 

 
 

139



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Annex 8 – BCF Refresh Engagement Activities 
 
The table below provides detail of activities undertaken between October 2016 and 
September 2017 evidencing how the BCF refresh has been undertaken, with the 
engagement of all stakeholders. 
 
Date Purpose Audience 

13
th
 Oct 16 Initial workshop to review the existing 

BCF schemes 
Integration Operational Group 

25
th
 Oct 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup 

28
th
 Oct 16 Review of Disabled Facilities Grants 

spend 
LCC and District Council Reps 

1
st
 Nov 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress Integration Executive 

1
st
 Nov 16 Review of Adult Social Care protection 

schemes 
ELRCCG, WLCCG & LCC Strategy and 
Finance Leads 

7
th
 Nov 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress LPT Executive Team 

8
th
 Nov 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress LPT Community Health Service – Senior 

Divisional Group 

8
th
 Nov 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress UHL Executive Strategy Board 

10
th
 Nov 16 Further evaluation of BCF schemes 

review. 
Integration Operational Group 

22
nd

 Nov 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup 

5
th
 Dec 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress ELRCCG Executive Management Team 

5
th
 Dec 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress WLCCG Corporate Management Team 

6
th
 Dec 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress ELRCCG Integrated Governance 

Committee 

6
th
 Dec 16 Update on progress of the BCF refresh Integration Executive 

7
th
 Dec 16 Briefing on BCF refresh progress Healthwatch Leicestershire 

8
th
 Dec 16 Further evaluation of BCF schemes 

review. 
Integration Operational Group 

19
th
 Dec 16 Detailed review of BCF spending plan for 

2017/18-2018/19 and further prioritisation. 

Decision on Risk Pool levels for 2017/18. 

Integration Finance & Performance 
Group 

20
th
 Dec 16 Review of progress on BCF refresh ASC Transformation Delivery Board 

3
rd

 Jan 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress Integration Executive 

5
th
 Jan 17 Presentation on planning guidance and 

approach to BCF refresh/emerging 
priorities to seek feedback from the 
H&WB Board 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

5
th
 Jan 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress District Councils Chief Executive 

6
th
 Jan 17 BCF Schemes Risk Impact Assessment 

Session 
ELRCCG, WLCCG and LCC BCF Leads 

19
th
 Jan 17 Workshop to review proposed schemes 

and investment levels within BCF plan 
Integration Executive Workshop 

26
th
 Jan 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress LCC Transformation Delivery Board 

7
th
 Feb 17 Update on final BCF submission ELRCCG Integrated Governance 

Committee 

7
th
 Feb 17 Assurance on final BCF submission Integration Executive 

13
th
 Feb 17 Update on final BCF submission ELRCCG Executive Management Team 

13
th
 Feb 17 Update on final BCF submission WLCCG Corporate Management Team 

141



2 
 

14
th
 Feb 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress UHL Executive Strategy Board 

14
th
 Feb 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress LPT Community Health Service – Senior 

Divisional Group  

15
th
 Feb 17 Update on BCF submission ASC Transformation Delivery Board 

20
th
 Feb 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress LPT Executive Team 

28
th
 Feb 17 Presentation on the BCF Refresh Process VAL Health and Social Care Forum 

28
th
 Feb 17 Review BCF Submission WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup 

1
st
 Mar 17 Assurance on the BCF submission Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

7
th
 Mar 17 Briefing on BCF refresh LCC Strategy & Coordination Group 

9
th
 Mar 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress District Councils Chief Executive 

9
th
 Mar 17 Briefing on BCF refresh progress All Member Briefing: Health & Care 

10
th
 Mar 17 Assurance on the BCF submission LCC Cabinet 

14
th
 Mar 17 Sign-off of draft BCF submission ELRCCG Governing Body 

14
th
 Mar 17 Sign off of draft BCF submission WLCCG Board 

15
th
 Mar 17 Update on BCF submission A&E Delivery Board 

16
th
 Mar 17 Final sign-off of draft BCF submission.  Health and Wellbeing Board 

29
th
 Mar 17 Update on Integration Programme LCC A&C Senior Leadership Team 

4
th
 Apr 17 Briefing on BCF Refresh and iBCF 

allocation 
Integration Executive 

5
th
 Apr 17 Briefing on iBCF allocation A&E Delivery Board 

10
th
 Apr 17 Update on iBCF allocation ELRCCG Executive Management Team 

10
th
 Apr 17 Update on iBCF allocation WLCCG Corporate Management Team 

11
th
 Apr 17 Briefing on iBCF allocation ELRCCG Governing Body 

11
th
 Apr 17 Briefing on iBCF allocation WLCCG Board 

21
st
 Apr 17 Detailed review of iBCF expenditure plan ELRCCG, WLCCG, LCC ASC, LPT and 

UHL representatives 

24
th
 Apr 17 Review of iBCF expenditure plan ELRCCG and WLCCG Finance Directors 

25
th
 Apr 17 Report on iBCF plan for local agreement  WLCCG Finance & Planning Subgroup 

2
nd

 May 17 Report on iBCF plan for local agreement ELRCCG Integrated Governance 
Committee 

12
th
 May 17 Review of BCF expenditure plan Integrated Finance & Performance Group 

19
th
 May 17 Update on Integration Programme Leicestershire Fire & Rescue Service 

Executive Team 

30
th
 May 17 Briefing on BCF plan and iBCF LCC Strategy & Coordination Group 

12
th
 Jun 17 General programme update & briefing on 

BCF refresh and iBCF plan 
LPT Executive Team 

13
th
 Jun 17 General programme update & briefing on 

BCF refresh and iBCF plan 
UHL Executive Strategy Board 

19
th
 Jun 17 Assurance on the iBCF allocation and 

update on BCF plan submission 
Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

22
nd

 Jun 17 Assurance on the iBCF allocation and 
update on BCF plan submission 

Health & Wellbeing Board 

23
rd

 Jun 17 Assurance on the iBCF allocation and 
update on BCF plan submission 

LCC Cabinet 

4
th
 Jul 17 Overview of BCF Planning Guidance and 

next steps 
Integration Executive 

19
th
 Jul 17 BCF DTOC Target Working Session ELRCCG, WLCCG, LCC ASC & Mids 

and Lancs representatives 

20
th
 Jul 17 Overview and update on BCF Submission Health & Wellbeing Board 

142



3 
 

1
st
 Aug 17 Review of BCF narrative plan, 

expenditure plan and metrics 
Integration Executive 

8
th
 Aug 17 Sign-off of draft BCF Submission ELRCCG Governing Body 

8
th
 Aug 17 Sign-off of draft BCF Submission WLCCG Board 

14
th
 Aug 17 Briefing on BCF Submission LPT Executive Team 

16
th
 Aug 17 Review of BCF DTOC target A&E Delivery Board 

17
th
 Aug 17 Update on BCF Submission LCC Corporate Management Team 

18
th
 Aug 17 Final review of BCF expenditure plan Integration Finance & Performance 

Group 

7
th
 Sept 17 Final sign-off of BCF submission Integration Executive (on behalf of Health 

& Wellbeing Board) 

 

143



This page is intentionally left blank



Waiting

In Progress

On Hold ASC ref Lead Governance 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Delayed

Completed

Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Programme Management

Better Care Fund Plan and Reporting

BCF Plan Submission Cheryl Davenport Health and Wellbeing Board

Update on progress to LCC Cabinet CCG Boards 10

Sign-off by ELRCCG Board Integration Executive 14

Sign-off by WLCCG Board 14

Final sign-off of draft BCF plan by Health and Wellbeing Board 16

Develop and agree Improved BCF (IBCF) spending plan

Review final BCF Plan (including IBCF spending plan) - Integrated Finance & Performance Group 12

Review of final BCF Plan (including IBCF spending plan) - Integration Executive 23

Report to Cabinet on BCF Plan 23

Assurance on BCF plan from NHS England

BCF Planning Guidance Released 4

Draft DTOC Target Submission 19

Sign-off by WLCCG and ELRCCG Boards 8

Resubmit DTOC trajectory to NHSE 15

Review draft BCF Plan in line with the national guidance and KLOE document

Final sign-off of BCF Plan by Integration Executive 7

BCF Plan submission to NHS England 11

Assurance of submission of BCF Plan to Health and Wellbeing Board 21

BCF Quarterly Reporting (timetable from NHS England pending) Jude Emberson Health and Wellbeing Board

Expected release date of National Report Template from National Team Integration Executive N/A

Integrated Finance and Performance Group 10 12 18 17 16

Sign-off of quarterly submission 23 N/A

Submission to NHS England 3 31 N/A

IBCF Quarterly Reporting to DCLG Jon Wilson ASC DMT/LCC s151 Officer

Expected release date of National Report Template

Submission to NHS England 21 20 19 20

Financial Management and Planning Phil D'Mello Integration Finance and

2016/17 outturn position Performance Group

2017/18 monitoring reporting

Contingency assessment

Review of BCF spend for 2018/19

Section 75 Agreement Phil D'Mello Integration Finance and

Revise BCF section 75 agreement Performance Group

Sign-off of BCF section 75 agreement

Develop overarching section 75 agreement

Programme and Project Risk Log Jude Emberson Integration Executive

Full refresh of programme risk register Integration Finance and

Corporate risk register update (LCC and CCG) Performance Group

Communications Plan for Integration Programme Sally Kilbourne Integration Executive

Develop and approve 2017/18 communications plan

BCF Plan 2017-19

BCF plan on a page - revised for 2017/18

Health and Care Integration Website

Full review of website to align with BCF Plan for 2017/18

Ongoing updates of website

Integration programme monthly stakeholder bulletins

Two years comms of Better Care Fund progress

Ongoing social media @LeicsHWB

Targeted communication campaigns/new items

Carers Health and Wellbeing Service Comms

Prepare and launch Leicestershire self-care campaign (Health and Wellbeing Board) 

Reducing loneliness campaign

Launch of First Contact Plus to residents

Falls - LLR wide information, advice and guidance campaign

Integrated Points of Access - August gateway review - comms support linked to design on new 

Produce falls video

Produce hospital housing enabler video

All Members Briefings 9 13

Evaluation Plan for 2017/18 Jude Emberson Integration Executive

Review evaluation plans for 2017/18

Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Jude Emberson Integration Executive

Annual review for LCC A&C Department Equalities Group 14

Six-monthly review for LCC A&C Department Equalities Group

Performance Framework Carrie Pailthorpe Integration Executive

Redesign performance framework

Key

A&C Dept. Equalities Board

CCG Corporate leads

1

145

rpalmer_3
Typewritten Text
ANNEX 9



Waiting

In Progress

On Hold ASC ref Lead Governance 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Delayed

Completed

Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Key

Sign-off new performance framework (Integration Executive)

Quarterly reporting - performance framework

Delayed Transfer of Care Performance

Undertake a self-assessment against the CQC methodology for Local Area Reviews

Report findings from self-assessment to Integration Executive

BCF1 - Unified Prevention Offer

Development of Social Prescribing Model UPB Task & Finish Group Unified Prevention Board

Agree definition

Propose model

Agree model at UPB

Workshop to agree what should be included and how to measure

Design Target Framework

Agree Target Framework at UPB

Map outcomes within framework

Sign-off at UPB 12

Produce prevention strategy 

Sign-off prevention strategy at Health & Wellbeing Board 21

Outcomes Framework Development UPB Project Manager Unified Prevention Board

Develop outcomes framework for Unified Prevention Board (UPB)

Identify & agree overarching outcomes for UPB

Map & create framework for reporting overarching outcomes

Proposal to UPB

Update to Health and Wellbeing Board on progress 20 16

Unified Prevention Strategy

Keep Well

Identify individual project

Understand current delivery

Identify duplication and/or gaps

Devise implementation plan

Deliver project

Keep Safe

Identify individual project

Understand current delivery

Identify duplication and/or gaps

Devise implementation plan

Deliver project

Stay Independent

Identify individual project

Understand current delivery

Identify duplication and/or gaps

Devise implementation plan

Deliver project

Enjoy Life

Identify individual project

Understand current delivery

Identify duplication and/or gaps

Devise implementation plan

Deliver project

Identified "Quick Wins" from 1st February workshop UPB Project Manager Unified Prevention Board

Information Sharing agreement across UPB partners

Linking STP Prevention Workstream to UPB

Map all areas of STP for prevention

Develop consistent approach and communication of the Tier 0 and Tier 1  Prevention Triangle across partners

Task and finish group to develop a single partnership offer for schools information for 2017/18 academic year

Identify priorities and phasing to ensure delivery in short, medium and long term against agreed priorities

First Contact Plus Adrian Allen Unified Prevention Board

Service Review

Development of Outcomes Framework for Prevention and Social Prescribing Interventions (LGA Grant) Andrea Baker Unified Prevention Board

Scoping and Start Up

Implementation

Evaluation

Dissemination

Prevention Consultancy National Project Andrea Baker Unified Prevention Board

Scope and understand requirements

BCF2 - Home First (STP workstream) Paul Sharpe Home First Board 

2

146



Waiting

In Progress

On Hold ASC ref Lead Governance 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Delayed

Completed

Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Key

Sign-off PID and PDP Rutland Health & Wellbeing Board

Define governance and leadership responsibilities and sign-off TORs

Define and confirm programme structure support

Baseline review of all current reablement spend, activity and outcomes

Further milestones to be confirmed post baseline review

Carers Services Amanda Price Carers Delivery Board

Decommissioning plan for Carers Health and Wellbeing Service

End date of Carers Health and Wellbeing Service

Appointment of Lead

Health and Social Care Protocol Training Carmel O'Brien TBC

Commissioning intensions for April 2018 onwards agreed 

Seek clarity on delivery lead / governance for future plans of Health and Social Care Protocol 

Integrated Discharge Claire O'Donohue Home First Programme Board

Integrated In-Reach Team commences Discharge Working Group 

Primary Care Coordinators (NHS protection)

Decision on staffing levels for 2017/18 LLR Senior Leadership Team

Depending on proposed option - implications for any redesign for 2018/19

Improving Mental Health Discharge

Further information on the metrics associated with this service will be provided to CCGs in Q4 2016/17

To be reviewed as part of the overall Mental Health pathway work within the STP Home First workstream (timelines to be confirmed)

BCF3 - Integrated Housing Support

Assistive Technology (AT) 7.4 Heather Pick Unified Prevention Board

Confirm the saving assumptions for BCF for 2017/18 and 2018/19 Early Help & Prevention Board

Develop the programme plan to review the model for Leicestershire Carole Lomas/Quin Quinney

AT in Care Homes project - see falls plan (above) for detail

Lightbulb Programme 7.4 Teresa Neal Lightbulb Programme Board

Staffing Housing & Health Members Advisory

Preparation, including recruitment, development of training programme and office base set up Group

Hub and locality teams in place and staff start new job roles District Council & LCC Cabinets

IT and Information Governance

Legal Agreements

Districts to quantify & provide detail of any additional requirements/functions to be provided by LB in that district

Districts to confirm intentions as to who will employ locality team

Scope key components, draft and sign-off agreements by partners

Appropriate agreements in place to support Lightbulb delivery arrangements

Communications Plan  

Develop and implement communications for partners

Develop and implement communications for public

Processes and Performance

Develop processes/service standards and end to end pathway for Lightbulb

Monitor/review early implementation of new processes (phase 1) & amend to support full roll-out

Establish reporting requirements for Lightbulb & monitor as part of early roll-out

Dashboard, data collection & reporting mechanisms in place to support full roll-out

Phase 1 / Early Roll-Out

Identify district(s) area for early roll-out

Confirm scope of phase 1/early roll-out service

Identify staff requirements and resources & implement training

Confirm IT, IG, legal & process workstreams are sufficiently progressed/in place to support early roll-out

Implement new model

Monitor/review elements of new model as per other workstreams (performance, process, staff, etc.)

Capture and implement lessons learnt from phase 1 roll-out

Review staffing arrangements for full roll-out post Sept in line with outcome of staffing workstream

Phase 1 roll-out has informed full implementation & is part of countywide Lightbulb service

Undertake Programme evaluation

Disabled Facilities Grants Cheryl Davenport District Council Executive

Preparatory work and forecasting with District Councils Integration Executive

Confirmation of 2017/18 allocations

Implement quarterly reporting 

Refresh DFG quarterly forecasting for 2018/19

BCF4 - Integrated Domiciliary Care - Help to Live at Home (HTLAH)

Help to Live at Home

Review of CCG reablement costings

Reprocurement of vacant lots

Tender evaluation

Award contracts

3

147



Waiting

In Progress

On Hold ASC ref Lead Governance 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Delayed

Completed

Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Key

Mobilisation

BCF5 - Integrated Locality Teams (STP workstream) Louise Young Integrated Locality Team Prog Board

Sign-off PID and PDP Leics Health and Wellbeing Board

Define governance and leadership responsibilities and sign-off TORs

LLR model for Integrated Locality Teams

Development of LLR model for Integrated Locality Teams

Production of "How to Guide"

Confirmation of case management model for LLR

Review Integrated Care/Proactive Care investment/model and redesign LLR approach

Falls Pathway Andrea Baker LLR Falls Steering Group

Phase 1 Mobilisation Integrated Locality Team

Business case approval to change pathway and redirect funds accordingly

Recruit to triage and assessment posts

Undertake gap analysis of prevention activities

Undertake changes necessary following evaluation of triage and care home processes

Embed the triage and assessment process into business as usual

All referrals pass through triage from 1st April

GP referrals on Prism on appropriate falls

All "old referrals" are triaged prior to appointment date

Referral routes to existing prevention activities in place

Implement and manage change across stakeholders

Training of therapy staff, primary sector, community health in new pathway and approach to falls

Phase 2 - Implementation

eFRAT phase 3 developments

Confirm specification

Procure developer

Finalise training plan and long term dependencies

Agree action plan and delivery timetable for roll-out

Dedicated care home workplan developed following analysis of accelerator trial

Training of non-falls sector staff in falls prevention and management

Weekly monitoring of activity to identify and resolve issues

Manage to go live eFRAT phase 3

Development of single trusted Therapist assessment across partners

Further development of prevention programme - short, medium and longer term strategy

Plans for prevention and post-prevention activity in place following gap analysis

EMAHSN Falls Bid

Develop and submit EMAHSN proposal

Confirmation if bid successful

Scope plan for implementation with EMAHSN and industry leads

Go live at demonstrator sites

Assistive Technology (AT) in Care Homes project

Workshop to map single therapy assessment across partners

Identify plan to roll out across all homes across County, by established priorities

Work with Leicester Ageing Together to enable AT in City Care Homes to begin

Identify final option for roll out across Rutland

Single AT assessment process, including for AT, in place

Implementation of Care Coordinators for Integrated Locality Teams 2.1

Pilot Care Coordinators through testbeds for ILTs (timeline TBC)

BCF6 - Integrated Urgent Care (STP workstream) Tamsin Hooton A&E Delivery Board

Implement new urgent care services

Crisis Response Service - Social Care Heather Pick ASC TDBD

Review the model and investment 

BCF7 - Integrated Points of Access (IPOA) Mark Dewick IPOA Board

Design workshops & agree outputs partners

Impact Assessed Workshop Outputs against each POA existing ways of working

Agree standardisation and development plan with each POA 

Gateway Review

Present draft gateway review to Programme Board for approval

Finalise gateway review methodology incorporating PB requirements

Conduct gateway review

Programme Board receive gateway review and sign-off

All relevant stakeholder organisations receive gateway review and confirm ongoing organisational commitment

Programme Board receive stakeholder governance progress report & redefine phase 2 implementation programme

Organisational Structure and Roles

4

148



Waiting

In Progress

On Hold ASC ref Lead Governance 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Delayed

Completed

Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Key

Expected date for all possible Standardisation Phase alignment to target organisational structure & roles completed

Expected date for remaining alignment to target Organisation Roles completed

Expected date for remaining alignment to target Organisation Structure completed

Process Catalogue

Design new Out of Hours process maps and outcomes with Operational Board

Expected date for all possible Standardisation Phase alignment to target Process Catalogue

Channel Access Approach & Customer Journey

Implement new Out of Hours service model

Standardised 24/7 channel access enabled

Engage with current sources of fax referrals to arrange channel halt

Fax referrals ceased

Assist in development of logical algorithms for care pathways to be used in Decision Support Tool

Coordinate ICT workstream to identify Standardisation phase of ICT activities in POAs

Adopt new technology

Contract / Supplier Management

Consolidate audit results from POAs status of current supplier contracts

Consider supplier contracts statuses & identify opportunities for efficiencies

Estates

Develop criteria for target model Estate

Handover criteria to Estates workstream to find appropriate location / solution

Sign-off appropriate Estate location / solution

Begin work with Operations Board to prepare for co-location of POAs

Move to new location

BCF8 - Integrated Data

PI Care and Healthtrak Caroline Boucher LLR BI Group

Review utilisation of PI tool delivery 2016/17 Cheryl Davenport

Report to SLT a commissioning approach for 2017/18

Refresh PI Contract

Market research and procurement approach for 2018/19

Report to SLT a commissioning approach for 2018/19

Detail approach for 2018/19

Obtain approval on way forward for 2018/19

DARS (Data Access Request Service) Application

IG Leads to send in all details of IG toolkit and data protection registration

Agree revised wording for privacy notices to go on each organisations website

Investigate use of Open Source pseudonymiser for ASC

Submit DARS application

Response from IGARD (max of 60 day turnaround)

Start organisation data flows to PI Care and Healthtrak (if approved)

BCF9 - Integrated Commissioning

Integrated approach to the commissioning of residential & nursing home provision Amanda Price Nursing and Residential Board

Joint Commissioning of placements / fee reviews

Scoping work

Paper to Integration Executive to agree future options

Next Steps TBC after meeting

Post Diagnostic Support & Community In-Reach Service for People affected by Dementia

Development and sign-off of business case

Review of Memory Support Co-ordination Service (Leicestershire Community Service)

Review of Leicester City community service

Formal notification of review to provider(s)

Report to governance structures seeking endorsement of integrated approach & engagement proposals

Targeted engagement with current service users

Provider/market engagement

Prepare draft services specification

Prepare of reports & report to governance structures

Report to LCC Cabinet for approval on joint commissioning arrangements, incl decision on Leic City Council being lead commissioner 10

Finalise service specification

Section 75 / Working Arrangements Agreement

Finalise procurement processes and evaluation methodology

Finalise contract document (ahead of procurement)

Invitation to tender

Tender evaluation

Contract award

Standstill period 

ICT

5

149



Waiting

In Progress

On Hold ASC ref Lead Governance 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Delayed

Completed

Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Key

Confirmation of award

Develop and agree exit strategy with current provider

Transition to new model

New service begins 2

BCF Enablers

Summary Care Record

Project Board formed Claire Sherman IM&T Workstream

ICP template developed

S1 ICP template rolled out

EMIS ICP template rolled out

Template change request process in place

Promotional events carried out

Promotional materials created

Frailty template updated (S1 & EMIS)

Registration and consent templates updated

ICP template version 2 (S1 & EMIS)

Phase 2 task & finish group formed

Deliverables agreed

SPN headings and process signed off

Implement SPN process

Identify blockages and barriers to SCR use

Remove blockages and barriers to SCR use

Phase 3 task & finish group formed

Social care staff groups identified

RA process in place

Suitable network installed

Training and roll-out

6

150



Leicestershire Better Care Fund Programme Risk Register

 

R
is

k
 N

u
m

b
e

r

Risk Description: describe the cause 

(hazard),  and effect (risk)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t 
S

c
o

re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 L

e
v

e
l

D
a
te

 A
d

d
e

d
 t

o
 R

is
k

 R
e

g
is

te
r

Mitigating Actions/Controls Required Responsible Person

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 M

o
v

e
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 l
a

s
t 

a
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

◄
►

/ 
▼

 /
 

▲

R
is

k
 S

ta
tu

s

BCF1

If Health and Care partners fail to deliver 

an integrated care programme, within the 

national guidance, financial envelope and 

key milestones of the agreed BCF plan, 

then it could lead to the non-achievement 

of a number of national conditions and 

performance thresholds which could result 

in elements of the BCF funding being 

withheld.

3 3 9 High Sep-14

Well established multiagency governance structure since 2014.

Monthly reporting, including rigorous performance reporting, on overall 

progress into governance structure at operational and strategic level.

Consolidation of reporting into STP PMO for LLR-wide assurance.

Section 75 agreement refreshed at least annually and reviewed on a quarterly 

basis by the IFPG.

Quarterly reporting via NHSE on national template for BCF assurance.

Detailed programme plan - reviewed monthly.

Evaluation of BCF schemes.

Proactive comms plan in place with dedicated microsite for Health and Care 

Integration.

Wide ranging engagement plan undertaken for the BCF plan across all 

partners.

Alignment of the key risk(s) into LCC and  NHS partners risk registers.

Cheryl Davenport 2 3 6 ▼ Open

BCF2

If BCF delivery costs are greater than 

estimated, or reviews of schemes do not 

identify sufficient financial benefits,  then 

the programme will not achieve the cost 

improvement plan required.

3 3 9 High Apr-17

£1m efficiency target set for 2017/18 BCF Plan. 

Agreement reached during refresh as to where the saving should be made.

Maximise use of the ASC allocation in support of financial pressures.

Good level of confirm and challenge into financial assumptions across 

partners, review of Business Cases and investment proposals on a 

multiagency basis.

Proactive financial management across BCF schemes monthly, and report 

progress to the IFPG quarterly including performance against efficiency target.

Monthly summary provided via Programme Highlight Report to Operational 

Group and IE.

Liaise with Project Leads regarding progress on programme reviews (e.g. 

Home First Project Lead on the baseline review of all current reablement 

spend, activity and outcomes).

Annual refresh of BCF plan with strong focus spending plan.

Re-profile spending plan where applicable within service lines to better match 

milestones if any significant variances occur.

Agreement in section 75 to be able to off-set an overspend in one scheme 

against underspends in other schemes.

Engagement as needed in internal/external audit processes and reviews to 

test controls and improve processes based on recommendations where 

applicable.

Cheryl Davenport 3 3 9 ◄► Open

C:\Users\rpalmer\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\QM8QXE7M\Appendix 10 - BCF Risk Register\BCF Risk Register1 of 5 12/09/17

151

rpalmer_4
Typewritten Text
ANNEX 10



R
is

k
 N

u
m

b
e

r

Risk Description: describe the cause 

(hazard),  and effect (risk)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t 
S

c
o

re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 L

e
v

e
l

D
a
te

 A
d

d
e

d
 t

o
 R

is
k

 R
e

g
is

te
r

Mitigating Actions/Controls Required Responsible Person

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 M

o
v

e
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 l
a

s
t 

a
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

◄
►

/ 
▼

 /
 

▲

R
is

k
 S

ta
tu

s

BCF3

If national policy changes to the BCF 

source/type/amount of funds then the BCF 

plan may need to be significantly 

amended, e.g. the Improved BCF and 

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 

allocations, etc.

3 2 6 Medium Feb-16

Close monitoring of national policy and allocations.

Engagement and reporting via LCC Cabinet and other partners.

Early & regular engagement with Districts on planning assumptions from 

2017, and quarterly monitoring of spend implemented from April 2017.

Early engagement/agreement with NHS partners on the new ASC allocation 

to ensure maximum effect.

Mitigation via LCC for the DFG 2016/17 financial pressures for 2017/18 

affecting the BCF plan. This mitigation has been applied on a non-recurrent 

basis. Recurrent solution is part of the BCF efficiency target.

Development of the Lightbulb business case and service roll-out targets 

greater efficiencies from DFG processes/allocations across Leicestershire.

Proactive management of political and reputational impact of DFG allocations 

across officers & members in two tier system.

Approval of Lightbulb business case via LCC and Districts.

Cheryl Davenport/

Jon Wilson
3 2 6 ◄►

BCF4

If ASC protection levels are not sufficient 

or demand outstrips assumptions then it 

could impact delivery against the BCF 

national conditions and metrics.

2 3 6 Medium Sep-14

Annual refresh, and review with partners, of ASC protection allocation to meet 

BCF guidance and stakeholder requirements.

Ensure elements for ASC protection map clearly to the conditions/metrics in 

the BCF and STP workstreams and that the components have clear, 

measurable benefits.

Ongoing analysis between ASC MTFS assumptions and the BCF Plan.

Any residual risk/shortfall identified to be addressed in the wider County 

Council MTFS planning process through review of growth and savings 

requirements.

Using ASC allocation to maximum effect to support the ASC strategy based 

on prevent, delay, reduce & demand.

ASC Transformation Board in place to govern delivery of MTFS savings and 

transformation work linked to the strategy.

LCC risk pool for HTLAH savings assumptions linked to the MTFS.

Capacity and demand modelling within STP to improve service and financial 

planning assumptions for ASC.

LLR Urgent Care action plan & dashboard in place which is tracking the 

impact on ASC against key metrics.

New workstream of STP focused on discharge, recovery and reablement 

(Home First).

Application of the PI tool and simulation modelling to key ASC activities.

New LCC BI strategy focuses on providing improved analytical tools and 

outputs to support costing, activity modelling, and performance management 

Cheryl Davenport/

Jon Wilson
2 3 6 ◄► Open

C:\Users\rpalmer\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\QM8QXE7M\Appendix 10 - BCF Risk Register\BCF Risk Register2 of 5 12/09/17

152



R
is

k
 N

u
m

b
e

r

Risk Description: describe the cause 

(hazard),  and effect (risk)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t 
S

c
o

re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 L

e
v

e
l

D
a
te

 A
d

d
e

d
 t

o
 R

is
k

 R
e

g
is

te
r

Mitigating Actions/Controls Required Responsible Person

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 M

o
v

e
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 l
a

s
t 

a
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

◄
►

/ 
▼

 /
 

▲

R
is

k
 S

ta
tu

s

BCF5

If schemes in place aimed towards 

achieving the four BCF outcome metrics 

(non-elective admissions, delayed transfer 

of care, permanent admissions to care 

homes, reablement 91 days post 

discharge) do not have the level of impact 

expected then this could result in:

* CCGs being unable to release the 

planned level of funding during the 

financial year

* providers not being able to extract the 

required level of capacity from the system.

* ASC being unable to deliver 

transformation and savings plan.

* Leicestershire BCF Plan being escalated 

upwards to NHSE.

3 3 9 High Sep-14

Set realistic stretch projections on outcome metrics in consultation with key 

partners.

KPIs beneath the main metrics to seek further assurance on delivery/impact 

of specific interventions with dedicated analyst time to support data capture, 

analysis and reporting.

Ongoing review of the impact of individual BCF schemes against BCF metrics 

and trajectories, and an evaluation programme.

New performance dashboard (April 2017) to provide further insight for 

decision making purposes.

Challenge given to provide assurance on progress.

Annual process for reviewing the addition/exclusion of BCF schemes as part 

of BCF refresh process.

Evidence base/analysis for proof of concept/business case development to be 

linked more clearly to trajectory assumptions.

Clear line of sight from BCF plan to acute contract activity and financial 

assumptions/STP capacity planning.

Scenarios addressed in risk sharing agreements where applicable.

(Commissioner only) IFPG in place to govern delivery of s75 pooled budget 

and performance management on quarterly basis locally, and  in support of 

NHSE quarterly returns.

Alignment with STP reporting dashboards, e.g. logic models for Home First 

and Integrated Teams, new DTOC dashboard.

Refresh LLR DTOC assessment (high impact changes tool).

Cheryl Davenport 3 2 6 ▼ Open

BCF6

If the BCF plan is not aligned with the LLR-

wide strategic programmes (including the 

STP programme) then it could potentially 

result in duplication or an uncoordinated 

programme across partners.

2 3 6 Medium Sep-14

As part of the BCF refresh, complete mapping exercise to ensure that key 

components are mapped and governed within the STP programme where 

appropriate.

Clear programme plan and project roles for delivering service lines within the 

BCF, which includes matrix working with STP workstream programme leads 

where applicable.

Representation from the LA on the LLR SLT and STP workstreams (where 

appropriate).

STP updates included in All Member Briefings on a regular basis.

HWBB has a 'confirm and challenge' role for two themes of the STP 

(Integrated Teams and Community Hospitals), and receive six-monthly 

updates on the STP programme as a whole.

LCC Cabinet engaged in the development of the STP 5 year plan.

Ensuring that the Integrated Points of Access Programme is formally adopted 

into the STP.

Cheryl Davenport 1 3 3 ▼ Open

C:\Users\rpalmer\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\QM8QXE7M\Appendix 10 - BCF Risk Register\BCF Risk Register3 of 5 12/09/17

153



R
is

k
 N

u
m

b
e

r

Risk Description: describe the cause 

(hazard),  and effect (risk)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t 
S

c
o

re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 L

e
v

e
l

D
a
te

 A
d

d
e

d
 t

o
 R

is
k

 R
e

g
is

te
r

Mitigating Actions/Controls Required Responsible Person

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 M

o
v

e
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 l
a

s
t 

a
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

◄
►

/ 
▼

 /
 

▲

R
is

k
 S

ta
tu

s

BCF7

If the overall BCF plan and individual BCF 

schemes within it, are not sufficiently or 

robustly planned, and risks are not 

effectively managed, then the programme 

may result in:

* overspend on the BCF spending plan, 

and non-achievement of saving targets.

* delays/slippage on delivering the BCF 

programme.

* commissioning decisions not supporting 

the integration programme objectives.

* lack of contingency plan/effective 

alternative schemes if parts of the BCF 

plan is failing.

* inadequate change control process in 

place.

3 3 9 High Mar-17

Structured approach to annual refresh of the BCF Plan.

High level & detailed programme plans.

Expenditure realistically profiled to plan.

Contingency agreement per the pooled budget.

Governance via Integration Programme governance.

Operational Group will ensure challenge is applied to all phasing of the 

schemes to ensure that implementation happens in the right order.

Monthly highlight report monitor progress of the overall programme.

Proactive integration/BCF team, working at pace, maintaining excellent 

relationship management with all agencies, chasing delivery of actions and 

managing the BCF budget on a daily/weekly/monthly basis - all delivered via 

matrix working across the health and care system.

Dependencies being mapped with STP delivery plans e.g. digital roadmap, 

Urgent Care, Integrated Locality Teams and Home First workstreams.

Process in place for tracking efficiency programme.

Process in place for new funding requests which requires detailed information 

on scheme.

Full business case development for significant schemes, to be signed-off 

through relevant governance routes.

Annual development session of the HWBB to check alignment of 

commissioning intentions across partners.

Cheryl Davenport 3 3 9 ◄► Open

BCF8

Lack of visibility/engagement across wider 

stakeholders including the public and 

VCS.

2 2 4 Medium Sep-14

Comms & engagement plan in place. Annual refresh and reviewed quarterly.

Extensive engagement during BCF refresh - evidenced in annual 

submissions.

Regular stakeholder bulletins, All Member briefings & engagement with 

partner organisations including LCC, Districts, CCGs, UHL, LPT, Healthwatch 

etc.

BCF Plan public summary, plan on a page.

Dedicated comms resource for the BCF. Also same comms resource for STP 

programmes (e.g. comms resource for Home First, Integrated Teams and 

Integrated Points of Access).

Microsite in place for online presence.

Leading communications and engagement for key elements of the STP – e.g. 

integrated locality teams.

More targeted engagement planned with front-line staff for 2017/18.

Dissemination programme for showcasing local practice regionally and 

nationally e.g. via ADASS, BCF national channels and 

webinar/conference/academic channels e.g. cascade of SIMTEGR8 outputs.

Cheryl Davenport 1 2 2 ▼ Open

C:\Users\rpalmer\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\QM8QXE7M\Appendix 10 - BCF Risk Register\BCF Risk Register4 of 5 12/09/17

154



R
is

k
 N

u
m

b
e

r

Risk Description: describe the cause 

(hazard),  and effect (risk)

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

Im
p

a
c

t 
S

c
o

re

O
ri

g
in

a
l 

R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 L

e
v

e
l

D
a
te

 A
d

d
e

d
 t

o
 R

is
k

 R
e

g
is

te
r

Mitigating Actions/Controls Required Responsible Person

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 I
m

p
a

c
t 

S
c

o
re

R
e
v

ie
w

e
d

 R
is

k
 r

a
ti

n
g

R
is

k
 M

o
v

e
m

e
n

t 
fr

o
m

 l
a

s
t 

a
s

s
e

s
s

m
e

n
t 

◄
►

/ 
▼

 /
 

▲

R
is

k
 S

ta
tu

s

BCF9

If there is insufficient capacity or expertise 

available within the Integration Programme 

Team, then it could impact on the delivery 

of the BCF programme.

2 2 4 Medium Sep-14

BCF programme plan in place.

Operational Group meet monthly to ensure detailed oversight & remedial 

action where necessary.

Project Managers assigned to individual schemes where applicable with 

matrix working into STP workstreams.

Refresh of staff resource plan factored into the BCF refresh process annually.

Interim resource supporting the delivery of key areas of work where necessary 

(e.g. falls)

STP workstreams are being populated with programme resources, STP PMO 

resourcing TBC in early 2017/18.

Reviewed business continuity arrangements of BCF/Integration team based at 

LCC.

Weekly team meetings to manage resource and delivery within the integration 

team.

6 month planning sessions for the integration/BCF programme plan to ensure 

forward resource planning and remedial action as needed.

Link in with STP enabling workstreams, e.g. OD, IM&T, etc.

LCC hosted programme team is well supported by LCC corporate 

departments and technical expertise (e.g. procumbent).

Cheryl Davenport 2 2 4 ◄► Open

BCF10

If the rate of improvement for the BCF 

DTOC target is not achieved within the 

timescales agreed with NHS England, 

then a proportion of the Improved BCF 

funding for 2018/19 may be withheld from 

the Local Authority.

3 4 12 High Jul-17

LLR DTOC trajectory of improvement has been aligned across the different national 

targets.

Improvement to the required level set out by March 2018, in line with agreed target 

with LLR A&E Delivery Board.

LLR self-assessment completed against the Department of Health's 8 high impact 

changes for managing transfers of care.

LLR action plan to improve DTOC focuses on remaining gaps and is already 

underway.

New LLR DTOC dashboard includes metrics and provides weekly performance data.

IBCF and BCF funds have been directed to priority improvements across acute, non-

acute and out of county care settings.

Adult Social Care priority actions to improve DTOC have been refreshed for 2017/18, 

and these are well underway, with a particular focus on non-acute and out of county 

settings.

Leicestershire to use the CQC DTOC assessment framework by December 2017 - for 

further assistance.

Integration Executive to review the implications of any further guidance on how IBCF 

monies might be withheld in the case of poor DTOC performance (when known).

Monthly review of DTOC progress/performance and updates to risk register 

accordingly.

Cheryl Davenport 3 4 12 ◄► Open

0 0

C:\Users\rpalmer\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\QM8QXE7M\Appendix 10 - BCF Risk Register\BCF Risk Register5 of 5 12/09/17

155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

ANNEX 11 LEICESTERSHIRE BCF MAPPING TABLE (AUGUST 2017) 

BCF THEME LLR STP  WORKSTREAM BCF NATIONAL CONDITION BCF METRIC 

UNIFIED PREVENTION 

 

PREVENTION 

INTEGRATED TEAMS 

 REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS DUE TO FALLS* 

(*LOCAL METRIC) 

HOME FIRST HOME FIRST HIGH IMPACT CHANGES FOR 

TRANSFERS OF CARE 

MAINTAIN SOCIAL CARE 

NHS COMMISSIONED OUT OF 

HOSPITAL SERVICES 

7 DAY SERVICES 

IMPROVING TRANSFERS OF CARE 

(DTOC) 

POSITIVE IMPACT OF REABLEMENT 

AT 90 DAYS 

REDUCTION IN PERMANENT 

ADMISSIONS TO 

RESDENTIAL/NURSING CARE  

INTEGRATED HOUSING 

SUPPORT 

HOME FIRST HIGH IMPACT CHANGES FOR 

TRANSFERS OF CARE 

IMPROVING TRANSFERS OF CARE 

(DTOC) 

REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS 

REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS DUE TO FALLS 

REDUCTION IN PERMANENT 

ADMISSIONS TO 

RESDENTIAL/NURSING CARE 

157



2 

 

BCF THEME LLR STP WORKSTREAM BCF NATIONAL CONDITION BCF METRIC 

INTEGRATED 

DOMICILARY  CARE 

HOME FIRST HIGH IMPACT CHANGES: 

IMPROVING TRANSFERS OF 

CARE 

MAINTAINI SOCIAL CARE 

NHS COMMISSIONED OUT OF 

HOSPITAL SERVICES 

7 DAY SERVICES 

IMPROVING TRANSFERS OF CARE 

(DTOC) 

POSITIVE IMPACT OF REABLEMENT 

AT 90 DAYS 

REDUCTION IN PERMANENT 

ADMISSIONS TO RESDENTIAL 

CARE  

INTEGRATED LOCALITY 

TEAMS 

INTEGRATED TEAMS NHS COMMISSIONED OUT OF 

HOSPITAL SERVICES 

MAINTAIN SOCIAL CARE 

ACCOUNTABLE 

PROFESSIONAL FOR CARE 

MANAGEMENT 

REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS 

IMPROVING TRANSFERS OF CARE 

REDUCTION IN PERMANENT 

ADMISSIONS TO RESIDENTIAL 

CARE 

REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS DUE TO FALLS  

INTEGRATED URGENT 

CARE 

URGENT CARE NHS COMMMISSIONED OUT 

OF HOSPITAL SERVICES 

7 DAY SERVICES 

 

REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS 

158



3 

 

BCF THEME LLR STP WORKSTREAM BCF NATIONAL CONDITION BCF METRIC 

INTEGRATED POINTS OF 

ACCESS (ENABLER) 

INTEGRATED TEAMS 

HOME FIRST 

URGENT CARE 

PREVENTION 

NHS COMMISSIONED OUT OF 

HOSPITAL SERVICES 

7 DAY SERVICES 

MAINTAIN SOCIAL CARE 

REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS 

IMPROVING TRANSFERS OF CARE 

 

INTEGRATED DATA 

(ENABLER) 

LLR IM&T  

HOME FIRST 

URGENT CARE 

INTEGRATED TEAMS 

INTEGRATED DATA (USING 

NHS NUMBER AS IDENTIFIER) 

SUPPORTS ALL NATIONAL 

CONDITIONS 

SUPPORTS MEASURING IMPACT 

AND EVALUATION ACROSS BCF 

METRICS, STP OUTCOMES AND 

OTHER METRICS/DELIVERABLES 

INTEGRATED 

COMMISSIONING 

(ENABLER) 

 

SPECIFIC COMMISSIONING 

ACTIVITIES IN SUPPORT OF  

(E.G.) HOME FIRST, 

INTEGRATED TEAMS  

SUPPORTS ALL NATIONAL 

CONDITIONS 

SUPPORTS ALL METRICS 

TRANSFORMING CARE  LEARNING DISABILITES HIGH IMPACT CHANGES: 

IMPROVING TRANSFERS OF 

CARE 

NHS COMMISSIONED OUT OF 

HOSPITAL SERVICES 

MAINTAIN SOCAL CARE 

REDUCTION IN EMERGENCY 

ADMISSIONS 

REDUCTION IN PERMANENT 

ADMISSIONS TO CARE AND 

NURSING HOMES 

 

159



4 

 

NUFFIELD TRUST: SHIFTING THE BALANCE OF CARE: ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS 

Nuffield Category:  
“most positive evidence” 

Model Reflected in LLR STP Workstream Model of care supported by 
Leicestershire BCF funding 

 
Improved GP access to specialist expertise 
 
Ambulance/paramedic triage to the community 
 
 
Condition-specific rehabilitation 
 
Additional clinical support to people in nursing and care homes 
 
Improved end-of-life care in the community 
  
Remote monitoring of people with certain long-term conditions 
 
Support for self-care 
 

 
Integrated Teams & Planned Care 
 
Urgent Care/home visiting service/ Falls non 
conveyance 
 
Integrated Teams & Home First 
 
Home First & Primary Care 
 
Integrated Teams 
 
Integrated Teams 
 
Prevention 

 
N 
 
Y 
 
 
Y 
 
Y 
 
Y 
 
N 
 
Y 

Nuffield Category 
“emerging positive evidence” 

Model reflected in LLR STP Model of care supported by 
Leicestershire BCF funding 

 
Patients experiencing GP continuity of care 
 
Extensivist model of care for high risk patients 
 
Social prescribing 
 
Senior assessment in A&E 
 
Rapid access clinics for urgent specialist 
Assessment 
 
 
 
 

 
Integrated Teams 
 
Integrated Teams 
 
Prevention 
 
Urgent Care 
 
Urgent Care & Integrated Teams 

 
Y 
 
Y 
 
Y 
 
N 
 
Y 

160



5 

 

Nuffield Category 
“mixed evidence, particularly on cost reduction 

Model reflected in LLR STP Model of care supported by 
Leicestershire BCF funding 

Peer review and audit of GP referrals 
 
Shared decision-making to support 
treatment choices 
 
Shared care models for the management 
of chronic disease 
 
Direct access to diagnostics for GPs 
 
Intermediate care: rapid response services 
 
Intermediate care: bed-based services 
 
Hospital at Home (locally this is ICS) 
  
Case management and care coordination 
 
Virtual ward (locally this is ICS) 
 

Planned Care & Primary Care 
 
Planned Care & Primary Care 
 
 
Integrated Teams 
 
 
Planned Care 
 
Home First 
 
Home First 
 
Home First 
 
Integrated Teams 
 
Home First & Integrated Teams 

N 
 
N 
 
 
Y 
 
 
N 
 
Y 
 
Y 
 
Y 
 
Y 
 
Y  

Nuffield Category 
Evidence of potential to increase overall costs 

Model of care reflected in LLR STP Model of care supported by 
Leicestershire BCF 

Extended GP opening hours 
 
NHS 111 
 
Urgent care centres incl. minor injury units (not co-located with A&E) 
 
Consultant clinics in the community 
 
Specialist support from a GP with a special interest 
 
Referral management centres 

Primary Care & Urgent Care 
 
Urgent Care 
 
Urgent Care 
 
Planned Care 
 
Planned Care & Primary Care 
 
Planned Care & Primary Care 

Y (partial) 
 
N 
 
Y (partial) 
 
N 
 
N 
 
N 

 

161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Switching onto Integration 

163
A

genda Item
 7



BACKGROUND 

• 2013 – report commissioned from CIOH 

• £1m Transformation Challenge award monies to support 
transformation of housing support, including hospital 
discharge enabler against a backdrop of national and local 
drivers 

• 2015 – customer insight informed the development of a 
Housing MOT 

• Successful pilots lead to the approval of the Lightbulb 
business case by all districts and LCC 

• Full rollout scheduled for 2nd October 2017 based on a hub 
and spoke model  

• Hospital Housing Enabler started in 1 hospital and with 1  
Housing Support Officer  

 

 

164



THE LIGHTBULB OFFER  

• New Housing Support Co-ordinator  (HSC) role encompasses functions currently 
carried out across District and County Councils - supported by OT and technical 
officer expertise (the locality team) 

 

• HSC job role will include trusted assessor element, supported by competency 
framework – countywide training package being developed 

 

• Customer focussed assessment and solutions through the Housing MOT 
checklist 

 

• Offer supports both step down from hospital and step up in community settings 

 

• Integrated working with other key stakeholders such as community fire and 
rescue/home safety teams also in place 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

165



THE LIGHTBULB OFFER 
 

• Lightbulb staffing model based on demand analysis across the county 
 

• Includes recognition of Leicestershire demographic trends (e.g. population 
aged 65-85 is projected to grow by 56% by 2037 and 85+ population by 156%) 
and an assumption of some proactive uplift in demand, due to new service 
offer/channels. 
 

• Funding model based on redirecting existing resources , which currently sit 
across different organisations/contracts/services. 
 

• This includes historical staffing resources associated with processing DFGs. 
 

• Key funding streams were identified across Adult Social Care and District 
Councils that will form the ‘Lightbulb pot’ which are being redistributed based 
on the new offer and demand model. 
 

• Lightbulb Programme Board and Steering Group critical to developing the 
model and funding approach across multiple partners 
 

166



BENEFITS OF CHANGE TO THE SYSTEM 

• Lightbulb delivery costs, including Hospital Housing team approx £1m pa 
against a potential £2m pa saving to the Leicestershire £ and wider health 
economy 

• Pilot Lightbulb service evidences measurable savings to health and social 
care through 

– Reduction in service utilisation (health and social care) 

– Reduced admissions 

– Reduction in A&E attendance 

– Reduction in Delayed Transfers of Care 

– Falls prevention 

– Targeting patients with long term conditions 
 

• Projected savings on DFG delivery costs through more efficient processes 
and staffing efficiencies 
 

 

167



BENEFITS TO CUSTOMERS 

• One clear, consistent offer across Leicestershire 

• Simplified journey with less waiting time 

• Wider offer through the Housing MOT checklist 

• Evidence of improved outcomes across a number of domains through 
Lightbulb pilot: 

– Physical and mental health 

– The home environment (repairs, hoarding, suitability) 

– Home security (risk of crime, safety measures) 

– Personal safety in the home (fire safety, phone access, lighting) 

– Getting around the home and garden (risk of falls) 

– Managing in the home (AT, aids, equipment, adaptations) 

168



The Current Journey The Lightbulb Journey 

Mr T was discharged from hospital following aortic valve replacement surgery.  Mr T’s 
wife contacted the Customer Service Centre for assistance with bathing: 

• Positive customer experience 
• Holistic assessment included support 

to claim attendance allowance, falls 
prevention advice 

• More handoffs and longer waiting 
time 

• Single issue approach 

BENEFITS ILLUSTRATION 
169



Evidence of outcomes –  
Housing support co-ordinators 
• Over a period of 18 months, the Housing Support Co-ordinator pilot helped 

265 residents with support for their housing needs 

• On average each resident benefited from 3 housing support interventions 
(excluding advice and signposting) 

• 11% cases analysed using the NHS number and PI’s Care and Health Trak tool 

• This showed a reduction in service usage of 66%  

• Two months post intervention saw adult social care costs reduced by 23% 

• Scaled up to include all potential Housing Support Co-ordinator cases, this 
could lead to cost savings of up to £250,000 to Adult Social Care per year 

• 18 cases analysed where residents had previously fallen. 17 reported no falls 
since they received their interventions 

• A reduction of 1 fall per year for these 17 people alone would result in a cost 
saving of £21,000 per year for the local health and care economy 

• All reported feeling safer and more confident around the home 

 

170



 
HOSPITAL HOUSING ENABLER TEAM   

 • Central part of Lightbulb Offer 
 

• Targeted to a key Better Care Fund aim and metric  e.g.  delayed transfers of care 
 
• Housing Enablers  & Community Support workers based in hospital settings, both 

acute and mental health  
 
• Quickly established as essential members of integrated discharge team 

 
• Seek a wide variety of innovative and pragmatic housing solutions 

 
• Access to budgets to help with rent deposits, furniture and, house clearance 

 
• Formal evaluation using PI care and Health data and simulation modelling 
 
• Links with wider Lightbulb offer and Housing Support Coordinator role 

 
• Excellent results! 

 

 
 

 

 

171



Evidence of outcomes – Hospital Housing Enabler 

• In 2016 / 17 UHL service received 349 referrals and Bradgate Mental Health 
unit received 151 

• Primary reasons for referral for UHL were homelessness and home no longer 
suitable and for Bradgate Homelessness and family refusing return 

 

UHL service three months post intervention analysis on 357 patients saw: 

 

• - 57% reduction in A&E attendances 

• - 54%reduction in A&E admissions 

• - 27% increase in no activity 

• - 84% reduction in NHS costs for this cohort of patients 3 months post 
intervention – saving £222,000, scaled up this could mean a potential £550,000 
saved over 12 months 

172



Evidence of outcomes – Hospital Housing Enabler 

115 patients at the Bradgate Unit analysed saw: 

• 920 delayed bed days saved 

• Of 40 service users who continued to receive support in the 
community following discharge only one was readmitted  

• Over 12 months the projected housing DTOC costs would be 
£175,000 compared to £650,000; a potential reduction of 
£475,000 

• Referrals to the Bradgate Unit have risen by 67% in last 6 months. 
In contrast resolution times have reduced by 60% meaning 
despite the rise in referral  patients are receiving a speedier 
service reducing the chance of delays 

173



  Next Steps / Future Opportunities 

 

• Community hospitals 

 

• Integration with other teams in the hospitals 

 

• County-wide Assistive Technology offer 

 

• Customer insight into why patients are unable to return home 

 

• Development of Move-on accommodation for Bradgate Patients  

 

174



• Winner APSE Best 
Collaborative Initiative 
Award 2017 

• Shortlisted finalist Home 
Improvement Agency 
Awards 14th September 
for  Collaboration 

175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES 

 
PROGRESS ON DEVELOPING A FIVE YEAR PLAN FOR THE 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES PARTNERSHIP 
 
Purpose of report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Health and Wellbeing Board on 
progress on the development of a five year plan for the Leicestershire Children 
and Families Partnership, and to seek approval for the revised outcomes.  The 
Board is also asked to approve a revision to the terms of reference for the 
Partnership. 

 
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

2. The Children and Families Partnership is a multiagency group which provides 
leadership, direction and assurance, on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board for one of the key outcomes in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
Extract from Joint Health and Wellbeing (JHWB) Strategy  
 
JHWB Strategy Outcome 3: Children and young people in Leicestershire are safe 
and living in families where they can achieve their potential and have good health 
and wellbeing. 
 
We will: 
 
Ensure the best start in life for children and their families. 
 
Work proactively in partnership to keep children and young people safe and free 
from harm and sexual exploitation. 
 
Support those families identified as most troubled to become self-sufficient and 
resilient. 
 
Enable children with special educational needs, and/or disabilities and their families, 
to become increasingly independent through personalised, integrated care and 
support. 
 
Enable children in care to experience good physical and mental health throughout 
their lives. 

 

177 Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
3. In order to deliver the vision, partnership plan, and outcomes, the Children and 

Families Partnership will have the following role and duties:- 
 

To develop and oversee the Children and Young People’s Plan for 
Leicestershire, measuring the impact of the plan against the agreed 
outcomes. 
 
To ensure that the voice of children and families is represented in all the 
work of the Children and Families Partnership and that of partner 
organisations. 
 
To consider and address any barriers to achieving the vision of the 
partnership, to ensure that children and young people in Leicestershire 
are safe and living in families where they can achieve their full potential 
and have good health and wellbeing. 
 
To identify opportunities for integrated commissioning and/or delivery of 
services with other place/partner initiatives (Leicestershire and wider) 
where there are identified benefits for doing so, and to ensure that this is 
planned and delivered to agreed outcomes. 
 
To review initiatives to ensure that they are delivering the required 
outcomes, and meeting agreed milestones and recommending action to 
partner organisations where delivery is not satisfactory. 
 
Set delegated limits for approval of variation of expenditure within any 
pooled budgets which the Partnership has the authority to operate, and 
review these on an annual basis.   

 
4. The Children and Young People’s Plan  also supports delivery of: 

 
a. Leicestershire County Council’s Children and Families Departmental 
Plan, and actions in response to the Ofsted inspection of November 2016. 
 
b. The LLR wide work stream for children and maternity services which 
includes specific improvements for Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
services. (Further details about the LLR work can be found within the LLR 
Sustainability and Transformation Plan).  
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?Asset
ID=47665 and within previous reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board 
about the improvements to CAMHS services). 

 
Recommendation 
 

5. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to: 
 

a. Note progress to date with the development of the Children and Young 
People’s Partnership and Plan; 
b. Provide any feedback on the next steps; 

178

http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665
http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/Easysiteweb/getresource.axd?AssetID=47665


 

 

c. Approve the revised outcomes; 
d. Approve a revision to the terms of reference to state that “membership 
will be regularly reviewed to ensure the effective operation of the 
partnership and that this will be reported yearly to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board". 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
 

6. On 17 November 2016, the Health and Wellbeing Board considered a report of 
the Director of Children and Families Services which presented the draft terms 
of reference for a Children and Families Partnership to replace the Supporting 
Leicestershire Families Executive as a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. The Board approved the proposed terms of reference. 
 

7. It was further confirmed that the Children and Young People’s Plan would be 
produced during 2017. 

 
Background 
 

8. Progress on developing the Partnership Plan was initially slow, due to a 
combination of limited capacity within the department, and the need to engage 
partners over a number of months with the new partnership arrangements and 
emerging plans priorities.  

 
9. In July 2017 the decision was taken to commit resources to an officer post to 

drive the work. This role has been filled initially by an interim but a substantive 
appointment has since been made who will commence in post at the end of 
October.  
 

10. A partnership workshop took place in late July 2017 to review and agree the 
outcomes that the 5 year plan would be measured against and the key areas of 
priority that should support each outcome.  
 

11. Feedback at the workshop included a concern that schools needed to be much 
more closely engaged in the work, and partners also reinforced that co-
production with children and families would continue to be an essential part of 
planning and delivery. 

 
12. During the course of the workshop, the Health and Wellbeing Board’s original 

outcome statements were reviewed and revised and a Strategic Lead for each 
outcome was agreed across the partnership as shown in the table below. 

 
13. In terms of the overarching statement “Children and young people in 

Leicestershire are safe and living families where they can achieve their full 
potential and have good health and wellbeing”, the workshop proposed to 
change this to an overarching statement as follows “Children and Families in 
Leicestershire are safe and living in families where they can achieve their full 
potential”.  

 

179



 

 

 

Original HWB Outcome 
wording 

Proposed revised 
Outcome wording  

Proposed Strategic 
Owner 

Ensure the best start in 
life for children and their 
families 

Ensure the best start in life 
 

NHS Officer to be 
confirmed 

Work proactively in 
partnership to keep 
children and young 
people safe and free from 
harm and sexual 
exploitation 

Safe and free from harm Head of Public 
Protection or similar 
level officer, 
Leicestershire Police 

Support those families 
identified as most 
troubled to become self-
sufficient and resilient 

Support families to be self-
sufficient and resilient 

Jane Toman, 
Leicestershire District 
Council 
representative 

Enable children with 
special educational needs 
and/or disabilities, and 
their families, receive 
personalised, integrated 
care and support to 
become increasingly 
independent 

Ensure vulnerable families 
receive personalised, 
integrated care and 
support 

Paul Meredith, 
Interim Director of 
Children & Families, 
Leicestershire County 
Council 

Enable children in care to 
experience good physical 
and mental health 

Enable children to have 
good physical and mental 
health  

Mike Sandys, 
Director of Public 
Health 

 
14. The Children and Families Partnership met on 5th September to review and 

agree the outputs of the workshop. The Integration Executive has also 
considered and commented on the revised outcomes.  The outcomes of both 
meetings have been incorporated into this report.  Work is also underway with 
partners to map existing delivery plans, measures of delivery and gaps against 
these outcomes. 

 
Proposals/Options 
 

15. It is proposed that the Health and Wellbeing Board notes the progress that has 
been made to date, supports the adjusted outcomes and provides any 
feedback on expectations and next steps from their perspective. A timetable of 
planned work is given at paragraph 20 below. 

 
16. Further work will return to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 16 November for 

final approval of the partnership plan with a view to launching the plan in 
December. Programme delivery and reporting will start with effect from January 
2018 using programme management tools and methodology from the County 
Council’s Transformation Unit. 

 
17. The Membership of the Children and Families Partnership is set out at 

paragraph 27 of this report.  Currently, membership is reviewed on an annual 

180



 

 

basis to ensure the effective operation of the Partnership.  However, the 
Partnership considered that it will be able to operate more effectively if it is able 
to review the membership on a more regular basis and to that end wishes to 
amend the terms of reference to state that “Membership will be regularly 
reviewed to ensure the effective operation of the partnership and that this will 
be reported yearly to the Health and Wellbeing Board." 

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 

18. Engagement with Children and Families is planned on the draft outcomes 
framework during September and October. This will include via the LCC 
website, a survey delivered by the LCC engagement / communications team. 
All partners will be asked to support the process using their social media or 
other engagement channels.  
 

Resource Implications 
 

19. No additional resources are required at this time, however commissioning 
intentions and business cases may arise from this work over the next 12 
months. Once the mapping is completed and the plan is more fully developed 
the partnership will need to consider the gaps / opportunities and how existing 
resources can best be deployed across partners in the future. Any 
commissioning intentions or other decisions required will be routed via the 
approved governance routes of respective commissioners.  

 
Timetable for Decisions 
 

20.  The table below sets out the proposed timeline for finalising the plan: 
 

Sept – October Engagement with Children and Families 

Sept – October Building the delivery plan with partners 

Sept – October Engagement with schools 

Sept – November Development of monitoring tools using the LCC project kit 

October - 
November 

Final version of the strategic high level outcomes produced 
for circulation 

13th November Engagement with scrutiny committee 

16th November Final version of plan at HWB Board 

December Launch of plan 

January 2018 Delivery and reporting begins 

 
 
Background papers 
 

21. Health and Wellbeing Board report on the Children and Families Partnership 
(17 November 2016) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124180/Children%20and%20Families%2
0Partnership.pdf 

 
Health and Wellbeing Board CAMHS report  (16 March 2017) 

181

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124180/Children%20and%20Families%20Partnership.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s124180/Children%20and%20Families%20Partnership.pdf


 

 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s127310/CAMHS%20Transformational%2
0Plan%20cover.pdf 

 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

22. Not applicable. 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title:  
Jeanette Young, Interim Children and Families Partnership Manager 
Telephone: 0116 305 4212 
Email: Jeanette.young@leics.gov.uk  
 
List of Appendices  
 

23. Not applicable. 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

24. Leicestershire County Council equality and human rights screening tool will be 
used to determine if EHRIA should be completed once the plan has been 
developed. 

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 

25. The office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Leicestershire Police are 
represented on the partnership. 

 
Environmental Implications 
 

26.  Not applicable. 
 

Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 

27. The work is being led by a multiagency group and relies on the support and 
collaboration of all partners.  

 
Membership of the Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership 
 
• Cabinet Lead Member for Children and Families 

 • Director of Children and Families Services, LCC 
• Representative of Adults and Communities Department, LCC 
• Representative of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
• Representative from Leicestershire Police 
• Director Representative from West Leicestershire CCG  
• Director Representative from East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG 

182

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s127310/CAMHS%20Transformational%20Plan%20cover.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s127310/CAMHS%20Transformational%20Plan%20cover.pdf


 

 

• Clinical Chairs (or their designates) of WLCCG and ELRCCG 
• Director Representative from UHL 
• Director Representative from LPT 
• Elected Member Representative from District Councils (to be chosen by the 7 

District Councils) 
• Officer Representative from District Councils 
• Department of Work and Pensions 
• Director of Public Health Representative 
• Voluntary Sector Representative 
• National Probation Service Representative 
• Community Rehabilitation Company Representative 

 
 

 
Risk Assessment 
 

28. A risk register will be developed to accompany the draft plan, and will be 
presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 16 November 2017. 

183



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD -  21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

PROTOCOL BETWEEN THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD, THE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE AND HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek the Board’s approval of the 

protocol between the Health and Wellbeing Board, Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and Healthwatch Leicestershire. 

 
Recommendation 
 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to approve the 

protocol. 
 
Background 
 
3. The protocol is attached as Appendix A to this report.  It sets out the 

roles of the bodies involved and the relationship between them.  It 
includes a number of working principles and two practical examples of 
how the three bodies will work together to improve outcomes for the 
people of Leicestershire. 

 
Existing Framework/ Previous Decisions 
 
4. The protocol was originally agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board, 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Healthwatch in 
September 2013.  It has been revised in the light of experience and 
recent changes such as the introduction of the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP)  

 
5. The protocol was agreed by the Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 6th September.  Healthwatch Leicestershire also support 
the revised protocol. 

 
Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 
6. The Health and Wellbeing Board, Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and Healthwatch Leicestershire all share an interest in 

 
185 Agenda Item 9



ensuring that there are effective arrangements in place so that the 
services provided meet the identified needs of local people. 

 
7. The Healthwatch Leicestershire contract states the need for it to meet 

its obligations under the equalities act 2010 and stresses the 
importance of equalities representation in all aspects of its work as well 
as a strong focus on supporting hard to reach groups and communities.  
The protocol will enable the views of these communities to be fed into 
consideration of issues at both the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Rosemary Palmer 
Democratic Services Manager 
Tel 0116 305 6098 
Email:  rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk  
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Protocol between the Health and Wellbeing Board, Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Healthwatch Leicestershire. 
 

186

mailto:rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk


                                                                                             

       

  

 

WORKING TOGETHER TO IMPROVE OUTCOMES  

FOR THE PEOPLE OF LEICESTERSHIRE 

 

 

 

 

 

187



 

PROTOCOL BETWEEN THE LEICESTERSHIRE HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

BOARD, THE LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL HEALTH OVERVIEW AND 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AND THE LOCAL HEALTHWATCH PROVIDER 

 

DATE 24 JULY 2017 

 

This protocol concerns the relationship between the Leicestershire Health and 

Wellbeing Board, the County Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 

the local Healthwatch provider.  Its purpose is to ensure that:- 

 

(i) Mechanisms are put in place for exchanging information and work programmes 

so that issues of mutual concern/interest are recognised at an early stage and 

dealt with in a spirit of co-operation and in a way that ensures the individual 

responsibilities of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee and the local Healthwatch provider are managed; 

 

(ii) There is a shared understanding of the process of referrals and exchange of 

information and that arrangements are in place for dealing with these; 

 

(iii) There is a shared understanding of the roles and responsibilities of the three 

bodies when considering items of strategic significance. 

 

 

 

 

   

………………………….                     ………………………..  ……………………….. 

Chairman of the                                Chairman of the  Chairman of  

Health and Wellbeing                      Health Overview the    

Board                                                   and Scrutiny     Healthwatch  

                                                              Committee                              Board 

 

 

 

DATE ….........../……/2017 

188



 

ROLE OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 
The membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board (the Board) is set out in the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012 and comprises elected members, County Council 

officers and representatives of partner organisations.   

 

The Board has been appointed by the County Council as a subcommittee of the 

Executive to:- 

 

(i) Discharge directly the functions conferred on the County Council by Sections 

195 and 196 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 or such other legislation 

as may be in force for the time being; 

 

(ii) Carry out such other functions as the County Council’s Executive may permit. 

 

[Note: the County Council’s Executive function of approving the Better Care Fund and Plans arising 

from its use has been delegated to the Health and Wellbeing Board.] 

 
The main role and functions of the Board are:- 

 

(a) To lead and direct work to improve the health and wellbeing of the population of 

Leicestershire through the development of improved and integrated health and 

social care services through:- 

 

(b) Identifying needs and priorities across Leicestershire, and publishing and 

refreshing the Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) so that 

future commissioning/policy decisions and priorities are based on evidence. 

 

(c) Preparing and publishing a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Plan on 

behalf of the County Council and its partner clinical commissioning groups so 

that work is done to meet the needs identified in the JSNA in a co-ordinated, 

planned and measurable way. 

 

(d) Communicating and engaging with local people in how they can achieve the 

189



 

best possible quality of life and be supported to exercise choice and control 

over their personal health and wellbeing. 

 

(e) Approving the Better Care Fund Plan including a pooled budget used to 

transform local services so people are provided with better integrated care and 

support together with proposals for its implementation. 

 

(f) Having oversight of the use of relevant public sector resources to identify 

opportunities for the further integration of health and social care services. 

 

For more information regarding the working arrangements of the Board please visit 

http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-wellbeing-board/ 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board substructure is set out below:- 

 

 

Health and 

Wellbeing Board 

Integration 

Executive 

Unified Prevention 

Board 

Children and 

Families 

Partnership 

Local Health 

Resilience 

Partnership 

190

http://www.healthandcareleicestershire.co.uk/health-and-wellbeing-board/


 

ROLE OF THE HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (the Committee) is a County Council 

Committee comprising democratically elected members.  It acts as a lever to 

improve the health of local people and ensure that the needs of local people are 

considered as an integral part of the delivery and development of health services.  It 

is also responsible for reviewing and scrutinising any matter relating to the planning, 

provision and operation of health services within the geographical area administered 

by the County Council. 

 

The role of the Committee is:- 

 

1. To scrutinise the executive functions of the County Council in relation to public 

health.   

 

2. To monitor the performance of the Health and Wellbeing Board in respect of the 

executive functions outlined in 1. above and any other partnerships as 

appropriate that are associated with those functions. 

 

3. To scrutinise the exercise by health bodies of functions, which affect the area of 

the County Council. 

 

4. To make arrangements for responding to consultation by local health bodies for 

substantial development of the health service or substantial variation in the 

provision of such services save where these are dealt with through a joint 

committee with other Social Services authorities. 

 

To do this the Committee will:- 

 Identify gaps in patient pathways; 

 Focus on patient experience; 

 Consider the impact of major service changes; 

 Ensure value for money; 

 Question Senior Managers of relevant NHS bodies and relevant health service 

191



 

providers. 

In undertaking the above, the Committee will work with the relevant regulatory 

bodies and with the local Healthwatch provider which also has a monitoring role. 

 

The Committee recognises the strategic role of the Health and Wellbeing Board and 

the importance of its own role in scrutinising and supporting the work of that Board; 

to this end, it strongly recognises the importance of the scrutiny of outcomes and the 

impact on patient experiences, which in turn will help inform commissioning 

decisions. 

 

For more information regarding the operation of the County Council’s Overview and 

Scrutiny bodies  please visit https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-

the-council-works/overview-and-scrutiny/scrutiny-commission-and-committees 

192



 

ROLE OF HEALTHWATCH 

 

Each top tier Local Authority has the statutory responsibility for ensuring a Local 

Healthwatch service is available in their area.  Leicestershire County Council has 

currently commissioned Healthwatch Leicestershire (the local Healthwatch provider), 

which will not only work in the County, but also with neighbouring Local 

Healthwatches where it is necessary in relation to services covering a wider area. 

 

Whilst recognising its independent role, the local Healthwatch provider, by virtue of 

the fact that it has representation on the Health and Wellbeing Board and is a 

participating observer of the Clinical Commissioning Group Boards, will need to 

engage in a constructive way with key commissioning bodies. 

 

The Key Roles of the local Healthwatch provider will be to: 

 

 Be a consumer champion for Health and Social Care; 

 Engage with local communities, including those who are vulnerable or often 

unheard; 

 Engage with the voluntary sector and patient led groups; 

 Monitor, review and challenge the commissioning and provision of health and 

social care services ; 

 Provide a signposting service to give information and help the public to find out 

about the care choices available to them; 

 Provide information to service providers on public and patient experiences and 

hold service providers to account; 

 Represent the views of people who use services, carers and the public on the 

Health and Wellbeing Board; 

 Report concerns about the quality of health care to Healthwatch England who 

can then recommend that the Care Quality Commission take action. 

 

 

 

 

 

193



 

To carry out these roles, the local Healthwatch provider will:- 

 

 Collect and share relevant public opinions/experiences in an evidence based 

approach; 

 Have oversight of trends and local issues; 

 Access the Healthwatch England repository of information; 

 Consider service changes; 

 Exercise its statutory Enter and View power; 

 Hold regular discussions with commissioners and providers. 

For more information about the role and function of the local Healthwatch provider 

please visit http://www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk/ 

 

194

http://www.healthwatchleicestershire.co.uk/


 

WORKING PRINCIPLES 

Given the common aims of the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee and the local Healthwatch provider are to improve health 

outcomes and ensure the commissioning and delivery of high quality, appropriate 

and efficient services, it is vital that they:- 

(i) Work in a climate of mutual respect, courtesy and transparency in partnership; 

 

(ii) Have a shared understanding of their respective roles, responsibilities, priorities 

and different perspectives; 

 

(iii) Promote and foster an open relationship where issues of common interest and 

concern are shared and challenged in a constructive and mutually supportive 

way;  

 

(iv) Share work programmes and information or data they have obtained to avoid 

the unnecessary duplication of effort; 

 

(v) Work with other parts of the health and care economy where needed for 

regional and sub-regional matters 

Whilst recognising the common aims and the need for closer working, it is important 

to remember that the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and the local Healthwatch provider are independent bodies and have 

autonomy over their work programmes, methods of working and any views or 

conclusions they may reach.  This protocol will not preclude any individual body from 

working with any other local, regional or national organisation to deliver their aims.  

There may be occasions when any of the three bodies has a different perspective on 

an issue arrived at due to the different roles.  A mutual respect for the different 

opinions will be held by all. 

 

 

195



 

WHAT WILL THIS MEAN IN PRACTICE?  

Example 1 – The Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) 

The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) STP is a document which sets out 

the actions that LLR needs to take up to 2022 in order to improve health outcomes 

for patients and ensure that services are safe and of high quality, within the financial 

resources available.  The STP is likely to involve significant changes to ways of 

working, for example through the introduction of Integrated Locality Teams or 

statutory consultation on the reconfiguration of services. 

Role of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

 To provide a confirm and challenge function to the development of Integrated 

Locality Teams and the reconfiguration of Community Hospitals, excluding 

Rutland Memorial Hospital, as follows:- 

I. Take responsibility for ensuring that the STP priorities address the key 

place based health and care needs of each Health and Wellbeing Board 

area for adults and children 

II. Assure itself that Health and Wellbeing Board partners have adequate 

plans in place to deliver their required local contribution to implementing 

the STP 

III. Assure itself, where specific proposals exist for service reconfiguration 

within their geographic area, that the case for change in terms of clinical 

model, patient benefit and economic merit is clear and processes for 

securing patient and public involvement are robust.  

IV. Take a lead role for one of the agreed STP new model of care 

transformation priorities.  This would be on behalf of the whole of 

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, not just the specific Health and 

Wellbeing Board, and would involve more frequent review, testing and 

leadership for the implementation plans for that specific aspect of the STP. 

V. Agree any concerns or issues which the Health and Wellbeing Board 

wishes to escalate to the System Leadership Team or refer to or inform 

the executive of the relevant NHS body or local authority 

196



 

 To ensure alignment with Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment priorities; 

 

 To consider a bi-annual report on all aspects of the STP; 

 

 To provide a connection between the STP and the local place (i.e. 

Leicestershire); 

 

 To ensure visibility, shaping and recognition of the wider determinants of 

health in all aspects of strategic planning 

In order to carry out its role, the Health and Wellbeing Board may:- 

 Seek the views of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation 

to outcomes, patient experience, pathways and access issues, including 

cross border issues; 

 Seek the views of neighbouring boards as appropriate; 

 Seek the views of Healthwatch Leicestershire, normally done through the 

Healthwatch representatives on the Board; 

 Seek assurance that insights from public/patient/service user engagement 

have shaped the programme 

 Use the findings from the channels set out above to support it in its 

assurance role that STP plans are adequate and patient benefit is clear. 

Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Role 

 

The Committee is a statutory consultee and has responsibility for ensuring that 

health service changes reflect the needs of the local population and are in the best 

interests of the area.  In doing this it can do some or all of the following:- 

 

 Scrutinise the commissioners’ perspective of the proposals; 

 Scrutinise the providers’ perspective of the proposals; 

 Take information from other interested and affected bodies e.g. user/carer 

groups, voluntary sector organisations, staff representatives; 

197



 

 Consider any information provided by the local Healthwatch provider; 

 Come to a view about the matter and advise the Board accordingly; or 

 Form a view as to whether an in-depth Review of the Patient Pathway and 

experience is needed in order to understand the outcomes for patients/users; 

 Seek opinion of neighbouring Committees as appropriate; 

 Report the review findings to the Board; 

 Respond to the public consultation. 

 

Ultimately, the County Council has the statutory power to refer the 

matter to the Secretary of State for Health.  It will use that power 

on the recommendation of the Health Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. 

 

 

Local Healthwatch Provider Role 

 

The role of the local Healthwatch provider is viewed at the strategic (Programme 

Board) level, with a focus on providing independent scrutiny and assurance that 

appropriate public/patient engagement has been undertaken and that the outputs of 

this (patient/public experience insights, views, choices and preferences) have 

informed:- 

 The design of new models of care; 

 The operational delivery of services; 

 How success is measured from the public/patient point of view; 

 The commissioning approach going forward. 

 

The local Healthwatch provider will also be expected to provide assurance to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board that effective public/patient engagement has been 

undertaken, that this has been representative of diverse populations and that there is 

evidence of how this feedback has informed the service on the ground. 

 

The local Healthwatch provider has a statutory power to refer matters to 

198



 

Healthwatch England who can then recommend that the Care Quality 

Commission take action.  It can also raise concerns with the Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee. 

 

199



 

Example 2 – Commissioning 

 

Role of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

 To ensure that there is a shared understanding of the strategic direction for 

health and care services in Leicestershire and that commissioning intentions 

are aligned across partners including areas of responsibility within the STP 

where the Board has oversight; 

 Ensure that commissioning decisions are supported by the JSNA and aligned 

to the JHWS; 

 Approve the Better Care Fund Plan and Plans arising from its use. 

 

In order to carry out this role, the Health and Wellbeing Board will do some or all of 

the following:- 

 Inform/refer to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee any concerns regarding 

commissioning intentions, including the assessed impact on patients, and seek 

its views; 

 Update the Committee on its progress with the JSNA and the JHWS and seek 

its views; 

 Take account of and respond to the opinions of the local Healthwatch provider; 

 Take account of and respond to any comments submitted by the Committee. 

 Request the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to undertake a detailed piece of 

work where there are particular issues of mutual concern.  (The Committee 

may choose not to do so if it so wishes); 

 Request (subject to available resource) the local Healthwatch provider to 

undertake a particular piece of work in order to inform the Board of public 

opinion and experience of services where there are particular concerns and 

enable the public to influence decisions.  (The local Healthwatch provider may 

choose not to do so if it wishes). 

 

Role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Scrutinise and comment on the JSNA and the JHWS; 

 Scrutinise and comment on the Better Care Fund Plan; 

 Scrutinise the effectiveness of NHS commissioning plans and the impact that 

200



 

they will have on the people of Leicestershire. 

 

In order to carry out this role, the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee may do 

some or all of the following:- 

 Inform/refer to the Board any findings of concern regarding the commissioning 

or delivery of NHS and care services, including any locally perceived gaps and 

relevant patient experiences and make recommendations as appropriate; 

 Advise the Board of issues/concerns to be reflected in future commissioning 

plans; 

 Inform the Board of any responses given to consultations or other statutory 

documents; 

 Take account of the opinions and views of the local Healthwatch provider; 

 Liaise with other  Health Scrutiny Bodies across the region and sub-region 

where appropriate 

 Request the local Healthwatch provider (subject to available resource) to 

undertake a particular piece of work in order to inform the Committee of public 

opinion and experience of services where there are particular concerns and 

enable the public to influence recommendations.  (The local Healthwatch 

provider may choose not to do so if it so wishes); 

 Make recommendations to commissioners and providers of relevant health 

services; 

 [In exceptional circumstances where a Commissioning plan is deemed not to be in 

the best interests of local residents the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may ask 

the County Council to refer the matter to the Secretary of State for Health.] 

 

201



 

Role of the local Healthwatch Provider: 

 

 As a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board, to provide information and 

challenge from the perspective of the public, service users and carers as well 

as appropriate intelligence on any strategic and/or commissioning concerns; 

 To work with the Board and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and provide 

information and comments as the public champion; 

 

In order to carry out this role, the local Healthwatch provider may do some or all of 

the following:- 

 Regularly inform the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of current issues and, in 

exceptional circumstances, request the Committee to consider whether a 

formal referral to the Secretary of State for Health is required; 

 Provide the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with information and customer 

insight as required and/or requested for specific topics and issues regarding 

patients and users experiences and access to services (subject to available 

resource); 

 Establish a protocol regarding any referrals it makes to the Care Quality 

Commission about the quality of services provided locally; 

 Use the intelligence of Healthwatch England. 

 Undertake its own pieces of work where it has relevant evidence to support the 

work; 

 Refer matters to Healthwatch England who can then recommend that the Care 

Quality Commission take action. 

202



 

ENSURING IMPROVED OUTCOMES FOR LEICESTERSHIRE PEOPLE 

 

203



 

 

 

204



 

 

       
 

  Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
  

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD:  21 SEPTEMBER 2017 

 
REPORT OF LEICESTER CITY, WEST LEICESTERSHIRE AND EAST 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND CCGS 
 

PERSONAL HEALTH BUDGETS LOCAL OFFER BRIEFING 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to set out for the Board the basis for the Clinical 

Commissioning Groups’ (CCGs) Local Offer and the plans currently in development 
to expand on that offer in accordance with national guidance.  

 
Link to the local Health and Care System 
 

 
2. Personal health budgets and the development of integrated personal budgets are 

enablers to the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy with regard to promoting 
integration of health and social care at the individual level as well as increasing 
personalised care.  

3.  Personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets are an enabler to ensure 
those with complex needs can remain in the community for as long as possible and 
receive care in the most appropriate place for their needs. 

4.  Personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets are linked very closely with 
the Integrated Locality Teams workstream and are an intrinsic element to the 
Integrated Personal Commissioning and Multi-speciality Community Provider models 
that they are seeking to develop and implement.  

5.  This work relates to the Sustainability and Transformation Plan due to the links with 
the Better Care Fund and Better Care Together above.  

 
Recommendation 
 
6. The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to: 
 

a )  note the progress made in relation to the local personal health budget offer; 
b)   note the plan for further expansion of the personal health budget/integrated  

personal budget offer into 2017 and beyond   
 
 

205 Agenda Item 10



 

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

7.  Forward View into action: Planning for 2015/16 1states:  
 
“To give patients more direct control, we expect CCGs to lead a major expansion in 

2015/16 in the offer and delivery of personal health budgets to people, where 
evidence indicates they could benefit..........CCGs should engage widely and fully with 
their local communities and patients, including with their local Healthwatch, and 
include clear goals on expanding personal health budgets within their published local 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.” 

8.  In addition there is an expectation that CCGs will publish a ‘Local Offer’ detailing the 
offer to the local population in relation to personal health budgets that all 
stakeholders are sighted on and signed up to.   

Background 
 
9.  A personal health budget is an amount of money to support a person’s individual 

health and wellbeing needs, as agreed between the individual and their local NHS 
team.  

 
10.  The CCGs’ approach to delivering the required expansion of personal health budgets 

(PHB’s) is detailed at Appendix I and forms the basis for the Local Offer for the 
Health and Wellbeing Board’s consideration and agreement. 

 
11.  The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) CCGs view PHB’s as a tool to 

support personalised care. As such, and to ensure a population level benefit, the 
CCGs will continue to ensure a focus on personalised care planning, which could 
result in a PHB being offered. Until detailed work is undertaken to restructure 
contracts and budgets, (in future years the Local Offer will provide more detail on 
how this will be achieved) there is no capacity to provide direct payments to those 
receiving services funded through block contracts, although they may benefit from 
personalised support planning and options regarding a notional budget should be 
considered.  

 
12.  As at 7th February 2017 there are 122 personal health budgets in place or agreed 

across LLR, made up of Continuing Healthcare (CHC) patients and those jointly 
funded with social care, as well as five personal health budgets for children eligible 
for continuing care.  

 
 

                                            
1
 Planning guidance for the NHS, setting out the steps to be taken during 2015/16 to start delivering the NHS 

Five Year Forward View 

206



 

 

Proposals/Options 
 
The Local Offer 

13. The Government's Mandate to NHS England for 2016-17 and the NHS Planning 
Guidance for 2016/17- 2020/21 were published in December 2014, re-affirming the 
Government and NHS England's commitment to the roll-out of personal health 
budgets. 14. The Mandate sets a clear expectation that 50,000-100,000 people will 
have a personal health budget or integrated personal budget by 2020 – this 
translates to around 1-2 people per thousand of the population. The Planning 
Guidance requires all CCGs to include personal health budgets and integrated 
personal budgets in their Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs) as a key 
mechanism to hand more power to patients. In addition, local plans for Transforming 
Care need to show how people with a learning disability and/or autism who have a 
mental health condition or display behaviour that challenges, are provided with the 
same rights to choice and control over their health care as everyone else.  Through 
the use of PHBs and integrated personal budgets these groups of people can be 
supported to live to their full potential within their local community and avoid 
admission to out of area specialist placements or mental health inpatient settings. 

 

15.  It has been demonstrated that benefit from a PHB derives from the level of need 
rather than particular diagnosis or condition.  The planning guidance for 2015-16 
allowed for local flexibility on which groups will be offered personal health budgets 
and while this has been carried over for 2016/17 there is an expectation that CCGs 
will be able to meet the requirements laid out in the Bubb Review2. Therefore there is 
an expectation that the CCGs’ Local Offer will include a cohort of individuals with 
learning disability and/or autism that have the right to request a PHB. Furthermore it 
is expected that CCGs will move towards 1- 2 per 1000 people in the population 
being in receipt of a PHB over the next three to five years, which equates to between 
1,011 and 2,022 PHBs for Leicester City, West Leicestershire and East 
Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Groups.   

 
Adults  

 
16.  The request and provision of PHBs for adults is via a single referral pathway to the 

Personal Health Budgets Team currently based at East Leicestershire and Rutland 
CCG (ELR CCG).  

 
17.  From 1st April 2014 adults eligible to receive Continuing Healthcare funding have 

had a ‘Right to Have’ a PHB and from 1st April 2016 adults with learning disability 
and/or autism who have a significant health need are able to request a PHB – 
Appendix I details the proposed scope of the CCGs’ Local Offer with respect to 
learning disabilities in the first instance, moving on to mental health and long term 
conditions in the longer term.  

 
 

Children and young people 

                                            
2
 WINTERBOURNE VIEW – TIME FOR CHANGE Transforming the commissioning of services for people 

with learning disabilities and /or autism.  Sir Stephen Bubb 2014 
 

207



 

 

 
18.  The request and provision of personal health budgets for children and young people 

is via a single referral pathway to the Personal Health Budgets Team currently based 
at ELR CCG.  

 
19.  From the 1st April 2014 children and young people eligible to receive continuing care 

funding have had a ‘Right to Have’ a PHB and from the 1st April 2016 children with 
learning disability and/or autism who the CCG consider may benefit from money from 
health, will be able to have a PHB as part of an integrated personal budget through 
their Education Health and Care Plan.  Appendix I details the scope of the CCG’s 
Local Offer for this cohort of children.  

 
Significant Health Need  
 
20.  Individuals with learning disabilities and/or Autism, that are not eligible for continuing 

healthcare or continuing care funding,  but still have significant health needs should 
have the option of a personal health budget, along with support to manage those 
budgets, that enables them to remain living in the community and avoid out of area 
placements.  

 
21. ‘Significant health needs’ with regard to adults with learning disabilities and/or autism 

will be defined in the first instance by the following criteria: 

 A learning disability and/or autism AND 

 An individual is currently an inpatient under s3 of the Mental Health Act 1983 

(as amended 2007) who is fit for discharge and could be supported to live in 

the community OR 

 An individual does not meet the criteria for 100% health funded CHC, but has 

significant health needs deemed above what can reasonably be expected of 

the local authority to provide for.  

 
22.  In order for children and young people to be included in this group there is an 

expectation that their care requires a multifaceted and multi-disciplinary approach to 
meet their holistic needs. The CCGs are currently considering the resource 
implications of setting the following criteria for children and young people with 
learning disability and/or autism to be offered a PHB: 

 

 A child or young person with learning disability and/or autism AND 

 A child or young person who is under regular care of a hospital/community 

paediatrician AND/OR 

 A child or young person who is under the regular care of any CAMHS 

Consultant  AND 

 A child or young person who has two High level needs identified on the 

Continuing Care decision support tool. 

23.  It should be noted that any personal health budget awarded to a person fitting one of 

the above criteria is likely to be as part of an integrated personal budget joint funded 

208



 

 

with the Local Authority, determining percentage or funding splits in line with statutory 

responsibilities and current local arrangements. 

Education Health and Care (EHC) Plans 

 
24.  Education, Health and Care needs assessments and plans have replaced Special 

Educational Needs assessments and Statements for children and young people with 
special educational needs or disabilities and are available up to the age of 25. EHC 
plans specify any additional provision required to meet or facilitate the educational 
needs of those children or young people and the eligibility criteria for these plans are 
set by the local authority. EHC plans must focus on outcomes and whilst the process 
is led by local authorities, they must ensure a multiagency joint assessment and 
planning process across health, social care and education, which will inform the EHC 
Plan.  

 
25.  The PHB Team is working with the Children’s Commissioning Team, contracting 

colleagues, Leicestershire Partnership Trust and local authority colleagues to explore 
the current arrangements for options for delivering short breaks to children with 
complex needs and to find opportunities to join these up through integrated personal 
budgets. Additionally the PHB Team, together with the Children’s Commissioning 
Team, intend to explore therapy services for children and whether there is any scope 
to offer any element of these services as PHBs, to ensure that those with Education 
Health and Care Plans are able to benefit from additional choice and control as part 
of an integrated personal budget across health, social care and education. 

 
Wider implications; changes to support expansion of PHBs and increased 

personalisation. 

 
26.  Expansion of PHB’s and increased personalisation is dependent on all partners 

engaging with the detail of how to make change happen.  
 
The 2016-17 work plan outline 

27.  Plans are in place through existing target groups/projects Increasing personal health 
budget uptake figures and measuring progress will be captured to demonstrate 
improved outcomes and reduced inequality.   

28.  The CCG’s uptake of personal health budgets within Continuing Healthcare (CHC) is 
currently 13.8% of all individuals eligible for CHC and living in the community 
including Fast Track patients. As Fast Track patients are not routinely offered a 
personal health budget, when these patients are removed from the figures the 
percentage within the remaining CHC population increases to 25%. This significant 
increase in percentage is due to the establishment of the Personal Health Budgets 
Team and plans are being developed to continue to increase the number of PHBs by 
embedding them as ‘business as usual’ for CHC.  

29.  Other work includes:  

 Continued work to raise the profile of PHBs as an enabler to the 
Transforming Care agenda and the knowledge amongst those care planning 
for these individuals that PHBs are an option.  

209



 

 

 Engagement with the Transforming Care Short Breaks review across LLR 
health and social care, ensuring that the resultant new models of short break 
provision are conducive to individuals using a PHB to achieve these 
outcomes.  

 Scoping possibilities to offer PHBs to those with mental health difficulties, 
starting with s117 funded individuals but also considering commissioned 
services that may not currently be working for people and how they could be 
delivered in a different way.  

 The development of PHBs will be linked closely with the consultation 
currently underway regarding the Resilience and Recovery Hubs for mental 
health as well as the Better Care Together workstream regarding the 
Integrated Locality Teams for those with complex needs.  

 Building on the Peer Network that has been established to support current 
PHB holders and to provide a reference group to help shape the future PHB 
offer. 

 Working to increase understanding of costs and impacts on current 
commissioned services.  

 Working with providers to explore the potential for internally releasing funds 

 Working with local authority colleagues to develop and embed joint systems 
and processes to deliver integrated personal budgets to eligible individuals.  

Current success drivers  

 
30.  The operational processes for PHBs in CHC are being finalised and embedded to 

ensure productivity and efficiency in delivery.  

31.  A tender process has now concluded to procure a new CHC/CC/PHB service for this 
cohort of adults and children – this provides the opportunity to embed a new service 
model whereby PHB is the default position for this cohort, which should result in 
increased numbers. The new service should be operational by April 2017. 

32. Information and advice about PHB’s is available on all three CCGs’ websites and a 
Communications and Engagement Plan is in the final stages of development, to be 
implemented during 2016-17 

33. Direct Payment Support Organisations are available and funded for all PHB 
recipients who require this, as detailed in the PHB Policy. They are able to provide 
support and advice for PHB recipients regarding recruitment, payroll, HMRC, and 
other employer responsibilities.   

34. Peer Support Networks are important for both the individual PHB recipient, and for 
supporting the development of co-production locally. There are now sufficient PHB 
numbers to create a fully functioning Network. Two meetings have now taken place 
and been well attended. The Communications and Engagement Plan details plans to 
develop the network. 

35. Good links between the national team and the local PHB Team ensure regular 
communication regarding resources, tools and expectations from NHS England.  

210



 

 

Risks to the Local Offer 

 
36. The operational and governance mechanisms to deliver personal health budgets for 

groups such as those with Education, Health and Care Plans and learning disability 
cohorts are in progress. 

37.  Additionally, further work has commenced regarding children’s contracts in relation to 
nursing, short breaks and therapies to ensure funding availability beyond continuing 
care for those within scope who have a PHB.  

38. Case/care management is not in place for all cohorts in scope and is a wider piece of 
work to plan and implement organisational changes. 

39. As PHBs are an entirely new delivery model, there is no way of gauging demand and 
patient appetite for them as the local offer is expanded to new cohorts.  

40. Work to address the cultural change required is ongoing. This is a considerable piece 
of work, due to the extent to which PHBs counter much of current NHS culture. This 
is likely to take several years before PHBs are embedded as an NHS delivery 
mechanism and promoted effectively.   

41. There is a considerable amount of work to be done by the PHB Team to promote the 
benefits of purpose of PHBs and facilitate cultural change. Work planned through the 
Communications and Engagement Plan (currently being developed) should help to 
address this but allaying fears from clinicians and service providers will take time. 

Expanding PHBs to Mental Health and Long term conditions 

42. Personal health budgets are part of a much wider programme of personalisation in 
health and social care.  It is LLR CCGs’ intention to extend the offer and availability 
of personal health budgets to more people over time.  During 2017/18 the CCGs 
have an agreed timeline for implementation of PHBs to more people to include those 
with mental health needs. This offer is just beginning to be scoped to establish who 
might benefit within mental health and whether any existing services are not meeting 
outcomes and therefore could be considered for PHBs instead. Similarly, data 
regarding those with long term conditions for whom current services are not working 
is just beginning to be scoped to understand numbers, current spend and whether 
PHBs could be part of the solution.  

 
43. When planning commences, any changes must be implemented in line with 

commissioning and contracting cycles and in accordance with the strategic objectives 
of the CCGs. 

 
44. The way in which services are commissioned means that funding is tied up in block 

contracts and any expansion will be dependent on the freeing up of resource to fund 
budgets from these contracts. This takes time due to logistical, contractual, relational 
and cultural challenges.  

 
45. PHBs are not about new money, but using the same allocation in a different way to 

meet assessed care and support needs. In order for this to happen there needs to be 
change in systems and thinking at all levels, and the CCG is committed to promoting 
culture change at all levels within commissioner and provider organisations.  

 

211



 

 

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 
46. To ensure ongoing co-production of the expanding local offer, the Implementation 

Group membership includes several patient and carer representatives as well as 
Healthwatch representatives from the three local authority areas. In addition, all 
aspects of the local offer are discussed at the Peer Network meetings, as well as 
those meetings representing an opportunity to gather patient and public experience 
of their personal budgets. Feedback through the networks has thus far broadly been 
very positive. Individuals tended to agree that despite frustrations with some 
elements of the processes as these are developed and refined, the resultant package 
of care and support is better than what they had previously received and has 
improved their outcomes.  
 

Resource Implications 
 
47. There is no ‘new money’ for personal health budgets but rather it is a different way of 

deploying current resources. The national targets focus on number of personal health 
budgets rather than the expenditure on them and therefore this is the focus of efforts 
to expand the local offer. Personal budgets offer an opportunity to identify services 
that are not meeting need as hoped or models of care that are not the most efficient 
for the particular need they are seeking to meet, and to work with these cohorts in a 
different more personalised way to ensure maximum impact for the resource 
available. 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title: Noelle Rolston, Senior Contracts and Provider Performance Manager 
Telephone: 0116 2956767  
Email: noelle.rolston@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk  
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix I – outline of proposed local offer expansion 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
48. Personal health budgets and personalisation in general support equality by ensuring 

that all eligible individuals receive a personalised package of support. Eligibility is 
based on clinical need without prejudice regarding any protected characteristics or 
any other factors.  They also support diversity as each budget is spent in a way that 
is led and agreed by the individual and is personalised to that individual’s life, 
aspirations, strengths, circumstances and preferences.  

212

mailto:noelle.rolston@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk


 

 

Appendix I  
 

 

2015/16 a) Continue to identify those individuals in receipt of continuing health 
care or children with continuing care. 

2016/17  

a) Children and young people with learning disabilities and who have 
significant health needs  

 

b) People with learning disabilities and significant health needs. 
 

c) People with learning disabilities who are in patient but could be 
supported to live in the community through a PHB/be supported 
through a PHB to maintain in the community and prevent further 
admission 

 
d) Continue with year 1 cohort 
 

2017/18 a) People with mental health difficulties – specifics currently being 
scoped 
 

b) Patients subject to S117 after-care as part of the Mental Health Act 
1983* for their package of community support 

 
c) Wheelchair users in line with national expectation 

 
d) Scope children and young people with an EHC Plan who would 

benefit 
 
e) Continue with year 1 and 2 cohorts 
 

2018/19 a) Long term conditions – this has yet to be scoped  
 

b) Explore PHBs for those individuals for whom traditional services are 
not working.  

 
c) Continue with year 1, 2 and 3 cohorts 

 

2019/20 a) Continue with above 

213



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

          

 
 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

REPORT OF LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 
BOARD (LRSAB) AND LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 

(LRLSCB) 
 

SAFEGUARDING BOARDS ANNUAL REPORTS 2016/17 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to bring to the Health and Wellbeing Board’s attention 

the draft Annual Reports 2016/17 for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Board (LRLSCB) and the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adults 
Board (LRSAB) for consultation and comment. 

 
Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
2. Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility.  Health and care needs can be linked to 

safeguarding risk for adults and children and health and care practitioners can have 
opportunities to identify and respond to safeguarding risk not available to workers in 
other agencies. 

 
3. Connectivity between the LRSAB and the Better Care Together (BCT) Programme 

was established during 2014/15 when the Board was a consultee during the process 
of formulating the BCT Five Year Strategic Plan 2014-19.  At that stage it was agreed 
that safeguarding would be a cross-cutting theme across the BCT Programme and 
agreement was secured to ensure that the BCT Programme would incorporate, 
promote, measure and evaluate safeguarding outcomes within its improvement 
plans. 

 
4. The Annual Reports consider safeguarding effectiveness across partner agencies 

including those working in the health and care system.  The LRLSCB and LRSAB 
Business Plan Priorities for 2017/18 incorporate areas within priority health 
workstreams, including emotional health and wellbeing and mental health. 

 
Recommendation 
 
5. It is recommended that the Board notes and comments on the draft LRLSCB and 

LRSAB Annual Reports for 2016/17. 

215 Agenda Item 11



 

 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
6. The LRLSCB and the LRSAB are statutory bodies; the former established under 

Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 and the latter becoming a statutory body from 
2014 under the Care Act. 
 

7. In accordance with the legislation and guidance both Boards produce an Annual 
Report regarding effectiveness of safeguarding in the area and the work of the 
Boards. 
 

8. It is a requirement of Working Together 2015 and the Care Act 2014 that the Annual 
Reports of the LRLSCB and LRSAB be presented to the Chairman of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  In Leicestershire and Rutland there is, in addition, a protocol 
between both Safeguarding Boards and the Health and Wellbeing Board that 
requires the presentation of the draft Business Plans of the Safeguarding Boards, 
with an expectation that the Health and Wellbeing Board will consider any 
implications of these plans for the Health and Wellbeing Strategies of both counties. 

 
9. The Business Plans for 2017-18 for the LRLSCB and LRSAB were presented to the 

Health and Wellbeing Board on 16th March 2017. 
 
Background 
 
10. The LRLSCB and LRSAB aligned their work five years ago to ensure effective and 

efficient safeguarding services operating in an integrated manner.  This has 
supported a focus on vulnerable children, adults and families.  The two Boards share 
the same Independent Chair.   
 

11. Separate Annual Reports are produced for the LRSAB and the LRLSCB to comply 
with the separate statutory frameworks for the two Boards and allow appropriate 
focus on the achievements and issues in safeguarding both adults and children.  
 

12. The LRLSCB Annual Report provides a full assessment of performance with regard 
to safeguarding children in line with the requirements in Working Together 2015.  
 

13. The LRSAB Annual Report provides a full assessment of performance on the local 
approach to safeguarding adults in line with the requirements of the Care Act 2014. 
 

14. The key purpose of the two Annual Reports is to assess the impact of the work 
undertaken in 2016/17 on service quality and on safeguarding outcomes for children, 
young people, and for adults in Leicestershire and Rutland.  Specifically they 
evaluate performance against the priorities set out in the Business Plans for 2016/17 
and against other statutory functions that the LRLSCB in particular must undertake.  
Full copies of both Annual Reports are attached as Appendices A and B to this 
report. 
 

15. These are, necessarily, detailed reports, but have been significantly reduced in 
length compared to previous years.  As such two-page summaries are included in the 
reports in place of separate Executive Summaries which have previously been 
produced. 

 

216



 

 

16. Both the LRLSCB and LRSAB  Annual Reports 2016/17 include: 
 

(i) A foreword from the Independent Chair; 

(ii) A summary of the work and findings of the Board during the year; 

(iii) An overview of the Boards’ governance and accountability arrangements and 

local context; 

(iv) Two separate outlines of safeguarding children or adults performance, 

activity and outcomes for Leicestershire and Rutland;   

(v) Analysis of performance against the key priorities in the 2016/17 Business 
Plan; 

(vi) An overview of the Boards work on engagement, assurance, learning and 
development and training; 

(vii) The challenges ahead including the Business Development Plan Priorities for 
2017/18. 

 
Key Messages 
 
17. The key messages from the LRSAB regarding Leicestershire are: 

a. Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard adults in 

Leicestershire. 

b. ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP) is influencing practice across 

agencies and more people in Leicestershire have more say in the enquiries 

into their safeguarding. 

c. Financial Abuse and Domestic Abuse are becoming more prevalent in 

safeguarding adult enquiries in Leicestershire.  

d. More work is required to gain assurance regarding oversight of adult 

safeguarding enquiries carried out in Health settings. 

e. The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in the 

safeguarding of adults, including developing its own approach to 

engagement and participation of adults with care and support needs. 

 
18. The key messages from the LRLSCB regarding Leicestershire are: 

a. Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard children in 

Leicestershire. 

b. Early Help and other services in Leicestershire are improving outcomes for 

children and young people.  

c. Partnership working on Child Sexual Exploitation is strong. 

d. Consistency of practice within agencies across a range of areas of work 

requires improvement.  This includes quality of assessment, recording, 

information sharing and hearing and responding to the voice of children. 

e. The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding 

of children, including developing its own approach to engagement and 

participation of children and young people, and quality assurance.  

 
Proposals/Options 
 
19. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to consider the annual reports and to make 

any comments or proposed additions or amendments to the reports. 

217



 

 

 
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 
20. All members of the LRLSCB and LRSAB and their Executives have had opportunities 

to contribute to and comment on drafts of the Annual Reports.  The Reports 
incorporate the work of the two Boards regarding public participation and 
engagement. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
21. There are no resource implications arising from this report, as this is a retrospective 

report.  Both the LRLSCB and LRSAB operate within a budget to which partner 
agencies contribute.    

 
22. The total budget within which the Boards are operating in 2017/18 is £341,650.  The 

LRLSCB has a budget of £240,812 and the LRSAB a budget of £100,838. 
 
Timetable for Decisions 
 
23. The Annual Reports will be presented for approval to a joint meeting of the Boards on 

20 October 2017.  Any proposed additions or amendments to the Plans made by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board will be considered by the Independent Chair for 
incorporation into the Reports, prior to submission to the meeting on 20 October 
2017. 
 

Conclusion 
 
24. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to consider the Annual Reports and to 

make any comments or proposed additions or amendments to the reports that will be 
addressed prior to the final versions being published. 
 

25. The Health and Wellbeing Board is also asked to consider any action it wishes to 
take in support of priorities for improvement that are identified in the Annual Reports 
for 2016/17 and in the Business Plan priorities for 2017/18. 

 
Background papers 
 
None 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Simon Westwood, Independent Chair, LRLSCB and LRSAB 
Safeguarding Business Office, Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 7130   Email: simon.westwood@leics.gov.uk 
  
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – LRLSCB Annual Report – 2016/17 

218

mailto:simon.westwood@leics.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix B – LRSAB Annual Report – 2016/17 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 

26. Safeguarding children, young people and adults concerns individuals who are likely 

to be disadvantaged in a number of ways.  Information on differing needs of, and 

impacts on groups of individuals with regards to safeguarding is considered as part of 

the process to develop the Boards’ Business Plans.  Specific impacts on or views of 

different groups are also considered in the work of the LRLSCB and LRSAB 

Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) in assessing performance and 

effectiveness with regard to safeguarding. 

 
Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
27. The Boards work closely with community safety partnerships in Leicestershire to 

scrutinise and challenge performance in community safety issues that affect the 

safeguarding and wellbeing of individuals and groups,for example domestic abuse 

and Prevent.  The Boards also support community safety partnerships in carrying out 

Domestic Homicide Reviews and acting on their recommendations.  

 
28. The LRLSCB and LRSAB Annual Reports include analysis of performance in a range 

of areas relevant to the community safety agenda and the evaluation of performance 

will be shared with these partnership forums to ensure that both strengths and 

development needs are recognised and acted on. 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 

29. Safeguarding is dependent on the effective work of the partnership as set out in 

national regulation, the Care Act 2014 and Working Together 2015, published by the 

Department for Education. 

 

219



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 

 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 

LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 

BOARD (LRLSCB)  

Annual Report  

2016/17 
 

 

 

 

Document Status  

First draft completed:  24/08/2017 

Approved by Executive:   

Approved by Board:   

Published:    

Report Author: Safeguarding Boards Business Office, 
 Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB and SAB  
    
Independent Chair:  Simon Westwood      

     

 

221



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Foreword 
 

 As the new Independent Chair of the Leicestershire and Rutland 

Safeguarding Boards from April 2017, I am pleased to present the 

Annual Report for the Leicestershire and Rutland Local 

Safeguarding Children Board (LRLSCB) 2016/17. I would like to 

record thanks to Paul Burnett, the previous Chair for his leadership 

of the Board during the period this report relates to. 

On behalf on the Board I want to thank all those; particularly 

parents and carers, front line staff and volunteers who day in and 

day out support vulnerable children, families and adults to improve 

their lives. The board will continue to play their part in building a culture where 

vulnerable adults, children, young people, carers and families are listened to and 

their views influence practice.   

The report is published at the same time as the Annual Report for the Safeguarding 

Adults Board The reports include commentary on areas of cross-cutting work we 

have undertaken through our joint business plan.  

The key purpose of the report is to assess the impact of the work we have 

undertaken in 2016/17 on safeguarding outcomes for children, young people and 

vulnerable adults in Leicestershire and Rutland.   

There is clear evidence of sustained strong partnership working across the 

safeguarding communities of Leicestershire and Rutland. In the recent Ofsted review 

of the LRLSCB the report stated “The board has developed an ethos of constructive 

challenge and support. It has taken a thoughtful and flexible approach, sensibly 

working closely with the Safeguarding Adults Board and Leicester City LSCB in 

areas of common concern.”  

Though the report is joint it provides distinct findings about practice and performance 

in both Leicestershire and Rutland. 

The safeguarding boards exist to provide support and critical enquiry to ensure that 

organisations work together to reduce or prevent possible abuse and neglect.  

The board was reviewed by Ofsted during 2017 and were judged Good. The report 

stated that the board’s scrutiny and influence have had a positive impact on front-line 

practice, facilitating better understanding of the threshold into children’s social care, 

more timely identification of the health needs of children looked after and the 

improving response when children are at risk of sexual exploitation.  Each year bring 

additional challenges; the Children and Social Work Act 2017 made legislative 

changes to the role of LSCB’s which the Board and partners will need to respond to 

once detailed guidance is published in the autumn.  It is critical that through this 

period of change we continue to keep safeguarding as a top priority for all. 

222



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

We can never eliminate risk entirely. We need to be as confident as we can be that 

every child and vulnerable adult, are supported to live in safety, free from abuse and 

neglect. The Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, agencies 

are working well together to safeguard adults and children in Leicestershire and 

Rutland. 

I hope that this Annual Report will help to keep you informed and assured that 

agencies in Leicestershire and Rutland are committed to continuous improvement, 

being open about what needs to improve and transparently identifying the challenges 

in achieving this, not least the continuing pressure to do more with less resources. 

Finally, if you have safeguarding concerns about any vulnerable adult or child 

please act on them; you might be the only one who notices. 

 

Simon Westwood 

Independent Chair  

 

223



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Contents 
 
Foreword 2 
Summary 5 
Board Background 7 
Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire 10 
Safeguarding Children in Rutland 21 
Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire and Rutland 28 
LSCB Business Plan 2016/17 Achievements 29 
Operation of the Board  

- Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 42 
- Challenge and Assurance 43 
- Learning and Improvement 47 
- Child Death Overview Panel 48 
- Procedures and Co-ordination 50 
- Training and Development 50 

LSCB Business Plan Priorities 2017/18 53 

 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership 54 

Appendix 2 – Partner Agency Updates 55 

  

224



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Summary 

The Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, workers and 
agencies are working well together to safeguard children in Leicestershire and 
Rutland. 
 
In reaching this conclusion, we have:  
 
Sought assurance that those who work directly with children listen to what they are 
saying and to respond to them appropriately.  This can be found throughout this 
report;  
 
Monitored data and information on a regular basis.  Sections of this report on 
Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire and Safeguarding Children in Rutland tell 
you what we have learnt from this including:  

 More contacts from members of the public resulted in referrals to Social Care 
in Leicestershire and Rutland 

 There has been an overall increase of around 20% in referrals and cases for 
Children in Need and Child Protection in Leicestershire 

 The proportion of repeat child protection plans in Leicestershire has reduced 

 Identification of Neglect increased in the year in Leicestershire and Rutland  

 Initial Health Assessments for Looked After Children are not always being 
completed on time  

 There was a significant increase in the number of children recorded as home 
educated in Leicestershire. 

 
Reviewed how we are doing as a Partnership, including an assessment on progress 
against our Business Development Plan for 2016/17;  
 
Conducted a series of formal audits of our safeguarding arrangements, including:  

 A ‘Section 11’ audit process of organisations safeguarding approaches  

 Case reviews of frontline practice which have included themes, such as 
Repeat Child Protection Plans, Neglect and Child Sexual Exploitation;  

Our formal audit activity is covered in the Challenge and Assurance section of the 
report; 
 
Carried out Serious Case Reviews and other reviews of cases and disseminated 
learning from these across the partnership.  A summary of this is found in the 
Learning and Improvement section of this report; 
 
Further extended the “CEASE” campaign to raise awareness of and gain 
commitment to ending abuse and sexual exploitation of children; 
 
Supported a campaign initiated by the Child Death Overview Panel to raise 
awareness of the danger of ingesting button batteries; 
 
Developed procedures in relation to bruising to pre-mobile babies;  
 
Provided training, in partnership with Leicester City LSCB, on a number of topics 
relevant to safeguarding including our Safeguarding Children Competency 

225



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Framework, Learning from Serious Case Reviews and our Neglect Toolkit.  This is 
outlined in the Training and Development section of this report; 
 
Considered the outcome of and recommendations from the Ofsted inspections into 
the two Local Authorities Children’s services and the LSCB and resultant 
improvement action. 
 
The nature of the Board is of holding partners to account and promoting learning and 
improvement. Therefore the Board is always considering how it can further improve 
safeguarding practice.  The key areas for further development arising from the 
inspections and ongoing work of the LSCB include:  

 Strengthening participation of and engagement with children and young 
people in the work of the Board to enable children to influence the LSCB’s 
priorities and their delivery more fully.  

 Increasing assurance regarding children missing from home and care and the 
robustness of the partnership response to this. 

 Further strengthening our audit approach, including Section 11 audits to 
ensure that these audits are sufficiently probing and robust.  

 Gaining assurance regarding the understanding of risk regarding Children with 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities across the partnership. 

 Hold partners to account to ensure that the quality and effectiveness of return 
home interviews and risk management when children are going missing from 
home or care are evaluated.  

 Seeking assurance about the effectiveness of the partnership response to the 
Trilogy of Risk (domestic abuse, substance misuse and mental health). 

 Improve awareness raising of private fostering across the partnership and 
wider community. 

 
Key Messages 

 Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard children in 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 Early Help and other services in Leicestershire and Rutland are improving 
outcomes for children and young people.  

 Partnership working on Child Sexual Exploitation is strong. 

 Consistency of practice within agencies across a range of areas of work 
requires improvement.  This includes quality of assessment, recording, 
information sharing and hearing and responding to the voice of children. 

 The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding 
of children, including developing its own approach to engagement and 
participation of children and young people, and quality assurance.  

 
  

226



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Board Background 
 
The LRLSCB serves the counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.  It is a statutory 
body established in compliance with The Children Act 2004 (Section13) and The 
Local Safeguarding Children Boards Regulations 2006.  Its work is governed by 
‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’ statutory guidance. 
 
The statutory objectives and functions of LSCBs are set out in Section 14 of the 
Children Act 2004 and are: 

a) To coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the Board 
for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the 
area; and 

b) To ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for 
those purposes. 

 
During 2016/17 the Board operated under this legislation. The Children and Social 
Work Act 2017 abolishes Local Safeguarding Children Boards and requires new 
statutory requirements regarding partnership arrangements for Safeguarding 
Children to be published.  New guidance will be issued in 2017/18 and the new 
arrangements will be required to be in place during 2019. 
 
The LRLSCB normally meets four times a year alongside its partner Board: the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Adult Board.  Each of the four meetings 
comprises a Children’s Board meeting, an Adults’ Board meeting and a Joint 
meeting of the two Boards.  The Board is supported by an integrated Safeguarding 
Adults and Children Executive Group and a range of subgroups and task and finish 
groups to deliver the key functions and Business Plan priorities. 
 
The LRLSCB works closely with Leicester City Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(LCLSCB) on several areas of work to ensure effective working across the two 
areas.  The LRLSCB and the LCLSCB have established a joint executive that 
oversees joint areas of business for the two Boards.  
 
The LSCB is funded through contributions from its partner agencies.  In addition to 
financial contributions, in-kind contributions from partner agencies are essential in 
allowing the Board to operate effectively.  In-kind contributions include partner 
agencies providing training resource for the inter-agency programme and chairing 
and participating in the work of the Board and its sub-groups and Leicestershire 
County Council hosting the Safeguarding Boards Business Office.  
 
Independent Chair 

The LRLSCB and the LRSAB are led by a single Independent Chair.  The 
Independence of the Chair of the LSCB is a requirement of Working Together 2015.   
 
The Board’s former Independent Chair, Mr Paul Burnett, stepped down at the end of 
March 2017 after almost six years in the role.  Leicestershire and Rutland have 
agreed to continue to have a joint Chair for both Safeguarding Boards to reflect the 
need for cross-cutting approaches to safeguarding.  Simon Westwood has been 
appointed as Independent Chair of both Boards commencing in April 2017, initially 
for one year while the implications of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and the 

227



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

future of partnership arrangements for Safeguarding Children and Adults in 
Leicestershire and Rutland are considered. 
 
The Independent Chair provides independent scrutiny and challenge of agencies, 
and better enables each organisation to be held to account for its safeguarding 
performance. 
 
The Independent Chair is accountable to the Chief Executives of Leicestershire and 
Rutland County Councils.  They, together with the Directors of Children and Adult 
Services and the Lead Members for Children and Adult Services, formally 
performance manage the Independent Chair. 
 
Structure of the Board 

The Board has established subgroups and task and finish groups to function 
effectively and achieve its objectives.  The structure of the LRLSCB and LRSAB at 
the end of 2016/17 can be seen below.  Membership of the Board can be found at 
Appendix 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leicestershire & Rutland 

Local Safeguarding 

Children Board (LSCB) 

Leicestershire & Rutland 

Safeguarding Adults 

Board (SAB) 

Leicestershire & Rutland 

LSCB & SAB Executive 

Group* 

Conjoined LR 
Safeguarding Effectiveness 

Subgroup (SEG)* 

Conjoined LR Serious 
Case Review (SCR) 

Subgroup* 

L&R LSCB Signs of Safety 
Task and Finish Group 

L&R LSCB Multi-Agency 
Audit Sub-group 

 

Joint Structure with Leicester City LSCB and SABs 

LLR Adult Joint 

Executive Group 

LLR SAB Procedures 
and Development 

Subgroup 

LLR Children Joint  

Executive Group 

LLR SAB Multi-
Agency Audit Sub-

group 

LLR Child Death 

Overview Panel 

(CDOP) 

LLR LSCB Training, 
Learning & 

Development Group 

LLR LSCB 
Development and 

Procedures 
Subgroup 

LLR LSCB Voluntary 
& Community Sector 

(VCS) Reference 
Group 

LLR Making 
Safeguarding 

Personal (MSP) Task 
and Finish Group 

228



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Characteristics of Leicestershire & Rutland 

Leicestershire is a two-tier authority area with a population of 667,905.  There are 
134,800 children and young people aged under 18 living in Leicestershire1. 
 
Rutland is a unitary authority area with a population of 38,022.  There are 7,685 
children and young people aged under 18 living in Rutland2. 
 
In Leicestershire, 11.1% of the population identify as from Black / Minority / Ethnic 
Groups (BME).  Among 0-17 year old children and young people, the percentage 
who are BME is 13.7%, slightly higher than the general population. 
 
In Leicestershire, of those that do not identify as ‘White British’, the largest groups 
identify as ‘Asian or Asian British’ (6.3%) or ‘White other’ (1.9%). 
 
In Rutland, the percentage of the population who are BME is 5.7%.  The largest 
ethnic monitory group identified in Rutland is ‘White other’ at 2.1%. 
 
Leicestershire and Rutland both have lower than national averages of children living 
in poverty. 
 
LSCB Business Plan Priorities 2016/17 

Priorities set by the LRLSCB for development and assurance in 2016/17 were to: 

 Secure robust and effective arrangements to tackle Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE), Missing and Trafficking 

 Maximise the impact of learning from Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) and 
other reviews 

 Champion and support the extension of Signs of Safety (SoS) across the 
Partnership 

 Be assured that thresholds for services are understood across the 
partnership and applied consistently 

 Be assured that Early Help Services are effectively coordinated across the 
LSCB Partnership and secure outcomes that reduce pressure on child 
protection and care services 

 Be assured that the LLR Neglect strategy increases understanding, 
identification, risk assessment and management of neglect and reduces 
prevalence in Leicestershire & Rutland. 

 
In addition the LRLSCB shared the following priorities for joint development and 
assurance with the LRSAB: 

 To be assured that there are robust and effective arrangements to tackle 
domestic abuse 

 To be assured that Mental Health Services incorporate robust 
arrangements to reduce safeguarding risk to children and adults 

 To be assured that the Safeguarding element of the Prevent strategy 
(Preventing Violent Extremism) is effective and robust across 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

                                                           
1
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014 

2
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014 

229



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire 

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the LSCB assesses that whilst there 
are some areas for improvement organisations are working well together in 
Leicestershire to safeguard children. 
 
In the Ofsted inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care leavers and review of the effectiveness of the LSCB in 
Leicestershire Ofsted rated Leicestershire County Council’s services overall as 
‘Requiring Improvement.’ In the inspection report they identified that “Children who 
are at risk of significant harm are identified and protected. However, children 
potentially in need are not seen in a timely manner and experience delay in receiving 
the help that they need.” 
 
This section outlines developments and data for elements of safeguarding and 
children services in Leicestershire. 
  
Contact and Assessment 

Leicestershire data shows the total number of safeguarding children contacts and 
enquiries stayed level, with 12,805 in 2016/17 compared to 12,772 in 2015/16.  
Numbers of contacts from the public reduced overall by 15% compared to the 
previous year, from 2,051 to 1,702. 
 
A significantly larger proportion of these contacts were referred to Social Care this 
year.  For all contacts, 55% became referrals in 2016/17 compared with 32% in the 
previous year, and for the public the proportion also increased from 26% to 50% in 
2016/17. The increase took place in the second half of the year linked to the 
introduction of more robust practice in the contact and assessment service, First 
Response, following the Ofsted inspection of Leicestershire, and the rate of referrals 
in Leicestershire is now closer to, but still below, the national average. 
 
An initial single assessment is required to take place following each safeguarding 
referral, within 45 days of the referral.  Timely assessments of need support effective 
safeguarding.  The increase in referrals and addressing a backlog of referrals led to 
a reduction in the proportion of assessments being completed within 45 days from 
92% the previous year to 77% in 2016/17. It is anticipated that this is an anomaly, 
but will continue to be monitored by the Board. 
 
The rate of re-referrals to Social Care in Leicestershire remained low at 17%, 
compared to 18% the previous year. 
 
Ofsted identified concerns regarding the contact and assessment process in 
Leicestershire that it did “not provide an effective enough response to contacts and 
referrals to ensure that all vulnerable families receive a timely response to concerns 
and needs”.  
 
Following Ofsted’s inspection, Leicestershire County Council have revised all 
aspects of the First Response service and implemented an action plan to ensure it is 
more effective, with a new operational model put in place for May 2017. 
Developments include: additional social worker and management capacity alongside 

230



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

administrative resource and further support for less experienced social workers; ICT 
infrastructure development; practice standards; a revised quality assurance and 
learning model and improved performance management. 
 
Routine internal audit in Leicestershire will monitor improvements in First Response, 
looking for consistent application of thresholds, improved quality of assessments and 
care planning and strong management oversight. Assurance on this will be sought 
by the Board. 
 
Leicestershire are piloting a joint approach between Social Care and the Police to 
direct contacts from the Police to the appropriate service.  This has corresponded 
with an increase in referrals to Social Care and a decrease in referrals to Early Help 
from the Police in the final quarter of the year.  
 
The LSCB thresholds document was updated in July 2016 and new panel structures 
implemented in Leicestershire to strengthen key decision-making points, including 
Family Care and Protection meetings, Placement and Additional Resource Panels, 
Permanence Panels and Integrated Family Panels. 
 
Early Help 

In the Inspection in 2016, Ofsted identified that “The local authority’s early help offer 
provides a broad range of effective support and preventative services for children 
and their families and includes provision of intensive family support. This is having a 
positive impact on preventing the need for children to become looked after.” 
 
The Board reviewed a report on performance and outcomes from Early Help in 
January 2017. 
 
The number of children and families supported by the Children Centre’s Programme, 
which focuses on supporting families needing extra help especially in the first 1001 
days from pregnancy until the child’s second birthday, increased. Across the whole 
programme 10,842 children were supported and 1,423 families were supported on 
the intensive pathway in 2016/17. 
 
Partnership working between University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) Midwife service 
and Children’s Centre services has supported an increase in the proportion of 
families registered with Children Centres to 93%, extending the potential reach of 
support provided by this programme. 
 
In 2016/17 

• The programme was involved with (4,060) 38% of the total number of children 
living in the 30% most deprived neighbourhoods in the county 

• There were 106 Parent Volunteers running 1,557 universal parent led 
sessions  

• The programme worked with 1,296 families known to Social Care. 
 

Feedback from parents accessing the Children Centres programme consistently 
identifies good outcomes, for example: 

• 98% of parents thought that their children were better prepared for 
school/nursery 

231



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

• 98% of parents said that they felt better prepared as parents 
• 99% of parents reported an improvement in their emotional and mental health 

 
The Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF) service aims to improve the lives of 
families by undertaking intensive work with them tackling a range of issues including: 
unemployment, domestic abuse, truancy, health problems, drugs, and anti-social 
behaviour.  During 2016/17, the service worked with 885 vulnerable families and 498 
young people across the county on a one-to-one basis or in groups.  
 
Leicestershire will be further publicising the Children Centres Pathway to Social Care 
managers and teams, so that children subject to a Child Protection plan are routinely 
referred for targeted support. 
 
Children in Need and Child Protection 

The increase in the number of referrals to social care in Leicestershire led to a 24% 
increase in the number of Children in Need and the number of children subject to 
Child Protection Plans.   
 
The number of Children in Need in Leicestershire was 3,015 at the end of the 
2016/17. This remains below the national rate, but the Board will continue to monitor 
this. 
 
In Leicestershire a large part of safeguarding for Children in Need has been to: 

 Improve the quality of Child in Need plans and ensure their effectiveness with 
a particular focus on cases stepped down from Child Protection Plans 

 Make clear the Child in Need offer and practices across teams 

 Ensure Early Help step up cases appropriately and without delay.  
 
Leicestershire County Council has developed and implemented Children in Need 
Practice Guidance, appointed three Early Help Senior SW Practitioners and clarified 
the Early Help pathway.  Leicestershire report that teams are starting to manage 
throughput of work better and families who are likely to need a Child in Need service 
receive a more timely service and do not have unnecessary changes of Social 
Worker and team. 
 
Leicestershire County Council are planning to carry out further work to ensure 
caseloads are consistently manageable, and routine audit shows consistent 
application of thresholds, improved quality of assessments and care planning and 
strong management oversight.  The Strengthening Families service will be reviewed 
to ensure a robust Child in Need Service. 
 
Midwives hold a meeting during the thirtieth week of pregnancy for all women 
identified during pregnancy as requiring additional support and protection for their 
unborn child.  Representatives of the health visitor and social worker attend the 
meeting that discusses the arrangements for the safe discharge of the woman and 
baby following the child’s birth. During the year, 233 cases were discussed at this 
forum. This contributes to improved safety and protection for vulnerable babies in 
addition to the statutory child protection planning processes and is an example of 
early identification of vulnerability and good partnership working. 

232



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
The number of Children subject to Child Protection plans also increased by 24% to 
434 (provisional figure) at the end of 2016/17. 
 
The proportion of children on Child Protection Plans from a Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BME) background is 14%, in line with the proportion of the total child population in 
Leicestershire (13.7%). 
 
In Leicestershire, the largest categories of abuse continued to be neglect and 
emotional abuse, which featured in 215 and 157 of the 526 Child Protection Plans 
that commenced in 2016/17 respectively.  In the last quarter of the year emotional 
abuse overtook neglect as the largest category of abuse. 
 
Almost all (96.4%) of Initial Child Protection Conferences (ICPCs) were held within 
statutory timescales and all child protection cases were reviewed within statutory 
timescales.  This protects against cases being subject to drift or delay in achieving 
protection for children. 
 
As identified in the last Annual Report of the Board, the rate of repeat child protection 
plans had risen markedly over an 18-month period to 30.5%, above those of 
statistical neighbours, and a number of steps were needed to reduce this to ensure 
robust and lasting outcomes for this cohort of children. 
 
Leicestershire undertook thematic and senior management audits on repeat plans in 
2016, followed by a staff conference and discussion at the LSCB to better 
understand the issues. 
 
This work identified a need to reinforce the procedures and oversight provided in the 
step-down phase from Child Protection to Child in Need services. In particular there 
was a need to pay more focused attention to those cases where the ‘trilogy of risk’ of 
domestic violence, substance misuse and parental mental health problems are 
factors and to engage collaboratively with partners.  
 
Children in Need practice guidance was developed and issued and measures put 
into place to ensure children receive the right service at the right time, reducing the 
need for repeat Child Protection Plans. 
 
At the end of 2016/17, the average proportion of repeat Child Protection plans was 
18.7%, in line with Leicestershire’s statistical neighbours (18.1%).  
 
Single agency and multi-agency audits of repeat Child Protection Plan files have 
assured the LSCB that Child in Need processes once a child is removed from a 
Child Protection Plan are now more robust, however there is still inconsistency in 
practice in a few areas, such as recording and information sharing, that requires 
further work and further review by the Board. 
 
Leicestershire County Council has assessed what has worked well to contribute to 
this improvement and is using this learning to ensure this progress is sustained 
moving forward. This includes a focus on performance management, strengthening 
management oversight and using practice summits. 

233



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
The LSCB has been monitoring attendance at ICPCs by partner agencies during the 
year and identified that recording of attendance did not take place at all ICPCs, but 
where it did there were gaps in attendance by Police, Education and Health 
representatives.  The Police send reports to almost all conferences they do not 
attend, and multi-agency audits identify that the sending and timeliness of invitations 
to partners may be one factor in gaps in attendance.  Further analysis is required 
and the Board will continue to monitor this through its Safeguarding Effectiveness 
Group. 
 
Whilst there has been an improvement in parents receiving reports for ICPCs two 
days in advance in line with LSCB procedures, this occurred in 49.4% of ICPCs and 
there is further improvement required. 
 
Feedback from children and families regarding the Children’s Rights Service (CRS) 
that supports children’s participation in reviews and access to the appeal and 
complaints procedure is very positive.  Children, young people and their families are 
reporting that they better understand what is going on, feel heard and well 
represented due to the CRS and particularly the use of Signs of Safety (SoS). 
 
Leicestershire County Council has introduced a Quality Assurance Alert process into 
the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service that supports concerns to be 
escalated and good practice to be recognised. 
 

Fostering and Adoption / Private Fostering 

In Leicestershire County Council, the First Response Team, Strengthening Families 
Teams, Fostering and Adoption Assessment Team and the Team around the Child 
Teams are jointly responsible for private fostering arrangements taking place in the 
County. 
 
Leicestershire County Council with the LSCB promotes awareness of the 
requirement to notify the Local Authority regarding private fostering in the following 
ways: 

• Targeted information is distributed to professionals who may come into 
contact with privately fostered children such as teachers, GPs, Health 
Visitors, and School Nurses. 

• Internal communication with employees across the County Council. 
• Information for the public, such as publicity leaflets are made available in 

public places such as libraries and health centres. 
  
Compared to our statistical neighbours, Leicestershire should expect to be assessing 
and supporting up to 50 private fostering arrangements per year.  
 
Despite this work during the year, Leicestershire received only eight new 
notifications of an arrangement meeting the definition of private fostering, and all of 
these related to accommodation arrangements for overseas students whilst studying 
at a single college in the County.  Arrangements are made between the school and 
parent for the care of the child which may include the use of a host family and do 
constitute a private fostering arrangement.  

234



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
Ofsted noted that ‘numbers of cases being identified in which children are living in 
private fostering arrangements have remained stubbornly low’. 
 
Leicestershire have developed an action plan to improve numbers of notifications 
that covers: 

a. Further promotion through leaflets, head teacher briefings, communications to 
colleges and assisted boarding schools, use of social media and radio 
interviews 

b. Provision of information for carers 
c. Development of procedures and performance management to support 

effective working across teams 
d. Governance – quarterly report to senior management within the Council and 

ongoing monitoring by the LSCB. 
 
The Foster Carers Support Team made several improvements during the year to 
support carers, including establishing a duty system, improved links with Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) and additional training input. 
 
During the year Support Workers have offered themed individual and group work 
with young people, for example, safety and Child Sexual Exploitation, building self-
esteem, friendships, and have supported young people and carers with CAMHS 
meetings. The team has 33 Independent visitors who have been matched to young 
people.   
 
Looked after Children 

The number of children looked after by Leicestershire County Council has continued 
its gradual increase over the past few years to 501 at the end of 2016/17 (provisional 
figure).   
 
Placement stability has improved with 8% of children having more than 3 placements 
in a year, compared to 13% in 2015/16. The proportion of those that have been in 
care for more than 2.5 years that have been in one placement for over 2 years or 
placed for adoption than last year has increased slightly to 69%. 
 
At the end of the year, 99.4% of cases had been reviewed within the required 
timescales compared to 98.1% the previous year. 
 
Overall, 95.3% of children over 4 participated in their LAC review, compared with 
90.2% in 2015/16, with 50.5% of those over 4 attending and speaking for themselves 
and many involved in co-chairing the review meeting with the IRO (Independent 
Reviewing Officer). 
 
Children’s involvement and participation is supported by the Children’s Rights 
Service (CRS) which continues to empower children and young people to have their 
voices heard and provides quarterly reports on messages from Children in Care to 
the LSCB 
 
However Ofsted identified that “while IROs work hard to involve children in review 
processes appropriately…” “…a number of children and young people spoken to 

235



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

describe them as too adult-oriented.” The IRO service will look to address this 
concern in 2017/18. 
 
The CRS will carry out work to increase accessibility to the CRS for younger 
children, children with disabilities and Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children.  
The service is also developing its evaluation process to help understand 
performance and support improvement.  
 
Despite improved stability and review outputs, outcomes for care leavers have 
declined slightly with 79% of care leavers in suitable accommodation compared to 
82% last year and 50% of care leavers in education, employment or training 
compared to 52% last year. These levels are above average compared to statistical 
neighbours. 
 
The Virtual School which looks after education for Looked After Children has 
delivered bespoke attachment, trauma and emotion coaching and training in primary, 
secondary and special schools across the county to ensure Looked After Children’s 
needs and education is supported. 
 
A pilot project in Spring 2017 term enabled some children and young people to 
access a variety of therapeutic interventions, such as play-, art-, dog-, and equine-
therapy. Twenty-nine therapeutic interventions lasting between six and ten weeks 
are now in place for these children in care. 
 
Ofsted identified that the Virtual School was ‘highly effective’ and that ‘the local 
authority has invested well’ in the service, whilst ‘children’s progress is extremely 
well monitored’ and that ‘many make good progress socially, emotionally, and 
educationally, considering their starting points’. 
 
Performance in completing Initial Health Assessments for Looked After Children 
within statutory timescales has been scrutinised by the LSCB during the year.  
Timely health assessments are important to allow needs of looked after children to 
be met effectively.  Despite improvements in performance part way through the year 
in Leicestershire, a low proportion were completed within the 28-day statutory 
timescale and this remains an area for further scrutiny by the LSCB. 
 
Leicestershire County Council has introduced a Quality Assurance Alert process into 
the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) service that supports concerns to be 
escalated and good practice to be recognised. 
 
The IRO service has highlighted the need for a formal process for oversight of 
Special Guardianship Order assessments and plans.  Further work is to be carried 
out in the service to ensure drift in cases is challenged by the IRO.  
 
Safeguarding in Education 

The numbers of safeguarding children contacts and enquiries from schools 
increased slightly (4%) in 2016/17 to 2,171 from 2,084 the previous year.  However, 
a significantly larger proportion resulted in a referral to Children’s Social Care for 
further investigation compared to the previous year (61% compared with 38%). 

236



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

This increase is in line with the general increase in referrals to Social Care in the 
latter half of the year following changes to practice in First Response.  In addition, 
schools safeguarding training remains well attended with excellent feedback. 
 
The Safeguarding in Education service has provided training to almost 1,000 
Designated Safeguarding Leads in schools in Leicestershire.  
 
E-safety surveys were completed by about 5,000 pupils and the e-safety award has 
been taken up by ten further schools to take the total to 138 schools in the area. 
 
Safeguarding annual returns were completed for most schools in 2016 showing good 
compliance with safeguarding policies, procedures and practice.  The Council and 
LSCB will continue to develop links with Further Education, Sixth Form colleges and 
independent schools for safeguarding compliance.  We will also establish how well 
madrasah understand and comply with safeguarding responsibilities and offer 
appropriate support. 
 
The Anti-Bullying Team at Leicestershire County Council continues to provide anti-
bullying advice, guidance, support and training primarily to schools and has 
supported many schools to achieve the ‘Beyond Bullying’ Award.  
 
Leicestershire County Council launched a Pupils Missing Education (PME) 
Operating Framework in autumn 2016 and Ofsted assessed that the Authority had a 
‘good grasp of PME’. 
 
Under the Prevent Duty (Section 29 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act), the 
Local Authority is working with schools to support the delivery of packages they have 
developed for young people to divert them away from extremism.   
 
Over 82 WRAP (Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent) sessions have been 
delivered to 60 schools across Leicestershire and compliance with the Prevent duty 
is high. Leicestershire’s Community Safety Team have received calls from schools 
wanting to discuss concerns about particular young people, again indicating a raised 
level of awareness of who to contact in the event of concerns. 
 
Police neighbourhood teams provide inputs to children on several topics with links to 
safeguarding. 
 
Schools have been helped to achieve successful outcomes in safeguarding with all 
schools inspected being rated ‘effective’.  
 
‘Beyond Bullying’ is cited as an example of good practice nationally. 
The schools survey 2016 found that school staff and governors are confident in 
tackling different types of bullying and young people have championed anti-bullying 
in schools. 
 
Further work will take place to develop additional resources to help schools support 
pupils with mental health issues, continue established anti-bullying strategies and 
develop work with Early Years. 
 

237



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Children Home Educated 

In Leicestershire there was a significant increase in the number of children recorded 
as in Elective Home Education (EHE), with 440 at the end of 2016/17 compared to 
321 at the end of the previous year.  The Council report this is an issue seen in other 
areas, and the causes are uncertain, but being explored.  The proportion receiving 
their required visits has reduced from 87% at the end of last year to 81% at the end 
of 2016/17. 
 
During the year the externally provided EHE visits service developed closer working 
relationships with the Medical Needs Practitioners.  Joint visits between the two 
services have been undertaken to assess the education and the impact of their 
medical needs. 
 
Families are visited annually, with families who are ‘suitably’ and ‘efficiently’ 
educating their children receiving a questionnaire after six months, and more 
frequent follow up where this is not the case. Parents are asked to complete the 
questionnaire and return it with work samples. 
 
Leicestershire have embedded ‘Signs of Safety’ in the EHE referral process and at 
the point of case closure and all cases are now risk assessed and regularly 
prioritised using a RAG rating system. 
 
The Council with the visits service have worked hard to identify which families need 
referring to the Court Team for the issue of a School Attendance Order when 
appropriate. 
 
One officer in the visits service is concentrating their time on work with the traveller 
community and this targeted work is working well, with risks for all children managed 
appropriately. 
 
In the autumn term in 2017, Leicestershire County Council are planning to hold 
twilight meetings for families educating children at home to: 

• Enable families to network 
• Provide relevant information for families 
• Provide some basic training. 

 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) 

During the year, the LSCB and Leicestershire County Council have used learning 
from national reports to progress safeguarding of children with SEND. Of particular 
concern were the low numbers of children with SEND on child protection plans.  
 
The Council carried out an initial audit in June 2016 that found good practice in 
identifying and considering children’s disabilities, however there was some 
inconsistency, particularly in recording regarding disabilities.  
 
The Council held a ‘practice summit’ in July 2016 to gather the views of 
professionals in this area, which identified that stronger arrangements between the 
IRO service and the Disabled Children Service would help ensure that information 
regarding children with disabilities was correctly recorded to support good outcomes.  

238



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Following the summit, the council report that the issue of safeguarding children with 
SEND has a much higher profile and practitioners clearly identify it as a priority for 
improvement, both in terms of identification, recording and multi-agency working.  
The number of children with SEND on Child Protection Plans in Leicestershire has 
increased since this focus. 
 
The Council has developed practice standards for assessments, plans and section 
47 inquiries regarding children with SEND which will be rolled out in 2017 with follow 
up audits being planned. 
 
As part of the LSCB’s 2017-18 Business Plan priority regarding Safeguarding 
children with SEND the LSCB will carry out a multi-agency organisational self-
assessment, which will more clearly identify weaknesses or gaps that need to be 
addressed. 
 
Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) 

The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) gives advice or deals with allegations 
against adults who are working or volunteering in a position of trust with children or 
young people in line with the Working Together 2015 requirement for local 
authorities to have a designated officer to manage allegations against people who 
work with children. 
 
During 2016/17 the numbers of contacts and referrals to the LADO in Leicestershire 
stayed level at around 500 contacts and 250 referrals (242).  These have resulted in 
102 allegations being considered at a strategy meeting compared to 125 in 2015/16.   
 
Over the last couple of years the nature of allegations has not varied significantly. 
Physical abuse remains the most frequent allegation. The Leicestershire LADO has 
analysed this and identified that this is related to the number of allegations made by 
children in residential care placements, following being physically restrained, but that 
there is little evidence that residential staff members are inappropriately overusing 
restraint. 
 
As in previous years allegations against teaching staff continue to represent the most 
frequent source of referrals, however the number of referrals relating to child minder, 
nursery or playgroup staff has steadily increased over the past couple of years and is 
now the second most frequent. 
 
In Leicestershire there have been increases in allegations against individuals in a 
role classified as “health care worker/GP” and “Taxi Driver/Escort” though numbers 
are low (13 and 10 respectively) so a trend cannot be determined at this time. 
 
Just under a third of the 102 allegations (28 – 27.5%) were deemed to be 
substantiated. This is lower than the previous year (39 – 31.2%), but otherwise there 
are no significant variations in outcome compared with previous years. 
 
In the majority of cases a strategy meeting takes place within 3 days of the decision 
that one is required, in line with local procedures.  In Leicestershire 74% took place 
within 3 days in 2016/17 compared to 72.1% in 2015/16.  A smaller proportion took 
place ten or more days after the decision, 12% compared to 13.8% in 2015/16. 

239



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
More than 60% of all allegations that proceed to a strategy meeting are resolved at 
the first meeting, with less than 2% of allegations requiring more than three 
meetings.  These figures represent a reduction in the number of meetings held per 
allegation compared to previous years. 
 
The Leicestershire LADO is part of East Midlands and National networks to ensure 
continued learning and sharing of good practice and the LADO is involved in national 
development of guidance and procedures, particularly regarding cross-border 
working. 
 
The Ofsted inspection of Leicestershire children’s services concluded that 
“Allegations of abuse, maltreatment or poor practice by professionals or carers are 
taken seriously and, in all cases examined, the appropriate threshold was applied 
and a timely response was evident.” 
 
Further work to be carried out in 2017/18 will include developing a suite of closure 
letters to round off the process for individuals involved and improving consistency in 
recording regarding allegations relating to households.  
 
  

240



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Safeguarding Children in Rutland 

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the LSCB assesses that whilst there 
are some areas for improvement organisations are working well together in Rutland 
to safeguard children. 
 
In the Ofsted inspection of services for children in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care leavers and review of the effectiveness of the LSCB in 
Rutland Ofsted rated Rutland County Council’s services overall as ‘Requiring 
Improvement.’ In the inspection report they identified that “While no children were 
found to be at immediate risk of harm and most have improving outcomes, the 
quality of practice in assessment, planning and management oversight is too 
variable. When immediate risks are identified, child protection enquiries are timely 
and thorough. However, emerging risks and concerns are often not recognised or 
addressed as swiftly as they could be, leaving some children vulnerable to further 
harm.”  
 
This section outlines developments and data for elements of safeguarding and 
children services in Rutland 
 
Contact and Assessment 

Rutland data shows a slight increase in the total number of safeguarding children 
contacts and enquiries from 901 during 2015/16 to 932 during 2016/17 (3.5%).  The 
conversion rate from contacts to referral to Social Care in Rutland remained at a 
similar level to the previous year, at 39%. 
 
The number of contacts for the public increased during the year, and 29% of the 93 
contacts were referred on to Social Care. 
 
An initial single assessment is required to take place following each safeguarding 
referral within 45 days of the referral.  Rutland completed 80% of single assessments 
within 45 days, an increase compared to 68% in 2015/16, and in line with levels in 
previous years.  In the last half of the year, 94% of assessments were completed 
within 45 days. 
 
The rate of re-referrals to Social Care in Rutland was slightly lower than last year at 
26%, but had increased in the last quarter.  This will continue to be reviewed. 
 
During the year Rutland County Council have appointed a permanent head of 
service and service manager, increased support for services through Business 
Intelligence and set out clear expectations around practice and performance.  
Assessment quality, identified as a concern in LSCB and Rutland County Council 
audits, and by Ofsted in their inspection, was improving at the end of the year. 
 
The Council are continuing to develop group supervision in the service to support 
good practice and management oversight. 
 
 

 

241



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Early Help 

The Ofsted inspection reported that “Early help services are effective. A wide range 
of evidence-based interventions provided are successfully helping to improve 
circumstances for children and families.”  
 
The Board reviewed a report on performance and outcomes from Early Help in 
January 2017. 
 
The number of families receiving support through Early Help services increased from 
119 at the end of 2015/16 to 198 at the end of 2016/17. 
 
Partnership working between University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) Midwife service 
and Children’s Centre services has supported a significant increase in the proportion 
of families registered with Children Centres from 82% at the end of 2015/16 to 96% 
at the end of 2016/17.   
 
Rutland has seen improved levels of engagement in the Children’s Centres, from 
68% to 75% of families and 85% of families within the Children Centres programme 
report that their needs have been fully met. 
 
The ‘Changing Lives Rutland’ Troubled Families programme were supporting 78 
families at the end of the year compared to 17 at the end of 2015/16 and 52 children 
were receiving targeted one-to-one Children’s Centres involvement in Rutland. 
Sixteen additional families achieved planned payment by results outcomes on the 
‘Changing Lives Rutland’. 
 
Signs of Safety has been embedded across the Early Help service and Early Help 
co-ordinators continue to offer support and case discussions to partner agencies, 
including schools, health visitors and Police. 
 
Rutland County Council Early Help worked jointly on 35% of their cases with Social 
Care and fewer cases were ‘stepped up’ from Early Help to Social Care (3) than the 
previous year (28). 
 
Early Help cases are subject to the Quality Assurance and Performance process and 
cases are audited monthly by the Council. The Council also carries out a quality 
check on external Early Help assessments to ensure children and families get the 
right support. 
 
Rutland internal quality audits of Early Help have shown an improvement in 
capturing and responding to Voice of the Child and focus of assessments. 
 
The Early Help workforce is stable and families receive a consistent worker.  Partner 
agencies, especially schools, report high levels of confidence and feel supported by 
Early Help services in Rutland. 
 
Caseloads remain stable at 16.5 children and staff report feeling supported and 
receiving training and development. 
 

242



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Rutland will further quality test the Early Help Care Pathway in 2017/18 to ensure it 
is robust and focused on outcomes. 
 
Children in Need and Child Protection 

Despite the number of referrals to social care remaining at a similar level there has 
been a reduction in the number of Children in Need and the number of Children 
Subject to Child Protection Plans in Rutland.  
 
The number of Children in Need in Rutland at the end of the 2016/17 was 90, almost 
half that at the end of 2015/16 (170), and well below the national rate. Commentary 
awaited. 
 
Rutland County Council Social Care and midwives have telephone contact during 
the thirtieth week of pregnancy for all women identified during pregnancy as 
requiring additional support and protection for their unborn child.  This contributes to 
improved safety and protection for vulnerable babies in addition to the statutory child 
protection planning processes and is an example of early identification of 
vulnerability and good partnership working. 
 
The number of children subject to Child Protection Plans dropped from 29 to 22 at 
the end of the year.  No children have been subject to a Child Protection Plan for 
more than two years and the percentage of repeat Child Protection Plans in Rutland 
is 20%.  
 
In Rutland, the largest categories of abuse were neglect and emotional abuse, 
featuring in 16 and 15 of the 41 Child Protection Plans that commenced during 
2016/17 respectively. 
 
All child protection cases were reviewed within statutory timescales.  This protects 
against cases being subject to drift or delay in achieving protection for children.  
 
The LSCBs multi-agency audits identified inconsistency in practice in a few areas, 
such as recording, information sharing and hearing the voice of children.  Rutland 
County Council have introduced developments to support this, including group 
supervision, practice workshops and clear expectations around practice and 
performance.  This is showing some improvements by the end of the year, but 
requires further work and further review by the Board.   
 
The LSCB has been monitoring attendance at ICPCs by partner agencies during the 
year.   
 
At the beginning of the year, Rutland developed and delivered multi-agency training 
to embed the solution focused approach to the Child Protection Conferences which 
has resulted in improved engagement of parents, understanding the risks and 
contributing to the formulation of the plan. The ownership of the plan has in turn seen 
actions being progressed and completed thus preventing drift and children remaining 
subjects of Child Protection Plans for long periods. 
 
The training has also improved the quality of reports to conference, embedded Signs 
of Safety in the approach and resulted in improved attendance from partner agencies 

243



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

and information being provided in a timely manner when they were unable to attend. 
During the year, all but one ICPC had Health and Education representatives.  The 
Police attended nine of the nineteen ICPCs and, in line with local agreements, sent 
reports to all the others. 
 
Fostering and Adoption 

Ofsted identified some shortfalls regarding fostering in Rutland including assessment 
of carers and challenge within fostering panels.  Rutland County Council have 
reviewed the fostering and adoption service, have set clear expectations regarding 
practice and performance.  By the end of the year the service had ensured all 
reviews of foster carers were up to date and had resolved all complaints.   
 
Rutland County Council have developed an annual training programme for Foster 
Carers and updated the Statement of Purpose and Foster Carer Charter. 
 
Under-reporting of private fostering is an ongoing concern. Despite further 
awareness work during the year Rutland had no referrals for Private Fostering in 
2016/17. 
 
In response to this Ofsted made a recommendation for the LSCB in its inspection 
report for Rutland to “Improve awareness raising of private fostering across the 
partnership and wider community.” This is being taken forward as part of the Board’s 
improvement plan. 
 
Rutland County Council is reviewing its processes for oversight of foster panels, 
developing group supervision, looking to embed Signs of Safety and reviewing its 
Service Level Agreement with Leicestershire County Council regarding Private 
Fostering to ensure good quality practice and services for Children Looked After. 
 
Children Looked After 

The number of children looked after by Rutland County Council has continued its 
gradual increase over the past few years to 42 at the end of 2016/17.  Placement 
stability has continued to be good with no children having more than 3 placements in 
a year, and though a lower proportion of those that have been in care for more than 
2.5 years have been in one placement for over 2 years or placed for adoption than 
last year (73% compared to 88%) this remains above the national average. 
 
During the year all cases were reviewed within required timescales. 
 
Ofsted recognised that the service for care leavers is good.  All care leavers are in 
suitable accommodation, and while there has been a drop in the proportion of care 
leavers in education, employment or training (to 78% from 87% last year) this 
remains high compared to the national average. 
Performance in completing Initial Health Assessments for Children Looked After, 
within statutory timescales has been scrutinised by the LSCB during the year.  
Timely health assessments are important to allow needs of children looked after to 
be met effectively.  A low proportion were completed within the 28-day statutory 
timescale at the start of the year, however in the last quarter of the year all were 
completed in that timescale in Rutland.  

244



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Safeguarding in Education 

The number of contacts and enquiries to Rutland County Council from schools 
increased (15%) in 2016/17 to 185 from 161 the previous year.  A slightly lower 
proportion resulted in a referral to Children’s Social Care for further investigation as 
the previous year (51% compared with 55%). 
 
A survey of schools and early years establishments in Rutland was carried out in 
autumn 2016 to establish compliance regarding safeguarding in these places. 
 
Safeguarding annual returns were completed for most schools in 2016 showing good 
compliance with safeguarding policies, procedures and practice.   
 
Training for schools in Rutland through the adult learning support service reflects the 
national agenda, offering nationally accredited training, including: 

 Designated Person training 

 Prevent training 
 
The Virtual School which looks after education for Children looked after (CLA) to 
ensure their needs and education is supported in their education settings has run a 
programme of training which has included: 

 Trauma training for the Virtual School Head 

 Carers workshop 

 Designated Teacher for CLA annual training 
 
Headteacher strategy meetings have included: 

 Training for headteachers on building school resilience in managing pupils 
with mental health issues and SEND. 

 Training on attachment disorders 
 
Children Home Educated 

At the end of the year five children in Rutland were registered as Home Educated. 
For all Children Home Educated a visit is made on a date mutually agreed at the 
start of the process and follow up visits annually by arrangement.  All children in 
Rutland had received their annual visit during the year. 
 
During the year Rutland have developed their process regarding Children Home 
Educated to ensure checks are carried out with Social Care and The Voice of the 
child is always captured where possible. 
 
This work has increased opportunities for children and families to have access to 
other agencies e.g. Early Help, Aiming High, Youth Options.  
 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

Rutland County Council audited all Children with Disabilities cases in April 2016 to 
ensure there were no safeguarding concerns.  A report was submitted to the LSCB 
to support the development of the Business Plan Priority for 2017/18 and an action 
plan in response to this audit and the Ofsted Safeguarding children with disabilities 
report is being implemented. 

245



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Rutland County Council are undertaking a Self-assessment of the SEND and 
Inclusion service, from which an action plan will be developed and a set of practice 
standards. The Council’s review of the ‘front door’ process and pathway will include 
looking to ensure a timely response to children with additional needs 
 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) 

Rutland appointed a permanent Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Manager 
during the year. They have worked to develop the safeguarding service including: 

 Processes for improved communication with parents 

 Improving case auditing 

 Processes for escalating and resolving practice alerts 

 Developing workshops for practitioners 

 Improving engagement and participation of children and families and seeking 
their feedback. 

 
Children and their families are providing feedback following the Child Protection 
Conferences and CLA reviews which is showing an improving picture. The following 
Case study outlines the improvements: 
 
One mother recently attended an Initial Child Protection Conference for her three 
children who had previously been subjects of Child Protection plans. She felt very 
angry and negative towards CSC and partner agencies and spoke about how she 
had become upset and had stormed out of the meeting previously. Time was 
invested to prepare her for the ICPC, she was encouraged to contribute and her 
views were respected. The Signs of Safety visual model enabled her to process the 
information and to recognise the risks. The many strengths were acknowledged “ I’m 
liking this….I’m liking this lot ” mother exclaimed. Her body language was positive. 
She was in the meeting, an integral part and did not leave feeling ‘done-to,’ as she 
previously had. The mother was able to manage the whole meeting and felt heard.  
She was also able to hear and respect the professionals concerns. She identified 
actions for herself and her partner, set clear timescales and was holding the 
professionals to account regarding them providing the support that had been 
identified. The mother and the Social Worker who requested the ICPC were able to 
leave the meeting together (Social Worker offered to transport mother to school to 
collect her children) thus showing the importance of respect and engagement for 
healthy relationship building which results in better outcomes for children and their 
families. 
 
Rutland County Council has established an ARC (At Risk Children)/CLA (Children 
Looked After) Panel, which is chaired by the Head of Children’s Social Care and 
reviews all children subject to Child Protection Plans over 12 months, ensures 
oversight of all children looked after as well as agreeing and ratifying decisions made 
around children becoming looked after.  Education and Health Partners are engaged 
with this process and attend the panel. 
 
The ARC/LAC panel supports good management oversight and timely decision 
making along with creative solutions to complex situations being explored and 
implemented. 
 

246



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Further work will be undertaken with social care workers to build upon the progress 
that has been made particularly in regards to engaging children, parents and the 
extended family. 
 
LADO 

The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) gives advice or deals with allegations 
against adults who are working or volunteering in a position of trust with children or 
young people in line with the Working Together 2015 requirement for local 
authorities to have a designated officer to manage allegations against people who 
work with children. 
 
During 2016/17 the numbers of enquiries to the LADO in Rutland increased by from 
fourteen to twenty-three (64% increase).  This is similar to the level two years ago, 
although Rutland County Council reports that during the first half of 2016/17 
recording and analysis of information was not consistent.  These enquiries have 
resulted in eight allegations being considered at a complex strategy meeting 
compared to five in 2015/16.  Nine contacts were enquiries for advice, and the other 
six contacts were logged and closed following consultation by the LADO and advice 
given. 
 
Over the last couple of years the nature of allegations has not varied significantly. 
Physical abuse remains the most frequent allegation. 
 
Staff in children’s residential care represented the most frequent subject of enquiries, 
however all but one related to a single establishment.  Advice and guidance has 
been given to that establishment regarding robust reporting and further training 
followed by education staff in nurseries, schools and colleges. 
 
Four of the eight allegations were deemed to be substantiated, one fewer than the 
previous year. 
 
The Rutland LADO is part of East Midlands network.  The LADO has been raising 
awareness of the role through local professional groups, and plans to expand this 
further by facilitating training sessions over the next year.  The LADO is also working 
with the IT and performance teams to develop effective recording on the social care 
management system to enable capture of reliable data, to support robust analysis of 
themes. 
  

247



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Safeguarding Children in Leicestershire and Rutland 

 
Voluntary Sector Safeguarding Assurance 

As part of its assurance work the Board has commissioned Voluntary Action 
LeicesterShire (VAL) to carry out a survey to assess safeguarding approaches 
across the community, voluntary and independent sector. 
 
The project commenced in August 2016 to run for two years.  The project has been 
promoted through voluntary sector communication channels, newsletters and forums 
encouraging voluntary sector groups across the two Counties to complete the 
questionnaire in a paper, online format or by telephone.  In addition, VAL has been 
contacting and following up agencies directly by telephone to encourage completion. 
The questionnaire contains questions to ascertain safeguarding practice in voluntary 
and community sector agencies and VAL provide follow-up advice to agencies where 
gaps in knowledge and practice are identified by the return of the survey. 
 
For the nine months to April 2017, 150 organisations had responded to the survey 
covering 7,438 volunteers and 1,962 paid staff across the two counties. 
 
The key findings for those agencies include: 

 Staff or volunteers have received safeguarding training in 86% of 
organisations 

 85% of organisations have a designated lead person for safeguarding 
concerns 

 87% of organisations have carried out DBS checks, though only 62% have 
carried out DBS checks for both relevant staff and volunteers, though this may 
be impacted by their workforce make up. 

 47% of organisations were aware of the LSCBs online procedures and only 
34% of the Threshold guidance 

 24% of agencies use the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Competency 
framework. 

 15% of organisations do not have policies in place for Allegations against 
members of staff. 

 28% of organisations do not have policies in place for Whistle Blowing 
volunteers. 
 

These findings suggest good coverage of safeguarding training and awareness in 
the voluntary and community sector, but a small minority of organisations that do not 
have robust safeguarding training, understanding or procedures. The nature of the 
project means that VAL has been able to signpost and support organisations to 
improve their procedures and practice and gain training as required.   
 
The full findings of the project will be analysed when the project finishes in 2018.  

248



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Business Development Plan Priorities 

LSCB Priority 1 – Secure robust and effective arrangements to tackle Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE), Missing and Trafficking 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For impact and further developments required, see overleaf. 

We planned to… 
 Develop a programme of communication activity and training initiatives 

appropriate and relevant to a wide range of individuals and groups 

 Develop and implement a specialist response to those children going missing 
from home or care, at the highest risk 

 Ensure learning from return interviews for children going missing is collated and 
acted upon 

 Identify audit opportunities to test improved safeguarding outcomes 

 Monitor and review progress of Strategic Partnership Development Fund (SPDF) 
CSE programme implementation 

 Review current commissioning arrangements for post-abuse services to 
determine whether they are well planned, informed and effective 

 Assess and evaluate the sufficiency of current services to offer specialist 
interventions, specifically post abuse 

 Ensure the needs of children and young people regarding CSE are represented 
in the Health and Well-Being Strategy 

We did… 
 Transferred the ownership of the development work on CSE to a CSE, Trafficking 

and Missing Executive and Operational Group outside of the LSCB structure but 
reporting into the LSCB for assurance. 

 Built on joined up approaches through integration of specialist CSE Nurses into 
the already established multi-agency CSE team and co-location of City Council 
staff with the team.   

 Through the LLR Strategic Partnership Development Fund (SPDF)  CSE: 

 Extended the CEASE (Commitment to Eradicate Abuse and Sexual Exploitation) 
campaign  

 Rolled out the Kayleigh’s Love Story film to local school children 

 Extended the ‘Warning Zone’ safety education centre to incorporate an e-Safety 
zone 

 Strengthened the CSE multi-agency team with an intelligence analyst; a 
psychologist; a parenting support coordinator; and a service manager to jointly 
oversee the team with the Detective Inspector 

 Relaunched the CSE information sharing form to enable partners to more easily 
share soft intelligence about CSE concerns 

 Ensured children at risk of CSE are flagged on health records visible to GPs, 
school nurses, health visitors, CAMHS, out of hours services and integrated 
sexual health services. 

 Supported single agency training and the embedding of CSE champions in 
services.   

 

249



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The impact was… 

 Ofsted found that work with children at risk of CSE is strong, both strategically 
and operationally, through both mainstream and dedicated services.   

 The number of referrals to the multi-agency team where CSE concerns were 
identified levelled off in Leicestershire at around 300 and increased in Rutland 
from 8 to 29.  The profile of referrals has changed with an overall reduction in the 
level of risk and harm identified.  Further research needs to be undertaken but 
suggests a successful outcome of the local strategy i.e. children at risk of harm 
are being identified earlier and intervention to reduce risk and harm to children is 
effective. 

 The number of referrals where online CSE is a feature has increased by 100% 
over the past 12 months mirroring the national trend.  There has been increasing 
numbers of referrals related to children under the age of 12, with the majority of 
these referrals linked to online CSE.  Over 70% of all referrals related to children 
living at home highlighting the importance of raising awareness with parents and 
carers. 

 The quality of referrals has improved following practice developments such as 
training and internal processes. 

 A wider range of professionals have directly contacted the multi-agency CSE 
team for consultation.  There have been more direct referrals from health 
professionals following the introduction of specialist CSE Nurses to the team. 

 Co-location of partners in the multi-agency CSE team has significantly assisted in 
the development of the collective understanding of those at risk of CSE resulting 
in direct allocations to the team for support.  Profiling of suspects, perpetrators 
and locations has been instrumental in the development of increasing numbers of 
joint investigations, increased levels of enforcement activity and more trials 
resulting in successful prosecutions. 

 The level of post-trial support and recovery for victims of CSE has improved due 
to the specialist CSE Nurses identifying clearer pathways for children.   

 The Kayleigh’s Love Story film was rolled out to over 55,000 school children 
across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland leading to over 30 substantial 
disclosures.  The award winning film has been viewed by over 30 million people 
worldwide on social media and has been rolled out in many other local areas as 
part of their prevention campaigns.  

 During 2016-17 the total number of children reported missing in Leicestershire 
and Rutland has remained comparable to 2015-16; however, overall the total 
number of times children have been reported missing has been reducing.  This 
change requires further investigation although it is believed to be as a result of the 
effectiveness of earlier intervention with children going missing for the first time 
and more targeted responses where children have been frequently missing.  Over 
30% of reports of missing children in Leicestershire are related to children placed 
in the area in private children’s homes by other local authorities. 

 Central coordination of the response to missing children through the multi-agency 
CSE team has led to improvements in the follow up to the report of missing 
episodes.  Return interviews are now being allocated and completed in a more 
timely way, in most cases within the 72 hour timespan identified in statutory 
guidance.   

 

250



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Further development required… 

 Full integration of LLR partners into the multi-agency CSE team – children, 
families and perpetrators all cross borders 

 A programme of school prevention activity is planned during 2017-18 
encompassing the continued roll out of the Kayleigh’s Love Story film, the 
development of a CSE toolkit for schools and the re-commissioning of 
Chelsea’s Choice to tour in the Autumn term.   

 Develop work with primary age children in relation to reducing the risk of 
online CSE 

 Build the intelligence picture in relation to risky persons and offenders to 
enable a more targeted approach in managing threat and risk 

 Collate the information gathered from missing children return interviews to 
support the development of shared intelligence in line with Ofsted 
recommendations 

 A partnership forum with local children’s homes providers is planned as part 
of the strategy to reduce the risk of harm to children in care placed by other 
local authorities in the area 

 Continue to monitor the type and level of support and recovery services 
offered to victims of CSE including a specialist parents support worker and 
peer support group following feedback from several families affected by 
CSE 

 Continue awareness raising campaigns aimed at and co-designed with 
parents and carers. 
 

251



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

LSCB Priority 2 – Maximise the impact of learning from Serious Case Reviews 
(SCRs) and other reviews 
 
 
 
 
 
  

We planned to… 
 Ensure that recommendations from SCRs and other reviews locally and 

nationally are disseminated, acted upon and positively impact on the quality of 
safeguarding services and their outcomes for children, young people and 
families. 

 Ensure that appropriate workforce development takes place to ensure staff can 
implement required change 

 Incorporate specific learning themes into the Quality Assurance and 
Performance Management Framework to test impact on service quality and 
outcomes for children, young people and families: 

 Young people Suicide and Self-Harm 

 Bruising to non-mobile babies 

 Effective Information Sharing 

 Case Supervision 

 Vulnerable Looked after Children 

 Transient Families 

 Domestic Abuse in families with children 
 

We did… 
 Used our Safeguarding Matters publication and ran two multi-agency learning 

events to highlight the learning from SCR’s and alternative reviews to the 
partnership workforce. 

 Collated and distributed learning from SCR’s across the country to local 
agencies through the SCR sub group, incorporating themes that needed further 
work in Leicestershire and Rutland into the Business planning process. 

 Worked to respond to early learning from reviews to ensure any necessary 
changes to procedures or practice is timely.  This included identification of a 
need for a Children in Need (CIN) protocol and developing solutions for people 
whose first language is not English. 

 Monitored data regarding Bruising to non-mobile babies. 

 Incorporated Effective Information Sharing and Case Supervision as key parts 
of all multi-agency case file audits undertaken by the Board.  Specific work was 
undertaken to increase GP awareness regarding effective information sharing 
for safeguarding children. 

 Ran a quarterly partnership Looked After Children (LAC) networking meeting 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland troubleshooting individual cases 
and sharing good practice. 

 The Local Authorities undertook single audits of their practice with regard to 
Looked After Children. 

 Included Cross border protocol for LAC in the multi-agency LSCB procedures  

 Operation Encompass which improves information sharing with schools 
regarding domestic abuse where children are present commenced in Rutland, 
having been implemented in Leicestershire in 2015. 

252



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

The impact was… 
 It is too early to measure impact of many of the approaches put into place. 

 A recent multi agency review of a live case regarding self-harm showed that the 
young person involved had received a formal diagnosis in respect of their mental 
health needs and is receiving the correct medication to support them coping with 
their condition. 

 Case audits show greater confidence in the workforce regarding information 
sharing and what can be shared appropriately. 

 A review carried out in 2016 showed evidence of improvements in practice and 
outcomes with regard to Vulnerable Looked after Children 

Further development required… 
 Practice regarding Vulnerable Looked after Children to be tested further by multi-

agency and single agency case file audit. 

 Continue to follow up routes for providing information to people whose first 
language is not English. 

 A multi-agency audit of practice regarding domestic abuse will take place 
following implementation of the domestic abuse information sharing pathways, 
which remain in development. 

 Final sign off of the regional protocol for children on Child in Need plans is 
awaited, however local procedures for Children in Need will be updated in line 
with the proposed protocol in the meantime. 

253



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

LSCB Priority 3 – Champion and support the extension of Signs of Safety 
(SoS) across the Partnership 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Workforce Learning & Development 

To introduce the SoS approach to agencies across the LSCB partnership so that 
professionals have a clear understanding of the ethos, use a common language 
and are familiar with the processes and the disciplines of the approach and all 
partners can contribute effectively in all meetings 

 Organisational Alignment 
Ensure that relevant LSCB processes, systems and forms align with and support 
Signs of Safety practice across the partnership 

 Leadership 
Across the LSCB, leaders and managers understand, support and actively 
promote the Signs of Safety approach 

 Meaningful Measurement 
Ensure LSCB Quality Assurance processes are in place to assess and measure 
the quality across the partnership and the impact of the extension of the SoS 
approach. 

 

We did… 
Workforce Learning & Development 

 Held 3 Introduction to Signs of Safety Briefing sessions open to partner 
agencies and 1 Introduction to Words and Pictures session 

 Set up a SoS webpage on the Safeguarding Boards website containing links, 
information and PowerPoint: http://lrsb.org.uk/signs-of-safety 

 Used the Appreciative Inquiry methodology to review cases 

 Shared tools including surveys and audits developed across the partnership. 
 

Organisational Alignment 

 Leicestershire and Rutland worked together to develop and align their 
approach in relation to case conferences 

 Developed and piloted of SoS compliant report to conference and associated 
Guidance Notes 

Leadership 

 Held a Deliberative Inquiry on SoS at an LSCB meeting to help develop a 
shared understanding 

Meaningful Measurement 

 Incorporated consideration and testing of SoS in design of single agency and 
LSCB audit tools 

 Reviewed feedback from parents through the Safeguarding Effectiveness 
Group (SEG). 

 

254

http://lrsb.org.uk/signs-of-safety


 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

The impact was… 
 Of the 80 practitioners who attended the Signs of Safety briefings all rated a 

significant increase in their knowledge, skills and confidence in the approach with 
specific points to improve practice. 

 In Rutland, the Local Authority has trialled a young person chairing their own CP 
conference, and all CP conferences follow a Strengthening Families format, which 
is more inclusive for the young person and family, and supports the family and 
young people to put forward their own views and opinions. 

 In Leicestershire, the majority of children (81%) rate the extent to which people 
who are working with them are listening to and acting on what they said as over 7 
out of 10. 

Further development required… 
 Embedding Signs of Safety is acknowledged as requiring more than short term 

intensive action, and the need for further development to embed Signs of Safety 
across the partnership has been identified. 

 The Deliberative Inquiry at the Board identified a gap in understanding of and 
support for the Signs of Safety approach at a Leadership level. 

 Further work is required to gain evidence that the extension of the SoS approach 
across the partnership has value and positive impact for families. 

 In addition, further work is required to ensure that practitioners across agencies 
understand how Signs of Safety is used in practice and can contribute effectively 
at all key decision making points and to gain feedback from staff of the SoS 
methodology on their practice. 

 In April 2017, Leicester City Local Authority Children’s Services signed up to the 
implementation of Signs of Safety so future multi-agency developments will be 
implemented across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland including the Multi-
agency referral form. 

 
 

255



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

LSCB Priority 4 – Be assured that thresholds for services are understood 
across the partnership and applied consistently 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Test multi-agency understanding and application of safeguarding thresholds in 

Leicestershire and Rutland through the four quadrant QAPM framework, tracking 
the data through the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) and reporting 
issues to the Executive Group and the Board 

 Ensure that referrals to Children’s Social Care (CSC) are made in accordance 
with current thresholds 

 Ensure that appropriate referrals are being made to Early Help from the Healthy 
Child programme 

 Establish the levels of referrals to CSC from the public and encourage 
appropriate referrals by an awareness campaign 

 Establish and report on what constitutes No Further Action in regard to referrals 
and encourage a shared consistent language across LLR.  

 
 

We did… 
 Put the updated Thresholds document on the LSCB website 

 Distributed thresholds business cards to staff across agencies with clear 
‘signpost’ to the Thresholds document on the website 

 Undertook a multi-agency audit into repeat or subsequent Child Protection Plan 
(CPP).   

 SEG now obtains data from the Health Visitor Healthy Child programme of 
Universal, Universal Plus and Universal Partnership Plus levels of service and 
monitors through the SEG dataset. 

 We have established the levels of referrals to CSC from the public  
A report on No Further Actions (NFAs) was completed and a better 
understanding of what constitutes NFA has been established across LLR 

The impact was… 

 Feedback on referrals that don’t meet the thresholds is provided to agency 
managers 

 There is now consistent reporting through SEG regarding thresholds and through 
the partnership. 

 Referrals from the public are good so no campaign is needed at this time. 

Further development required… 
 Audit revealed the requirement to strengthen Child in Need action plans and 

multi-agency commitment to recognise this when children are removed from 
Child Protection Plans.  This work is being progressed as part of the Children in 
Need multi-agency protocol. 

 Ofsted identified gaps in quality and consistency of assessment in 
Leicestershire & Rutland and the LSCB will continue to monitor developments 
on this 

256



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

LSCB Priority 5 – Be assured that Early Help Services are effectively 
coordinated across the LSCB Partnership and secure outcomes that reduce 
pressure on child protection and care services 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Deliver a robust Early Help offer across Leicestershire and Rutland through 

integrated working and implementation of the Early Help Assessment (EHA) and 
team around the family approach 

 Devise an outcomes framework for Early Help 

 Review and evaluate local programmes once a year in order to ensure quality, 
equity and value for money 

 Monitor performance of delivery plans that support local area strategic priorities 
regarding Early Help.  

We did… 
 Developed a common Early Help scorecard 

 Local Authorities created and implemented common referral, triage, assessment 
and support planning procedures to support the multi-agency system 

 The LSCB received a report in January 2017 regarding progress and performance 
of Early Help in the two Local Authority areas, in addition to incorporation of Early 
Help metrics in the performance framework. 

The impact was… 
 The Board is assured that Early Help is having an impact on outcomes for 

children – for example, of the cases closed in the year in Rutland, 83% have had 
needs met and, in Leicestershire, 60% of families made positive progress across 
a range of areas.   

 There has been a reduction in the number of cases stepped up to Social Care in 
both Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 The step-up and step-down process is embedded and thresholds for Early Help 
intervention are appropriate 

 Ofsted’s inspections in Leicestershire and Rutland identified Early Help services 
to be effective and improving outcomes.  

Further development required… 
 The Early Help evidence base needs developing to be able to identify ‘promising’ 

interventions and test their impact. 

 Some inconsistency of partner engagement in Early Help remains and systems 
are not uniformly ‘integrated’.  The Heads of Early Help services are creating an 
Early Help Framework across the partnership to move this forward. 

 Information sharing remains a practical barrier to multi-agency working for both 
technical and cultural reasons. Some solutions will be considered through the 
Training and Development Subgroup in 2017/18. 

 Testing of step-up and step-down processes will be part of the LSCB business as 
usual and will be monitored through a multi-agency audit and assurance data 
being reviewed by the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG).  

257



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

LSCB Priority 6 – Be assured that the LLR Neglect strategy increases 
understanding, identification, risk assessment and management of neglect 
and reduces prevalence in Leicestershire & Rutland 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Develop and publish the Neglect Strategy to create a standard across partnership 

agencies to identify, assess risk and manage Child Neglect 

 Develop and launch Neglect Toolkit to ensure improved and consistent 
identification, risk assessment and management of Child Neglect across Leicester, 
Leicestershire & Rutland (LLR) partnership agencies and review LLR procedures 

 Promote LLR Practice Guidance to ensure buy-in of frontline practitioners 

We did… 
 Launched the LLR Neglect Strategy, Practice Guidance and Toolkit in July 2016, 

at a multi-agency and community event. 

 Ran seven training sessions on the toolkit attended by 404 people. 

 Following an initial six-month period of embedding the Toolkit into frontline 
practice, we conducted a survey of practitioners to assess the impact on the 
detection and assessment of neglect. 

 Agencies, such as LPT, have incorporated the Neglect toolkit into training and 
internal processes 

The impact was… 
 Both Leicestershire and Rutland saw an increase in cases where Neglect was a 

factor during 2016 following the launch and training. 

 The survey found that: 
- The LLR LSCB Neglect Toolkit is still being embedded and it is too soon to 

measure the impact and also obtain the voice of the child 
- Practitioners report the Toolkit is useful in identifying and evidencing neglect, 

as well as for explaining neglect and the areas that parents need to improve. 
- Practitioners will require ongoing reminders regarding the toolkit  

 A multi-agency case file audit regarding Neglect in March 2017 found that where 
the Toolkit had been used this had improved the practice in supporting the child. 

Further development required… 
 Further work is required to embed the toolkit in practice.  Numbers of neglect 

cases dropped to previous levels in the last quarter of the year and the multi-
agency case file audit regarding Neglect found that the toolkit had not been used 
in the majority of cases. 

 Managers and professionals need to continue to raise awareness of the LLR 
Neglect Practice Guidance, procedures, toolkit and escalation policy, particularly 
through supervision. 

 The LSCB will continue to promote the toolkit and its benefits and carry out further 
work to support embedding of this approach in practice. 

 A further survey will be carried out in 2017/18 to identify progress and gain 
practitioner feedback on the toolkit. 

258



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

In addition the LRLSCB shared three priorities for development and assurance with 
the LRSAB: 
 
LSCB / SAB Priority 1: To be assured that there are robust and effective 
arrangements to tackle domestic abuse 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Scrutinise the new Domestic Abuse Pathway for services for victims (including 

children, young people and adults) ensuring it is fit for purpose and embedded 
across the partnership (UAVA) 

 Ensure that there are effective information sharing arrangements in place to 
support the effective delivery of the pathway for services 

 Be assured that there are effective preventative processes and intervention 
services in place for domestic abuse perpetrators. 

We did… 
 Reviewed progress on the domestic abuse pathway work and domestic abuse data 

and identified key gaps between the capacity of Independent Domestic Violence 
Advocate (IDVA) services and the demands being placed upon those services.   

 The work on domestic abuse pathways has identified some elements of the system 
where Domestic Abuse related information sharing pathways work effectively, and 
where there are some high profile gaps. 

 The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Domestic Violence Delivery Group 
(DVDG) has worked to develop the use of Integrated Offender Management (IOM) 
to reduce the harm caused by DV perpetrators. 

The impact was… 
 Partners secured additional funding to increase IDVA services from April 2017.  

 Reports of DA to the Police reduced compared to the previous year in both 
Leicestershire and Rutland, but referrals to MARAC increased. 

 The majority of people from Leicestershire and Rutland receiving support regarding 
domestic abuse felt safer (88% and 98% respectively) 

 Data is not yet available to measure effectiveness of the IOM approach. 

Further development required… 
 The DVDG is seeking further funding to increase the capacity of the Multi-Agency 

Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) and its support functions to improve the 
overall response to domestic abuse across the partnership landscape. 

 The Task and Finish Group were unable to complete work on the pathways, 
affected by complexity of pathways and capacity within agencies.  This is being 
further considered by the Community Safety Partnerships. 

 A Priority Perpetrator Intervention Tool and the CARA (Conditional Cautioning and 
Relationship Abuse) programme are being introduced in the area in 2017 to 
enhance the range of options and consistency of practice with regard to domestic 
abuse perpetrators. 

 The LSCB will continue to monitor domestic abuse impact and further develop 
approaches through the joint priority on the Trilogy of Risk (Domestic Abuse, 
Substance Misuse and Mental Health). 

 

259



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

LSCB / SAB Priority 2: To be assured that Mental Health Services incorporate 
robust arrangements to reduce safeguarding risk to children and adults 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Seek assurance from the Suicide Prevention Plan Strategy Group that the 

strategy is reducing risk 

 Seek assurance that current information and resources available to children, 
young people and adults on Self-Harm are used across the LSCB and SAB 
partnership 

 Seek assurance that the Emotional Health and Well-being pathway is robust 
and fit for purpose 

 Seek assurance that the CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Service) review includes improved safeguarding outcomes 

 Seek assurance from agencies that their workforce, across both Children and 
Adult services, have an appropriate understanding of the Mental Capacity Act 
and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (MCA DoLS) 

 Seek assurance that the Learning Disability Pathway includes safeguarding 
outcomes. 
 

We did… 

 The initial plan made very slow progress due to the breadth of the scope of the 
priority and delay in identifying a lead to drive this forward.  The plan was revised in 
early 2017 to gain assurance through a series of assurance questions from key 
agencies and partnerships leading work on these areas.  

 The Board received a report on the developing Adult mental health pathways in 
March 2017. 

 

The impact was… 
 The Board gained assurance that the Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland (LLR) 

Suicide Audit and Prevention Group oversee and analyse suicide data and 
consider safeguarding issues within the revised Suicide Strategy and Action Plan 
(2017-2020). 

 Safeguarding and Child Protection will be explicitly included the revised Children 
and Young People Mental Health Transformation Plan 

 The Board gained assurance that the adult mental health pathway was robust. 

Further development required… 

 Reports to the Board on Child Mental health pathways, MCA DoLS and 
Transforming Care regarding Learning Disability, were scheduled for the June 
2017 LSCB and SAB meetings. 

 The Board has recommended that safeguarding is explicitly considered within any 
revisions to the Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP) within Health. 

 Audit of deaths by suicide being carried out for the Child Death Overview Panel 
(CDOP) to come to the LSCBs Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG). 

 Significant further work is required to gain assurance on these areas.  These have 
been incorporated in the Joint Business Development Plan Priority for 2017/18 on 
Emotional Health and Well-Being. 

260



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

LSCB / SAB Priority 3:  To be assured that the Safeguarding element of the 
Prevent strategy (Preventing Violent Extremism) is effective and robust across 
Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Receive regular reports on Prevent work and safeguarding, including training and 

awareness raising 

 Support and promote Prevent awareness to the public and particular groups of 
professionals. 

We did… 
 The Board considered safeguarding assurance with regard to Prevent through a 

deliberative inquiry at its meeting in July 2016. 

 Showcased the Alter Ego “Going to Extremes” theatre production during its 
development at a joint City and Counties LSCB learning event to promote this to 
frontline staff and gain their input into its development. 

 Two Prevent awareness sessions were delivered to foster carers and prospective 
adopters in 2016. 

 The Board supported a local funding bid to support the promotion of Prevent 
awareness sessions with young people and training of carers and parents of 
people with learning disabilities. 

 

The impact was… 
 Across Leicestershire and Rutland over 6,000 people have now been WRAP 

(Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent) trained. 

 The “Going to Extremes” production started touring Leicestershire and Rutland in 
March 2017 with 41 performances booked in schools and public locations between 
March and May 2017.  This production has been well received by schools and 
pupils and is being considered by other areas.  

 The Leicestershire schools annual safeguarding survey in 2016 identified that 
compliance with the new Prevent duty in schools is high and almost all schools 
(91.2%) had or were in the process of completing a Prevent risk assessment. 

 The number and quality of Channel referrals from the County have increased, 
particularly from schools. 

 In Leicestershire’s inspection Ofsted noted that “The ‘Prevent’ duty work and 
agenda are embedded and continuing to develop in Leicestershire.  There is clear 
strategic governance, and creative operational work is being undertaken to raise 
awareness and identify and respond to risks.  There is a good understanding of 
the nature of potential extremism in the area, and effective individual work with 
young people is described.” 

Further development required… 
 Funding for the Counties’ Prevent Officer comes to an end in October 2017.  An 

exit strategy is being planned in preparation for this to continue the partnership 
work on Prevent through the Hate and Prevent Delivery Group. 

 The work of Prevent linked to safeguarding will continue to be monitored by the 
Board as business as usual. 

261



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Operation of the Board 

The Board was reviewed by Ofsted during 2017 and was judged Good. The report 
praised the leadership of the Board, its ethos of constructive challenge and focus on 
the needs of children.  The report also identified strengths in the evaluation of 
training and effectiveness of the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP).  The report  
stated that the board’s scrutiny and influence have had a positive impact on front-line 
practice, facilitating better understanding of the threshold into children’s social care, 
more timely identification of the health needs of children looked after and the 
improving response when children are at risk of sexual exploitation.  
 
The report also identified four areas for improvement; 

- Strengthening participation of and engagement with children and young 
people in the work of the Board to enable children to influence the LSCB’s 
priorities and their delivery more fully.  

- Further strengthening our audit approach, including Section 11 audits to 
ensure that these audits are sufficiently probing and robust.  

- Hold partners to account to ensure that the quality and effectiveness of return 
home interviews and risk management when children are going missing from 
home or care are evaluated.  

- Improve awareness raising of private fostering across the partnership and 
wider community. 

 
The Board has developed an improvement plan to address these, linked to its 
Business Development Plan for 2017/18.  
 

Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 

Partner Engagement and Attendance 

Due to changes in meeting scheduling in 2017 the Board met five times during 
2016/17 with an additional two extraordinary meetings to discuss final reports for 
Serious Case Reviews. 
 
Leicestershire and Rutland County Councils, the District Council representatives, the 
Police, and East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group attended all 
ordinary Board meetings during the year. Schools were also represented at all 
ordinary Board meetings. 
 
Attendance by other members at Board meetings remain good across most other 
partners, with some exceptions. The Community Rehabilitation Company only 
attended one ordinary meeting, as per the previous year. Attendance by CAFCASS 
and East Midlands Ambulance Service dropped significantly this year to one and two 
ordinary Board meetings respectively. 
 
Attendance at sub-groups of the Board is good across agencies. 
 
The membership of the Board can be seen in Appendix 1. 
 
 

 

262



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Public Engagement & Participation 

The Board reviewed its approach to Engagement and Participation at the start of the 
year tasking individual Business Plan priority leads with incorporating this in their 
work on the priorities, rather than through a separate group. 
 
Practitioners were engaged in the work of the Board in several ways including 
feedback into development of resources through the large-scale learning events and 
the survey regarding the Neglect toolkit. 
 
Working with colleagues at Leicestershire County Council the Board involved 
children in the recruitment of the new Independent Chair of the Board. 
 
Agencies are listening to and responding to the voice of children to support 
safeguarding, for example through Police and Crime Commissioner’s Youth 
Commission.  The LSCB has received reports on the voice of children and families 
and how agencies are recording and responding to these through its Safeguarding 
Effectiveness Group. 
 
However direct engagement with and participation of children and young people 
within the work of the Board on the business plan priorities has otherwise been 
challenging.  Ofsted also identified this gap in their inspection of the Board. 
 
Further work is required on this and the development of engagement and 
participation has been identified as a Priority for the LSCB shared with the SAB. 
 
Assurance – Challenges and Quality Assurance 

Challenge Log 

The Board keeps a challenge log to monitor challenges raised by the Board and the 
outcomes of the challenges. During the year the following challenges were raised by 
the Board with safeguarding partners regarding the following topics: 

 High rates of Repeat Child Protection Plans. The Board challenged partner 
agencies to take a multi-agency approach to effective and robust planning and 
intervention for children subject to child protection plans, child in need and 
early help plans. 

 Child Sexual Exploitation partnership governance arrangements.  The Board 
challenged partners to ensure the new arrangements for overseeing work on 
Child Sexual Exploitation across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland were 
clarified and functioning effectively to secure effective delivery and impact of 
our collective arrangements for CSE, Missing and Trafficking work. 

 Multi-Agency Audits.  The Board Chair challenged Board members to work 
together to implement an effective approach to multi-agency audits that 
supported a comprehensive assurance framework for the Board. 

 Delays in notifications, leading to delays in carrying out Initial Health 
Assessments of Looked After Children.  The Board challenged Leicestershire 
County Council Children’s Social Care to address the delays in notification 
that had continued despite previous identification of this issue and assurances 
that it was being addressed. 

263



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 Contributions of agencies to the budget of the Board and potential budget 
reductions.   The Board challenged partners to strategically consider their 
budget contributions to the Board. 

 Gaps in quality and accuracy of data provided to the Board and its SEG 
subgroup.  The Board challenged all partners to review and ensure accuracy 
of data provided to the Board. 

 
Following these challenges: 

 Rates of Repeat Child Protection Plans in Leicestershire (& Rutland) have 
reduced in line with national and regional averages 

 CSE work has continued to progress and a reporting structure into the Boards 
is in place for 2017/18 

 A robust framework for multi-agency audits is in place and four multi-agency 
audits were carried out by the LSCB in 2016/17 

 Some improvements have been seen in timescales for initial health 
assessments and ongoing updates are scheduled so the Board can be 
assured of improvements 

 Further discussions are taking place regarding the future structures of the 
Board and the arrangements for setting agency contributions to the Board, 
and  

 Partners have undertaken to ensure accurate data is provided, with no data 
issues identified in the quarter following the challenge. 

 
Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework 

The Board operates a four quadrant Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management Framework as outlined below.  This is overseen by the Boards 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) shared with the SAB.  The outcomes of 
and findings from this performance framework are incorporated in the relevant 
sections within the report. 
 
The detailed elements of this are reviewed each year to ensure this provides 
assurance regarding core safeguarding business as well as business plan priorities 
and other emerging issues. 
 
The overall model is also reviewed and engagement elements of the framework, 
both with staff and service users require some further development in the coming 
year.   

 

264



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
 
Audits 

During 2016-17 the LSCB carried out a ‘Section 11’ audit that tests agencies 
compliance against their duties within Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 through 
an organisational assessment against safeguarding standards.   
 
Audit returns from agencies identify that the vast majority of agencies consider that 
they are ‘fully’ or ‘mostly’ compliant against all nine standards.  Public Health 
identified they are partly compliant with Standard 9 regarding partnership priorities as 
all LSCB priority areas were not yet embedded within service specifications, but work 
on this was underway.   
 
The LSCB carries out a front-line practitioner audit bi-annually to check the findings 
of the ‘Section 11’ audit, however there is currently no direct challenge element to 
self-reporting of progress.  The LSCB process for Section 11 compliance assurance 
will be revised in 2017/18 to reduce the burden on agencies and incorporate more 
peer review and challenge of compliance findings. 
 
In 2016/17 the Board introduced a new approach to multi-agency auditing, with a 
plan of case file audits during the year.  During the year four multi-agency audits 
were carried out focussing on the following priorities: 

 Child Protection plans. 

 Repeat and Multiple Child Protection Plans 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

 Neglect 
 
The audit process follows a Multi-Agency Case File Audit approach.  All relevant 
agencies audit their practice and involvement in a set number of identified cases.  
Each case and the findings of each individual agency’s audit of that case are 
reviewed in a multi-agency meeting to discuss practice and identify further single-
agency and multi-agency learning. 
The two audits on Child Protection plans covered twelve cases and were analysed 
together finding that: 

 There was inconsistency in recording across the partnership in some cases. 

 There was a gap in GPs being invited to or attending CP conferences. 

 Substance Misuse and Domestic abuse remain key common issues.  There is 
a need to ensure recognition that outcomes for parents impacts upon the 
outcomes for children. 

 There are some gaps in understanding of and response to risk factors 
regarding domestic abuse, e.g. separation. 

 Disguised compliance was an issue in some cases. 

 The role of statutory services to support engagement in voluntary services (for 
example substance misuse support) is not clear. 

 
The following actions were agreed following the findings of audits from the first two 
quarters: 

 Agencies to ensure SMART planning, based on outcomes, with management 
oversight / consistent supervision around planning. 

265



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 The Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and local authorities to work on 
engagement with GPs – asking them how they want to be engaged, providing 
clarity around their role and communicating the partnership process. 

 All partners to acknowledge there is multi-agency responsibility around Core 
Groups, challenge each other and be aware of the escalation process. 

 
The Child Sexual Exploitation audit considered seven cases across Leicester, 
Leicestershire & Rutland and found: 

 Gaps and inaccuracies identified in the information and intelligence 
concerning critical information. 

 Lack of use of the CSE risk assessment tool, with a continued focus on single 
agency rather than holistic assessments.  

 Information was not always shared, and agencies were not always contacted 
for information or engagement to support assessment.  This was particularly 
notable with regard to transitions to adult services, cross-border looked after 
children placements and involvement of GPs and health agencies. 

 Challenge of gaps in information and action should be improved. 

 Practitioners need to hear the voice of the child more consistently. 

 Gaps in informing Local Authorities about cross border/agency looked after 
Children (LAC) placements.   

 
Individual agencies took forward individual actions and multi-agency actions have 
been incorporated into the CSE Operational Group plan. 
 
The Neglect Audit of ten cases, across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland, found 
that: 

 The neglect toolkit has not been embedded and therefore not used in practice 
as well as expected within agencies across LLR.   

 There was evidence of drift in majority of the cases, potentially allowing 
neglect to become prolonged and in some cases started to become 
normalised behaviour.   

 Voice of the Child was obtained in some, but not all of the cases audited.  

 Multi-agency information sharing was inconsistent and administration around 
Child Protection Conferences and Core group needs improving to support 
attendance and effectiveness.  

 Overall escalation of concerns was taking place, but timeliness and 
robustness of escalation could be improved.  

 
Agencies have taken away these learning points to embed appropriate responses 
within their practice and further work is planned to increase awareness and use of 
the neglect toolkit. 
 
A multi-agency audit plan has been set for the coming year linked to the Board’s 
priorities. 
 
 

 

 

266



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Learning and Improvement 

Serious Case Reviews and other Learning Reviews 

Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) are described within Working Together to Safeguard 
Children 2015 and are statutory reviews undertaken by Local Safeguarding Children 
Boards (LSCBs) for cases where abuse or neglect is known or suspected and either: 

 A child dies; or 

 A child is seriously harmed and there are concerns as to the way in which 
the authority, their Board partners or other relevant persons have worked 
together to safeguard the child.  

 
The LSCB has a well-used referral process into its Serious Case Review sub-group 
that considers whether cases meet SCR criteria or may otherwise be appropriate 
and beneficial to review to support learning and improvement across the partnership.   
Decisions regarding cases to review and appropriate types of review are supported 
by the Learning and Improvement Framework, shared with between the two LSCBs 
and two SABs across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland.  
 
The Board completed and published two SCRs in line with Working Together 2015 
guidance during the year: 

 Child B - Published May 2016 

 Baby C - Published October 2016 
 

Two further SCRs were underway at the end of the year. 
 
The LSCB took the opportunity to gain learning regarding multi-agency safeguarding 
practice from five cases that did not meet the criteria for a SCR.  The LSCB utilised 
alternative review methods including Appreciative Enquiry learning events, Multi-
Agency Panel review of the work undertaken by single agency, Case Management 
Review and Multi-Agency Case Audit. 
 
Learning from reviews 

The following arose in the learning and recommendations from all reviews: 

 The importance of the use of threshold guidance in reviewing risk 

 The category of harm for children on Child Protection Plans should reflect 
fundamental risk and not be changed without sufficient evidence. 

 Recognising that pre-mobile babies are particularly vulnerable to harm and 
abuse (including premature babies) 

 The importance of considering the impact of a parents care history and 
experience in assessment and support 

 The voice of the child is an important factor in safeguarding and not always 
included in assessments  

 Key people from different agencies were not present at some meetings such 
as Strategy meetings, Child Protection Conference and Core Groups 

 Making sure that communication with parents with Learning Disabilities is 
accessible and processes are understood 

 The importance of understanding a child or young person’s underlying 
vulnerability to child sexual abuse and exploitation and recognition of early 
indications of CSE. 

267



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 Sharing information regarding domestic abuse where it is present does not 
always take place, but is important to enable effective responses 

 The need to develop good quality supervision in order that staff are 
professionally challenged and supported to develop Professional Curiosity 

 
The influence of this learning can be seen in the work of the Board in its priorities 
(e.g. Domestic Abuse), Training and Development and Development of Procedures 
this year and in priorities and areas for development for future years. 
 
The SCR Sub-group also considered an alternative joint Children and Adults review 
involving a young person who had recently moved into adulthood but were satisfied 
with the findings of both Local Authority and Mental Health Service internal reports, 
and identified no further learning. 
 
The SCR Sub-group monitors a master action plan containing recommendations and 
actions arising from all reviews.  
 
Domestic Homicide Reviews 

The LSCB and SAB manage the process for carrying out Domestic Homicide 
Reviews (DHRs) on behalf of and commissioned by the Community Safety 
Partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland. This is managed through the joint 
Children and Adults section of the Boards’ SCR Subgroup.   
 
Two DHRs were completed during the year and the Community Safety Partnerships 
were awaiting feedback from the Home Office Quality Assurance Panel on these at 
the end of the year.  Three further potential Domestic Homicide Reviews were 
considered, two did not meet the criteria, however an alternative review was carried 
out on one of these cases, and the third was in consideration at the end of the year.  
Development Work and Disseminating Learning 

The SCR Subgroup also reviewed the Boards’ Learning and Improvement 
Framework and updated the referral form and the Domestic Homicide Review 
Procedures. 
 
The LSCB produces a quarterly newsletter –Safeguarding Matters to disseminate 
key messages, including from reviews and audits across the partnership and to front-
line practitioners. 
 
Learning has also been shared through single agency internal processes, Learning 
Events and the Trainers Network. 
 
Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

The detailed functions of the CDOP are set out in Chapter five of Working Together 
2015.  It is a key part of the LSCB’s Learning and Improvement Framework since it 
reviews all child deaths in the Local Authority areas and identifies any modifiable 
factors, for example, in the family environment, parenting capacity or service 
provision and considers what action could be taken locally, regionally and nationally 
to address these. 
 

268



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

The local CDOP covers Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and  held nine panels 
reviewing 70 cases in 2016/17.  Thirty-four of these cases related to Leicestershire 
and Rutland. 
 
As a result of the panels held the following areas are being progressed; 

 A database is currently under development that will allow a more 
comprehensive analysis of the learning identified for cases and therefore 
serve to inform the work plan of CDOP. 

 A campaign was undertaken to raise awareness (amongst the public and 
professionals) regarding the dangers associated with the ingestion of disc 
button batteries. 

 CDOP worked with partners to develop a strategy for reducing infant 
mortality. 

 CDOP presented at a conference during ‘Safer Sleep week’ to raise 
awareness amongst professionals regarding associated risk factors for 
sudden infant death syndrome and outline learning identified within CDOP. 

 CDOP have supported awareness raising (among health, education and 
public forums) to raise awareness with regard to; 

- Spotting the signs of sepsis 
- Headsmart (early recognition of brain tumours) 

 

Public health supported CDOP to undertake a piece of work to review cases where 
suicide or self-harm was categorised as the cause of death to ascertain if there are 
any additional areas of learning for organisations and identify any underlying themes. 
 
CDOP are also revisiting cases where consanguinity has been identified as a 
modifiable factor. Again, it is hoped that by undertaking further analysis additional 
learning may be identified that would help to inform future strategies. 
 
During the year the Ofsted inspection for Leicestershire and Rutland noted; 
“The child death overview panel is highly effective. Careful analysis of findings over 
the longer term has enabled the panel to identify patterns that might otherwise be 
missed. It uses this intelligence well to raise awareness of safety risks for children, 
inform improvements and influence wider health and wellbeing priorities. This is a 
particularly strong element of the LSCB’s work.” 
 
In addition CDOP received a nomination (within Leicestershire Partnership Trust) for 
an Excellence in Partnership Award, which recognised the work of CDOP as being 
‘exemplary’. 
 
The Child Death Review (CDR) Manager is engaging in national discussions 
regarding changes to CDOP following the Wood Review and Children and Social 
Work Act 2017. 
 
These discussions have highlighted that, as a whole, CDOPs could strengthen 
processes to ensure families form part of the review process.  LLR CDOP had 
previously recognised and raised this as part of the work plan for 2017/18. 
 
An audit has been being undertaken by the CDR manager to provide an overview of 
the ongoing contact families receive from the named nurses following the 

269



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

unexpected death of a child.  This ongoing contact would allow families a greater 
opportunity to form part of the review process. 
 
From April 2017 onwards processes will be established for families of children where 
the death was felt to be expected to be offered the opportunity to participate within 
the CDOP process. 
 
Co-ordination of and Procedures for Safeguarding Children  

The Board shares its Multi-agency procedures with the Leicester City LSCB. 
Throughout the year the Board has reviewed and revised Multi-Agency Procedures 
in line with developments in practice and learning from reviews and audits.   
The Board has developed procedures regarding bruising and injuries in babies and 
children who are not independently mobile. 
The Board updated the thresholds document for referral to children’s services and 
has also revised procedures relating to: 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Neglect 

 E-safety 

 Child Protection Conferences 
 
Changes to procedures have been communicated through bulletins, the LSCB and 
SAB’s Safeguarding Matters newsletter and through training events. 
 
Training and Development  

The LSCB, through its Safeguarding Effectiveness Group regularly requests 
information from its partners regarding the effectiveness of their safeguarding 
training programmes in line with the Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding 
Competency Framework.   
 
During the year the LSCB has challenged the Local Authorities and Police regarding 
the lack of information they were able to provide to give assurance on training and 
competency.  At the end of the year assurance was still outstanding from the Police 
and Leicestershire County Council.  
 
The Competency Framework, prepared in accordance with ‘Working Together 2015’ 
sets out minimum competencies and standards across the children’s workforce and 
supports practitioners, managers and organisations in the identification of which 
safeguarding competencies are required. It gives advice as to how practitioners can 
meet these requirements through learning, development and training.  
 
The Board has continued implementation of this competency based approach 
through the delivery of a range of activities including briefing sessions, bespoke 
training, consultation and advice.  
 
The Boards Training and Development Work is led by the Multi-Agency Training, 
Learning and Development Commissioning and Delivery Group, which is shared with 
Leicester City LSCB. 
 

270



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

The group leads development and delivery of an annual training and development 
programme. This reflects the priority elements within the two LSCB’s business plans 
and national priorities, as well as the learning from national and local Serious Case 
Reviews.  The training programme is delivered through a ‘mixed economy’ of partner 
contributions, commissioned training and national training opportunities, as set out in 
a Partnership Agreement. 
 
The LSCB facilitates a local trainers’ network, which supports development of local 
safeguarding trainers through development sessions and networking. 
 
During the year the following training and development activity took place: 

 64 themed training events took place within the LSCB Interagency 
programme across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland with 1698 
attendees, a 32% increase compared with 2015/16 and back in line with 
increases in previous years. 

 Six strategy briefing sessions regarding the safeguarding competency 
framework, offering 300 delegate spaces in total. 

 Six ‘Strengthening practice – supporting safer organisations’ sessions for 
competency group 7& 8 offering 305 spaces in total.  

 Trainers Network sessions offering up to 80 spaces in total. 

 Fifteen LSCB funded Essential Awareness training sessions for the voluntary 
and independent sector – offering 375 spaces in total supporting consistency 
in knowledge and skills across the wider workforce across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 The Neglect Toolkit events achieved high levels of attendance, 
 

Evaluation of the effect of the interagency training programme is undertaken by 
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire (VAL), on behalf of the two LSCBs and is reported 
quarterly to the LSCB. This evaluation includes a six-month follow-up of attendees to 
support the assessment of the impact of training and development on practice. 
 
Analysis of this feedback shows that participants commented very positively that 
they had been able to improve the practical quality of their practice as a result of 
training and development events.  There is also a clear change in reported follow up 
action from the majority of attendees solely ‘cascading’ learning to ‘cascading and 
taking personal and positive action’ in their practice. 
 
The Ofsted inspection of the LSCB included very positive comments about the 
training programme identifying the evaluation of this as ‘sophisticated’ and a 
‘significant strength.’ 
 
The effectiveness of the Competency Framework was increasingly acknowledged by 
participants, as was the positive effect on the programme of the recall days. 
Evaluation of the specialist competency sessions is undertaken, and the 
implementation plan is developed to reflect feedback and emerging need.  
 
The newly commissioned strengthening practice course received excellent feedback, 
and supported mangers and those involved in governance functions across the 
workforce.  
 

271



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

The use of large scale events to disseminate the learning from Serious Case 
Reviews was supported, along with the use of other programme events to give early 
prominence to and to reinforce specific messages, where relevant to that event. The 
group is continuing to develop different methodologies (in liaison with SCR groups) 
to support SCR learning.  
 
The charging regime for ‘no-shows’ appears to have had a positive effect on 
attendance with fewer no shows by people who have booked places.  Charging for 
attendance of agencies who do not otherwise contribute to the programme is being 
considered by the Boards. 
 
The Board has put in place a well-populated and responsive programme for 2017/18, 
with continuity for priority areas, such as domestic abuse. 
 
As part of its plan for 2017/18 the LSCB will continue to increase and focus 
assurance activity on the impact of the use and the effectiveness of learning within 
the competency based approach, particularly focussing on increased engagement 
with specific sectors – i.e. education.  
 
The LSCB will take early steps to confirm with funding partners the position 
regarding resource to support the necessary training and development commitments 
and co-ordination of the interagency programme for the future.  The Board will also 
further explore the ‘virtual college’ concept on a practical basis, to enhance training 
and development opportunities and consider other blended approaches to learning.  
 
The Board will continue to reinforce the need for individual agencies to undertake 
meaningful and effective supervision and appraisal, to ensure that practitioners have 
the fullest opportunities to put their training and development to maximum effect. 
 
The LSCB would like to express its appreciation to organisations that have 
contributed to the partnership training programme through trainer time or venues; in 
particular Leicester City Council which has made significant contributions of venues, 
and the contribution of local authorities’ early years teams who have supported the 
delivery of the sessions and the engagement of the workforce. The estimated value 
of the in-kind contribution to the programme from all agencies is over £10,000. 
 
 

Partner updates 

Our partners provide assurance regarding safeguarding practice and development 
throughout the year.  Key achievements and areas for development for partners are 
outlined in Appendix 2 to this report. 
 
 

  

272



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Business Plan Priorities 2017-18 

From analysis of current and emerging issues the following have been identified as 
our priorities for 2017-18: 
 

Development Priority Summary 

1. CSE, Trafficking & 
Missing (Missing 
and online safety)  

Developing assurance regarding missing children 
process and intervention and developing online 
safety responses. 

2. Safeguarding 
Children with 
Disabilities 

Assessing organisational responses and 
safeguarding risk understanding with regard to 
these children and their families. 

3. Signs of Safety Further embedding this approach across the 
partnership, particularly in schools. 

 
In addition the following priorities are shared with the Leicestershire & Rutland 
Safeguarding Adults Board for 2017-18: 
 

Development Priority Summary 

1. The ‘Trilogy of 
Risk’ 

Assessing approaches to safeguarding adults and 
children where domestic abuse, substance 
misuse and mental health issues are present. 

2. Participation and 
Engagement  

Establishing visible effective participation by 
children and vulnerable adults at Board level. 

3. Emotional Health 
& Wellbeing  

Develop understanding of emotional health and 
well-being across the partnership and gain 
assurance regarding Better Care Together (BCT) 
and the Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP) 
that work is addressing safeguarding issues, 
particularly re: mental health 

4. Multi-Agency risk 
management / 
Supervision 

Develop a multi-agency supervision approach for 
risk management in safeguarding adults and 
children. 

273



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Appendix 1 - Membership of the LSCB 2016/17 

 
Independent Chair 
 
Statutory Members: 
Borough and District Councils (initially represented by Hinckley and Bosworth 
Borough Council, transferring to Charnwood Borough Council at the end of the year) 
Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS)  
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), East Leicestershire and Rutland 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), West Leicestershire 
Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire and Rutland Community Rehabilitation 
Company (DLNR CRC) 
East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS)  
Lay Member: Leicestershire 
Lay Member: Rutland 
Leicestershire County Council 
Leicestershire County Council Lead Member for Children & Families 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT)  
Leicestershire Police 
National Probation Service (NPS) 
Rutland County Council  
Rutland County Council Lead Member for Children & Young People 
Schools and Colleges (Head teacher representatives from both Leicestershire and 
Rutland) 
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL) 
 
Other Members: 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS)  
Public Health 
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire (VAL) 
Armed Forces – Kendrew Barracks 
 
Professional Advisers to the Board: 
Boards Business Office Manager  
Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children 
Designated Nurse Children and Adult Safeguarding – CCG hosted Safeguarding 
Team  
Legal Services for the Safeguarding Boards 
Heads of Children’s Safeguarding, Leicestershire County Council  
Heads of Children’s Safeguarding, Rutland County Council 
 

The local NHS England Area Team have informed local LSCBs that NHS England 
will only attend Boards where there are specific concerns that require NHS England 
oversight or action, for example where an improvement board is in place.  At other 
times, NHS England will be represented by the Designated Professional from East 
Leicestershire and Rutland or West Leicestershire CCG utilising the clear 
communication routes back to NHS England.  

274



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Appendix 2 - LSCB Partner updates in full 

 
Cafcass (Children and Family Court Advice and Support Service) 
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year: 

Cafcass have faced a significant increase in demand locally and across the Country.  
The cause is likely to be multi-faceted, but may include better understanding of the 
damaging impact of domestic abuse and neglect, and squeezing of resources away 
from early support into child protection. 
 
Recent research by Broadhurst and colleagues, which made use of Cafcass data, 
suggests that a huge amount of court time is taken up with mothers who have had 
children previously removed. 
 
Cafcass continues to invest in staff learning and development to support ongoing 
quality and have developed a Network of diversity champions to support staff, for 
example Communicating with Deaf Parents work. 
 
Cafcass are also developing our use of technology to promote efficiency.  
In recognition of the significant issue of domestic abuse Cafcass has developed 
internal practice pathway regarding domestic abuse.  
 
We have continued to work on our exploitation strategy, which incorporates sexual 
exploitation, radicalisation and trafficking.  We have introduced a network of 
ambassadors and champions to collate knowledge and to disseminate this to 
practice staff. 
 
A research project into 82 Cafcass cases involving trafficking identified that 87% 
were public law cases.  70% of the cases involved girls.  In most cases children were 
trafficked for sexual purposes, but some for benefits, domestic slavery or 
transporting drugs.  
 
Following the research project Cafcass have developed an assessment tool to help 
identify trafficked children, especially in private law cases. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

Notwithstanding the pressures, quality is being maintained, borne out by the findings 
of audits of work, area quality reviews and thematic audits.  
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

A Sector-Led Inquiry into rising care demand has been announced to explore options 
to tackle the rising number of public law applications, this includes Cafcass, ADCS, 
Nuffield, Family Rights Group and the Children’s Commissioner.  
 
Cafcass are contributing to private law reform including: 

Supporting Separating Parents in Dispute Helpline 

 Five pilots, signposting separated parents to ways to resolve disputes. 

275



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 
Parenting Plan Meetings and Discussions  

 Supporting parents pre-court to agree a one-year plan.  

 Two face-to-face pilots, one telephone.  
Out of court pathway  

 Working with the Ministry of Justice to increase pre-court information and 
assistance, where appropriate.  

 
Cafcass are contributing to public law reform including: 

Settlement conferences 
• Involves a Judge and Guardian conducting an evaluation of the local 

authority’s case, and talking directly to parties.  
• Three pilots, now being extended. 

Cafcass Plus  
• Aimed at diverting cases or narrowing issues. 
• Three pilots extending to five.  

Viability assessments  
• Guidance issued by Family Rights Group to set consistent expectations.  

   

276



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
(ELRCCG) and West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(WLCCG) 
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year: 

Maintaining Statutory Responsibilities: During 2016/17 West Leicestershire CCG 
and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG (hereafter known as the CCGs) continued 
to exercise their statutory responsibility towards safeguarding children and 
vulnerable Adults. The CCG Chief Nurses represented their CCG as a statutory 
member of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board and the 
Safeguarding Adult Board. The CCG Deputy Chief Nurses represent their CCG at 
the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children and Adult Executive. 
 
LSCB/SAB support from CCG Designated Professionals: The CCGs have 
maintained the expertise of Designated Nurses Safeguarding Children and a 
Designated Doctor Safeguarding Children. The CCGs commit the Designated Nurse 
role and the CCG Safeguarding Team to provide extensive support to the 
LSCB/SAB. During 2016/17 this has been in terms of: chairing the LSCB/SAB 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group; membership of a number of LSCB/SAB Sub 
Groups including the Serious Case Review Sub Group; Chairing a LSCB Child 
Alternative Review; Panel member of the 2016/17 Child Serious Case Reviews, 
Adult Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews. Taking a leading role in the 
promotion of the Neglect Toolkit. 
 
The Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Adults has contributed to the 
LSCB/SAB 2017 Safeguarding Matters publication promoting Safeguarding 
Supervision. 
 
The work of the CCG Named GP’s Safeguarding Children This role ensures that 
the GP safeguarding leads in all of the GP Practices (across Leicestershire, Rutland 
and Leicester City) receive consistency in safeguarding information and support in 
addition to mandatory safeguarding training. The CCG Named Safeguarding GP’s 
delivers children’s safeguarding training to GPs and leads the GP Safeguarding 
forums and GP Safeguarding Bulletins 
 
The GP Safeguarding Forums 2016/17 have included the following topics. 

• Meeting with Social Care Managers  
• Complaints from GPs regarding the lack of continuity regarding access to 

Children’s Social Care  
• The quality of GP referrals to Children’s Social Care 

The GP Forums provide a venue for discussion for information the LSCB/SAB 
disseminate to GP Practices in addition to emailed information.  
 
The CCG Heads of Safeguarding Children and Adults support the Designated 
Professionals to ensure effective interface with the Safeguarding Boards is 
maintained and delivery of the priorities for the CCG Hosted Safeguarding Team 
continue to be met.  
 

277



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

GP Safeguarding Children Quality Markers Tool:  Since 2014 GP Practices have 
received a safeguarding self- assessment tool. This has been developed into the ‘GP 
Quality Safeguarding Children Markers’. In 2017 GP Practices are asked to return 
completed GP Quality Safeguarding Children Markers to the CCG Safeguarding 
Team to identify GP Practices where support may be required to enhance 
safeguarding processes. 
 
GP Safeguarding Advice Line. Provided by the CCG Hosted Safeguarding Team 
this is available to all GPs across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
Child Sexual Exploitation Hub: The CCG has contributed to commissioning two 
nurses to work to support inter-agency work within the hub. 
 
Engagement with LSCB Audits. The CCG Safeguarding Team supported the 
LSCB Audit Programme with regards to the audit including GP records 
 
CCG Safeguarding Assurance: throughout 2016/17 the CCG Quality and 
Assurance Group and Governing Body has received assurance the status of how 
commissioned health services have in place key safeguarding requirements for 
adults and children 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

Designated Nurse Chair of LSCB Safeguarding Effectiveness Group has 
maintained a focus on continuous improvement with regards to reporting from 
meaningful and accurate data to demonstrate the effectiveness of partnership 
working. This has enabled discussion and partnership challenge at the LSCB. Key 
results include raising the profile of: the Voice of the Child; strengthening multi-
agency care planning for Children in Need; Establish the level of children and adult 
safeguarding training across the partnership; the lack of an agreed information 
sharing pathway for Domestic Violence; compliance with the Care Act 2014. 
 
CCG Named Safeguarding Children GPs The impact of the work of the CCG 
Named Safeguarding GP’s is evidenced by well attended and evaluated GP Forums 
and above 90% uptake of children and adult safeguarding training for all GPs across 
the CCG. To this end the role has raised the profile of safeguarding across the CCG. 
 
GP Advice Line The introduction of the GP advice line providing support and 
guidance to GPs this has been well received and GPs acknowledge it helpfulness – 
evidenced by GPs contacting Social Care with safeguarding concerns. 
 
The audit work with GP Practices has resulted in:  

 Domestic Violence/ Abuse – GP Policy and Guidance being developed and 
training commissioned 

 Pre-birth – Midwifery team refreshed content of letter to GPs to provide clarity 
following GP involvement with the Pre-Birth  audit  

 Work to improve the quality of referrals from GP’s to first response in 
Leicestershire and Duty Team in Rutland   

 GPs have easy access to GP Referral form via PRISM. This has provided 
evidence of both the good work currently being undertaken by GPs and areas 

278



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

for improvement. To increase in knowledge and confidence will have enabled 
GPs to make better decisions regarding Safeguarding. 

 
Child Sexual Exploitation Hub: Icons on GP Electronic Record Systems alert GPs 
to children at risk of CSE known to the CSE LLR Hub- GPs reminded of CSE 
material available on PRISM 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

 Supporting the GP practices as required following submission of the GP 
Quality Safeguarding Markers.   

 Continued dissemination of learning from LSCB /SAB to GP Practices 

 During 2017 to 2018 the Safeguarding Children Training strategy is to be 
refreshed with clear guidance for GPs and CCG staff.  

 Further Quality audits on GP referral to Children’s Social Care  

 A Domestic Violence/Abuse Policy will be available for GP practices 
  

279



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Leicestershire County Council 
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year: 

 
Leicestershire County Council have developed a ‘Road to Excellence 2017 to 2020’ 
continuous improvement plan across the Children and Family service that 
summarises how we will be improving the experiences and outcomes of children in 
need of help and protection, children looked after and care leavers. And incorporates 
developments in line with recommendations from Ofsted, following their inspection. 
 
The plan is based around the four building blocks of: 

 Being a Learning Organisation 

 Embedding Excellent Practice 

 Taking the Right Action at the Right Time, and 

 Developing Policy and Performance 
 
And is underpinned by four behaviours for all staff: 

 Voice; Listening and responding to what children and families say 

 Signs of Safety; doing with, rather than ‘for’ or ‘to’ 

 Outcome focussed; striving to improve children and families lives 

 Leadership; everyone is responsible and accountable 
 
The development of the action plan has been overseen by a project board chaired by 
the Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care that has reviewed all aspects of the 
service, including processes, staffing, caseloads and performance management.  
 
To develop the contact and assessment approach additional social worker and 
management capacity has been put in place alongside administrative resource and 
further support for less experienced social workers. Developments to Frameworki 
have also been delivered to support any changes within First Response.  
 
Contact and Assessment have also been the focus for the development of practice 
standards that have been recently published and First Response is piloting a revised 
quality assurance and learning model to ensure standards are embedded.  
 
The Council has worked to ensure that rigorous management oversight is supported 
by improved performance management arrangements. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

 
Following developments in First Response caseload numbers are appropriate, 
assessment timeliness is better monitored and repeat referrals are less likely.   
 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

The Road to Excellence plan will develop approaches to safeguarding across 
Leicestershire.  The plan incorporates strengthening of performance management 

280



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

and management oversight and routine internal audit in Leicestershire will monitor 
improvements across services, including First Response. 
 
Leicestershire will also work to ensure that the Listening Support Service’s return 
interviews for children going missing from home and care are timely and that the 
quality of these is consistent, monitoring demand to ensure resourcing of the service 
is sufficient. 
 
 
  

281



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service  
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

Our service for juvenile fire setters is now running much more effectively following 
recruitment and training of new staff. 
 
Nationally, fire services are moving towards the production of standard safeguarding 
best practice advice for this sector, which will be very welcome. The Safeguarding 
Manager recently attended a National Conference. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

Our Firecare interventions are working much better as staff can now offer multiple 
visits, often visiting jointly with external agencies. 
 
We know that our operational crews are much more aware of safeguarding 
responsibilities as our Designated Safeguarding Officer is receiving much more 
frequent enquiries and requests for advice.  
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

New scenario based Safeguarding training package is being developed – we aim to 
launch it by September.  
 
We are currently looking at the structure of our internal safeguarding /vulnerable 
people team to ensure that we have an adequate number of people who can 
respond appropriately to alerts from firefighters and referrals from external agencies. 
 
Mental health first aid training for operational managers rolled out across the service. 
 
The set-up of a new national fire service safeguarding group, which our 
Safeguarding manager will attend, should support us in improving our practice. 

282



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT)  
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

Feedback from a CQC review of health services for Children Looked After and 
Safeguarding in Leicester City was the catalyst for strengthening the 
implementation of the Whole family approach to safeguarding. LPT adopted a 
Whole Family Approach to Safeguarding in 2016/17, building on the Think Family 
work already underway in LPT. Implementation will include replacing the traditional 
level 2 adults safeguarding training and level 3 safeguarding children training with 
the combined ‘Whole Family’ safeguarding training. LPT have also implemented 
systems to improve communication across adult & children’s services within LPT and 
promoted the ‘Whole Family Approach’ via posters and monthly bulletins and 
changes to electronic systems. 

 
It was identified by the CQC that the quality of Inter-agency referral forms 
submitted by School Nurse, CAMHS practitioners and Adult Mental Health 
practitioners required improvement. LPT have developed and implemented an 
Inter-Agency Referral Standard Operating Guidance to improve the quality of inter-
agency referrals submitted to Children’s Social Care. Quality reviews of Inter-agency 
referral forms submitted to Children’s Social Care by school nurses, CAMHS and 
adult mental health staff are conducted quarterly. 
 
Strengthening CSE response across LLR was an LSCB priority:  CSE nurses 
were co-located with other agencies in the CSE multi-agency hub. 
 
Neglect toolkit developed and launched in July 2016 in response to 
recommendations from Serious Case Reviews (SCR). LPT have uploaded the 
Neglect risk assessment summary document onto the electronic child health record 
and the Neglect toolkit was included in Level 3 Safeguarding Children training. From 
April 2017 Neglect & use of the Neglect Toolkit will be promoted during Whole 
Family safeguarding training delivered to all LPT adult & children clinical staff. 
 
Pre-mobile baby and Resolving Professional Disagreement (escalation) 
procedures and guidance in response to recommendations from Serious Case 
Reviews. LPT have contributed to the development of the LSCB pre-mobile baby 
procedures and have developed a pathway for health visitors to ensure the response 
to a mark/bruise observed in a pre-mobile baby receives the appropriate response. 
LPT have also developed a leaflet that is given to parents which explains why a 
referral to Children’s Social Care is required. 
 
LPT have contributed to the LR LSCB Repeat Child protection plan audit and 
the LLR LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) & Neglect audit. All 
recommendation in action plans for Repeat Children Protection Plan and CSE have 
been completed by LPT. Neglect audit recommendations in progress as audit 
submitted 31st  March 2017 
 
 

 

283



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Impact of developments and work carried out 

Inter-agency referrals. The quality reviews will measure the level of improvement in 
relation to inter-agency referrals submitted to children’s social care, helping to 
ensure the right service is provided at the right time. 
 
Whole family. Adult staff are now able to access details of a child’s health visitor or 
school nurse where necessary and appropriate via a single point of contact. 
 
CSE nurses now provide CSE training to health staff within LPT to increase 
awareness of CSE signs and risk factors. LPT practitioners can contact the CSE 
nurses for advice. 
 
Resolving Professional Disagreements. Assurance provided to the LSCB 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group included cases where health visitors have used 
the Resolving Professional Disagreements to challenge Children’s Social Care 
decision and response to a mark/bruise to a pre-mobile baby. 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

LPT pre-mobile baby audit planned for Quarter 2 2017-18 to provide assurance that 
pre-mobile procedures, health visitor pathway and leaflet are implemented in 
practice.   
 
From April 2017 LPT will deliver Level 3 Whole Family safeguarding training to all 
LPT adult & children clinical staff. 
 
Further work in embedding the Whole Family approach to Safeguarding and MCA 
improvement. 
 

284



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Leicestershire Police  
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

Kayleigh’s Love Story: Leicestershire Police, with the support of Kayleigh’s family, 
made a short video to highlight the dangers of internet based communication and 
social media; it is highly impactive and has reached 50,000 young people through 
showings at school (1,079 school inputs over a 19 week period) and there have been 
30 million hits on YouTube, reaching a global audience. 
 
Police engagement with Young People Looked After Children: A local Looked 
After Children & Care Leavers Board has been set up in Leicestershire Police force 
area, involving key representatives from Police and partners, including DLNR 
Probation, NHS and the Local Authority, as well as other bodies such as the Young 
Adults Project and the Youth Commission. The fundamental aim of the Board is to 
reduce the number of children in care and care leavers in the Criminal Justice 
system.  
 
School/Educational Packages: Neighbourhood Teams experience significant 
demand from schools and other youth groups to deliver educational awareness 
packages/presentations to children and young people. The Force Children & Young 
Person’s Officer (Katie Hudson) is updating existing packages and creating new 
ones where gaps exist. Consultation with young people has been key to the 
packages being appropriate and engaging for the target audience. 
 
Youth Court Project: A pilot court project is being worked upon in five Court areas, 
one being Leicester, supported by the Barrow Cadbury Trust. Young adults are a 
distinct group with needs that are different both from children under 18 and adults 
older than 25; when the criminal justice system adjusts its response it can be more 
effective. Currently in the planning phase, implementation target date is 
September/October 2017, followed by evaluation in late 2019.  
 
Youth Commission: Youth Commission currently has 29 members of young people 
aged 14-25 years.  It has engaged with 1800 young people in 2015/2016 through 
workshops and presentations at schools/colleges. There has also been a specific 
focus on “hard to engage with” groups by working with specialist education projects 
eg Twenty Twenty (specialising in education and work training for disengaged young 
people), Glen Parva Young offenders Institute and links made to work with YOS and 
the Y in Leicester.   There is continuing engagement through social media – 
Facebook, Twitter and Instagram.  Youth Commission has also been involved in 
large events such as PRIDE and the Caribbean Carnival; and has a representative 
sitting on the Stop Search Reassurance Group. 
 
Social Media Communications – Twitter Accounts: Social media accounts have 
been established and will be updated and maintained to provide an update on the 
Youth Commission and its work, along with providing an additional channel for youth 
engagement. Web forums are also to be developed to give an additional consultation 
platform. 
 

285



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

CEASE campaign: Continued during 2016/17, with over 18,000 CEASE Hands now 
signed to pledge support. 
 
Additional resourcing within specialist Child Protection departments: 
Recognising increasing demand, Leicestershire Police have restructured 
departments and increased establishment within specialist child protection 
departments. 
 
Vulnerability Hub: Leicestershire Police have recently created a multi-agency 
Vulnerability Hub by relocating the CSE team, the Missing from Home team and the 
Adult Referral Team to Wigston Police Station to work alongside the Child Abuse 
Investigation Unit, the Child Referral Desk and multi-agency partners.  These include 
a health-based CSE administrator, a Drug & Alcohol Worker, Social Care 
representation from Leicester City and Leicestershire County and Leicestershire Fire 
& Rescue Service. 
 
Cyber Hub: The Paedophile On Line Team (POLIT), High Tech Crime Unit (HTCU), 
Digital Media Investigation Team and Cyber Crime Team have also recently been 
co-located to create a Digital Hub, improving the capacity and capability to identify 
victims of abuse, safeguard those victims and prosecute offenders. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

 Kayleigh’s Love Story has been recognised with national awards, and the 
screening has led to 45 young people coming forward to make disclosures 
around grooming and sexual abuse. 

 There has been positive feedback from the HMIC about the vulnerability 
culture Leicestershire Police operates within, including confirmation that there 
is a good understanding of vulnerability at all levels within the Force. 

 HMIC have commented on the high quality of the service provided to high risk 
child victims within specialist child protection departments.  

 Improved service for child victims of sexual assault, with excellent paediatric 
services being offered in via Serenity SARC in Northampton 

 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

 To identify smarter ways to meet demand in a world of ever decreasing 
resources both within our organisation and the demand impact from partners. 

 To better identify hidden demand again looking at smarter ways to reduce / 
remove this demand. 

 To better engage with private sector partners with a view of sharing reducing 
demand. 

 Leicestershire Police recognises there is still room for improvement around 
the service provided to lower risk missing children and children associated 
with incidents of domestic abuse.    All HMIC feedback from PEEL and CPI 
has been incorporated into the Force’s Vulnerability Action Plan for 2017-18. 

 The Force is also developing an overall Vulnerability Strategy and a Children’s 
Strategy to ensure the voice of the child is incorporated into every strand of 
policing. 

286



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 A review of the Force’s MFH Process has just been completed, and new 
working practices are awaiting finalisation, following consultation at local level 
through to the National Police Chiefs Council.  

 Police and Crime Plan 2017-21 includes a focus on specific areas where 
children are affected: Alcohol and drug related incidents; Children and Crime 
including Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE); Domestic violence and abuse 
including coercion; Human trafficking and modern day slavery; Mental health; 
Missing from home individuals; Prevent strategy and Sexual violence. 

 Leicestershire Police will maintain the regime of internal audits and co-
operation with reviews (both internal and external, eg SCRs, DHRs, SILPs 
etc) to ensure continued compliance with the need to recognise, identify and 
report vulnerability. 

 
  

287



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

Rutland County Council 
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

We over the last year secured the following permanent posts:  
- Head of Service; Children Social Care 
- Service Manager; Children Social Care 
- Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Manager  
- Team Managers; Long Term Team and Duty Team 

 
Securing such posts has enabled us to develop our structure further and begin to 
embed good practice. Over the last 6 months we have significantly reduced agency 
staff, which enables us to develop the service further with permanent members of 
the team.  
 
We have fully implemented and continue to embed Signs of Safety within day to day 
practice, it is fully embedded in our Early Help Teams and our Child Protection 
Process and we continue to develop this further in Children’s Social Care.  
 
We have introduced and further built on ARC (At Risk Children)/CLA (Children 
Looked After) Panel, which is chaired by the Head of Children’s Social Care and 
reviews all children subject to CPP’s over 12 months, ensure oversight all children 
looked after as well as agreeing and ratifying decisions made around children 
becoming looked after.  We have also secured attendance at this panel from 
education and health partners, which is positive.  
 
We have regular workshops which over the last couple of months have focused on 
Permanency and looked after processes. We will continue to develop these to 
develop further and embed good social work practice. 
 
Sign of Safety training is offered to partner agencies working with children, young 
people and families.  
 
We ensure monthly audits are undertaken which offer an oversight of areas needing 
improvement as well as areas which are working well – we have seen significantly 
improved practice post Ofsted and audits evidence this further since January.  
 
We had our Ofsted inspection in November 16 (report published in February 17), 
Ofsted considered that we required improvement to be good, but did not consider we 
had any children which were left at risk of harm.  
 
We have a Next Steps Action plan, which has taken the 17 recommendations from 
Ofsted report and outlined action to ensure these are addressed.  
 
We have worked with partner agencies regarding referrals to ensure quality and 
detail which is aiding an appropriate and timely response to concerns raised, also 
opening lines of communication further to enable positive information sharing.  
 

288



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

We are embedding use of the neglect toolkit to improve outcomes where neglect is a 
concern for children. 
 
Improved joint working between Social Care and Early Help to ensure joint working 
where appropriate to reduce risks to children, alongside review of SEND/Inclusion to 
share information to identify hidden risk or welfare concerns. 
 
We are working hard to develop our fostering service further to ensure that if a child 
needs to be Looked After their needs are better met within the local community. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

Having recruited more permanent staff and reduced the number of agency staff has 
had a positive impact on children and families as it enables there to be consistent 
people in posts and supporting the development of the service.  
 
We have seen excellent performance being developed, assessments, ICPC, RCPC, 
all remain at 100% being completed in timescale. Audits evidence improvement in 
quality in assessments and assessment of risk is clear and concise.  
 
We have collated family feedback, and whilst we continue to develop this we have 
seen good family feedback gathered which has further supported the development of 
the service.  
 
Foster carers have fed back that they are seeing positive changes and 
communication and support strengthening. 
 
Families have fed back that they feel supported and feel we have made a difference 
to their lives.  
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

We are in the process of restructuring children social care to further strengthen the 
team and the practice we deliver. 
 
We continue to develop practice in all areas to improve outcomes for the children we 
work with. 
 
We want to further develop and embed Signs of Safety across the service which will 
continue further to safeguarding children. 
 
We have just begin SCR learning reviews, these will be held bi-monthly and intend to 
review any new themes from SCR nationally, the group is a debate and reflective 
arena to consider how we bring learning back in to our own service.  
 
The ‘Next Steps Ofsted Action Plan’ is our focus for the next 6 months to ensure we 
address all recommendations outlined which will further improve practice.  
 
We have started to collate feedback and want to develop this further, ensuring we 
gain feedback from all families and children throughout their journey, we have 
started with all case closes and those cases randomly selected for audit.   

289



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL)  
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust is a large organisation that employs 
around 15,000 staff. Safeguarding patients and protecting them from harm and 
abuse is integral to the work that we do. 
 
The Trust has supported the work of the Leicestershire and Rutland LSCB, in 
particular:  

 We have been involved in the new multiagency audits developed by the 
board, overall these have provided additional assurance that our practices are 
generally robust 

 We have supplied quarterly performance data to help build up a greater 
understanding of safeguarding performance and we introduced a patient 
partner 

 
In 2016 the Trust had two comprehensive inspections by the Care Quality 
Commission, which considered the Trusts approach to safeguarding. Their findings 
led to the development of an action plan and as a consequence the following 
changes to practice were made: 

 We reviewed our approach to safeguarding children’s training 

 Introduced new guidance and training for staff on the use of the mental 
capacity act 

 Increased the capacity of our maternity safeguarding team in response to 
increasing levels of referrals 

 
As a Trust to strengthen the voice of service users in November 2016 we secured a 
patient partner to sit on our internal safeguarding assurance group. This helps 
ensure that a service user perspective is considered in any safeguarding work 
undertaken within the Trust 
 
In partner with the local CSE hub in August the trust began to put alerts onto our 
emergency department system of any children at risk of CSE 
 
We also secured funding for a hospital based Domestic Violence advocate to work in 
our Emergency Department. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

In response to the issues raised above we believe we have changed practice in the 
following areas: 

 We have been able to improve the quality and input we can provide to 
midwifery safeguarding cases. Ensuring quicker response times and improved 
representation at partnership meetings 

 Audits are beginning to demonstrate greater understanding by staff of the use 
of mental capacity assessments and their application when consenting 
patients for treatment. 

290



 

LRLSCB Annual Report v0.6   
 

 The voice of the patient is being to be firmly embedded in the work the trust 
does, making sure we consider the impact of our work on patient care. 

 
In response to recommendations made by the CQC our completion of actions has 
strengthened our internal safeguarding systems to ensure that best practice is 
followed. 
 
The role of the IDVA is to provide early support and advice to victims of domestic 
violence whilst they are considered in a place of safety, helping them to make 
decisions about personal safety. 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

As a Trust we strive constantly to improve our practice, for the new financial year we 
are going to undertake further work in the following areas: 

 We are going to review our approach to information sharing and liaison work 
for children’s and families requiring early help. 

 Complete further work to introduce the national child information sharing 
project. 

 Complete further internal audits to ensure that practice in consent to treatment 
and detecting safeguarding issues in our emergency department are 
embedded. 

 

291



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 

 

LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND 

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 

(LRSAB) 

Annual Report  

2016/17 
 

 

 

 

 

Document Status 
 

 

First draft completed:  24/08/2017 

Approved by Executive:   

Approved by Board:   

Published:    

Report Author: Safeguarding Boards Business Office, 
 Leicestershire & Rutland LSCB and SAB  
    
Independent Chair:  Simon Westwood 

293



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Foreword 

 

 As the new Independent Chair of the Leicestershire and Rutland 

Safeguarding Boards from April 2017, I am pleased to present the 

Annual Report for the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 

Adult Board (LRSAB) 2016/17. I would like to record thanks to Paul 

Burnett, the previous Chair for his leadership of the Board during 

the period this report relates to. 

On behalf on the Board I want to thank all those; particularly 

parents and carers, front line staff and volunteers who day in and 

day out support vulnerable children, families and adults to improve 

their lives. The board will continue to play their part in building a culture where 

vulnerable adults, children, young people, carers and families are listened to and 

their views influence practice.   

The report is published at the same time as the Annual Report for the Safeguarding 

Children Board.  The reports include commentary on areas of cross-cutting work we 

have undertaken through our joint business plan.  

The key purpose of the report is to assess the impact of the work we have 

undertaken in 2016/17 on safeguarding outcomes for children, young people and 

vulnerable adults in Leicestershire and Rutland.   

There is clear evidence of sustained strong partnership working across the 

safeguarding communities of Leicestershire and Rutland. In the recent Ofsted review 

of the LRLSCB the report stated “The board has developed an ethos of constructive 

challenge and support. It has taken a thoughtful and flexible approach, sensibly 

working closely with the Safeguarding Adults Board and Leicester City LSCB in 

areas of common concern.”  

Though the report is joint it provides distinct findings about practice and performance 

in both Leicestershire and Rutland. 

The safeguarding boards exist to provide support and critical enquiry to ensure that 

organisations work together to reduce or prevent possible abuse and neglect.  

The Leicestershire vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 is to 

promote, maintain and enhance people’s independence so that they are healthier, 

stronger, more resilient and less reliant on formal social care services.  

In Rutland, a peer review in March 2017 found there is a good awareness of the 

principles of Making Safeguarding Personal and the overriding ethos that 

“safeguarding is everyone’s business” being a clear message to and owned by the 

workforce.  

294



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

During a continuing period of change the Board will continue to focus attention on 

keeping adults’ safe through promoting the expectations on partners of; helping 

people and supporting communities to stay well and independent; enabling 

maximum choice and control and ensuring people have a positive experience of care 

and support. 

We can never eliminate risk entirely. We need to be as confident as we can be that 

every child and vulnerable adult, are supported to live in safety, free from abuse and 

neglect. The Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, agencies 

are working well together to safeguard adults and children in Leicestershire and 

Rutland. 

I hope that this Annual Report will help to keep you informed and assured that 

agencies in Leicestershire and Rutland are committed to continuous improvement, 

being open about what needs to improve and transparently identifying the challenges 

in achieving this, not least the continuing pressure to do more with less resources. 

Finally, if you have safeguarding concerns about any vulnerable adult or child 

please act on them; you might be the only one who notices. 

 

Simon Westwood 

Independent Chair  

 

295



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Contents 
 
Foreword 2 
Summary 5 
Board Background 7 
Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire 11 
Safeguarding Adults in Rutland 15 
Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire and Rutland 18 
SAB Business Plan 2016/17 Achievements 20 
Operation of the Board  

 Partner and Public Engagement and Participation 28 

 Challenge and Assurance 29 

 Learning and Improvement 32 

 Procedures and Co-ordination 34 

 Training and Development 35 
SAB Business Plan Priorities 2017/18 36 

 

Appendix 1 – SAB Membership 37 

Appendix 2 – Partner Agency Updates 38 

 

296



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Summary 

The Board is assured that, whilst there are areas for improvement, agencies and 
workers are working well together to safeguard adults in Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 
In reaching this conclusion, we have:  
 
Challenged those who work directly with adults with care and support needs to listen 
to what they are saying, respond to them appropriately and Make Safeguarding 
Personal, including through a workshop with care providers to improve working with 
local authorities.  Information on this can be found throughout this report;  
 
Monitored data and information on a regular basis. The Safeguarding Adults in 
Leicestershire and Safeguarding Adults in Rutland sections of this report tell you 
what we have learnt from this including, in both areas:  

- Increases in safeguarding ‘cause for concern’ alerts 
- A shift towards a lower proportion of safeguarding enquiries regarding 

residential settings and more in community settings 
- An emergence of financial abuse and domestic abuse in safeguarding 

enquiries 
- An increase in the proportion of people being asked about their outcomes and 

whose desired outcomes are met in safeguarding enquiries throughout the 
year 

- An increase in the proportion of social care services users that feel safe and 
that say services make them feel safe. 

 
Reviewed how we are doing as a Partnership, including an assessment on progress 
against our Business Development Plan for 2016/17;  
 
Conducted a series of formal audits of our safeguarding arrangements, including:  

- A Safeguarding Adults Audit Framework (SAAF) process; 
- Case reviews of frontline practice which have included considering 

safeguarding thresholds and Making Safeguarding Personal.  
Our formal audit activity is covered in the Challenge and Assurance section of this 
report; 
 
Carried out Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR), other reviews of cases and 
disseminated learning from these across the partnership.  This is summarised in the 
Learning and Improvement section of this report; 
 
Supported the development of a Vulnerable Adults Risk Management (VARM) tool to 
support consistent responses to vulnerable adults who do not meet thresholds for 
access to safeguarding services, particularly in relation to self-neglect;  
 
Invited our partners to contribute accounts of the work they have carried out over the 
year to safeguard adults with care and support needs; 
 
The nature of the Board is holding partners to account and promoting learning and 
improvement therefore the Board is always considering how it can further improve 
safeguarding practice.  The key areas for further development include: 

297



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 Developing a clear effective approach to prevention  

 Ensuring thresholds are understood and agencies are compliant with the Care 
Act with respect to safeguarding enquiries 

 Further embedding of Making Safeguarding Personal principles and the 
VARM 

 Strengthening the participation of and engagement with adults with care and 
support needs and frontline practitioners in the work of the Board. 

 
Key Messages 

 Workers and agencies work well together to safeguard adults in Leicestershire 
and Rutland. 

 ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ (MSP) is influencing practice across agencies 
and more people in Leicestershire and Rutland have more say in the enquiries 
about their safeguarding. 

 Financial Abuse and Domestic Abuse are emerging areas of abuse of adults 
in Leicestershire and Rutland.  

 Oversight of enquiries carried out in Health settings requires more work to 
gain assurance. 

 The Board will continue to challenge and drive improvement in safeguarding 
of adults, including developing its own approach to engagement and 
participation of adults with care and support needs. 

 

298



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Board Background 
 
The Leicestershire & Rutland Safeguarding Adults Board (LRSAB) serves the 
counties of Leicestershire and Rutland.  It became a statutory body on 1st April 
2015 as result of the Care Act 2014. 
 
Characteristics of Leicestershire & Rutland 

Leicestershire is a two-tier authority area with a population of 667,905.  Whilst we 
are not aware of the total number of adults with care and support needs there are 
105,423 individuals who report their day-to-day activities are limited and 130,084 
adults aged 65 and over living in Leicestershire1. 
 
Rutland is a unitary authority area with a population of 38,022.  There are 5,788 
individuals who report their day-to-day activities are limited and 8,830 adults aged 65 
and over living in in Rutland2. 
 
In Leicestershire, 11.1% of the population identify as from Black / Minority / Ethnic 
Groups (BME).  Of those that do not identify as ‘White British’, the largest groups 
identify as ‘Asian or Asian British’ (6.3%) or ‘White other’ (1.9%). 
 
In Rutland, the percentage of the population who are BME is 5.7%.  The largest 
ethnic monitory group identified in Rutland is ‘White other’ at 2.1%. 
 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Leicestershire identifies that by 2037 the 
total population is predicted to grow by 15%.  However, the population aged over 85 
is predicted to grow by 190%, from 15,900 to 45,600 people, and the population 
aged 65 to 84 is predicted to grow by 56%, from 106,000 to 164,900 people. 

It is estimated that there are around 9,700 people aged 18-64 with learning 
disabilities in Leicestershire and 500 in Rutland3.  These numbers are predicted to 
stay fairly stable in Leicestershire over the next 15 years to 2030, but to drop by 
around 7% in Rutland over that period. 
 
Safeguarding Adults Board Arrangements 

The Care Act requires that the SAB must lead adult safeguarding arrangements 
across its locality and oversee and coordinate the effectiveness of the safeguarding 
work of its member and partner agencies.  It requires the SAB to develop and 
actively promote a culture with its members, partners and the local community that 
recognises the values and principles contained in ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’.  It 
should also concern itself with a range of issues which can contribute to the well-
being of its community and the prevention of abuse and neglect, such as: 

 The safety of people who use services in local health settings, including 
mental health 

 The safety of adults with care and support needs living in social housing 

 Effective interventions with adults who self-neglect, for whatever reason 

 The quality of local care and support services 

                                                           
1
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014 

2
 ONS mid-year population estimates 2014 

3
 Figures from www.pansi.org.uk 

299

http://www.pansi.org.uk/


 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 The effectiveness of prisons in safeguarding offenders 

 Making connections between adult safeguarding and domestic abuse. 
 
The LRSAB Business Plan sets out the key strategic objectives of the Board and 
how these will be met.  The Annual Report presented here sets out how effective the 
Board has been in delivering its objectives.  The report also includes an outline of the 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) and other reviews carried out by the LRSAB, 
the learning gained from these reviews and the actions put in place to secure 
improvement. 
 
The LRSAB normally meets four times a year alongside its partner Board: the 
Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board.  Each of the four 
meetings comprises an Adults Board meeting, a Children Board meeting and a Joint 
meeting of the two Boards.  The Board is supported by an integrated Safeguarding 
Adults and Children Executive Group and a range of subgroups and task and finish 
groups formed to deliver the key functions and Business Plan priorities. 
 
The LRSAB works closely with Leicester Safeguarding Adults Board (LCSAB) on 
many areas of work to ensure effective working across the two areas.  The LRSAB 
and the LCSAB have established a joint executive that oversees joint areas of 
business for the two Boards. 
 
The SAB is funded through contributions from its partner agencies.  In addition to 
financial contributions, in-kind contributions from partner agencies are essential in 
allowing the Board to operate effectively.  In-kind contributions include partner 
agencies chairing and participating in the work of the Board and its sub-groups and 
Leicestershire County Council hosting the Safeguarding Boards Business Office. 
 
Independent Chair 

The LRSAB and the LRLSCB are led by a single Independent Chair.  The 
independence of the Chair of the SAB is a requirement of the Care Act 2014.   
 
The Board’s former Independent Chair, Mr Paul Burnett, stepped down at the end of 
March 2017 after almost six ears in the role.  Leicestershire and Rutland have 
agreed to continue to have a joint Chair for both Safeguarding Boards to reflect the 
need for cross-cutting approaches to safeguarding.  Mr Simon Westwood has been 
appointed as Independent Chair of both Boards commencing in April 2017, initially 
for one year while the implications of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 and the 
future of partnership arrangements for Safeguarding Children and Adults in 
Leicestershire and Rutland are considered. 
 
The Independent Chair provides independent scrutiny and challenge of agencies, 
and better enables each organisation to be held to account for its safeguarding 
performance. 
 
The Independent Chair is accountable to the Chief Executives of Leicestershire and 
Rutland County Councils.  They, together with the Directors of Children and Adult 
Services and the Lead Members for Children and Adult Services, formally 
performance manage the Independent Chair. 
 

300



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Structure of the Board 

The Board has established subgroups and task and finish groups to function 
effectively and achieve its objectives.  The structure of the LRSAB and LRLSCB at 
the end of 2016/17 can be seen below.  Membership of the Board can be found at 
Appendix 1. 
 

Joint Structure with Leicester City LSCB and SABs Leicestershire & Rutland 

LSCB & SAB Executive 

Group* 
LLR Adult Joint 

Executive Group 

LLR SAB Procedures 
and Development 

Subgroup 

Conjoined LR 
Safeguarding Effectiveness 

Subgroup (SEG)* 

Conjoined LR Serious 
Case Review (SCR) 

Subgroup* 

Leicestershire & Rutland 

Local Safeguarding Children 

Board (LSCB) 

Leicestershire & Rutland 

Safeguarding Adults Board 

(SAB) 

L&R LSCB Signs of Safety 
Task and Finish Group 

LLR Children Joint  

Executive Group 

L&R LSCB Multi-Agency 
Audit Sub-group 

 

LLR SAB Multi-
Agency Audit Sub-

group 

LLR Child Death 

Overview Panel 

(CDOP) 

LLR LSCB Training, 
Learning & 

Development Group 

LLR LSCB 
Development and 

Procedures Subgroup 

LLR LSCB Voluntary 
& Community Sector 

(VCS) Reference 
Group 

LLR Making 
Safeguarding 

Personal (MSP) Task 
and Finish Group 

301



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

SAB Business Plan Priorities 2016/17 
Priorities set by the LRSAB for development and assurance in 2016/17 were to: 

 Build community safeguarding resilience and be assured that people living in 
the community who may be experiencing harm or abuse are aware and know 
how to seek help 

 Be assured that thresholds for Safeguarding Adult alerts are appropriate, 
understood and consistently applied across the partnership  

 Champion and support the extension of Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 
across the Partnership and secure assurance of the effectiveness of multi-
agency processes/working and evidence of positive impact for service users 

 Assure robust safeguarding in care settings – including health and social care 
at home, residential and nursing care settings. 

 
In addition, the LRSAB shared the following priorities for development and 
assurance with the LRLSCB: 

 To be assured that there are robust and effective arrangements to tackle 
domestic abuse 

 To be assured that Mental Health Services incorporate robust arrangements 
to reduce safeguarding risk to children and adults including those supported 
through the Mental Capacity Act, Deprivation of Liberty Standards (MCA, 
DoLS) and the Learning Disability Pathway 

 To be assured that the Safeguarding element of the Prevent strategy 
(Preventing Violent Extremism) is effective and robust across Leicestershire 
and Rutland. 

 

302



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Safeguarding Adults in Leicestershire 

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the Leicestershire and Rutland SAB 
assesses that organisations are working well together in Leicestershire to safeguard 
adults with care and support needs. 
 
This section provides a detailed overview of the performance information and activity 
in Leicestershire regarding Safeguarding Adults. 
 
Prevention activity 

Prevention activity in Leicestershire has focused on work with Trading Standards 
and Providers of Care and Support. 
 
Work with Trading Standards  
A piece of scoping work in Leicestershire identified that around 40% of the people 
Trading Standards are alerted to by the national Scam Hub are known to Adult 
Social Care.  A joined-up prevention approach is being developed with Trading 
Standards to address this including locating a member of the Trading Standards 
Team within the Customer Service Centre for one day a week on a trial basis to 
respond to referrals which are received around fraud or scams where safeguarding 
thresholds are not met.  Planned prevention work also includes an awareness 
session for Service Managers to support their teams to recognise potential scams 
and to be aware of which groups may be particularly vulnerable to being targeted by 
scams. 
 
An internal audit by Leicestershire County Council found that appropriate 
safeguarding enquiries have been undertaken where required.  
 
Work with independent provider services 
 
Leicestershire County Council has facilitated several events working with providers, 
including workshop sessions using case studies to support understanding around 
Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) at the Leicestershire county Council 
Residential and Domiciliary Care provider forums and presenting to the recent East 
Midlands Care Association (EMCARE) conference.  
 
The LRSAB ran a workshop with providers of residential and domiciliary care in early 
2017.  The workshop incorporated providers’ role in applying safeguarding 
thresholds to determine whether a safeguarding referral is required or whether an 
alternative response may be more appropriate and also in relation to the emphasis 
within the Care Act guidance on service providers undertaking more safeguarding 
enquiries.  
 
The workshop received positive feedback and several providers have requested 
follow up sessions, which the Local Authority are looking to facilitate.  In addition 
Leicestershire County Council is carrying out ongoing work to audit incident forms 
from provider services to better understand where the Local Authority can best focus 
support to providers to ensure they report appropriate incidents.  This will allow a 
focus on incidents where Local Authority input is required to reduce risk, supporting 
effective use of resources. 

303



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 
Safeguarding data indicates that the Local Authority has effectively worked with 
Residential Care Providers to reduce risk in recent years as the percentage of 
safeguarding enquiries undertaken in care homes in Leicestershire has dropped 
from 61.6% in 2015/16 to 38.9% in 2016/17, with a reduction of 134 (23.5%) 
enquiries from those settings. This work continues and there is also a focus on work 
with domiciliary and supported living provider services. 
 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service commenced a pilot seconding a member of 
staff to work with the police Adult Referral Team to improve information sharing and 
joint working. 
 

Contacts and Assessment  

There has been a 30% increase in safeguarding and concern for welfare alerts made 
to Leicestershire County Council from 2015/16 to 2016/17, with 4,406 alerts received 
in 2016/17.  A similar proportion of alerts proceeded to enquiries as the previous 
year (29% compared to 28%). 
 
The number of alerts from the public has increased by 1% (ten alerts) compared to 
the previous year however a higher proportion of these alerts are proceeding to 
enquiries – 233 compared to 132 (16.9% to 29.5%). 
 
In 2016 a provider withdrew from the new Help to Live at Home (HTLAH) service in 
Leicestershire shortly prior to its launch.  This may have been the cause of part of 
the increase in alerts.  The Board was assured that, though some delays in visits had 
taken place, the County Councils contingency plan had been effective in minimising 
the disruption as much as possible and ensuring the safety of adults receiving 
services.  The Board also noted the hard work of Leicestershire County Council staff 
to achieve this. 
 
The Local Authority have undertaken several internal safeguarding audits.  Based 
upon the outcomes from these audits and the increasing referral numbers, it has 
been identified that that a key area of focus should be in continuing to develop 
consistent and robust approaches to applying safeguarding thresholds and 
addressing initial areas of risk relating to safeguarding adult referrals.  In response to 
this within the restructure of the Adult Social Care pathway, the focus of the LA 
Safeguarding Adults Team has been revised as outlined in the partner update 
section. 
 
Safeguarding Enquiries 

The number of alerts that proceeded to a safeguarding adult enquiry in 
Leicestershire increased by 15% to 1,012, and the number of enquiries that found 
that abuse probably took place (enquiries that were fully or partially substantiated) 
fell by 4% to 553. 
 
The number of enquiries ceased at the individuals’ request increased each quarter, 
in line with the roll out of MSP and people having more say in enquiries, with 11% of 
all enquiries ceased at the individuals request during the year. 
 

304



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

There has been a significant increase in the proportion of enquiries within community 
settings rather than residential settings from 40% to 66% within community settings 
in 2016/17. 
 
The three main types of abuse across all enquiries in Leicestershire were Physical 
Abuse, Emotional Abuse and Neglect & Omission, with notable decreases in Neglect 
& Omission and notable increases in Financial Abuse, Domestic Abuse and Self-
Neglect. 
 
There has been ongoing work between Leicestershire County Council, UHL and LPT 
Safeguarding Teams since June 2015 when the Local Authorities became 
responsible for oversight of safeguarding enquiries where alleged abuse or neglect 
has occurred in in-patient settings. 
 
Since the commencement of this responsibility there have been some issues in 
relation to low referral numbers, and measures have been put into place to try and 
address this.   This has included clear oversight guidance being put in place, led by 
Leicestershire County Council, regular joint threshold application meetings and 
independent investigation by the Local Authority in some enquiries. 
 
The Council, working with Leicester City Council, has also facilitated training for LPT 
Unit Managers and Patient Safety Teams around safeguarding thresholds which has 
been well received and further sessions are planned. There has been some increase 
in referral numbers this year; however, numbers remain lower than expected so this 
work will continue and the issue has been escalated to the Safeguarding Adults 
Board for ongoing monitoring. 
 
Implementation of Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 

The Leicestershire County Council MSP action plan, developed in June 2016, was 
almost complete by the end of the year.  To support staff to embed the principles of 
MSP in safeguarding practice there have been over twenty training sessions 
delivered within the Council to staff and managers.  Changes to the council’s case 
management system also support staff to evidence this in case recording.  
 
The changes support the Local Authority and SAB to more easily audit whether 
outcomes of people involved in safeguarding enquiries are being achieved and 
whether individuals felt involved and informed within the enquiry.  Multi-agency 
actions have been taken forward through the Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland 
(LLR) SAB MSP Task and Finish Group.  More information on this can be found in 
the Business Plan Priority section on Making Safeguarding Personal. 
 
The SAB has been able to review data regarding views of people involved in 
enquiries for the first time this year.  Through the year an increasing proportion of 
people were asked about the outcomes they wanted from the enquiry, from 58% in 
the first quarter of the year to 71% in the last quarter and there was an 18% increase 
in the numbers of cases where outcomes were recorded. 
 
The desired outcomes were achieved (fully or partly) in 95% of enquiries throughout 
the year. 

305



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

The SAB multi-agency audit regarding MSP found there was good progress in 
Leicestershire with regard to embedding these principles in practice.  The findings of 
this are outlined in more detail in the Challenge & Assurance section of this report. 
 
 
 

306



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Safeguarding Adults in Rutland 

From its scrutiny, assurance and learning work the Leicestershire and Rutland SAB 
assesses that organisations are working well together in Leicestershire to safeguard 
adults with care and support needs. 
 
This section provides a detailed overview of the performance information and activity 
in Rutland regarding Safeguarding Adults. 
 
Prevention activity 

The Council report that prevention is embedded within the Adult Social Care and 
Safeguarding approach in Rutland. 
 
A peer review of Rutland Adult Social Care in March 2017 particularly noted the 
“focus on non-eligible citizens and developing approach to working with those people 
who have been institutionalised historically”, within an overall “excellent offer to the 
people of Rutland” where “outcomes are good.” 
 
Rutland County Council has embedded a new Adult Social Care role, Assistant Care 
Manager (ACM), within the Prevention and Safeguarding Team who can provide 
time limited and person centre outcomes for those adults who are deemed at risk of 
being re-referred as a Safeguarding Adult’s enquiry.  This service is non-means-
tested to encourage those at risk of self-neglect to engage with support. 
 
This approach has contributed to a reduction in referrals to the long-term team with 
less than 10% of all new contacts transferred for long term intervention. 
 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service commenced a pilot seconding a member of 
staff to work with the police Adult Referral Team to improve information sharing and 
joint working. 
 
Contacts and Assessment  

Rutland has seen a slight reduction in safeguarding cause for concern alerts 
compared to the previous year (29), but a significant (171%) increase in alerts from 
the public (24 to65) and a similar proportion of public alerts become enquiries as the 
previous year (13% compared with 16%). 
 
All cause for concern alerts in Rutland are screened and triaged through the single 
point of contact.  If threshold for a formal investigation is met then they are allocated 
within 24 hours to workers across the three teams in Adult Social Care.  
 
The Local Authority’s Prevention and Safeguarding Team operate a duty function 
provided by Adult Social Care practitioners.  This allows for immediate engagement 
with the adult at risk.  All assessments and safeguarding documentation require 
management oversight prior to sign off so all work is scrutinised to promote best 
practice.  
 
The Multi-Agency Audits carried out during the year evidenced positive practice in 
Rutland in relation to application of safeguarding thresholds recorded on the contacts 

307



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

and evidenced Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) and Adult at risk outcomes 
being recorded throughout contact and assessment.  
 
Safeguarding Enquiries 

The number of safeguarding enquiries carried out in Rutland has increased by 71% 
to 77 in 2016/17.  Just over a third (34%) of all enquiries found that abuse probably 
took place (enquiries that were fully or partially substantiated), this compares with 
just under half (44%) of the 45 enquiries in 2015/16. 
 
The number of enquiries ceased at the individuals’ request increased each quarter, 
in line with the roll out of MSP and people having more say in enquiries, with 12% of 
all enquiries ceased at the individuals request during the year. 
 
There has been a continued increase in the proportion of enquiries within community 
settings rather than residential settings from 53% in 2015/16 to 72% within 
community settings in 2016/17. 
 
The two main types of abuse in enquiries were Financial Abuse and Neglect & 
Omission.  Domestic abuse is becoming more common. 
 
The County Council have made significant changes to their case management 
system during the year to enable better capture and recording of the views and 
wishes of those involved in safeguarding enquiries in line with the principles of the 
Mental Capacity Act and to ensure that risk is appropriately assessed and managed 
within the enquiry. 
 
The council’s learning approach with safeguarding Continuous Professional 
Development (CPD) sessions for all Adult Social Care practitioners and integrated 
Health colleagues supports good safeguarding enquiry processes. 
 
Implementation of Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 

The SAB has been able to review data regarding views of people involved in 
enquiries for the first time this year.  Through the year, an increasing proportion of 
people were asked about the outcomes they wanted from the enquiry, from 50% in 
Q1 to 100% in Q4 and there was an increase in the numbers of cases where 
outcomes were recorded. 
 
The desired outcomes were achieved in a large majority (94%) of enquiries 
throughout the year. 
 
Rutland County Council has made changes to its Safeguarding Adults information 
system to include mandatory sections on the wellbeing principles and outcomes and 
MSP, which have supported the embedding of these principles and recording and 
evidencing of outcomes.  Personalisation surveys are completed at the end of the 
safeguarding episode and record the adult’s satisfaction with the process.  
 
MSP has been embedded throughout training and guidance within Rutland including 
within 

 Rutland County Council Safeguarding Guidance  

308



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 New Starter Induction training  

 The E-Learning module on safeguarding adults for all new starters.  
 
The Peer Review of Rutland Adult Social Care found that the positive journey 
towards greater personalisation was evidenced in case examples, case audit and the 
values of the members of the workforce that the reviewers met. 
Rutland have used the East Midlands Safeguarding Adults Network Regional 
Benchmarking Tool and the ADASS Temperature Check to assess progress on 
embedding MSP, comparing favourably in these with positive outcomes. 
 
The SAB multi-agency audits during the year have found Rutland County Council to 
be clearly undertaking and evidencing MSP principles with no recommendations to 
change practice. 
 
In addition to these independent audits, RCC have recently developed a Quality 
Assurance Framework that allows staff to undertake structured reviews of casework, 
which includes reviewing the case from a MSP perspective as a standard in all 
audits to ensure MSP is embedded into general practice and identify opportunities 
for improvement. 
 
MSP is a core agenda item on the monthly Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) sessions conducted with the RCC ASC teams and the council is looking to 
promote MSP at the Learning Disability Forum. 
 
Rutland County Council are looking to commission training for providers to promote 
personalisation through the use of commissioning and direct payments. 
 
Multi-agency actions have also been taken forward through the SAB Task and Finish 
Group.  More information on this can be found in the Business Plan Priority section 
on Making Safeguarding Personal. 
 
Transforming Care 

As part of the LLR Transforming Care programme Rutland County Council are 
embedding Positive Risk Behavioural Support with a focus on supporting Service 
Users, providers, transfer of care services and lessening the impact of behaviours 
that challenge, thereby supporting the management of risk.  

 Accessible Information has been embedded in the Councils’ case 
management system which considers preferred communication format in 
relation to initial contacts taken via the Prevention and Safeguarding Team.  

 Promoted awareness with specialist workers by attending workshops and 
training events 

 Promoted awareness across SEND and Children’s services on Transforming 
Care Agenda and safeguards 

 The use of the Admittance Avoidance Register has promoted prevention work 
and joint working with health. 

 
 

309



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Safeguarding Adults across Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
The Police have seen a 66% rise in the number of adult safeguarding referrals they 
have made across Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland to nearly 13,000.  It is 
believed this is related to greater recognition of vulnerability by frontline officers, 
following training. 
 

Mental Capacity Act, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (MCA, DoLS) 

The Mental Capacity Act, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (MCA, DoLS) provide a 
legal framework around the deprivation of liberty designed to protect the interests of 
vulnerable adults without the capacity to consent to care and treatment. 
 
The DoLS service is hosted by Leicestershire County Council on behalf of 
Leicestershire and Rutland.   
 
Following the significant increases in previous years, referrals for DoLS in 
Leicestershire & Rutland continued to increase from 3,395 in 2015/16 to 3,944 in 
2016/17.  Referrals have increased across all settings. Care homes are the main 
source of referrals (2,849), though referrals from private hospitals doubled from 55 
(2015/16) to 106 (2016-17). 
 
The increase, in part, is due to proactive work by the DoLS service and the 
Safeguarding and Compliance teams in Leicestershire and Rutland, with care 
providers and hospitals, and the number of providers and hospitals with no or low 
referrals has reduced.  
 
Referral rates in Leicestershire and Rutland have remained high in comparison with 
other areas, which is identified as a result of careful interpretation of case law and 
good stakeholder relationships.  Despite this and the proactive work mentioned, it is 
considered that the number of referrals does not represent the number of people 
who should have a DoLS assessment, given the number of care homes and hospital 
beds in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.  
 
As reported last year, additional financial resource to support the extension of this 
service to cope with the demand has been provided by the Local Authorities.  At the 
end of March, the service had 14.5FTE (Full Time Equivalent) Best Interest 
Assessors, 10 more than in 2015/16 and are recruiting to have a team of 19.  
 
The increase in resource has resulted in a reduction in the size of the waiting list, 
from 1,897 at the end of March 2016 to 973 at the end of March 2017.  This included 
784 urgent assessments in Leicestershire and 24 urgent assessments in Rutland 
that were outstanding.  Most assessments have a wait of at least nine days. 
 
There has been an increase in Paid Advocates (Paid Persons Representative [PPR]) 
from 15% of cases to 40% of cases following case law in 2016.  Leicestershire have 
devised what is thought to be the first procurement framework nationally to ensure 
service users have access to a diverse range of PPRs.  Due to the national increase 
in demand, Leicestershire have revised the frequency of visits in certain 
circumstances to release capacity within the current PPR providers.  

310



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 
Guidance continues to change and the Law Commission has recently given formal 
feedback from its review of the legislation and proposed new Liberty Protection 
Safeguards.   
 

Transforming Care 

Transforming Care is focussed on making sure there is the right support for people 

to be discharged from inpatient hospital care and helping people who are at risk 

being admitted.  This incorporates learning from national reviews and includes 

working towards the minimal number of arrangements where people are placed or 

receive their support out of the Leicestershire and Rutland area. 

 

An on-line Risk Admission Avoidance register was introduced locally in January 

2016 and has resulted in many more people (increased from five at the end of 

December 2015 to 78 in January 2017) identified as at risk of admission to inpatient 

settings due to their learning disability or autism and receiving support to prevent 

unnecessary admission. 

 

The Safeguarding Board reviewed progress on the Transforming Care Plan and 

safeguarding impact during the year and noted that: 

 Progress on reducing the number of inpatients was behind the planned 

schedule 

 There is a broad level of support in place for people at risk of admission 

 Procedures to prevent unnecessary admission into inpatient settings: Care 

Treatment Review and Blue Light meetings are preventing unnecessary 

admissions (63 across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland in the year to 

May 2017) 

 A lack of appropriate accommodation for people waiting to be discharged from 

in-patient settings is a key risk to progress in providing appropriate and 

effective care and support. 

 

The Board will continue to seek assurance regarding how this programme is 

supporting safeguarding of people with care and support needs, particularly with 

regard to learning disability and autism.

311



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Business Development Plan Priorities 

SAB Priority 1 – Build community safeguarding resilience and be assured that 
people living in the community who may be experiencing harm or abuse are 
aware and know how to seek help 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 

  Survey public understanding of safeguarding adults (abuse and harm) 

  Initiate campaigns including awareness raising process 

  Analyse existing referral information and data to understand the trajectory of 
contacts from the public and conversion to referrals 

  Identify strategies and approaches to build resilience and raising safeguarding 
awareness 

We did… 
  Produced awareness publicity on adult safeguarding and distributed this through 

partners and community locations across the country.  

  Carried out campaigns on financial scams with specific work with Social Care staff 
in Leicestershire. 

  Reviewed data on contacts from the public and conversion of these to referrals 
was included in the dataset through the Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) 
of the Board.   

  A piece of work was carried out in Leicestershire regarding alerts to Trading 
Standards regarding scams which found 40% of these were known to Adult Social 
Care. 

The impact was… 
  An increase in alerts from the public in both Counties, more significantly in Rutland 

(212% increase from 24 to 75).   

  In both areas the number of enquiries that arose from alerts from the public 
increased.   

- In Leicestershire there were 233 compared to 132, conversion rate of 30% 
compared to 17% the previous year.  

- In Rutland there were 10 compared to 4, conversion rate of 13% compared 
to 16% the previous year. 

Further work required… 
  Further work is required to understand understanding and awareness regarding 

adult safeguarding in the public.  This will be considered within the forward Board 
Priority on Prevention. 

312



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

SAB Priority 2: Be assured that thresholds for Safeguarding Adult alerts are 
appropriate, understood and consistently applied across the partnership  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
  Test out, through case audits, how thresholds are currently applied 

  Ensure the updated document is available to staff 

  Continue to monitor the number of Safeguarding cause for concern alerts from 
Health providers raised with the Local Authorities in Leicestershire and Rutland 

  Develop an effective escalation procedure for staff to use regarding referrals to 
Adults Social Care to ensure consistent thresholds. 

We did… 
  Reviewed the Thresholds document, published it on the SAB Procedures website 

and distributed Thresholds business cards to frontline practitioners across agencies 
providing a clear ‘signpost’ to the Thresholds document on the website. 

  Carried out a multi-agency case audit with a focus on thresholds. 

  Developed ‘Guidance for the Oversight Process of ‘Section 42’ NHS Safeguarding 
Enquiries in Leicester City, Leicestershire and Rutland’, with implementation 
supported by training and regular operational meetings between health agencies 
and Local Authorities. 

Further development required… 
  Data on referrals, including from Health providers, suggests that there may still be 

elements of under-reporting and over-reporting into Adult Safeguarding in some 
areas.  Therefore, Safeguarding Adult Thresholds will continue as a priority into 
2017/18. 

   Cause for concern alerts from different sources will continue to be analysed and 
the dataset to the SEG will be revised to include: 

 The total number of cases received by Health Safeguarding Teams and 
subsequently discussed at the meetings between Adults Social Care and 
Health providers 

 The number of cases which met the higher level or serious safeguarding 
concern and result in enquiries 

 How many of the enquiries were substantiated. 

  The Board will continue to review progress with regard to oversight of Section 42 
NHS safeguarding enquiries. 

The impact was… 
  There is now consistent reporting on alerts to the Safeguarding Effectiveness 

Group (SEG). 

   The number of alerts from Health providers to the Local Authorities has increased 
by around 50% compared to the previous year, from 79 to 123 in Leicestershire, 
and from 21 to 29 in Rutland, though the numbers dropped off at the end of the 
year after an initial increase. 

 

313



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

SAB Priority 3: Champion and support the extension of Making Safeguarding 
Personal (MSP) across the Partnership and secure assurance of the 
effectiveness of multi-agency processes/working and evidence of positive 
impact for service users 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
   Preparing the Workforce: Ensure all agencies involved in safeguarding 

enquiries to have a clear plan of how MSP principles will be embedded in practice 
within their agency. 

   Embedding MSP Principles in Practice: Ensure Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
(SARs) include consideration of how MSP principles were applied in each case.  
Consider and make any amendments required to Multi-Agency Policy and 
Procedures and internal processes.  Keep informed of Local, Regional and 
National multi-agency picture relating to MSP. 

   Measuring Effectiveness: Collate information to give assurance of the effective 
embedding of MSP principles in practice. 

   MSP Tasks Relating to Provider Services: Raise awareness of MSP principles 
within provider services in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland and their role 
within this. 

   Identify how the SAB will support provider services in addressing workforce 
development needs relating to embedding MSP principles in safeguarding 
practice. 

   Evaluate and review how provider services are supporting individuals within 
safeguarding enquiries in line with MSP principles. 

We did…  
   Preparing the Workforce: Undertook a Deliberative Inquiry at L&R SAB to 

ensure all agencies are aware of the requirement and signed up. 

   Assessed and challenged each agencies implementation of MSP. 

   Communicated MSP principles with the Independent and Voluntary sectors 
through briefings and Trainers Network. 

   Embedding MSP Principles in Practice: Added MSP questions as a standing 
item to the Terms of Reference for Safeguarding Adult Reviews. 

   Completed  the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) MSP 
Temperature Check. 

  Added a section on MSP to Multi-Agency Policies and Procedures (MAPP). 

  Added a library of MSP tools to the Board’s website, with links from the MAPP. 

  Measuring Effectiveness: Carried out a Multi-Agency audit process regarding 
MSP with Leicester City SAB, including active safeguarding enquiries to ensure 
feedback from the individual. 

  MSP Tasks Relating to Provider Services: Presented on and discussed MSP 
with representatives from a number of provider services through the Trainers 
Network and the EMCARE Annual Conference in March 2017. 

   Included MSP as a topic in the SAB Safeguarding Effectiveness Workshop – 
Supporting Care Providers in March 2017. 

   The Leicestershire Social Care Development Group (LSCDG) and Learning and 
Development reviewed current multi-agency safeguarding training to ensure MSP 
principles are reflected. 
 

314



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The impact was… 

  The number of cases where desired outcomes were asked and where those 
outcomes were met increased through the year in Leicestershire and Rutland. 

   There was an increase in the proportion of service users reporting that they feel 
safe and that services have made them feel safe in Leicestershire and Rutland, 
and an increase in the proportion that feel they have control over their daily lives 
in Leicestershire. 

   The live and case file audit found that the practice of the workers observed or 
spoken to was in line with MSP principles and workers were positive about the 
principles of MSP. 

  The audit also found that on the whole people are being kept involved and 
informed within the enquiries, and effective work to engage people in 
understanding enquiries can gain agreement to continue. 

  The ADASS MSP Temperature Check identified that Local Authorities and the 
Police have made significant progress on embedding MSP in many areas.  
University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) have embedded this in a proportional 
way, and further support for development was required for the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs). 

  ADASS and the Local Government Association (LGA) expressed interest in the 
audit model used in Leicestershire & Rutland with its element of getting feedback 
directly from those involved in the enquiry. Leicestershire has also been asked to 
present the audit model to the East Midlands Safeguarding Adults Network 
(EMSAN). 

Further development required… 

  As the live audits and temperature check were positive and everything had been 
progressed on the action plan, the work of the Task and Finish Group was 
completed by the end of the year. 

   All future SAB multi-agency audits will incorporate MSP to test that MSP 
principles remain embedded, and the SAB will continue to seek assurance and 
support practice development regarding MSP as part of core business  

  The MSP tool library on the SAB website will continue to be updated. 

315



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

SAB Priority 4: Assure robust safeguarding in care settings – including health 
and social care at home, residential and nursing care settings 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 

   Clarify safeguarding frameworks in both Care Home and Domiciliary Care settings 
and secure assurance that there is appropriate practice guidance in place 

   Review Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework to test 
effectiveness of safeguarding in care settings to include home care settings 

   Identify any workforce development requirements to support improved quality and 
performance and be assured that this is delivered 

   Assess and analyse current data to establish a targeted response to awareness 
raising and training needs. 
 

We did…  
   Updated the Performance Reporting Framework (PRF), monitored by the 

Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG), with new indicators under this Priority to 
ensure that relevant data is collected   

  Reviewed the Care Homes training matrix used by the CCG, CQC and Local 
Authorities to check compliance. 

   Ran a Safeguarding Workshop for residential and community care providers in 
March 2017 attended by 52 participants from the Adult Sector workforce, including 
Independent Providers, Contracting and Compliance Officers, Safeguarding Leads 
and Quality and Assurance Leads.  The workshop provided input to providers on 
key areas regarding safeguarding and provided a forum for providers, the Local 
Authorities and the Board to identify ways to improve safeguarding practice 
together.  The topics covered included: Developing your competency; Provider 
Role in Safeguarding Enquiries; Thresholds; and Making Safeguarding Personal. 

The impact was… 
   The SAB has a fuller picture of safeguarding issues in care settings including 

health and social care at home, care home and nursing care settings. 

   A significant reduction in safeguarding enquiries in residential settings in both 
Leicestershire and Rutland, alongside a slight reduction in the proportion of 
enquiries that were fully or partially substantiated in those settings. 

   The provider workshop identified ways in which the providers, Local Authorities 
and the SAB can work together to improve practice when safeguarding concerns 
are identified: 

- The importance of continual two way feedback throughout the enquiry 
between the provider and Local Authority 

- Introduce more descriptive enquiry outcomes to inform current practice and 
future risk 

- Build familiarity with the Thresholds Guidance to aid decision making 
- Attend appropriate training to develop competence and confidence. 

Further development required… 
  Potential data sets regarding domiciliary care settings will be considered by the 

Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) for the 2017/18 performance framework. 

  Follow up progress with providers and the Local Authorities on ways forward agreed 
at the workshop 

316



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

In addition the LRLSCB shared three priorities for development and assurance with 
the LRSAB: 
 
LSCB / SAB Priority 1: To be assured that there are robust and effective 
arrangements to tackle domestic abuse 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 

 Scrutinise the new Domestic Abuse Pathway for services for victims (including 
children, young people and adults) ensuring it is fit for purpose and embedded 
across the partnership (UAVA) 

 Ensure that there are effective information sharing arrangements in place to support 
the effective delivery of the pathway for services 

 Be assured that there are effective preventative processes and intervention services 
in place for domestic abuse perpetrators. 

We did… 
 Reviewed progress on the domestic abuse pathway work and domestic abuse data 

and identified key gaps between the capacity of Independent Domestic Violence 
Advocate (IDVA) services and the demands being placed upon those services.   

 The work on domestic abuse pathways has identified some elements of the system 
where Domestic Abuse related information sharing pathways work effectively, and 
where there are some high profile gaps. 

 The Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Domestic Violence Delivery Group 
(DVDG) has worked to develop the use of Integrated Offender Management (IOM) 
to reduce the harm caused by DV perpetrators. 

The impact was… 
 Partners secured additional funding to increase IDVA services from April 2017.  

 Reports of DA to the Police reduced compared to the previous year in both 
Leicestershire and Rutland, but referrals to MARAC increased. 

 The majority of people from Leicestershire and Rutland receiving support regarding 
domestic abuse felt safer (88% and 98% respectively) 

 Data is not yet available to measure effectiveness of the IOM approach. 

Further development required… 
 The DVDG is seeking further funding to increase the capacity of the Multi-Agency 

Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) and its support functions to improve the 
overall response to domestic abuse across the partnership landscape. 

 The Task and Finish Group were unable to complete work on the pathways, affected 
by complexity of pathways and capacity within agencies.  This is being further 
considered by the Community Safety Partnerships. 

 A Priority Perpetrator Intervention Tool and the CARA (Conditional Cautioning and 
Relationship Abuse) programme are being introduced in the area in 2017 to 
enhance the range of options and consistency of practice with regard to domestic 
abuse perpetrators. 

 The LSCB will continue to monitor domestic abuse impact and further develop 
approaches through the joint priority on the Trilogy of Risk (Domestic Abuse, 
Substance Misuse and Mental Health). 

 

317



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

LSCB / SAB Priority 2: To be assured that Mental Health Services incorporate 
robust arrangements to reduce safeguarding risk to children and adults 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Seek assurance from the Suicide Prevention Plan Strategy Group that the strategy 

is reducing risk 

 Seek assurance that current information and resources available to children, young 
people and adults on Self-Harm are used across the LSCB and SAB partnership 

 Seek assurance that the Emotional Health and Well-being pathway is robust and 
fit for purpose 

 Seek assurance that the CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service) 
review includes improved safeguarding outcomes 

 Seek assurance from agencies that their workforce, across both Children and Adult 
services, have an appropriate understanding of the Mental Capacity Act and 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (MCA DoLS) 

 Seek assurance that the Learning Disability Pathway includes safeguarding 
outcomes. 
 

We did… 
 The initial plan made very slow progress due to the breadth of the scope of the 

priority and delay in identifying a lead to drive this forward.  The plan was revised in 
early 2017 to gain assurance through a series of assurance questions from key 
agencies and partnerships leading work on these areas.  

 The Board received a report on the developing Adult mental health pathways in 
March 2017. 

 

The impact was… 
 The Board gained assurance that the Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland (LLR) 

Suicide Audit and Prevention Group oversee and analyse suicide data and 
consider safeguarding issues within the revised Suicide Strategy and Action Plan 
(2017-2020). 

 Safeguarding and Child Protection will be explicitly included the revised Children 
and Young People Mental Health Transformation Plan 

 The Board gained assurance that the adult mental health pathway was robust. 

Further development required… 

 Reports to the Board on Child Mental health pathways, MCA DoLS and 
Transforming Care regarding Learning Disability, were scheduled for the June 
2017 LSCB and SAB meetings. 

 The Board has recommended that safeguarding is explicitly considered within any 
revisions to the Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP) within Health. 

 Audit of deaths by suicide being carried out for the Child Death Overview Panel 
(CDOP) to come to the LSCBs Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG). 

 Significant further work is required to gain assurance on these areas.  These have 
been incorporated in the Joint Business Development Plan Priority for 2017/18 on 
Emotional Health and Well-Being. 

318



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

LSCB / SAB Priority 3:  To be assured that the Safeguarding element of the 
Prevent strategy (Preventing Violent Extremism) is effective and robust across 
Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

We planned to… 
 Receive regular reports on Prevent work and safeguarding, including training and 

awareness raising 

 Support and promote Prevent awareness to the public and particular groups of 
professionals. 

We did… 
 The Board considered safeguarding assurance with regard to Prevent through a 

deliberative inquiry at its meeting in July 2016. 

 Showcased the Alter Ego “Going to Extremes” theatre production during its 
development at a joint City and Counties LSCB learning event to promote this to 
frontline staff and gain their input into its development. 

 Two Prevent awareness sessions were delivered to foster carers and prospective 
adopters in 2016. 

 The Board supported a local funding bid to support the promotion of Prevent 
awareness sessions with young people and training of carers and parents of 
people with learning disabilities. 

 

The impact was… 
 Across Leicestershire and Rutland over 6,000 people have now been WRAP 

(Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent) trained. 

 The “Going to Extremes” production started touring Leicestershire and Rutland in 
March 2017 with 41 performances booked in schools and public locations between 
March and May 2017.  This production has been well received by schools and 
pupils and is being considered by other areas.  

 The Leicestershire schools annual safeguarding survey in 2016 identified that 
compliance with the new Prevent duty in schools is high and almost all schools 
(91.2%) had or were in the process of completing a Prevent risk assessment. 

 The number and quality of Channel referrals from the County have increased, 
particularly from schools. 

 In Leicestershire’s inspection Ofsted noted that “The ‘Prevent’ duty work and 
agenda are embedded and continuing to develop in Leicestershire.  There is clear 
strategic governance, and creative operational work is being undertaken to raise 
awareness and identify and respond to risks.  There is a good understanding of the 
nature of potential extremism in the area, and effective individual work with young 
people is described.” 

Further development required… 
 Funding for the Counties’ Prevent Officer comes to an end in October 2017.  An exit 

strategy is being planned in preparation for this to continue the partnership work on 
Prevent through the Hate and Prevent Delivery Group. 

 The work of Prevent linked to safeguarding will continue to be monitored by the 
Board as business as usual. 

319



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Operation of the Board 
 

Partner and Public Engagement and Participation  

Partner Engagement and Attendance 

Due to changes in meeting scheduling in 2017 the Board met five times during 
2016/17. The membership of the Board can be seen in Appendix 1. 
 
Whilst the Police, Rutland County Council, and the Fire Service attended all 
meetings, attendance for other agencies was mixed.  
 
Leicestershire County Council and the two Clinical Commissioning Groups each 
attended the majority of meetings and sent apologies for any missed.  Attendance by 
the District Councils improved during the year with the appointment of a new 
representative, who attended both meetings following their appointment. 
 
Other Health partners and the Voluntary Sector representatives attended around half 
the meetings during the year. Engagement with the Criminal Justice Sector remains 
poor.  Whilst the Community Rehabilitation Company attended one meeting and sent 
apologies to another, there was no attendance from the Prison Service or the 
National Probation Service to any SAB Board meetings during the year.    
 
Attendance by the Private sector also remained low with attendance at only one 
meeting. 
 
Agencies consistently engage well in the subgroups of the Board. 
 
The new Independent Chair of the Board will engage with agencies to ensure 
appropriate attendance. 
 
Public Engagement & Participation 

The Board reviewed its approach to Engagement and Participation at the start of the 
year tasking individual Business Plan priority leads with incorporating this in their 
work on the priorities, rather than through a separate group. 
 
The Making Safeguarding Personal Multi-agency audit included specific feedback 
from the people subject to the cases being audited. 
 
Working with the co-production service at Leicestershire County Council, the Board 
involved adults with care and support needs in the recruitment of the new 
Independent Chair of the Board. 
 
Agencies have identified how they are hearing and responding to the voice of service 
users, for example, University Hospitals of Leicester have recruited a patient partner 
to sit on their internal Safeguarding Assurance Group to ensure that a service user 
perspective is considered in any safeguarding work undertaken within the Trust. 
 
However, engagement with and participation of vulnerable adults within the work of 
the Board on the Business Plan priorities has otherwise been challenging. 

320



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 
Further work is required on this and the development of engagement and 
participation has been identified as a Priority for the SAB shared with the LSCB. 
 
 

Assurance – Challenges and Quality Assurance 

Challenge Log 

The Board keeps a challenge log to monitor challenges raised by the Board and the 
outcomes of the challenges. During the year the following challenges were raised by 
the Board with safeguarding partners regarding the following topics: 

 Multi-Agency Audits: at the start of the year the Board Chair challenged Board 
members to work together to implement an effective approach to multi-agency 
audits that supported a comprehensive assurance framework for the Board. 

 Contributions of agencies to the budget of the Board and potential budget 
reductions; the Board challenged partners to strategically consider their 
budget contributions to the Board. 

 Gaps in quality and accuracy of data provided to the Board and its SEG 
subgroup; the Board challenged all partners to review and ensure accuracy of 
data provided to the Board. 

 
Following these challenges: 

 A robust framework for multi-agency audits is in place and two multi-agency 
audits were carried out by the SAB in 2016/17. 

 Further discussions are taking place regarding the future structures of the 
Board and the arrangements for setting agency contributions to the Board, 
and  

 Partners have undertaken to ensure accurate data is provided, with no data 
issues identified in the quarter following the challenge. 

 
Quality Assurance and Performance Management Framework 

The Board operates a four quadrant Quality Assurance and Performance 
Management Framework as outlined overleaf.  This is overseen by the Boards’ 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group (SEG) shared with the LSCB.  The outcomes of 
and findings from this performance framework are incorporated in the relevant 
sections within the report. 
 
The detailed elements of this are reviewed each year to ensure this provides 
assurance regarding core safeguarding business as well as Business Plan priorities 
and other emerging issues. 
 
The overall model is also reviewed and engagement elements of the framework, 
both with staff and service users, require some further development in the coming 
year.   

321



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 
 
Audits 

During 2016-17 the SAB carried out a Safeguarding Adults Audit Framework (SAAF) 
Audit that tests agencies compliance against their safeguarding duties within Care 
Act 2014 through an organisational assessment against safeguarding standards.   
 
Audit returns from the nine agencies that work in Leicestershire or Rutland identify 
that most agencies consider that they are ‘effective’ or ‘excelling’ across the majority 
of the compliance questions that are relevant to them.   

 District and Borough Councils identify they have further work to do to be 
effective in embedding safeguarding effectively in procurement and contract 
management. 

 Public Health identify that Prevent and MSP principles are not effectively 
embedded in their planning, but these will be considered in their review of 
clinical governance arrangements.  They do not yet have effective 
‘whistleblowing’ procedures, but these are planned. 

 University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL) are working towards 
compliance regarding benchmarking safeguarding concerns and enquiries 

 Leicester Partnerships NHS Trust (LPT) are working towards effectiveness 
regarding MSP, MCA DoLS, restrictions and restraint, supervision and 
escalation, and addressing historical allegations, but report that safeguarding 
is not effectively integral in evaluation of services. 

 
Commentary on audit returns from agencies identifies that a good level of testing is 
taken out in completing the audit. The SAB carries out a front-line practitioner audit 
bi-annually to check the findings of the SAAF audit, however there is currently no 
direct challenge element to self-reporting of progress.  The SAB process for SAAF 
compliance assurance will be revised in 2017/18 to reduce the burden on agencies 
and incorporate more peer review and challenge of compliance findings. 
 
In 2016/17 the Board introduced a new approach to multi-agency auditing, with a 
plan of case file audits during the year.  During the year, two Multi-agency audits 
were carried out focussing on the following priorities: 

 Use of thresholds for adult safeguarding 

 Making Safeguarding Personal. 
The audit process involves individual agencies auditing a sample of their own case 
files using a common tool, and bringing audits and learning to a multi-agency 

322



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

meeting to be reviewed across partners.  The cases are selected at random by the 
individual agencies.  An independently selected random case sample will be 
considered by the SAB in future. 
 
The Making Safeguarding Personal audit added a live audit element.  This included 
direct observation of agency practice, discussions with service users about their 
experience of the enquiry and with workers about their understanding of MSP. This 
approach has gained much interest from other authorities and SABs in the region 
and national bodies such as the Local Government Association (LGA) and 
Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS). 
 
The Thresholds audit of 24 cases found that: 

 In the majority of cases thresholds were being appropriately applied with 
some inconsistencies in recording within LPT 

 There is potential to improve information sharing in cases where both LPT 
and UHL are involved, and are overseen by Adult Social Care 

 Recording in case notes regarding decision making about proceeding to 
‘Section 42’ enquiries could be improved across agencies, referencing 
safeguarding thresholds 

 There may be benefit in further work regarding joint responses between 
Leicestershire Police and Adult Social Care regarding safeguarding referrals 
involving known domestic abuse cases. 

 
The outcome of the audit includes 

 Three-way meetings with LPT, UHL and local authorities have been set up 
and are operating well. 

 Domestic abuse has been adopted as a priority for the SAB for 2017/18 
(within Trilogy of Risk). 

 
The Making Safeguarding Personal Audit of nineteen cases, four of which were the 
live audits, found that: 

 On the whole, people are being kept involved and informed within enquiries.  
A further area of work within agencies may be to ensure that the worker has a 
clear focus on establishing the extent the person wishes to be updated about 
the safeguarding enquiry, which will clearly vary, to avoid any further anxiety. 

 Some people will change their minds about wishing the enquiry to cease, 
where workers establish their reasons for this, and talk to them about benefits 
of the enquiry and alternative outcomes (negotiated outcomes).  

 Evidencing support to involve and inform people in the enquiry is important 
alongside achieving outcomes, as the desired outcomes for an individual will 
not always be possible to be achieved – for example when they do not want 
an enquiry and this needs to go ahead due to risk to others.  

 It remains difficult to engage with people about their experience of 
safeguarding enquiries.  Agencies should focus on establishing this whilst the 
enquiry is ongoing, with a worker the person has established a working 
relationship with, to have the best opportunity of supporting the person to 
express their views.    

323



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Agencies have taken away these learning points to embed this within their practice.   
Progress will be tested with a follow up audit on MSP in 2018.  Thresholds will be 
considered as a key part of multi-agency audits in 2017. 
 
Learning and Improvement 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews and other Learning Reviews 

The SAB SCR Subgroup receives information from agencies about serious incidents 
of abuse and considers if a Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) or alternative review 
process is required to ensure multi-agency learning is captured and implemented. 
The group has provided a forum for professional scrutiny, advice and guidance to 
safeguarding leads for organisations. Single agency reviews have been discussed 
and felt by all members to be a valuable resource provided by the group as an 
opportunity for partnership reflection and support.   
 
The Subgroup continues to retain full and appropriate membership from key partners 
and attendance levels have been good. 
 
The Board have agreed to incorporate the following MSP questions into all reviews: 

 Was the service user consulted? 

 Were they listened to? 

 Did they contribute? 

 Did they feel safer? 
 
In 2016/17, the SCR Subgroup received the following referrals for consideration and 
the table below outlines their progress as of March 2017: 
 

Gender Harm Factors Type of Review Progress 

Female Mental Health / Domestic 
Abuse / Substance Misuse 

SAR (Appreciative 
Inquiry) 

Review 
completed 

Female Alcohol misuse / Self 
Neglect 

Alternative Review 
(Appreciative Inquiry) 

Review 
completed 

Female Mental Health  SAR Review underway 

Male Neglect SAR Awaiting Crown 
Prosecution 
Service decision 

Female Self-Neglect Independent Review of 
work undertaken by 
Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Group 

In progress  

Female  Substance Use To be decided Collating 
information 

Female Mental Health  Single agency review Closed - satisfied 
with the findings 
of agency report 
and action plan 

Female Drugs / Alcohol No review - did not 
meet criteria 

Closed 

 

324



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Learning from reviews 

The two reviews completed in 2016/17 have focussed on issues of Mental 
Health, Alcohol Misuse, Domestic Abuse and refusal of services. Whilst the 
circumstances surrounding the cases were different, six themes have been 
drawn together. 
 
Theme 1 – ‘Better Conversations’: Staff in all agencies to be reminded of the 
importance of ‘Better conversations’ at the point of referral so they result a shared 
understanding of what the concerns, desired outcome for service user and next 
steps are. 
 
Theme 2 – ‘Service users reluctant to engage’: This can be a very complex and 
challenging area for staff to deal with. Staff should consider creative and partnership 
solutions to development engagement. 
 
Theme 3 – ‘Understanding Domestic Abuse and Older People’: Staff to be 
reminded that in assessing Domestic Abuse situations they have a good 
understanding of aspects and impact of domestic abuse and consider specific 
vulnerabilities and relationship dynamics for individuals. 
 
Theme 4 – ‘Understanding Mental Capacity’: Staff should have knowledge of the 
Mental Capacity Act relevant to their role; however, in practice, staff are supporting 
decision making all the time, so need to assume capacity unless there are indicators 
to the contrary for that individual and be clear who is accessing capacity, and what is 
the impact of Mental ill-health on daily living. 
 
Theme 5 – ‘The impact of Alcohol misuse’: Supporting people who misuse drugs 
and alcohol can be challenging, complex and unpredictable. The issues are closely 
linked to Themes 1, 2 and 4. Staff should additionally consider resources and expert 
advice available and how they may be accessed. 
 
Theme 6 – Self-Neglect: Staff need to be able to recognise Self-Neglect and be 
familiar with how to respond 
 
The importance of use of the Threshold Guidance for Adult Safeguarding was 
highlighted through these themes. 
 
The SCR Sub-group also considered an alternative joint Children and Adults 
review involving a young person who had recently moved into adulthood but 
were satisfied with the findings of both Local Authority and Mental Health Service 
internal reports, and identified no further learning. 
 
 

Domestic Homicide Reviews 

The LSCB and SAB manage the process for carrying out Domestic Homicide 
Reviews (DHRs) on behalf of and commissioned by the Community Safety 
Partnerships in Leicestershire and Rutland. This is managed through the joint 
Children and Adults section of the Boards’ SCR Subgroup.   
 

325



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Two DHRs were completed during the year and the Community Safety Partnerships 
were awaiting feedback from the Home Office Quality Assurance Panel on these at 
the end of the year.  Three further potential Domestic Homicide Reviews were 
considered, two did not meet the criteria, however an alternative review was carried 
out on one of these cases, and the third was in consideration at the end of the year.  
 
Development Work and Disseminating Learning 

The SCR Subgroup also reviewed the Boards’ Learning and Improvement 
Framework and updated the referral form and the Domestic Homicide Review 
Procedures. 
 
The LSCB produces a quarterly newsletter –Safeguarding Matters to disseminate 
key messages, including from reviews and audits across the partnership and to 
front-line practitioners.  Issues of Safeguarding Matters can be found on the SAB 
website: http://lrsb.org.uk/newsletters 
 
Learning has also been shared through single agency internal processes, Learning 
Events and the Trainers Network. 
 
Co-ordination of and Procedures for Safeguarding Adults  

In response to learning from the reviews and audits of practice, alongside research 
findings and review findings nationally, the Board has developed and updated 
safeguarding procedures as follows: 

 Made changes to the Multi-Agency Policy and Procedures to improve 
accessibility and allow more timely changes to local documents  

 Development of a Vulnerable Adults Risk Management (VARM) process to 
enable multi-agency working to identify risk and look for creative solutions 
particularly in cases of Self-Neglect 

 Ensuring the procedures reflect the principles of Making Safeguarding 
Personal  

 Updating the Escalation and Professional Disagreement Process 

 Added signposts with the Multi-Agency Policy and Procedures to additional 
information on Forced Marriage, Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery and 
Preventing Violent Extremism  

 Thresholds guidance updated to include Domestic Abuse 

 Reviewed templates for Record of Strategy meeting, Conference agenda and 
Professional Report to Conference 

 Commenced development of a Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Local Authority and Health where abuse is alleged to have occurred within a 
health setting. 

 
Future Work planned includes: 

 Completion and final sign off the Information Sharing Agreement (ISA) 

 Final sign off of the Local Authority and Health Memorandum of 
Understanding  

 Further development of guidance on Modern Slavery, Human Trafficking and 
Prevent  

 Reviewing guidance regarding allegations made against staff.  
 

326

http://lrsb.org.uk/newsletters


 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Vulnerable Adults Risk Management Process (VARM) 

In response to the increase in alerts regarding self-neglect and an identified need for 
a consistent response to the often complex nature of these cases with a lack of 
engagement; Vulnerable Adults Risk Management Process (VARM) Guidance has 
been developed by the three Local Authorities in Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland, with assistance from Leicestershire Police.  This has been considered by 
and is supported by the LRSAB.   
 
The guidance focuses on co-ordinating a multi-agency approach to provide more 
consistency in working with people in situations of risk, where they are not engaging 
with agencies and in particular for working with people at high risk in relation to self-
neglect.  It is felt this approach is likely to be more effective than using the 
safeguarding process for self-neglect, where the person is felt to have capacity to 
understand the risks involved, given there is no abuse by a third party. This is an 
LLR approach, which will support partner agencies working across all three areas.  
 
Initial training has been undertaken on the VARM with Local Authority Service 
Managers and feedback from this shows this approach is welcomed as being a 
positive development to better support operational practice when working with 
people who are at risk through self-neglect. 
 
 
Training and Development  

The SAB, through its Safeguarding Effectiveness Group regularly requests 
information from its partners regarding the effectiveness of their safeguarding 
training programmes.   
 
During the year the SAB has challenged the Local Authorities regarding the lack of 
information they were able to provide to give assurance on workforce training and 
competency.  At the end of the year assurance had been received from all partners 
regarding the safeguarding training and competence of their workforce.  
 
The Trainers Network has met four times with regular attendance of forty staff from 
the Independent, Statutory and Voluntary Sector who have a responsibility for 
developing and delivering learning and development opportunities. 
 
The Network continues to give participants the opportunity to discuss: 

 National and local developments in practice and procedures 

 Learning from reviews (national and local) 

 Learning delivery methods – What Works and What Challenges 

 Embedding the Competency Framework. 

 Updates to Training Material/Resources. 
 
During 2016/17, the focus has been on Making Safeguarding Personal, updating of 
Training material for ‘Reporting concerns, allegations or disclosures of abuse’ and 
finding creative ways to embed the competency framework into staff development  
 
The Network supports dissemination of information and awareness raising materials 
such as Safeguarding Matters, Leaflets and training events. 

327



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 
Feedback from the group has been sought on levels of understanding of MSP and 
ease of access to the procedures. 
 
 
Partner updates 

Our partners provide assurance regarding safeguarding practice and development 
throughout the year.  Key achievements and areas for development for partners are 
outlined in Appendix 2 to this report. 
 
 
Business Plan Priorities 2017-18 
Review and analysis of learning, performance information and emerging issues have 
led us to identify the following priorities for 2017-18: 

Development Priority Summary 

1. Prevention Developing a prevention strategy, assurance 
regarding safeguarding elements of local 
prevention strategies and developing community 
awareness 

2. Making 
Safeguarding 
Personal (MSP) 

Continuing development of MSP across partners 

3. Thresholds Identifying and addressing gaps regarding over 
and under-reporting 

4. Self-Neglect Establishing and embedding a robust process for 
practitioners to respond to self-neglect 

 
The following priorities are shared with the Leicestershire & Rutland Local 
Safeguarding Children Board for 2017-18: 

Development Priority Summary 

1. The ‘Trilogy of 
Risk’ 

Assessing approaches to safeguarding adults and 
children where domestic abuse, substance 
misuse and mental health issues are present 

2. Participation and 
Engagement  

Establishing visible effective participation by 
children and vulnerable adults at Board level 

3. Emotional Health 
& Wellbeing  

Develop understanding of emotional health and 
well-being across the partnership and gain 
assurance regarding Better Care Together (BCT) 
and the Sustainable Transformation Plan (STP) 
that work is addressing safeguarding issues, 
particularly re: mental health 

4. Multi-Agency risk 
management / 
Supervision 

Develop a multi-agency supervision approach for 
risk management in safeguarding adults and 
children 

 

328



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Appendix 1 - Membership of the SAB 2016/17 

 
Independent Chair 
 
Members 
Borough and District Councils (represented by Melton Borough Council) 
Derbyshire, Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire and Rutland Community Rehabilitation 
Company (DLNR CRC) 
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) 
East Midlands Care Association (EMCARE) 
Leicestershire County Council 
Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) 
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT) 
Leicestershire Police 
National Probation Service (NPS) 
Prison Service 
Rutland County Council 
University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL) 
Voluntary Action LeicesterShire (VAL) 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
 
Observer status: 
Leicestershire County Council Lead Member for Adult Social Care 
Rutland County Council Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Health 
 
Professional Advisers to the Board: 
Boards Business Office Manager 
Legal Services for the Safeguarding Boards 
Adult Safeguarding Leads in the two Local Authorities 
Designated Nurse Children and Adult Safeguarding – CCG hosted Safeguarding 
Team 

 
 

329



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Appendix 2 - LSCB Partner updates in full 
 

East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 
(ELRCCG) and West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(WLCCG) 
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year: 

Maintaining Statutory Responsibilities: During 2016/17 West Leicestershire CCG 
and East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG (hereafter known as the CCGs) continued 
to exercise their statutory responsibility towards safeguarding children and 
vulnerable Adults. The CCG Chief Nurses represented their CCG as a statutory 
member of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children Board and the 
Safeguarding Adult Board. The CCG Deputy Chief Nurses represent their CCG at 
the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding Children and Adult Executive. 
 
LSCB/SAB support from CCG Designated Professionals: The CCGs have 
maintained the expertise of Designated Nurses Safeguarding Children and a 
Designated Doctor Safeguarding Children. The CCGs commit the Designated Nurse 
role and the CCG Safeguarding Team to provide extensive support to the 
LSCB/SAB. During 2016/17 this has been in terms of: chairing the LSCB/SAB 
Safeguarding Effectiveness Group; membership of a number of LSCB/SAB Sub 
Groups including the Serious Case Review Sub Group; Chairing a LSCB Child 
Alternative Review; Panel member of the 2016/17 Child Serious Case Reviews, 
Adult Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews. Taking a leading role in the 
promotion of the Neglect Toolkit. 
The Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Adults has contributed to the 
LSCB/SAB 2017 Safeguarding Matters publication promoting Safeguarding 
Supervision. 
 
The work of the CCG Named GP’s Safeguarding Children This role ensures that 
the GP safeguarding leads in all of the GP Practices (across Leicestershire, Rutland 
and Leicester City) receive consistency in safeguarding information and support in 
addition to mandatory safeguarding training. The CCG Named Safeguarding GP’s 
delivers children’s safeguarding training to GPs and leads the GP Safeguarding 
forums and GP Safeguarding Bulletins 
The GP Safeguarding Forums 2016/17 have included the following topics. 

• Meeting with Social Care Managers  
• Complaints from GPs regarding the lack of continuity regarding access to 

Children’s Social Care  
• The quality of GP referrals to Children’s Social Care 

The GP Forums provide a venue for discussion for information the LSCB/SAB 
disseminate to GP Practices in addition to emailed information.  
 
The CCG Heads of Safeguarding Children and Adults support the Designated 
Professionals to ensure effective interface with the Safeguarding Boards is 
maintained and delivery of the priorities for the CCG Hosted Safeguarding Team 
continue to be met.  
 

330



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

GP Safeguarding Advice Line. Provided by the CCG Hosted Safeguarding Team 
this is available to all GPs across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
 
MCA/DoLs - Rainbows Project: My Adult My Child- website 
The NHS England MCA Improvement Programme was launched across 
Leicestershire, Lincolnshire and Rutland in 2015 the aim is to increase 
understanding about and implementation of the Mental Capacity Act by adding value 
to existing local activity and plans. This initiative was fully supported by the 
LSCB/SAB.    A Designated Nurse Safeguarding led the User Group work stream for 
the Improvement Programme that developed the website My Adult- Still My Child.    
 
The website was launched in September 2016, it is aimed at those new to making 
Best Interest Decisions and especially those caring for a young person in transition 
to adult services. To this end it is a valuable resource for parents/carer and 
professionals. Parents and carers from Rainbows Hospice Loughborough and 
Together for Short Lives ensured that the website was co-produced and inspired by 
those who have experienced decision making within health and welfare settings and 
felt unprepared or challenged without such guidance.  
 
CCG Safeguarding Assurance: throughout 2016/17 the CCG Quality and 
Assurance Group and Governing Body has received assurance the status of how 
commissioned health services have in place key safeguarding requirements for 
adults and children 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

Designated Nurse Chair of LSCB Safeguarding Effectiveness Group has 
maintained a focus on continuous improvement with regards to reporting from 
meaningful and accurate data to demonstrate the effectiveness of partnership 
working. This has enabled discussion and partnership challenge at the LSCB. Key 
results include raising the profile of: the Voice of the Child: strengthening multi-
agency care planning for Children in Need: Establish the level of children and adult 
safeguarding training across the partnership: the lack of an agreed information 
sharing pathway for Domestic Violence: compliance with the Care Act 2014. 
 
CCG Named Safeguarding Children GPs The impact of the work of the CCG 
Named Safeguarding GP’s is evidenced by well attended and evaluated GP Forums 
and above 90% uptake of children and adult safeguarding training for all GPs across 
the CCG. To this end the role has raised the profile of safeguarding across the CCG. 
 
GP Advice Line The introduction of the GP advice line providing support and 
guidance to GPs this has been well received and GPs acknowledge it helpfulness – 
evidenced by GPs contacting Social Care with safeguarding concerns. 
 
The audit work with GP Practices has resulted in:  

 Domestic Violence/Abuse – GP Policy and Guidance being developed and 
training commissioned 

 GPs have easy access to GP Referral form via PRISM. This has provided 
evidence of both the good work currently being undertaken by GPs and areas 
for improvement. To increase in knowledge and confidence will have enabled 
GPs to make better decisions regarding Safeguarding. 

331



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

 Supporting the GP practices as required following submission of the GP 
Quality Safeguarding Markers.   

 Continued dissemination of learning from LSCB /SAB to GP Practices 

 Continues application of the locally agreed Safeguarding Adults Thresholds 
with health commissioned services 

 A Domestic Violence/Abuse Policy will be available for GP practices 

332



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Leicestershire County Council  
 
Developments with regard to the agency’s approach to safeguarding in the 
year: 

In response to internal safeguarding audit findings, the focus of the LA Safeguarding 
Adults Team has been revised within the restructure of the Adult Social Care 
pathway. 
 
Threshold assessment will be carried out by the Customer Service Centre. 
Local Area teams will have an increased role in safeguarding enquiries, with the 
safeguarding team only involved in brief interventions establishing enquiries, desired 
outcomes and initial strategy meetings where an individual is not already known to 
services. 
 
This approach is intended to ensure that immediate risk is consistently addressed, 
and that the adult at risk’s views and wishes are established as soon as possible. It 
will also ensure that ongoing resources are prioritised appropriately according to 
levels of risk. Additional practice guidance has been developed to support the 
safeguarding and Locality Teams around the changes, including for Locality Teams 
around undertaking Organisational Safeguarding enquiries which were previously 
undertaken primarily by the Safeguarding Team. 
 
The County Council have made significant changes to the safeguarding enquiry 
‘forms’ on their case management system during the year to enable better capture 
and recording of the views and wishes of those involved in safeguarding enquiries in 
line with the principles of the Mental Capacity Act and to ensure that risk is 
appropriately assessed and managed within the enquiry. Developments include: 

 New Making Safeguarding Personal screens where details are captured about 
how the individual’s outcomes are discussed with them and how these will be 
achieved 

 Requirements to evidence that Mental Capacity Assessments have been 
undertaken where there are doubts about the person’s capacity to make 
decisions about the enquiry and how best interests decisions have been 
made 

 Mandatory risk assessments and manager oversight and approval 

 Consultation with the adult at the conclusion of the enquiry to capture their 
views about how involved and informed they felt within the enquiry, and 
whether their outcomes have been achieved. 

 
Based on the outcome of safeguarding audits and feedback from staff, the 
Leicestershire safeguarding training programme, which had been delivered by an 
external agency, has been reviewed.  Delivery has been moved in-house within the 
Local Authority to ensure that local processes and practice requirements are 
reflected, as well as statutory duties under the Care Act.  
 
The new training offer is more aligned to the SAB training competencies.  It will move 
away from the previous model of a mandatory day of training every 3 years, and 
focus on a core day around statutory responsibilities, with a series of shorter ‘bolt on’ 
modules, focussed on areas identified through audit as key areas of focus for 

333



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

practice. These will include risk assessment, mental capacity assessment within 
safeguarding enquiries, supervision, effective safeguarding meetings, working with 
service providers in enquiries and domestic abuse and coercive control.  The Local 
Authority’s approach to the Competency Framework around safeguarding is also 
being developed to support managers and staff to easily review and assess 
competency in these areas within supervision. 
 
This model of training will ensure that learning is ongoing throughout the year, and 
there is a focus on practical support as well as on statutory duties and theoretical 
models. There will also be work undertaken by Lead Practitioners to help facilitate 
workshop type sessions on particular themes using case studies in team meetings to 
learning  and development around safeguarding is not only reliant on formal training 
sessions. 
 
Safeguarding Training sessions for the new Service Managers have already been 
undertaken and feedback from this has been very positive, with consistent 
comments that this approach feels more relevant to operational safeguarding 
practice. New practice guidance is also in place in light of the changing focus of the 
Safeguarding Team in the new structure, and work has been undertaken by the 
Safeguarding Lead Practitioner around managing safeguarding case with social 
workers across the care pathway. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

The impact of the restructure of Adult Social Care will not be seen until 2017-18. 
The developments of the Council’s information system have supported the increase 
in recording of desired outcomes in safeguarding enquiries and ensured the Local 
Authority is able to report on Making Safeguarding Personal data, both internally to 
the SAB and, as required, to the East Midlands Safeguarding Adults Network. 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

In response to feedback from staff, the Council is looking to make the training for 
recording safeguarding enquiries more relevant to practice by basing this on case 
examples. 

334



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service  
 
Developments with regard to the agency’s approach to safeguarding in the 
year: 

A full time member of staff has been seconded to work with the police Adult Referral 
Team. This is a pilot project to look at how we can improve information sharing and 
joint working. This is the first time that we have had a named person who can 
manage ongoing cases. 
 
We have developed a new partner referral form and risk matrix for prioritising 
requests for home fire safety checks, so our work can be targeted at the most 
vulnerable. 
 
Hoarding risk matrix is being used widely by our crews. 
 
Community safety staff attended mental health first aid training.  We are now looking 
at rolling it out to the wider work force. 
 
Two practitioners attended training for adult fire setters with a view to working with 
mental health professionals and/or prisons when appropriate. 
 
Nationally, fire services are moving towards the production of standard safeguarding 
best practice advice for this sector, which will be very welcome. The Safeguarding 
Manager recently attended a National Conference . 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

Our new VP officer is attending incidents together with police officers and other 
agencies – e.g. housing and ASC.  We have good examples of multi-agency working 
in cases of self-neglect. 
 
We know that our operational crews are much more aware of safeguarding 
responsibilities as our Designated Safeguarding Officer is receiving much more 
frequent enquiries and requests for advice.  

 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

New scenario based Safeguarding training package is being developed – we aim to 
launch it by September.  
 
We are currently looking at the structure of our internal safeguarding / vulnerable 
people team to ensure that we have an adequate number of people who can 
respond appropriately to alerts from firefighters and referrals from external agencies. 
Mental Health first aid training for operational managers – see above comments. 
After the pilot secondment project with the Police, we will make a decision as to the 
best case management system to use for VPs – i.e. one which will support multi-
agency working. 
 
The set-up of a new national fire service safeguarding group, which our 
Safeguarding manager will attend, should support us in improving our practice. 

335



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust (LPT)  
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

Feedback from a CQC review of health services for Children Looked After and 
Safeguarding in Leicester City was the catalyst for strengthening the 
implementation of the Whole family approach to safeguarding. LPT adopted a 
Whole Family Approach to Safeguarding in 2016/17, building on the Think Family 
work already underway in LPT. Implementation will include replacing the traditional 
level 2 adults safeguarding training and level 3 safeguarding children training with 
the combined ‘Whole Family’ safeguarding training. LPT have also implemented 
systems to improve communication across adult & children’s services within LPT and 
promoted the ‘Whole Family Approach’ via posters and monthly bulletins and 
changes to electronic systems. 

 
It was identified by the CQC that the quality of Inter-agency referral forms 
submitted by School Nurse, CAMHS practitioners and Adult Mental Health 
practitioners required improvement. LPT have developed and implemented an 
Inter-Agency Referral Standard Operating Guidance to improve the quality of inter-
agency referrals submitted to Children’s Social Care. Quality reviews of Inter-agency 
referral forms submitted to Children’s Social Care by school nurses, CAMHS and 
adult mental health staff are conducted quarterly. 
 
MAPPA: A MAPPA Audit tool developed, improving on a pre-existing audit tool 
developed in 2013/14. The audit was carried out in June 2016. 
 
Section 42 Enquires: An improved process for Local Authority Oversight and 
effective multi-agency working in relation to Safeguarding enquires under section 42 
of the Care Act was developed. Improved internal processes, which ensure more 
robust governance relating to Section 42 enquires, were also put in place. 
 
Mental Capacity Act:  A MCA improvement plan was developed and supported by 
the LPT Chief Nurse.  
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

Inter-agency referrals: The quality reviews will measure the level of improvement in 
relation to inter-agency referrals submitted to Children’s Social Care, helping to 
ensure the right service is provided at the right time. 
 
Whole family: Adult staff are now able to access details of a child’s health visitor or 
school nurse where necessary and appropriate via a single point of contact. 
 
MAPPA Audit: this was targeted more specifically to relevant Mental Health / 
Learning Disability services. Results provided some supporting evidence that LPT 
MAPPA cases were largely correctly identified by category and level, and that cases 
that were not correctly identified were subsequently corrected and alert wording 
changed to ensure future cases were recorded correctly. 
 

336



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Section 42: Improved processes have resulted in more robust systems to support 
implementation of Making Safeguarding Personal. 
 
MCA: Greater assurance that principles of the MCA are fully applied within LPT 
clinical areas. 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

From April 2017, LPT will deliver Level 3 Whole Family safeguarding training to all 
LPT adult & children clinical staff. 
 
Repeat MAPPA Audit June 2017 to compare results. 
 
Further work in embedding the Whole Family approach to Safeguarding and MCA 
improvement. 

337



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Leicestershire Police  
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

In 2015/2016, we made 7,782 adult safeguarding referrals across Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland; in 2016/2017, we have seen a 66% rise to nearly 13,000 
referrals. The trend continues to show an increase of reports monthly. 
 
We are still analysing the full reasons behind this increase but currently we believe 
this to be down to our Protecting Vulnerable Persons (v4) training programme. This 
has led to increased recognition of vulnerability by frontline officers.  
 
We have also seen that, as partner agencies’ resources are declining, we are being 
called upon by the public and those agencies to respond. As Policing duties are to 
protect life and property, this often can mean that we are charged with responding to 
calls that aren’t to investigate crime. We see a particular rise in demand in the 
evenings and at the weekend. 
 
This has led to 98 multi-agency investigations. This is a 23% drop from 2015/2016. 
This supports the theory that we are not seeing a rise in vulnerable adults who are 
the victims of crime, but we are seeing a rise in the number of vulnerable adults who 
are in need of partner services’ support but have called upon the police to attend. 
 
We have issued 84 domestic violence prevention orders.  Following a HMIC review, 
Leicestershire Police has stopped reviewing High-risk assessments domestic 
incidents. This has seen a 50% increase in the number of high-risk assessments 
following a domestic incident. In order to manage this we have had to move to a 
weekly MARAC. 
 
A Multi-Agency DV Executive group has been formed, chaired by Assistant Chief 
Constable Rob Nixon. 
 
To meet the increasing demand upon the Domestic Abuse Investigation Unit, there 
has been an active recruitment to increase the establishment. Some work has also 
been completed within the localised Force Investigation Units to ensure officers’ 
awareness with dealing with Domestic Abuse cases. 
 
We have introduced the Herbert Protocol: a missing form which is completed when 
someone is diagnosed with Dementia. If they go missing and the police are needed 
to help find them, the form is handed over, detailing a current photograph, hobbies 
and previous jobs. This assists us to find the missing individual as soon as possible. 
We have worked closely with the Alzheimer’s Society who have helped us to design 
the form and will assist with the completion of it. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

There has been positive feedback from the HMIC about the vulnerability culture 
Leicestershire Police operates within, including confirmation that there is a good 
understanding of vulnerability at all levels within the Force. 

338



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

During the cold winter months, local Police Community Support officers found an 
elderly male drunk in the city. They engaged with him and agreed to get him home 
safely. When at his premises it was highlighted that he had no gas or electric; they 
noted the house was cold due to having broken widows and there was evidence of 
extreme damp in the property along with evidence of no personal care, with the 
property being in a poor and dirty state presenting a health hazard. The PCSOs 
engaged the following day with the Adult Referral Team who called for an urgent 
multi-agency response. The male was identified as suffering with the effects of 
hypothermia and was hospitalised.  The house being privately owned posed 
problems but these were overcome to make repairs; support was given around 
finances and paying the amenities bills to ensure a better quality of life for the 
gentleman. The reason for the male going out to public houses and getting drunk 
was due to the public houses being warm. 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

 To identify smarter ways to meet demand in a world of ever decreasing 
resources both within our organisation and the demand impact from partners. 

 To better identify hidden demand again looking at smarter ways to reduce or 
remove this demand. 

 To better engage with private sector partners with a view of sharing and 
reducing demand. 

 The Force is developing an overall Vulnerability Strategy and a Children’s 
Strategy to ensure the voice of the child is incorporated into every strand of 
policing. 

 A review of the Force’s Missing from Home process has just been completed, 
and new working practices are awaiting finalisation, following consultation at 
local level through to the National Police Chiefs Council.  

 Police and Crime Plan 2017-21 includes a focus on specific areas with links to 
safeguarding adults: Alcohol and drug related incidents; Domestic Violence 
and Abuse including coercion; Human Trafficking and Modern Day Slavery; 
Mental Health; Missing from home individuals; Prevent strategy and Sexual 
violence. 

 Leicestershire Police will maintain the regime of internal audits and co-
operation with reviews (both internal and external, eg SCRs, DHRs, SILPs 
etc) to ensure continued compliance with the need to recognise, identify and 
report vulnerability. 

 

339



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Rutland County Council 
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

RCC has embedded a new Adult Social Care role – Assistant Care Manager (ACM) 
– within the Prevention and Safeguarding Team who can provide time limited and 
person centre outcomes for those adults who are deemed at risk of being re-referred 
as a Safeguarding Adult’s enquiry.  This service is non-means-tested to encourage 
those at risk of self-neglect to engage with support. 
 
Currently there are three ACM posts and Rutland plans to recruit one more ACM and 
a social worker to extend capacity and provide a more rapid response to enquiries 
where safeguarding, neglect and self-neglect are indicated.  The ACMs are 
managed and supported by a Senior Practitioner to provide professional support and 
development. 
 
Rutland County Council has made changes to its Safeguarding Adults case 
management system to include mandatory sections on the wellbeing principles and 
outcomes and MSP. Accessible Information standards are now embedded within the 
system which considers preferred communication format in relation to initial contacts 
taken via the Prevention and Safeguarding Team.  
 
These system changes mean outcomes now follow through to point of closure within 
the safeguarding episode and practitioners are required to record and evidence 
whether outcomes have been achieved for the adult and how they were achieved. 
Personalisation surveys are completed at the end of the safeguarding episode and 
record the adult’s satisfaction with the process. Rutland County Council’s 
performance team regularly review this data and identify trends and themes in order 
to shape service development moving forward. 
 
All Adult Social Care practitioners who are responsible for processing enquiries have 
completed safeguarding adults training at an investigator level.  
 
All practitioners within the Adult Social Care service in Rutland, including integrated 
Health colleagues, attend Safeguarding Continuous Professional Development 
(CPD) sessions bi-monthly.  These sessions include updates in relation to MSP and 
provide support and guidance on any MSP related issues within care management.  
Any feedback from audits and system changes are disseminated and discussed  and 
workers are encouraged to present case studies for peer review and peer shared 
learning. 
 
Adult Safeguarding Basic Awareness Training (In House) is provided to all new 
starters within Adult Social Care and refresher training ongoing for current 
employees – 7 sessions in the last year, two more booked.   Attendees include 
REACH team, PAs, Social Workers, OTs, Case Managers, Hospital Discharge Team 
(all disciplines), Team Assistants and staff recently new in post. 
 

340



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Staff Health Check (Adult PSW Health Check) completed by frontline workers to 
encourage them to discuss professionalism within practice and how they would like 
RCC to move forward in relation to developing their skills as practitioners. 
 

Impact of developments and work carried out 

The prevention approach with the ACMs has contributed to a reduction in referrals to 
the long term team with less than 10% of all new contacts transferred for long term 
intervention. 
 
The changes to the Case Management System mean outcomes now follow through 
to point of closure within the safeguarding episode and practitioners are required to 
record and evidence whether outcomes have been achieved for the adult and how 
they were achieved. Personalisation surveys are completed at the end of the 
safeguarding episode and record the adult’s satisfaction with the process. Rutland 
County Council’s performance team regularly review this data and identify trends 
and themes in order to shape service development moving forward. 
 
Training feedback forms have rated the training highly and indicate that attendees 
have felt that it will beneficial to their roles.  Localised training with relevant links and 
case studies have proved popular. 
 
A peer review of Rutland Adult Social Care in March 2017 found: 

 Overall there is an excellent offer to the people of Rutland and outcomes are 
good 

 Reviewers were impressed with commitment, enthusiasm, values and attitude 
of all the staff we met, at all levels 

 Reviewers were particularly impressed with the whole council approach 
around support into employment encouraged directly by the Chief Executive  

 The focus on non-eligible citizens (prevention) and developing approach to 
working with those people who have been institutionalised historically was 
particularly noted  

 Strong focus on personalisation moving forward in relation to all areas of 
practice (embedding personalisation within all aspects of social care)  

 Good leadership in relation to professional development and positive that 
Health colleagues are invited into and attend continuous professional 
development sessions. 

 

Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

A programme of internal audits will always consider MSP, outcomes and the quality 
of the documentation linked to the safeguarding episode. Further development of the 
Liquid Logic information system, contacts and safeguarding documentation will be 
looked at on an ongoing basis. Training will be developed internally around 
completion of the safeguarding episode with supporting guidance for all staff within 
the social care team. 
 
Further development will be ongoing regarding legal literacy, coercion and control, 
VARM and criminal / civil law interactions. The additional ACM and Social Worker to 
be recruited will also enhance the response to safeguarding enquiries in Rutland.  
 

341



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

Increased quality assurance around personalisation within multi-disciplinary teams. 
 
Forward development of training: 

 CPD Meetings to be unified with OTs and also include general “Social Care 
CPD” meetings now as well as “Safeguarding CPD” meetings 

 Ongoing refresher sessions of Adult Basic Awareness for Social Care staff  

 Working with HR to ascertain which RCC staff have completed e-learning so 
that future training can be tailored to meet unmet needs 

 Senior Practitioner will be working across Adult Social Care to evaluate the 
Adult Safeguarding Competency Framework and this will take into account 
practitioner’s use of MSP 

 Asset Strength Based Training will be delivered within the next 3 months.  
 
 

342



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust (UHL)  
 
Developments with regard to the agencies approach to safeguarding in the 
year 

University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust is a large organisation that employs 
around 15,000 staff. Safeguarding patients and protecting them from harm and 
abuse is integral to the work that we do. 
 
The Trust has supported the work of the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Boards, in particular: 

 We have been involved in the new multi-agency audits developed by the 
Boards; overall these have provided additional assurance that our practices 
are generally robust 

 We have supplied quarterly performance data to help build up a greater 
understanding of safeguarding performance and we introduced a patient 
partner 

 Undertaken work to implement ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’; therefore 
strengthening the voice of service users during adult safeguarding 
investigations. 

 
In 2016, the Trust had two comprehensive inspections by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC), which considered the Trust’s approach to safeguarding. Their 
findings led to the development of an action plan and, as a consequence, the 
following changes to practice were made: 

 Introduced new guidance and training for staff on the use of the Mental 
Capacity Act 

 Increased the capacity of our maternity safeguarding team in response to 
increasing levels of referrals. 

 
As a Trust, to strengthen the voice of service users, in November 2016 we secured a 
patient partner to sit on our internal Safeguarding Assurance Group. This helps 
ensure that a service user perspective is considered in any safeguarding work 
undertaken within the Trust. 
 
We also secured funding for a hospital based Independent Domestic Violence 
Advocate (IDVA) to work in our Emergency Department. 
 
Impact of developments and work carried out 

In response to the issues raised above, we believe we have changed practice in the 
following areas: 

 Making Safeguarding Personal has strengthened the way in which staff talk to 
adults in need of safeguarding, to ensure their views are listened to 

 Audits are being carried out to demonstrate greater understanding by staff of 
the use of mental capacity assessments and their application when 
consenting patients for treatment 

 The voice of the patient is being firmly embedded in the work the Trust does, 
making sure we consider the impact of our work on patient care. 

 

343



 

LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6   

 

In response to recommendations made by the CQC, our completion of actions has 
strengthened our internal safeguarding systems to ensure that best practice is 
followed. 
 
The role of the IDVA is to provide early support and advice to victims of domestic 
violence whilst they are considered in a place of safety, helping them to make 
decisions about personal safety. 
 
Areas for further development or action to support safeguarding 

As a Trust, we strive constantly to improve our practice; for the new financial year we 
are going to undertake further work in the following area: 

 Complete further internal audits to ensure that practice in consent to treatment 
and detecting safeguarding issues in our Emergency Department are 
embedded. 

344



 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 21 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT 2018 
PROPOSED CONSULTATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the proposed consultation 

arrangements for the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA).  
 

Link to the Local Health and Care System 
 
2. The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) has a statutory responsibility to 

prepare a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment  for Leicestershire and 
publish it by March 2018.  At its meeting in March 2017, the HWB delegated 
responsibility for the production of the PNA to the Integration Executive (IE). 

 
3. The purpose of the PNA is to: 
 

 identify the pharmaceutical services currently available and assess 
the need for pharmaceutical services in the future; 

 inform the planning and commissioning of pharmacy services by 
identifying which services should be commissioned for local people, 
within available resources, and where these services should be; 

 inform decision making in response to applications made to NHS 
England by pharmacists and dispensing doctors to provide a new 
pharmacy.  The organisation that will make these decisions is NHS 
England. 

 
Recommendation 
 
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:- 
 

(a) agree the consultation approach and 
 

(b) note the timetable for finalising the PNA. 
 
Background 
 
5. At its August meeting, the IE commented on the draft PNA document.  The 

PNA is being updated to reflect this feedback along with comments from 
other stakeholders.  A final version will be circulated to members of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board once it becomes available. 
 

 

345 Agenda Item 12



6. A PNA Reference Group oversees the detailed production of the PNA 
documents for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland to ensure a consistent 
local approach.  Membership of this group includes: local authorities, NHS 
England, the Leicestershire Pharmaceutical Committee, Local Professional 
Network for Pharmacists and the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
Local Medical Committee, Clinical Commissioning Groups and 
Healthwatch.  Although there is a common approach, there will be separate 
PNAs for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 
 

7. The PNA Reference Group recommends the following approach to 
consultation for Leicestershire.  Leicester City and Rutland will follow a 
similar approach and timetable.  In particular, all three areas will use the 
same survey questions. 

 
Proposals/Options 
 
Background to Consultation 
 
8. The proposed approach is based upon the requirements for PNA 

consultation set out in Regulation 8.  This regulation specifies that the HWB 
must consult, at least once, with the following:- 
 

 the Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) 

 the Local Medical Committee 

 any persons on the pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing doctors 
list for its area 

 any LPS chemist in its area with whom NHS England has made 
arrangements for the provision of any local pharmaceutical services 

 Healthwatch, and any other patient, consumer or community group 
in its area which in the view of the Health and Wellbeing Board has 
an interest in the provision of pharmaceutical services in its area; 

 any NHS trust or NHS foundation trust in its area 

 NHS England 

 any neighbouring HWB. 
 
9. The PNA is subject to a 60 day statutory consultation period which it is 

proposed should start the week commencing 25th September 2017.  
  

10. Those being consulted can be directed to a website address containing the 
draft PNA but can, if they request, be sent an electronic or hard copy 
version.  We will comply with this regulation and also propose to develop an 
‘easy read’ version of the PNA. 
 

Scope, aims and objectives of consultation 
 
11. The scope of the consultation is to seek views on the draft PNA in line with 

statutory requirements.  It should be noted that the PNA does not cover 
services provided by prison pharmacies or hospital pharmacies. 
 

12. The aims and objectives of the consultation are: 

346



 To seek views on the general assessment of pharmaceutical 
services as set out in the draft PNA 

 To comment on the gap analysis presented in the draft PNA 

 To provide additional evidence to improve the assessment of need 
presented in the PNA  
 

Making information available 
 
13. The ‘Have your say’ area of the County Council’s website will be used to 

host all relevant information related to the consultation.  This will include:   

 Purpose of consultation statement 

 Detailed draft PNA 

 Appendices to the draft PNA 

 Summary of PNA (4 to 8 pages) 

 Link to consultation survey (currently in development) 

 Easy Read summary of PNA with link to Easy Read questionnaire 
 
14. Although it is anticipated that most people will complete an online survey, 

there will be an option to request a hardcopy of the documents and 
questionnaire – so that responses can then be submitted by post.  
 

Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement 
 
15. The following partners/organisations have been consulted through their 

membership of the PNA Reference Group: 
 

 Local Pharmaceutical Committee 

 Local Medical Council 

 CCGs 

 Healthwatch 

 Local Authorities 

 NHS England 
 

16. Leicestershire pharmacies were invited to complete an online survey 
between June and August 2017 to provide additional evidence which is now 
included in the draft PNA.  61 out of 131 pharmacies completed the online 
survey. 
 

17. However, it is recognised that the above organisations might wish to 
provide further comment.  An email will therefore be send to the above 
stakeholders, directing them to the website and inviting them to complete 
the stakeholder survey.   
 

18. An email will also be sent to the following stakeholders encouraging them to 
visit the website and respond to the survey: 

 

 University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) 

 Leicestershire Partnership Trust 

 Neighbouring HWBs 

347



 Dispensing GP practices 

 STP work stream leads 
 

19. We will raise awareness of the consultation using: 

 Members News in Brief 

 HWB Twitter account 

 Health & Social Care Integration Stakeholder Bulletin 

 Via County Council Communications Department’s links to 
communications leads in CCGs, UHL, LPT and for the STP   

 Press release  
 

20. We will also offer to attend any relevant events/meetings organised by 
members of the Reference Group and seek views from participants.  The 
Reference Group have been asked to provide a list. 
  

Engagement with Patient Groups and General Public 
 
21. Regulation 8 states that it is necessary to engage with Healthwatch, patient 

and community groups that have an interest in the provision of 
pharmaceutical services.  Healthwatch is represented on the Reference 
Group and its advice will be sought about consultation with patient groups.  
Healthwatch Leicestershire has offered to place a link to the consultation 
materials on its website.  In addition, there will be liaison with the CCGs to 
seek views from their patient representative groups. 
   

22. The general public will be able to comment on the PNA via the ‘Have your 
say’ area of the website and hard copies will be available in libraries.   

 
Analysis and Reporting 
 
23. The responses to the questionnaire will be analysed and a summary of 

feedback from attendance at meetings and patient groups will be included 
in a consultation summary report.  This summary will be used to populate 
the consultation results section of the PNA document. 
 

24. The consultation report will be taken into account in further developing the 
gap analysis and recommendations sections of the final PNA document.  
 

Timetable for Decisions 
 
25. It is proposed to launch the consultation the week commencing 25th 

September and to close the consultation on 31st December 2017. 
 

26. The final PNA documents need to be published at the end of March 2018. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys 
Director of Public Health 
Leicestershire County Council 

348



Tel: 0116 305 4239 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 
 
Caroline Boucher 
Head of Business Intelligence 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 305 7262 
Email: caroline.boucher@leics.gov.uk 
 
Natalie Greasley 
Public Health Business Partner 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 3054266  
Email: natalie.greasley@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
27. The PNA will be subject to an EHRIA.  It is suggested that this is best 

completed after the consultation period has ended. 
 
 
 

349

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:caroline.boucher@leics.gov.uk
mailto:natalie.greasley@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group 
West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 21st SEPTEMBER 2017  

 
REPORT OF LEICESTER CITY CCG,  

EAST LEICESTERSHIRE & RUTLAND CCG AND  
WEST LEICESTERSHIRE CCG 

 
DECOMMISSIONING OF NON-EVIDENCED BASED TREATMENTS FOR 

LOWER BACK PAIN, WITH OR WITHOUT SCIATICA 
 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of joint plans 

from the three Clinical Commissioning Groups across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland (LLR) to decommission a number of interventions for the treatment of lower 
back pain, in line with National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 
guidance published in November 2016. 

 
2. The report also informs the Health and Wellbeing Board of the plan for public 

engagement about these changes. 
 
Link to the local Health and Care System 

 
3. Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are responsible for the commissioning of the 

majority of health services on behalf of their local population and have a statutory 
duty to ensure that the services they commission: 

 meet the NHS Policy Mandate from NHS England and the health needs of 
their local population(s) 

 that the resources utilised and prioritised to deliver healthcare within LLR 
provide services with proven benefit, and demonstrate value for money.   

 
Recommendation 
 
4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note 

 
a) the proposal to change to the NHS funded treatments offered to patients with 

lower back pain, in line with NICE guidance 
b) the proposed timeline for public engagement, and how patients will be 

informed of the implications. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

 
5. The following NHS Boards have approved, in principle, the decommissioning of three 

specific interventions (namely acupuncture, electrotherapies and spinal injections) in 
line with the NICE guidance. 
 

351 Agenda Item 13



 

 

 East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG (ELRCCG) Governing Body 

 Leicester City CCG (LCCCG) Governing Body  

 West Leicestershire CCG (WLCCG) Finance and Planning Committee 

 University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) Executive Strategy Board 
 
Background 
 
NICE Guidance 
 
6. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) is an executive non-

departmental public body responsible for providing evidence-based guidance on 
health and social care. It is accountable to the Department of Health, but 
operationally independent of government.   

 
7. It was established in 1999 to provide an independent, systematic source of evidence 

to support commissioning decisions about drugs and treatments, in particular to 
reduce variations in the availability and quality of treatments and care across the 
country (for example the so-called ‘postcode lottery’).  

 
8. NICE aims to improve outcomes for people using the NHS and public health and 

social care services, by producing guidance setting out the evidence base and 
recommendations that should be referenced across the country in order to assess 
the efficacy of drugs and treatment. 

 
9. In November 2016, NICE published guidance for low back pain and sciatica in the 

over 16s.  This guidance sets out specific recommendations for the assessment of 
back pain, its initial and ongoing treatment and the management of chronic or 
recurrent back pain:-  

 

 Initial treatment should be focused on self-management advice and information to 
promote an early return to normal activities (unless red flags are present). 

 Assessment should be undertaken using the STarT Back Risk Stratification tool 
which uses a short questionnaire to determine further intervention based on 
modifiable prognostic indicators. 

 STarT Back then allocates patients to different pathways depending whether their 
risk of persistent disability is low, medium or high. 

 Those triaged to low or medium risk (around 75% of non-specific back pain 
presenting in the community) should be managed by a combination of ongoing self-
management, community based physiotherapy and lifestyle advice, including 
exercise referral. 

 The 25% identified at high risk of a poor prognosis and persistent disability should 
be offered early intervention with a combined physical and psychological 
programme. 

 
10. The table below summarises what the evidence shows for each type of intervention 

and whether these interventions should be commissioned and offered by NHS 
commissioners in the future.   

 

352



 

 

 
Treatment Offer/ Do not offer Supporting Information on the 

Rationale & Evidence Base 

Self-Management Offer There is some evidence that self-
management (advice and education) 
improves quality of life and reduces 
use of health services. NICE 
supports giving information to all 
patients and recommends they 
continue with their normal activities. 

Exercise  Offer Exercise of all types is beneficial to 
reduce longer term functional 
disability. NICE supports group 
exercise programmes for people 
with a specific episode, or flare-up, 
of low back pain with or without 
sciatica. 

Orthotics  

 Belts or corsets 

 Foot orthotics 

 Rocker sole shoes 

Do not offer NICE reviewed all the trial data and 
found no benefit between those 
using orthotics (or any other 
appliance) and usual care. 

Manual therapies 

 Traction 
 

 Manual therapy e.g. 
massage, spinal manipulation 
and mobilisation carried out 
by chiropractors, osteopaths 
and physiotherapists 

 
Do not offer 
 
Offer as part of a 
treatment package 

 
There is no evidence from trials that 
traction adds benefit for back pain. 
Manual therapies in isolation are not 
cost-effective but NICE supports 
their use as part of a treatment 
package including exercise, with or 
without psychological therapy. 
 

Acupuncture Do not offer NICE reviewed 29 randomised 
controlled trials including those that 
compared ‘sham’ treatment (needles 
are placed but in the “wrong” 
locations or not deep enough), and 
a real acupuncture group. No 
clinically important benefit was 
identified. NICE concluded that are 
benefit perceived by patients was 
likely to be to the context of the 
treatment, rather than acupuncture 
itself, and it should not be offered for 
patients with back pain or sciatica. 

Electrotherapies 

 Ultrasound 

 Percutaneous electrical nerve 
stimulation (PENS) 

 Transcutaneous electrical 
nerve simulation (TENS) 

 Interferential therapy 

Do not offer NICE reviewed trials for all the major 
modalities used to  treat back pain -
(ultrasound, percutaneous electrical 
nerve simulation (PENS) , 
transcutaneous electrical nerve 
simulation (TENS) -  and  
interferential therapy and decided 
there was insufficient evidence of 
their benefit for managing low back 
pain with or without sciatica. 

Psychological therapy Offer as part of a 
treatment package 

 Behavioural, mindfulness and 
cognitive-behavioural (CBT) 
approaches have all been studied in 

353



 

 

trials and do not offer clinical benefit 
in isolation. 

Combined physical and psychological 
programmes (multidisciplinary 
biopsychosocial “functional” 
rehabilitation) 

Offer especially for 
people with 
persistent low back 
pain 

Combining a physical component 
(exercise, mobilisation) with a 
biopsychosocial component (CBT) 
has been shown to be cost effective 
in improving quality of life, but not 
reducing pain, based on a course 
delivered by experienced 
physiotherapists with additional 
psychological training. Initial risk 
stratification helps to identify those 
patients who will benefit (those at 
most risk of developing long term 
disability) by focusing on significant 
psychosocial obstacles to recovery. 

Return to work programmes Offer NICE recommends promoting return 
to work or normal activities of daily 
living for people with low back pain 
with or without sciatica. 

Pharmacological interventions Guidance provided 
for the various 
options 

NICE offers recommendations to 
reduce medication use for chronic 
back pain including not offering 
opioids. 

Spinal injections (facet joint 
injections, trigger point injections, 
prolotherapy) 

Do not offer The studies show minimal evidence 
of benefit compared with the 
potential harms and NICE 
recommends they should not be part 
of the management of low back 
pain. 

Radiofrequency denervation Offer and provides 
criteria for when 

NICE recommends that this should 
only be offered for chronic pain that 
has not responded to alternative 
non-surgical therapies after a 
positive response to a diagnostic 
medial branch block. 

Epidural Offer and provides 
criteria for when 

Trial indicate a clinical benefit after 
epidural injections of local 
anaesthetic and steroid in people 
with acute and severe sciatica 

Spinal decompression Offer and provides 
criteria for when 

Surgical decompression may be an 
option for people with sciatica when 
non-surgical treatment has not 
improved pain/function and 
radiological findings are consistent 
with sciatic symptoms.  

Spinal fusion Do not offer Not supported by NICE unless part 
of research trial 

 
Current Position 
 
11. Within the local NHS, the Pain Management Service at UHL currently provides the 

following treatments which NICE now no longer supports as evidence based:- 
 

 Acupuncture 

354



 

 

 Electrotherapies (TENS and PENS)  

 Spinal injections  
 

12. Around 360 patients per year will be affected by the change. The cost of these 
treatments would have equated to £42,000 per annum for patients in Leicester, 
Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 
13. In LLR, some of the services that NICE does recommend already exist for the 

treatment of back pain.  
 
14. Most back pain gets better by itself without the need for intervention and the 

guidance recommends self-care as a key component of the treatment options for 
back pain. Where this is not successful, physiotherapy, functional rehabilitation and 
lifestyle advice and exercise programmes are already available for patients, as well 
as services for higher risk patients within UHL. 

 
15. In LLR, the existing services are currently being developed into a new integrated 

back pain service along with other NICE recommended services. 
 

16. The model will utilise existing community services more cost-effectively (reducing 
referrals and imaging for low/medium risk patients) and also focus the activity of 
specialist services, including Musculoskeletal (MSK) extended scope practitioners, on 
those at high risk of a poor outcome who require more intensive input. 

Next steps including engagement plans 
 
17. LCCCG Governing Body, ELRCCG’s Integrated Governance Committee, WLCCG’s 

Finance and Planning Committee and UHL’s Executive Strategy Board have all 
agreed in principle to the decommissioning of the above treatments, in line with the 
NICE guidance.  

18. As NICE has made a clear decision not to support certain treatments based on the 
clinical evidence of the treatment, the CCGs are not required to enter into a period of 
formal consultation with patients and other stakeholders.   

19. However, the LLR CCGs are keen to engage with patients, particularly those who are 
or have been in receipt of these services, or may be in receipt in the future, to inform 
them of the proposals and proposed future treatment options.  It will also allow their 
views to inform the development of future services for the treatment of back pain.  

20. The CCGS have agreed to undertake an eight week period of public and clinical 
engagement which will be led by Leicester City CCG Communications and 
Engagement Department on behalf of all three CCGs in LLR. This will commence on 
Monday 25th September 2017. 

21. Engagement with primary care is also planned to commence on 18th September 
2017. 

22. The purpose of the engagement is to: 
  

 inform the public and clinical staff of the outcome and implications of the NICE 
guidance 

355



 

 

 confirm that acupuncture, electrotherapies and spinal injections will no longer 
be carried out for the treatment of lower back pain within the NHS in LLR 

 provide clear advice and information about the options that are available to 
people with lower back pain, and how NHS resources will be prioritised to the 
NICE approved interventions in the future 

23. The risks of continuing to provide non-evidence-based treatments will also be 
explained, along with how the evidence demonstrates that exercise, increasing the 
person’s mobility and physiotherapy are the best interventions for the management of 
lower back pain.  
 

24. The engagement plan will include targeted communications for those patients waiting 
for the treatments that are to be decommissioned, and for those who have already 
commenced treatment, as well as a set of general messages and advice for the 
public at large and clinicians.  
 

25. This will include clear information on the process to access services for lower back 
pain, which will include (but not be limited to) self-care, information online, exercise 
and self-referral to physiotherapy.  
 

26. Patients currently waiting for appointments for acupuncture, electrotherapy or spinal 
injections will receive specific information to advise them that, as a result of these 
changes, patients will no longer be referred for such treatments within the NHS or be 
added to waiting lists, with effect from 1st November 2017.  
 

27. Their options will be clearly explained, along with education on the recommended 
treatment options in the future. These patients will have the option to continue with 
their planned treatment or choose to receive physiotherapy instead, which is a NICE 
recommended treatment.  
 

28. Patients who have already commenced their treatment will be advised they are able 
to complete their current treatment cycle, but they will also be informed of the 
implications of the NICE guidance, the timing of the cessation of these services 
within the NHS in LLR, and the options available to them in the future, along with who 
to contact for further advice. 
 

29. Some Patient Public Partnership Group representatives have already been involved 
in the decision making process, through:- 
 

 The Pain Management Service 

 The Planned Care Work stream 

 The Alliance Clinical Reference Group 
 

30. Their input will continue to be used to finalise the communications and engagement 
plan and products 

  
Timetable for Decisions  
 
31. Key dates for the decommissioning of acupuncture, electrotherapies and spinal 

injections for the treatment of back pain are as follows:- 

356



 

 

 

Date Activity 

18th September Engagement with Primary Care 
commences 

21st September Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

25th September Engagement with public commences 

26th September Rutland Health and Wellbeing Board 

4th October Leicester City OSC 

1st November Date that patients will no longer be 
added to the waiting list for acupuncture, 
electrotherapies and injections (subject 
to final confirmation by CCGs). 

19th November Engagement with the public ends 

12th December  CCG Governing Bodies will review 
engagement feedback. 

 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Name and Job Title:   Helen Mather, Planned Care Implementation Lead 
Telephone:   07984 585 432 
Email:    Helen.Mather@LeicesterCityCCG.nhs.uk 
 
List of Appendices 
 
NICE guidance 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
On request 

 
Partnership Working and associated issues 
 
32. The proposals within this report have been produced jointly by University Hospitals 

Leicester, the three CCGs across LLR, Public Health departments across LLR, with 
engagement from the patient representatives noted in paragraph 29.  

 

357



This page is intentionally left blank



LLow back pain and sciatica in oow back pain and sciatica in ovver 16s:er 16s:
assessment and managementassessment and management

NICE guideline

Published: 30 November 2016
nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved.

359

http://nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59


YYour responsibilityour responsibility

The recommendations in this guideline represent the view of NICE, arrived at after careful

consideration of the evidence available. When exercising their judgement, professionals and

practitioners are expected to take this guideline fully into account, alongside the individual needs,

preferences and values of their patients or the people using their service. It is not mandatory to

apply the recommendations, and the guideline does not override the responsibility to make

decisions appropriate to the circumstances of the individual, in consultation with them and their

families and carers or guardian.

Local commissioners and providers of healthcare have a responsibility to enable the guideline to be

applied when individual professionals and people using services wish to use it. They should do so in

the context of local and national priorities for funding and developing services, and in light of their

duties to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, to advance equality of

opportunity and to reduce health inequalities. Nothing in this guideline should be interpreted in a

way that would be inconsistent with complying with those duties.

Commissioners and providers have a responsibility to promote an environmentally sustainable

health and care system and should assess and reduce the environmental impact of implementing

NICE recommendations wherever possible.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 2 of 18

360

https://www.nice.org.uk/about/who-we-are/sustainability
https://www.nice.org.uk/about/who-we-are/sustainability


ContentsContents

Overview ............................................................................................................................................................................ 4

Who is it for? .................................................................................................................................................................................. 4

Recommendations .......................................................................................................................................................... 5

1.1 Assessment of low back pain and sciatica................................................................................................................... 5

1.2 Non-invasive treatments for low back pain and sciatica ...................................................................................... 6

1.3 Invasive treatments for low back pain and sciatica ................................................................................................ 9

Putting this guideline into practice .......................................................................................................................... 11

Context................................................................................................................................................................................ 13

More information......................................................................................................................................................................... 14

Recommendations for research ................................................................................................................................ 15

1 Pharmacological therapies ................................................................................................................................................... 15

2 Pharmacological therapies ................................................................................................................................................... 15

3 Radiofrequency denervation............................................................................................................................................... 16

4 Epidurals ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 16

5 Spinal fusion................................................................................................................................................................................ 17

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 3 of 18

361



This guideline replaces CG88.

This guideline is the basis of QS155.

OvOverviewerview

This guideline covers assessing and managing low back pain and sciatica in people aged 16 and over.

It outlines physical, psychological, pharmacological and surgical treatments to help people manage

their low back pain and sciatica in their daily life. The guideline aims to improve people's quality of

life by promoting the most effective forms of care for low back pain and sciatica.

Who is it for?

Healthcare professionals

Commissioners and providers of healthcare

People with low back pain or sciatica, and their families and carers

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 4 of 18

362



RecommendationsRecommendations

People have the right to be involved in discussions and make informed decisions about their

care, as described in your care.

Making decisions using NICE guidelines explains how we use words to show the strength (or

certainty) of our recommendations, and has information about prescribing medicines

(including off-label use), professional guidelines, standards and laws (including on consent and

mental capacity), and safeguarding.

1.1 Assessment of low back pain and sciatica

AlternativAlternative diagnosese diagnoses

1.1.1 Think about alternative diagnoses when examining or reviewing people with

low back pain, particularly if they develop new or changed symptoms. Exclude

specific causes of low back pain, for example, cancer, infection, trauma or

inflammatory disease such as spondyloarthritis. If serious underlying pathology

is suspected, refer to relevant NICE guidance on:

Metastatic spinal cord compression in adults

Spinal injury

Spondyloarthritis

Suspected cancer

Risk assessment and risk strRisk assessment and risk stratification toolsatification tools

1.1.2 Consider using risk stratification (for example, the STarT Back risk assessment

tool) at first point of contact with a healthcare professional for each new

episode of low back pain with or without sciatica to inform shared decision-

making about stratified management.

1.1.3 Based on risk stratification, consider:

simpler and less intensive support for people with low back pain with or without

sciatica likely to improve quickly and have a good outcome (for example, reassurance,

advice to keep active and guidance on self-management)

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 5 of 18

363

https://www.nice.org.uk/about/nice-communities/public-involvement/your-care
http://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/our-programmes/nice-guidance/nice-guidelines/using-NICE-guidelines-to-make-decisions
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg75
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng41
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng65
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng12


more complex and intensive support for people with low back pain with or without

sciatica at higher risk of a poor outcome (for example, exercise programmes with or

without manual therapy or using a psychological approach).

ImagingImaging

1.1.4 Do not routinely offer imaging in a non-specialist setting for people with low

back pain with or without sciatica.

1.1.5 Explain to people with low back pain with or without sciatica that if they are

being referred for specialist opinion, they may not need imaging.

1.1.6 Consider imaging in specialist settings of care (for example, a musculoskeletal

interface clinic or hospital) for people with low back pain with or without

sciatica only if the result is likely to change management.

1.2 Non-invasive treatments for low back pain and sciatica

Non-pharmacological intervNon-pharmacological interventionsentions

Self-managementSelf-management

1.2.1 Provide people with advice and information, tailored to their needs and

capabilities, to help them self-manage their low back pain with or without

sciatica, at all steps of the treatment pathway. Include:

information on the nature of low back pain and sciatica

encouragement to continue with normal activities.

ExExerercisecise

1.2.2 Consider a group exercise programme (biomechanical, aerobic, mind–body or a

combination of approaches) within the NHS for people with a specific episode or

flare-up of low back pain with or without sciatica. Take people's specific needs,

preferences and capabilities into account when choosing the type of exercise.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 6 of 18

364



OrthoticsOrthotics

1.2.3 Do not offer belts or corsets for managing low back pain with or without

sciatica.

1.2.4 Do not offer foot orthotics for managing low back pain with or without sciatica.

1.2.5 Do not offer rocker sole shoes for managing low back pain with or without

sciatica.

Manual therManual therapiesapies

1.2.6 Do not offer traction for managing low back pain with or without sciatica.

1.2.7 Consider manual therapy (spinal manipulation, mobilisation or soft tissue

techniques such as massage) for managing low back pain with or without

sciatica, but only as part of a treatment package including exercise, with or

without psychological therapy.

AcupuncturAcupuncturee

1.2.8 Do not offer acupuncture for managing low back pain with or without sciatica.

ElectrElectrotherotherapiesapies

1.2.9 Do not offer ultrasound for managing low back pain with or without sciatica.

1.2.10 Do not offer percutaneous electrical nerve simulation (PENS) for managing low

back pain with or without sciatica.

1.2.11 Do not offer transcutaneous electrical nerve simulation (TENS) for managing

low back pain with or without sciatica.

1.2.12 Do not offer interferential therapy for managing low back pain with or without

sciatica.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 7 of 18

365



PsyPsychological therchological therapyapy

1.2.13 Consider psychological therapies using a cognitive behavioural approach for

managing low back pain with or without sciatica but only as part of a treatment

package including exercise, with or without manual therapy (spinal

manipulation, mobilisation or soft tissue techniques such as massage).

Combined phCombined physical and psyysical and psychological prchological progrogrammesammes

1.2.14 Consider a combined physical and psychological programme, incorporating a

cognitive behavioural approach (preferably in a group context that takes into

account a person's specific needs and capabilities), for people with persistent

low back pain or sciatica:

when they have significant psychosocial obstacles to recovery (for example, avoiding

normal activities based on inappropriate beliefs about their condition) oror

when previous treatments have not been effective.

Return-to-work prReturn-to-work progrogrammesammes

1.2.15 Promote and facilitate return to work or normal activities of daily living for

people with low back pain with or without sciatica.

Pharmacological intervPharmacological interventionsentions

1.2.16 For recommendations on pharmacological management of sciatica, see NICE's

guideline on neuropathic pain in adults.

1.2.17 Consider oral non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) for managing low

back pain, taking into account potential differences in gastrointestinal, liver and

cardio-renal toxicity, and the person's risk factors, including age.

1.2.18 When prescribing oral NSAIDs for low back pain, think about appropriate

clinical assessment, ongoing monitoring of risk factors, and the use of

gastroprotective treatment.

1.2.19 Prescribe oral NSAIDs for low back pain at the lowest effective dose for the

shortest possible period of time.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 8 of 18

366

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg173


1.2.20 Consider weak opioids (with or without paracetamol) for managing acute low

back pain only if an NSAID is contraindicated, not tolerated or has been

ineffective.

1.2.21 Do not offer paracetamol alone for managing low back pain.

1.2.22 Do not routinely offer opioids for managing acute low back pain (see

recommendation 1.2.20).

1.2.23 Do not offer opioids for managing chronic low back pain.

1.2.24 Do not offer selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, serotonin–norepinephrine

reuptake inhibitors or tricyclic antidepressants for managing low back pain.

1.2.25 Do not offer anticonvulsants for managing low back pain.

1.3 Invasive treatments for low back pain and sciatica

Non-surgical intervNon-surgical interventionsentions

Spinal injectionsSpinal injections

1.3.1 Do not offer spinal injections for managing low back pain.

RadiofrRadiofrequency denervequency denervationation

1.3.2 Consider referral for assessment for radiofrequency denervation for people

with chronic low back pain when:

non-surgical treatment has not worked for them andand

the main source of pain is thought to come from structures supplied by the medial

branch nerve andand

they have moderate or severe levels of localised back pain (rated as 5 or more on a

visual analogue scale, or equivalent) at the time of referral.

1.3.3 Only perform radiofrequency denervation in people with chronic low back pain

after a positive response to a diagnostic medial branch block.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 9 of 18

367



1.3.4 Do not offer imaging for people with low back pain with specific facet join pain

as a prerequisite for radiofrequency denervation.

EpidurEpiduralsals

1.3.5 Consider epidural injections of local anaesthetic and steroid in people with

acute and severe sciatica.

1.3.6 Do not use epidural injections for neurogenic claudication in people who have

central spinal canal stenosis.

Surgical intervSurgical interventionsentions

Surgery and prSurgery and prognostic factorsognostic factors

1.3.7 Do not allow a person's BMI, smoking status or psychological distress to

influence the decision to refer them for a surgical opinion for sciatica.

Spinal decomprSpinal decompressionession

1.3.8 Consider spinal decompression for people with sciatica when non-surgical

treatment has not improved pain or function and their radiological findings are

consistent with sciatic symptoms.

Spinal fusionSpinal fusion

1.3.9 Do not offer spinal fusion for people with low back pain unless as part of a

randomised controlled trial.

Disc rDisc replacementeplacement

1.3.10 Do not offer disc replacement in people with low back pain.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 10 of 18

368



Putting this guideline into prPutting this guideline into practiceactice

NICE has produced tools and resources to help you put this guideline into practice.

Putting recommendations into practice can take time. How long may vary from guideline to

guideline, and depends on how much change in practice or services is needed. Implementing change

is most effective when aligned with local priorities.

Changes recommended for clinical practice that can be done quickly – like changes in prescribing

practice – should be shared quickly. This is because healthcare professionals should use guidelines

to guide their work – as is required by professional regulating bodies such as the General Medical

and Nursing and Midwifery Councils.

Changes should be implemented as soon as possible, unless there is a good reason for not doing so

(for example, if it would be better value for money if a package of recommendations were all

implemented at once).

Different organisations may need different approaches to implementation, depending on their size

and function. Sometimes individual practitioners may be able to respond to recommendations to

improve their practice more quickly than large organisations.

Here are some pointers to help organisations put NICE guidelines into practice:

1. Raise aRaise awarenesswareness through routine communication channels, such as email or newsletters, regular

meetings, internal staff briefings and other communications with all relevant partner organisations.

Identify things staff can include in their own practice straight away.

2. Identify a leadIdentify a lead with an interest in the topic to champion the guideline and motivate others to

support its use and make service changes, and to find out any significant issues locally.

3. Carry out a baseline assessmentCarry out a baseline assessment against the recommendations to find out whether there are

gaps in current service provision.

4. Think about what data yThink about what data you need to measure improou need to measure improvvementement and plan how you will collect it. You

may want to work with other health and social care organisations and specialist groups to compare

current practice with the recommendations. This may also help identify local issues that will slow or

prevent implementation.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 11 of 18

369

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng59/resources


5. DeDevvelop an action planelop an action plan, with the steps needed to put the guideline into practice, and make sure it

is ready as soon as possible. Big, complex changes may take longer to implement, but some may be

quick and easy to do. An action plan will help in both cases.

6. FFor vor very big changesery big changes include milestones and a business case, which will set out additional costs,

savings and possible areas for disinvestment. A small project group could develop the action plan.

The group might include the guideline champion, a senior organisational sponsor, staff involved in

the associated services, finance and information professionals.

7. Implement the action planImplement the action plan with oversight from the lead and the project group. Big projects may

also need project management support.

8. ReReview and monitorview and monitor how well the guideline is being implemented through the project group.

Share progress with those involved in making improvements, as well as relevant boards and local

partners.

NICE provides a comprehensive programme of support and resources to maximise uptake and use

of evidence and guidance. See our into practice pages for more information.

Also see Leng G, Moore V, Abraham S, editors (2014) Achieving high quality care – practical

experience from NICE. Chichester: Wiley.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 12 of 18

370

https://www.nice.org.uk/about/what-we-do/into-practice
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/9781118543412.ch2/summary
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/9781118543412.ch2/summary


ConteContextxt

Low back pain that is not associated with serious or potentially serious causes has been described

in the literature as 'non-specific', 'mechanical', 'musculoskeletal' or 'simple' low back pain. For

consistency, we have used the term 'low back pain' throughout this guideline. However, 'non-

specific low back pain' was used when creating the review questions. Worldwide, low back pain

causes more disability than any other condition. Episodes of back pain usually do not last long, with

rapid improvements in pain and disability seen within a few weeks to a few months. Although most

back pain episodes get better with initial primary care management, without the need for

investigations or referral to specialist services, up to one-third of people say they have persistent

back pain of at least moderate intensity a year after an acute episode needing care, and episodes of

back pain often recur.

One of the greatest challenges with low back pain is identifying risk factors that may predict when

a single back pain episode will become a long-term, persistent pain condition. When this happens,

quality of life is often very low and healthcare resource use high.

Unlike the previous NICE guidance on the management of persistent low back pain between

6 weeks and 12 months, we have moved away from the traditional duration-based classification of

low back pain (acute, sub-acute and chronic) and have looked at low back pain as a whole where

risk of poor outcome at any time point is almost always more important than the duration of

symptoms.

This guideline gives guidance on the assessment and management of both low back pain and

sciatica from first presentation onwards in people aged 16 years and over.

We use 'sciatica' to describe leg pain secondary to lumbosacral nerve root pathology rather than

the terms 'radicular pain' or 'radiculopathy', although they are more accurate. This is because

'sciatica' is a term that patients and clinicians understand, and it is widely used in the literature to

describe neuropathic leg pain secondary to compressive spinal pathology.

This guideline does not cover the evaluation or care of people with sciatica with progressive

neurological deficit or cauda equina syndrome. All clinicians involved in the management of sciatica

should be aware of these potential neurological emergencies and know when to refer to an

appropriate specialist.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 13 of 18

371



We hope to address the inconsistent provision and implementation of the previous guidance and

provide patients, carers and healthcare professionals with sensible, practical and evidence-based

advice for managing this important and common problem.

More information

You can also see this guideline in the NICE pathway on low back pain and sciatica.

To find out what NICE has said on topics related to this guideline, see our web page on low

back pain.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 14 of 18

372

https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/low-back-pain-and-sciatica
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/conditions-and-diseases/musculoskeletal-conditions/low-back-pain
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/conditions-and-diseases/musculoskeletal-conditions/low-back-pain


Recommendations for researchRecommendations for research

The guideline committee has made the following recommendations for research. The committee's

full set of research recommendations is detailed in the full guideline.

1 Pharmacological therapies

What is the clinical and cost effectiveness of benzodiazepines for the acute management of low

back pain?

WhWhy this is importanty this is important

Guidelines from many countries have said that muscle relaxants should be considered for short-

term use in people with low back pain when the paraspinal muscles are in spasm. The evidence for

this mainly comes from studies on medications that are not licensed for this use in the UK. The

2009 NICE guideline on low back pain recommends to consider prescribing diazepam as a muscle

relaxant in this situation, but the evidence base to support this particular medicine is extremely

small. Benzodiazepines are not without risk of harm, even for short-term use. Because of this, there

is a need to find out if diazepam is clinically and cost effective in the management of acute low back

pain.

2 Pharmacological therapies

What is the clinical and cost effectiveness of codeine with and without paracetamol for the acute

management of low back pain?

WhWhy this is importanty this is important

Codeine, often together with paracetamol, is commonly prescribed in primary care to people

presenting with acute low back pain. This often happens with people who cannot tolerate non-

steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) or when a person has contraindications to these

medications. Although there is evidence that opioids are not effective in chronic low back pain,

there are relatively few studies that look at their use for acute low back pain (a problem commonly

seen in primary care). Also, it is not known if using paracetamol and codeine together has a

synergistic effect in the treatment of back pain.

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 15 of 18

373

http://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/NG59/Evidence


3 Radiofrequency denervation

What is the clinical and cost effectiveness of radiofrequency denervation for chronic low back pain

in the long term?

WhWhy this is importanty this is important

Radiofrequency denervation is a minimally invasive and percutaneous procedure performed under

local anaesthesia or light intravenous sedation. Radiofrequency energy is delivered along an

insulated needle in contact with the target nerves. This focused electrical energy heats and

denatures the nerve. This may allow axons to regenerate with time, requiring the repetition of the

radiofrequency procedure.

The length of pain relief after radiofrequency denervation is uncertain. Data from randomised

controlled trials suggest relief is at least 6–12 months but no study has reported longer-term

outcomes. Pain relief for more than 2 years would not be an unreasonable clinical expectation. The

economic model presented in this guideline suggested that radiofrequency denervation is likely to

be cost effective if pain relief is above 16 months.

If radiofrequency denervation is repeated, we do not know whether the outcomes and duration of

these outcomes are similar to the initial treatment. If repeated radiofrequency denervation is to be

offered, we need to be more certain that this intervention is both effective and cost effective.

4 Epidurals

What is the clinical and cost effectiveness of image-guided compared with non-image-guided

epidural injections for people with acute sciatica?

WhWhy this is importanty this is important

Epidural injection of treatments, including corticosteroids, is commonly offered to people with

sciatica. Epidural injection might improve symptoms, reduce disability and speed up return to

normal activities. Several different procedures have been developed for epidural delivery of

corticosteroids. Some practitioners inject through the caudal opening to the spinal canal in the

sacrum (caudal epidural), but others inject through the foraminal space at the presumed level of

nerve root irritation (transforaminal epidural).

Some people believe transforaminal epidurals might be most effective because they deliver

corticosteroids directly to the region where the nerve root might be compromised. But because

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 16 of 18

374



transforaminal epidural injection needs imaging, usually within a specialist setting, this potentially

limits treatment access and increases costs. Caudal epidural injection can be done without imaging,

or with ultrasound guidance in a non-specialist setting. But it has been argued the treatment might

not reach the affected nerve root, meaning this method might not be as effective as transforaminal

injection.

Evidence that one method is clearly better than the other is currently lacking. Use of the 2 methods

varies between healthcare providers, and people whose sciatica does not respond to caudal

corticosteroid injection might go on to have image-guided epidural injection. This means people

with sciatica might currently experience unnecessary symptoms at unnecessary cost to the NHS

than they would if the most clinically and cost-effective way of delivering epidural corticosteroid

injections was always used.

5 Spinal fusion

Should people with low back pain be offered spinal fusion as a surgical option?

WhWhy this is importanty this is important

An increasing number of procedures have been proposed for surgically managing low back pain.

One of these procedures is surgical fixation with internal metalwork applied from the back, front,

side, or any combination of the 3 routes. The cost of these operations has risen, and now that

minimally invasive approaches are used, more of these operations are done with uncertain benefit.

As well as the cost, surgery can lead to complications – some studies report around a 20%

complication rate in the short to medium term. There have been several studies (both randomised

and cohort) looking at the clinical effectiveness of spinal fusion versus usual care, no surgery,

different surgeries, and other treatments. Overall, the studies do not show a clear advantage of

fusion but do show some modest benefit for some elements of pain, function and quality of life. The

studies also show healthcare use was lower. It is not known what treatments should be tried before

surgery is considered. The evidence from the studies was weak because of low numbers of patients,

large crossover and in-case selection bias. This means there is a need for a large, multicentre

randomised trial with sufficient power to answer these important questions.

ISBN: 978-1-4731-2186-7

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 17 of 18

375



Accreditation

Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management (NG59)

© NICE 2016. All rights reserved. Page 18 of 18

376

http://www.nice.org.uk
http://www.nice.org.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 July 2017 and Action Log
	HWBB Action Log

	5 Delayed Transfers of Care
	Appendix A - BCF Expenditure Plan
	Appendix B - Extract from BCF Risk Register

	6 Better Care Fund Plan Submission
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Appendix A
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 1
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 2
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 3
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 5i
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 5ii
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 6
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 7
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 8
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 9
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 10
	BCF Plan 2017-19 Annex 11

	7 Implementation of the Lightbulb Programme
	8 Progress with the Children and Families Plan
	9 Protocol between the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Healthwatch Leicestershire
	Updated Protocol 2017 CLEAN

	10 Personal Health Budgets Local Offer Briefing
	11 Annual Report of the Safeguarding Boards
	LRLSCB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6
	LRSAB Annual Report 2016-17 v0.6

	12 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment
	13 Decommissioning of Non-Evidenced Based Treatments for Lower Back Pain, with or without Sciatica
	NICE Guidance Appendix
	Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s: assessment and management
	Your responsibility
	Contents
	Overview
	Who is it for?

	Recommendations
	1.1 Assessment of low back pain and sciatica
	Alternative diagnoses
	Risk assessment and risk stratification tools
	Imaging

	1.2 Non-invasive treatments for low back pain and sciatica
	Non-pharmacological interventions
	Self-management
	Exercise
	Orthotics
	Manual therapies
	Acupuncture
	Electrotherapies
	Psychological therapy
	Combined physical and psychological programmes
	Return-to-work programmes

	Pharmacological interventions

	1.3 Invasive treatments for low back pain and sciatica
	Non-surgical interventions
	Spinal injections
	Radiofrequency denervation
	Epidurals

	Surgical interventions
	Surgery and prognostic factors
	Spinal decompression
	Spinal fusion
	Disc replacement



	Putting this guideline into practice
	Context
	More information

	Recommendations for research
	1 Pharmacological therapies
	Why this is important

	2 Pharmacological therapies
	Why this is important

	3 Radiofrequency denervation
	Why this is important

	4 Epidurals
	Why this is important

	5 Spinal fusion
	Why this is important

	Accreditation







